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Palace Christalnigg is a special jewel of Baroque art. For a long time, 

it was the meeting place and hub of public life in Klagenfurt and has 

been the property of BKS Bank for the past 70 years. 

From 2014 to 2016 it was restored with great care. The stucco ceiling 

covers an area of around 600 square metres. Estimates places its 

erection at some time from 1730 to 1740. It is said to have been 

created by the then very famous stucco plasterer Kilian Pittner and his 

son Marx Josef who also designed the stucco for the Porcia Castle and 

the Klagenfurt Cathedral. 

The restoration of the stucco ceiling was done applying very fine 

artwork in traditional techniques and in close cooperation with the 

Federal Monuments Office.
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minimal deviations of the values in the tables and charts are due to rounding differences . 
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BKS B a nK aT a GlanCE

Three-year performanCe Comparison 

1) proposal made to the 78th annual general meeting of BKS Bank AG on 9 may 2017

income StAtement in €m 2014 2015 2016

net interest income 157 .3 166 .4 154 .2
charges for losses on loans and advances -49 .5 -48 .5 -31 .0
net fee and commission income 47 .6 53 .0 48 .8
General administrative expenses -105 .8 -105 .1 -106 .4
Profit for the year before tax 54 .1 60 .7 49 .8
Profit for the year after tax 48 .7 53 .6 46 .2

BAlAnce Sheet  in €m

total assets 6,854 .6 7,063 .4 7,581 .1
Receivables from customers after impair-
ment charges 4,815 .8 4,920 .1 5,175 .3
primary deposits 5,013 .0 5,109 .8 5,568 .0
— of which savings deposits 1,705 .5 1,629 .8 1,529 .0
—  of which securitized debt incl . subordinat-

ed capital 789 .1 758 .1 743 .2
equity 795 .8 860 .2 958 .8
customer funds under management 12,972 .0 13,212 .1 13,723 .2
— of which on custody accounts 7,959 .0 8,102 .3 8,155 .1

own fundS puRS . to cRR  in €m

Average risk-weighted assets 4,846 .6 4,883 .4 4,974 .1
own funds 580 .9 599 .9 670 .0
— of which common equity tier 1 capital 
(cet 1) 543 .7 575 .6 625 .9
— of which total tier 1 capital (cet1 and At1) 543 .7 575 .6 625 .9
own funds surplus 193 .2 209 .2 241 .0
common equity tier 1 capital ratio (in %) 11 .2 11 .8 12 .6
total capital ratio, % 12 .0 12 .3 13 .5

peRfoRmAnce RAtioS  

Return on equity before tax 7 .2 7 .3 5 .5
Return on equity after tax 6 .5 6 .5 5 .1
Cost/income ratio (cost/income coefficient) 51 .9 48 .7 56 .2
Risk/earnings ratio (credit risk/net interest in-
come) 31 .5 29 .2 20 .1

ReSouRceS
Average number of staff 915 923 926
number of branches 57 59 60

the BKS BAnK’S ShAReS 
number   of no-par ordinary shares (iSin At0000624705) 34,236,000 34,236,000 37,839,600
number of no-par preference shares (iSin At0000624739) 1,800,000 1,800,000 1,800,000
high (ordinary/preference share) in € 17 .8/15 .6 17 .5/15 .7 17 .3/15 .4
low (ordinary/preference share) in € 16 .9/14 .9 16 .5/14 .8 15 .8/13 .9
close (ordinary/preference share) in € 17 .3/15 .3 16 .9/15 .1 16 .8/15 .4
market capitalization in €m as at 31 dec . 619 .8 605 .8 662 .7
dividend per share in € 0 .23 0 .23 0 .231)

p/e ratio, ordinary/preference share 11 .6/10 .3 11 .3/10 .1 13 .3/12 .2
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BKS Ba n K aT a GlanCE

PrefaCe BY THe CHairwomaN of THe maNagemeNT Board
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Herta Stockbauer
Chairwomen of the Management Board

Creating Space  
for New ideas
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Dear shareholDers,

“it is not the strongest of the species that survives, nor the most intelligent that survives. it is the 
one that is most adaptable to change." This quote by Charles darwin applies to the banking indus-
try today more than ever. our industry is one of the sectors the most severely affected by digital 
change. 

on the one hand, customer behaviour is changing dramatically . it is especially younger 
customers who are demanding new and innovative banking services, and are shifting their 
banking activities to the internet . on the other hand, it is also necessary to adapt systems 
to provide smooth and continuous end-to-end processes .  we are confronted with new 
forms of payment services that run on new technologies such as the distributed-ledger 
technology, better known as 'blockchain' technology . 

BKS Bank does not view the advance of digitization as a threat, but rather as an 
opportunity . we are progressing very well in our work to transform our organisation for 
the digital age . moreover, we believe that digital will not mean anonymous in the future 
either . complex banking transactions will always require personal advice . By offering 
personal advisory services, we have long since set ourselves apart from most of our peers . 

exCelleNT adViSorY SerViCeS: our ComPeTiTiVe adVaNTage 
TodaY aNd Tomorrow
therefore, we are optimistic about the future .  with our branch network we are well 
prepared and do not have any widespread plans to close branches like other banks are 
doing . on the contrary, we plan to open new ones in our growth markets .  in 2016, we 
served 152,000 individuals and businesses, which is 2,000 more than in the year before . 
the expansion is taking place primarily in our growth markets of Slovenia and vienna . BKS 
Bank is now well-established in both markets . our customers appreciate us as a reliable 
customer-oriented partner .  

Just as we are expanding our branch network, we also plan to continue the further 
education and training programme for our employees . in 2016, our employees spent 
more than 39,000 hours in training . the success of all of these measures is reflected in the 
high degree of satisfaction with our advisory services and the quality of our company .
— our customers gave us very good ratings in the customer satisfaction survey we 
conducted in the reporting year .
— the Recommender Award 2016 confirmed our outstanding customer orientation .
— we are also very pleased about the two awards we received from Österreichische 
Gesellschaft für verbraucherstudien and 'trend' magazine . we were designated the best 
branch bank in Austria and the best bank in advisory services for real estate financing .
—   we again won the designation "efQm Recognised for excellence 5*" in the competition 

that honours company quality and are included the "list of excellent companies in 
Austria" .

PrE Fa CE BY THE CHaIrwOMan OF THE ManaGEMEnT BO a rd
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our numerous activities in the area of sustainability also distinguishes us from others . our 
customers and business partners appreciate our accountability in business dealings, and in 
social and ecological aspects . our corporate social responsibility (cSR) policy strengthens 
our innovation capacity . 

thus, at the beginning of 2017, we were the first bank in Austria to issue a social bond1) . 
the BKS Bank ordinary share has been included in the vÖniX sustainability index of the 
vienna Stock exchange since June 2016 . this ranks us among the top cSR companies in 
Austria . 

746 New SHareHolderS
we are pleased that our shares continue to be an attractive investment for our 
shareholders . in 2016, the BKS Bank ordinary and preference shares celebrated their 30-
year anniversary of listing on the stock exchange . we also successfully completed a capital 
increase in the same year . we acquired 746 new shareholders and placed the entire 
volume of new shares on the market . i would like to thank you for helping us achieve this 
success .

the capital increase contributed enormously to further strengthening our own funds, 
which has always stood on solid ground . own funds amounted to euR 670 million at the 
end of the year . the equity ratio of 13 .5% is much higher than the minimum statutory 
requirements and the same is true for the common equity tier 1 capital ratio of 12 .6% . 

iNCreaSe iN leNdiNg Volume aNd PrimarY fuNdS
we know that our business success is also important to you as an investor . i have good 
news to report in this respect as well . in the reporting year, our total assets increased 
by 7 .3% to euR 7 .58 billion . Both the lending and deposits business developed very 
gratifyingly . After the economic slump in the past few years, economic activity picked up 
again in all of our markets in 2016 . this boosted corporate spending . At the end of the 
year 2016, the lending volume was euR 5 .33 billion — and therefore 4 .2% higher year on 
year . primary funds achieved a record level of euR 5 .57 billion at year-end even though 
we only pay interest in line with market rates . we believe this shows the trust customers 
place in us . 

PrEFa CE BY  T H E CH a I rwO Ma n  O F T H E Ma n a GEM E nT BOard

this is a marketing publication . the information provided in this text serves only as non-binding information and does not replace in any way advisory services for the purchase or sale of securities . it is neither an offer nor a solicitation to buy or sell the bonds mentioned here, 

and neither is it a buy or sell recommendation . the offer for the product described is based on the base prospectus published by BKS Bank AG on 1 April 2016 including all documents to which a reference is made and all supplementary information to the base prospectus as 

well as the final terms published on 5 January 2017. The base prospectus including supplementary information  and the final terms are available free of charge on the website of the issuer at http://www.bks.at, under Investor Relations > BKS Bank Bond Issues and also at the 

offices of BKS Bank AG, 9020 Klagenfurt, St. Veiter Ring 43 during usual office hours. 
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PrE Fa CE BY THE CHaIrwOMan OF THE ManaGEMEnT BO a rd

the development of earnings of BKS Bank was also very satisfactory . the low-interest 
rate policy continued to prevail in the reporting year . Additionally, the environment 
is very challenging due to numerous regulatory requirements and fierce competition . 
nonetheless, BKS Bank attained a consolidated profit before tax of euR 49 .8 million . this 
was below the record level achieved in 2015 as expected, because of the strong influence 
of the special effects of the equity method recognition applied to Bank für tirol und 
vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft . moreover, in 2016 we paid the one-time charge for the 
stability tax (banking tax) of euR 7 .8 million, which also left its mark on earnings . despite 
these additional burdens in the reporting year, we are very pleased that the Austrian 
government has lowered the stability tax, thereby greatly easing the burden on the 
banking sector .

iNTerNaTioNal SuCCeSS
our international markets also contributed to the solid earnings achieved . in Slovenia, we 
attained a profit before tax of euR 3 .9 million . our local leasing company increased the 
leasing volume by 19 .3% and achieved the best annual result to date in its soon-to-be 20-
year history .

in croatia, we are pleased to have achieved the best profit before tax of euR 3 .9 million 
since the acquisition of the former Kvarner banka d .d . we also wrote banking history 
there in the last reporting year: We were the first bank to establish an EU subsidiary. This 
was preceded by the first cross-border merger of a bank from another eu country with a 
croatian bank . we merged our subsidiary BKS Bank d .d . into BKS Bank AG . we have thus 
created a uniform group structure in all of our foreign markets . 

New CHairmaN of THe SuPerViSorY Board 
the year 2016 also saw changes on our Supervisory Board .  the chairman of the 
Supervisory Board up to now, peter Gaugg, was no longer available for another term . he 
had been a member of our Supervisory Board for 18 years . peter Gaugg played a key role 
in the milestones achieved in the history of our company . he had served as chairman of 
the Supervisory Board since 2014 . we would like to thank him in behalf of the entire BKS 
Bank and of the Supervisory Board for his commitment and hard work . his outstanding 
expertise was always very valuable to us . his successor as chairman is Gerhard Burtscher, 
ceo of Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft .
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PrEFa CE BY  T H E CH a I rwO Ma n  O F T H E Ma n a GEM E nT BOard

iN memoriam guido SCHmidT-CHiari
in August, we were deeply grieved to learn of the passing away of our former chairman of 
the Supervisory Board Guido Schmidt-chiari . 
he was a doyen of the Austrian banking industry and played a very influential role in the 
sector for many years . his work received public recognition and he was conferred many 
prestigious awards . we will always cherish his memory .

finally, we would like to express our great appreciation to all those who made our success 
possible: to our employees. The great loyalty and commitment of our employees are 
exceptional . we are very thankful for both . our personal thanks also go to all capital and 
employee representatives on the Supervisory Board .  their engaged and competent work 
is highly valuable for BKS Bank .

herta Stockbauer 
chairwoman of the management Board
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Co rp o rate GovernanCe report

CorporaTe GovernanCe 
aT bKs banK 

effective corporate governance is a matter of course for us.  
it guarantees accountable management and control with a focus on the 
sustainable creation of value for the bank. we are committed to the principles of 
good and responsible management as defined in the austrian Code of Corporate 
governance (ÖCgK).  we meet all of the recommendations and proposals of the 
Code with the exception of those that we cannot implement precisely as defined 
due to the individual situation of BKS Bank ag, of the 3 Banken group and 
statutory provisions applicable to credit institutions.  

our corporate social responsibility (cSR)  policy implemented throughout the Group 
commits us to assume responsibility for society and the environment . we invest great 
efforts in cSR, because we believe that a bank needs a solid reputation . the Sustainability 
Report, which we publish separately, contains an impressive description of how we do not 
simply take isolated measures, but have been pursuing a holistic sustainability strategy 
for many years . we want to create lasting added value for our customers and employees, 
for our shareholders and for society . economic performance, social responsibility towards 
our employees and the public as well as environmental stewardship are indispensable 
tenets of our business practices .

exPlaNaTioNS oN THe auSTriaN Code of CorPoraTe goVerNaNCe 
(ÖCgK)
the Austrian code of corporate Governance (ÖcGK) provides listed companies with a 
framework for the governance of their companies and is a benchmark for effective 
corporate management and monitoring. It was published for the first time in October 
2002 and has been regularly updated — last in  January 2015 — with the involvement of all 
relevant stakeholders . 

As an instrument of self-regulation, the code is based on company law, the Stock 
exchange Act (BörseG) and the capital market Act as well as on standards applied 
throughout the eu and internationally to corporate governance . the code of corporate 
Governance (ÖCGK) has the aim of promoting confidence of financial markets, investors, 
business partners, employees and the general public in exchange-listed companies .

Five core elements are characteristic of good corporate governance: 
—  relationships with stakeholders based on trust 
— regular and open communication between supervisory board and management board 
— a performance-linked remuneration system 
— transparent accounting, and 
— transparent corporate governance
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Additional important principles of this voluntary code of conduct, which is based on 
the principle of comply-or-explain, include the equal treatment of all shareholders of 
exchange-listed companies, the declared independence of supervisory board members, 
the minimization of conflicts of interest, and comprehensive supervision by the 
supervisory board and auditors . 

the Austrian working Group for corporate Governance developed standards for 
responsible corporate governance that are grouped into three categories: 
the l Rules (“legal Requirements”) — these rules are based on mandatory legal 
requirements —— as well as the c Rules (“comply or explain”) which permits deviations, 
but these must be explained . the code also contains R Rules (“Recommendations”) that 
are only only recommendations . it is not required to disclose or explain non-compliance 
with the R Rules . the special rules applicable to banks and insurance companies are 
affected by the code . the Rules of the code do not require the disclosure of operational 
or business secrets .

CoNformiTY deClaraTioN of THe CorPoraTe BodieS of BKS BaNK
As an exchange-listed company, BKS Bank’s corporate bodies have in the past and continue today to publish 
conformity declarations in accordance with § 243b Austrian Business code (uGB) . the Austrian code of 
corporate Governance (ÖcGK) serves as valuable guidance for the design of internal banking processes, 
and of rules and regulations . characteristic of the way the bank sees itself is the close cooperation of the 
management Board and Supervisory Board, the performance-linked remuneration system that takes into 
account the economic situation of the credit institution, respect for shareholder interests as well as openness and 
transparency in corporate communications . furthermore, we take care to ensure the integrity and law-abiding 
behaviour of all employees and management staff in accordance with the principle of zero error tolerance . 
compliance with the code is not just lip service for BKS Bank, but is constantly being propagated and lived . 

the members of the Supervisory Board and of the management Board of BKS Bank explicitly declare themselves 
committed to comply with c Rule 61 and with the principles, objectives and purposes of the code of corporate 
Governance (ÖcGK) . therefore, BKS Bank also follows the comply-or-explain principle . in this respect, we are 
under the obligation to disclose any deviations from the corporate Governance Rules . there are deviations 
where the individual situation of BKS Bank AG or of the 3 Banken Group and legal provisions for credit 
institutions do not permit them to comply 1:1 with the Rules of the Code of Corporate Governance (ÖCGK). The 
relevant declaration of the management Board and Supervisory Board is published on the website www .bks .at » 
investor Relations » corporate Governance . By disclosing information and the declaration on the deviations from 
the c Rules 2, 31 and 45, BKS Bank was in conformity with the code of corporate Governance (ÖcGK) in the 
financial year 2016 . 

page 50 of this report lists the internet addresses containing all relevant information on the code of corporate 
Governance (ÖcGK) and BKS Bank . the code of corporate Governance (ÖcGK), the Guidelines for the 
independence of Supervisory Board members and the Articles of Association of BKS Bank are available on our 
website .
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the Supervisory Board renewed its commitment to the code of corporate Governance (ÖcGK) at its meeting 
of 30 march 2016 and declared its intention of complying with the Rules of the code of corporate Governance 
(ÖcGK), as amended, in the version of January 2015 .

this report deals with working procedures of the management Board and of the 
Supervisory Board pursuant to l Rule 60, with the remuneration policy as well as with the 
measures taken to promote women pursuant to l Rule 60 . furthermore, the accounting 
policies and disclosure principles (l Rules 63, 65 and 69, c Rules 64, 66, 67, 68 and 70), 
the functionality of the risk management system (c Rule 83) as well as the compliance 
management system are analysed . further themes of relevance for the code of corporate 
Governance (ÖcGK) such as shareholding structure and the annual general meeting, 
corporate communications and the passing on of information are described in the Group 
management report, in the chapter on investor relations as well as in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements .

the Rules of the code of corporate Governance (ÖcGK) apply to all companies of the 
BKS Bank Group . At these companies, the governance tasks and, as necessary, the 
Supervisory Board mandates are assumed by the serving members of the management 
Board, heads of departments and former management staff members of BKS Bank . All 
Group companies are included in the reporting of the BKS Bank Group . Additionally, the 
directors of these subsidiaries report regularly to their supervisory boards and to the 
management board of the parent company . they are also strongly involved in the Aml, 
the risk and compliance management system of the BKS Bank Group regardless of 
whether or not they have one in place at the company . the remuneration principles also 
apply to their management staff, provided the respective executive bodies receive 
remuneration for their activities in these companies . Regular reports are made to the 
supervisory board of the parent company on developments at significant subsidiaries with 
business operations . 

eXplAnAtionS of BKS BAnK on the deviAtionS fRom the c RuleS 
rule 2 C (‘one share – one vote’): apart from ordinary shares, BKS Bank has also issued non-voting preference 
shares, which are an attractive investment alternative for shareholders due to their preferred treatment with respect 
to dividends rights. The ordinary shares issued by BKS Bank have one vote each. no single shareholder holds a 
disproportionate number of voting rights. The decision to issue non-voting preference shares was taken in 1991.
rule 31 C: The disclosure of the remuneration of the members of the Management Board is done in accordance with 
statutory provisions. For reasons of data protection and to protect the privacy of the individual Management Board 
members, no breakdown of the remuneration into its fixed and variable components has been disclosed. The 
remuneration rules defined by BKS Bank ensure that the variable remuneration paid to the members of the 
Management Board is commensurate with the personal performance of the respective member. Furthermore, the 
earnings, risk and liquidity situation of the credit institution is accordingly taken into account. 
rule 45 C: On account of the expansion of the body of shareholders, representatives of the largest shareholders 
have been elected to the Supervisory Board. as the major shareholders are also banks, their representatives also hold 
executive positions in other credit institutions which are competitors of BKS Bank. These persons have declared their 
independence in individual declarations.
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manaGemenT boarD 
anD supervisory boarD

worKiNg ProCedureS of THe maNagemeNT Board
the management Board as the executive body of the BKS Bank Group is committed to 
upholding the interests of the company and manages the business in accordance with 
the law, the articles of association and the internal business rules . the internal business 
rules for the management Board define the distribution of responsibilities, the working 
procedures of management Board and the mutual representation rules . Additionally, 
the rules contains a catalogue of measures that require the approval of the Supervisory 
Board as well as the information and reporting obligations of the management Board . the 
management Board cooperates on the basis of trust with the other executive bodies of 
BKS Bank and the works’ council . the Supervisory Board is informed immediately of any 
material events . 

the management Board deals primarily with the strategic orientation of the bank 
based on extensive reporting, on defining the company’s goals for the respective areas 
of responsibility and for the entire company Group . Bearing in mind the objective of 
creating sustainable profits, the management Board is committed to serving the interests 
of shareholders, customers, employees and other groups related to the bank . the 
management Board takes the appropriate measures to ensure compliance with relevant 
laws and guarantees efficient risk management and risk control . 

the management Board member responsible for a specific business area is directly 
responsible for it . however, the other members are comprehensively informed 
 of development in the entire company and present fundamental matters to be decided 
to the full management Board . in some areas of responsibility, the management Board 
members are involved in the daily business and are informed continuously of the business 
situation and of major transactions . events of relevance for the company, strategic 
issues and measures are discussed at regular and ad hoc meetings or by circular for 
implementation by the management Board member responsible or by the full Board . 

management Board decisions are usually reached by consensus . the principle of dual 
control applies to the signing of contracts and to risk-sensitive internal approvals . 
comprehensive internal reporting supports the careful preparation of management 
decisions . 
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memBerS of THe maNagemeNT Board 
in the reporting year, there were three jointly responsible members on the management 
Board of BKS Bank . 

Herta Stockbauer
Chairwoman of the Management Board, born 1960
date of initial appointment: 1 July 2004
End of the period of office: 30 June 2019

herta Stockbauer studied commercial science at vienna’s university of economics and 
Business Administration and then worked as an assistant professor and lecturer at the 
institute of commercial Science of the Alpen-Adria university in Klagenfurt . in 1992, she 
joined BKS Bank and worked in corporate customers and securities before she switched 
to the controlling and accounting department . in 1996, she was appointed head of 
department; in 2004 she became member of the management Board and in march 2014 
chairwoman of the management Board . 

her areas of responsibility include corporate and Business Banking, treasury and 
proprietary trading, human Resources, public Relations, marketing, Social media, 
investor Relations, Accounting and Sales management Accounting, real estate and 
construction, subsidiaries and investments as well as the international business in 
Slovenia, croatia, hungary and in Slovakia . 

Mandates in companies included in the group of consolidated companies:
—  chairwoman of the Supervisory Board of oberbank AG 
—    vice chairwoman of the Supervisory Board of Bank fur tirol und vorarlberg 

Aktiengesellschaft
— member of the Supervisory Board of BKS-leasing croatia d .o .o .

mandates in other Austrian companies not included in the group of consolidated 
companies:
— member of the Supervisory Board of Österreichische post Aktiengesellschaft
— member of the Supervisory Board of Sw-umwelttechnik Stoiser & wolschner AG
— member of the Supervisory Board of oesterreichische Kontrollbank Aktiengesellschaft

Further positions:
— member of the management Board of the Austrian Bankers Association (verband 
österreichischer Banken und Bankiers)
— member of the management Board of federation of industrialists in carinthia 
(industriellenvereinigung Kärnten)
— member of the Board of the Austrian Society for Banking Research (Österreichische 
Bankwissenschaftliche Gesellschaft)
— Spokeswoman of the Banking and insurance Section of the chamber of commerce of 
carinthia
— member of the Advisory council of the Bank deposit protection organisation
— vice president of respAct — Austrian Business council for Sustainable development
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honorary counsul for Sweden for the province of carinthia
dieter Kraßnitzer
Member of the Management Board, born 1959
date of initial appointment: 1 September 2010
End of the period of office: 31 august 2020

After completing his study of business administration, dieter Kraßnitzer worked for the 
publication Börsenkurier as a journalist and completed several internships at auditing and 
tax advisory firms . he has worked at BKS Bank since 1987 . he became the bank’s head of 
internal Audit in 1992 .  in 2006, he qualified as a certified internal Auditor (ciA©) at the 
institute of internal Auditors in the united States . 

dieter Kraßnitzer is on the management Board of BKS Bank and responsible for 
Risk management, Risk controlling, Back office lending, Back office treasury, it, 
organization and technical Services as well as for cooperation with dRei-BAnKen-edv 
Gesellschaft m .b .h . in the area of international business, he is responsible for the Back 
office, Risk management and it .

Mandates in companies included in the group of consolidated companies:
— chairman of the Supervisory Board of BKS-leasing croatia d .o .o .
— member of the expert Advisory council of dRei-BAnKen-edv Gesellschaft m .b .h .

wolfgang mandl
Member of the Management Board, born 1969
date of initial appointment: 1 January 2013
End of the period of office: 31 december 2018

wolfgang mandl started his career in 1990 as an account manager for retail customers at 
the Spittal branch and completed his study of applied business administration in 1997 at 
the Alpen-Adria university Klagenfurt Afterwards, he assumed several assignments for 
corporates at the head office in Klagenfurt . in 2003, he was assigned head of corporates 
services and assumed responsibility for the retail segment . 

wolfgang mandl is on the management Board of BKS Bank and is responsible for Retail, 
private Banking and the Securities and custody Account Business . he is additionally 
responsible for cooperation with sales partners such as wüstenrot, card complete Service 
Bank AG, 3 Banken-Generali investment-Gesellschaft m .b .h ., which is the joint investment 
management company of 3 Banken Group . he is responsible for the region of italy in the 
area of international business of BKS Bank .

Further positions:
honorary counsul of italy for the province of carinthia .
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the number and type of all additional mandates of the members of the management 
Board are in conformity with the guidelines of the c Rule 26 of the code of corporate 
Governance (ÖcGK) and the provisions of § 28a Austrian Banking Act (BwG) .

Corporate and Business 
Banking

Treasury and Proprietary 
Trading

Human resources

Public relations, 
Marketing, Social Media, 

Investor relations

accounting and 
Management accounting for 

Sales

real Estate and Construction

Subsidiaries and  
Investees

International Business:  
Slovak republic, 

Slovenia, Croatia, Hungary

risk Management

risk Controlling

IT, Business Organization, 
Technical Services

Credit Back Office,  
BKS Service GmbH (BSG)

drEI-BanKEn-EdV  
Gesellschaft m.b.H.

Treasury Back Office

International Business:  
Back Office, risk 

Management and IT

retail  
and Healing Professions

Private Banking, 
Securities Business

asset Management 
and Custodian Operations 

Sales Partners

International Business:  
Italy

RemitS of the mAnAGement BoARd 

 Internal revision 
Compliance

anti-Money laundering
due diligence and risk Management as defined in the Internal Business rules, 

the austrian Code of Corporate Governance (ÖCGK) and Supervisory law

 Herta Stockbauer  Wolfgang MandlDieter Kraßnitzer
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worKiNg ProCedureS of THe SuPerViSorY Board
the Supervisory Board pursues the goal of fulfilling its supervisory and advisory functions 
optimally based on the expert qualifications, diversity and personal competence of its members . 

the Supervisory Board of BKS Bank has had nine shareholder representatives since 1 
october 2016 and five members nominated by the works’ council under the one-third-
parity rule . the Supervisory Board advises and monitors the management Board of the 
bank, with the expert work being conducted at the plenary board meetings and also in 
the individual working groups . the Supervisory Board reaches decisions autonomously 
on appointments to the management Board and on the appointment of the chairperson 
of the management Board, and it develops long-term successor planning together with 
the management Board . the Supervisory Board monitors the management in accordance 
with the requirements of the law, the articles of association and the internal business 
rules . the Supervisory Board discusses the implementation of strategic planning and 
projects in its remit, and decides on matters of relevance for the company together with 
the management Board . the Supervisory Board may, moreover, at any time conduct 
exhaustive audits itself or commission experts to conduct such audits . the Supervisory 
Board deals especially with the audit of the financial statements of BKS Bank AG and of 
the BKS Bank Group in accordance with international auditing standards (iSAs) and is, 
therefore, also directly involved in decisions on dividend distributions . the chairperson of 
of the Supervisory Board is responsible for the organization of the Supervisory Board, for 
preparing meetings and for collaboration with the management Board . the Supervisory 
Board also leads the annual general meetings of BKS Bank and heads the committees of 
the Supervisory Board . 

the rights and obligations of the employees’ representatives are generally equal to those 
of shareholders . this applies, in particular, to the right to receive information and to 
monitoring rights, to the obligation to act with due diligence, to the obligation to maintain 
secrecy and to liability for failure to comply . in the event of personal conflicts of interest, 
employees' representatives shall abstain from voting, the same being applicable to 
shareholders' representatives . in the reporting year, no member of the Supervisory Board 
had a conflict of interests in the meaning the c Rule 46 of the Austrian code of corporate 
Governance (ÖcGK) . the remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board is 
presented in detail in the remuneration report on page 37 et seq .

memBerS of THe SuPerViSorY Board of BKS BaNK ag
honoRARY pReSident
Hermann Bell
hermann Bell was elected honorary president of the Supervisory Board for life at the 2nd 
meeting of the Supervisory Board on 15 may 2014 .

ShAReholdeR RepReSentAtiveS 
Peter gaugg
Chairman until 19 May 2016
peter Gaugg resigned from his mandate as chairman of the Supervisory Board at the close 
of the 77th annual general meeting and resigned from the Supervisory Board . 
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gerhard Burtscher
Chairman from 19 May 1916, independent, born 1967
Initially elected: 19 May 2016, appointed until the 82nd annual general meeting (2021) 
Gerhard Burtscher was elected new chairman of the Supervisory Board at the 2nd 
meeting of the Supervisory Board in the elections for the chair and vice chair of the Board .  
Mandates on supervisory boards and similar functions in domestic and foreign listed companies:
— vice chairman of the Supervisory Board of oberbank AG

franz gasselsberger
Vice-Chairman, independent, born 1959
Initially elected: 19 april 2002, appointed until the 81st annual general meeting (2020) 
Mandates on supervisory boards and similar functions in domestic and foreign listed companies:
— chairman of the Supervisory Board of Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft
— member of the Supervisory Board of AmAG Austria metall AG
— member of the Supervisory Board of lenzing Aktiengesellschaft
— member of the Supervisory Board of voestalpine AG

Christina fromme-Knoch
Independent, born 1970
Initially elected: 15 May 2012, appointed until the 79th annual general meeting (2018) 

Peter Hofbauer
Independent, born 1964
Initially elected: 20 May 2015
peter hofbauer resigned from his mandated on the Supervisory Board as of 30 September 2016 .

reinhard iro
Independent, born 1949
Initially elected: 26 april 2000, appointed until the 79th annual general meeting (2018) 
Mandates on supervisory boards and similar functions in domestic and foreign listed companies:
— member of the Supervisory Board of Sw-umwelttechnik Stoiser & wolschner AG

Josef Korak
Independent, born 1948
Initially elected: 26 april 2005, appointed until the 80th annual general meeting (2019)

Heimo Penker
Independent, born 1947
Initially elected: 15 May 2014, appointed until the 80th annual general meeting (2019)

Karl Samstag
Independent, born 1944
Initially elected: 19 april 2002, appointed until the 82nd annual general meeting (2021)
Mandates on supervisory boards and similar functions in domestic and foreign listed companies:
— member of the Supervisory Board of Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft
— member of the Supervisory Board of oberbank AG
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Sabine urnik
Independent, born 1967
Initially elected: 15 May 2014, appointed until the 80th annual general meeting (2019)

Klaus wallner 
Independent, born 1966
Initially elected: 20 May 2015, appointed until the 81st annual general meeting (2020)

rePreSeNTaTiVeS delegaTed BY THe worKS CouNCil
maximilian medwed, born in 1963; first delegated on 1 december 2012 1 december 2012
Herta Pobaschnig, born 1960, initially delegated: 1 June 2007
Hanspeter Traar,born 1956, initially delegated: 1 January 2003
gertrude wolf,born 1960, initially delegated: 1 november 2013
ulrike Zambelli, born in 1972; first delegated on  15 June 2015

The number and type of all additional mandates of the Supervisory Board comply with the 
mandate restrictions for all members pursuant to § 28a, Banking act (BwG), effective since 1 
July 2014.

rePreSeNTaTiVeS of THe SuPerViSorY auTHoriTY
director alois Schneebauer, born 1954, 
initially appointed: 1 august 1999 until 30 november 2016
director Peter ladislav, born 1962, initially appointed: 1 January 2016 

iNdePeNdeNCe of THe SuPerViSorY Board
the majority of the members of the Supervisory Board should be independent as 
specified in c Rule 53 of the code of corporate Governance (ÖcGK) . A member of 
the Supervisory Board shall be deemed independent if said member does not have any 
business or personal relations with the company or its management board that constitute 
a material conflict of interests and would therefore be capable of influencing the 
behaviour of the member . 

when making proposals to the annual general meeting regarding appointments for the 
mandates becoming vacant, the Supervisory Board and the nominations committee 
must give due consideration to the diversity of this body . the focus must be on an 
adequate representation of both genders, internationality, age structure and diversity of 
know-how and skills . 

All representatives on the Supervisory Board of BKS Bank are highly qualified banking and 
economic experts with professional experience in strategic matters and in accounting 
and financing . each of them have declared their independence in accordance with 
the guidelines below in an individual declaration . Additionally, with the exception 
of franz Gasselsberger (oberbank AG), peter Gaugg (Bank für tirol und vorarlberg 
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Aktiengesellschaft until 19 may 2016), Gerhard Burtscher (Bank für tirol und vorarlberg 
Aktiengesellschaft as of 19 mai 2016), Karl Samstag and  peter hofbauer (until 30 
September 2016), all members of the Supervisory Board elected by the annual general 
meeting are members who are not shareholders with a stake of more than 10% or who 
represent the interests of such shareholders . 

outside the scope of its ordinary banking activities, BKS Bank has no business 
relationships with subsidiaries or individuals (including Supervisory Board members) that 
could jeopardise the Bank’s independence . 

GuidelineS of the SupeRviSoRY BoARd of BKS BAnK on independence
The Supervisory Board member is not permitted to have been a member of the Management 
Board or have held a management at the company or a subsidiary of BKS Bank in the 
preceding three years. a previous position on a management board does not disqualify a 
member on the grounds of lacking independence, especially when there is no doubt that the 
mandate will be exercised independently based on a presentation of all relevant circumstances 
as defined in § 87 para. 2 Stock Corporation act (aktG).
The Supervisory Board member is not permitted to have, or to have had, a business 
relationship with BKS Bank or one of its subsidiaries to an extent of relevance for the 
Supervisory Board member in the past year. This also applies to business relationships with 
companies in which the Supervisory Board member has a significant business interest. The 
approval of individual transactions by the Supervisory Board pursuant to l rule 48 does not 
automatically result in disqualification due to lack of independence. The existence or conclusion 
of new contracts with the company that are common usage in the banking industry does not 
detract from the status of independence.
The Supervisory Board member is not permitted to have served as an auditor of BKS Bank or 
have been a shareholder or employee of the auditing firm in the preceding three years.
The Supervisory Board member is not permitted to be on the Management Board of another 
company that has a member of the Management Board of BKS Bank on its Supervisory Board 
unless the one company is related to the other within a company group or holds an economic 
interest in it.
The Supervisory Board member is not permitted to be a close relative (child, spouse, life 
partner, parent, uncle, aunt, brother or sister, nephew, niece) of a member of the Management 
Board or of a person who holds one of the positions described above.

CommiTTeeS of THe SuPerViSorY Board aNd THeir deCiSioN-
maKiNg PowerS 
the Supervisory Board takes care of its business as a rule at its plenary meetings, but 
delegates individual matters to five qualified committees. The establishment of these 
committees and their decision-making powers are defined in the internal business 
rules for the Supervisory Board . the nomination of members to the committees from 
the works council is done in accordance with the provisions of the Austrian labour 
constitutional Act (Arbeitsverfassungsgesetz) . the proposals submitted in the reporting 
year for appointments to the committees of the Supervisory Board were approved 
unanimously . 
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As at 31 december 2016

memBeRS And committeeS of the SupeRviSoRY BoARd

President Hermann Bell 

honoRARY 

RepReSentAtiveS of the 
SupeRviSoRY AuthoRitY

Peter Ladislav
director 

ShAReholdeR RepReSentAtiveS

Gerhard Burtscher, Chairman

Franz Gasselsberger
Vice Chairman 

Christina Fromme-Knoch 
Reinhard Iro
Josef Korak 

Heimo Penker
Karl Samstag
Sabine Urnik

Klaus Wallner

emploYee RepReSentAtiveS 

Maximilian Medwed
Herta Pobaschnig
Hanspeter Traar  
Gertrude Wolf
Ulrike Zambelli

committeeS of the SupeRviSoRY BoARd

Audit Committee 
Gerhard Burtscher, Chairman

Franz Gasselsberger
Sabine Urnik

Maximilian Medwed
Herta Pobaschnig

Remuneration Committee
Gerhard Burtscher, Chairman

 reinhard Iro
Heimo Penker

Herta Pobaschnig

Nominations Committee
Gerhard Burtscher, Chairman

Heimo Penker

Risk and Credit Committee
Gerhard Burtscher, Chairman

Franz Gasselsberger
Heimo Penker

Ulrike Zambelli
Hanspeter Traar

Working Committee
Gerhard Burtscher, Chairman

Franz Gasselsberger
Heimo Penker
reinhard Iro

Ulrike Zambelli
Hanspeter Traar
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audit Committee
the Act Amending Audit Regulations of 2016 (Abschlussprüfungsrechts-
Änderungsgesetz, ApRÄG) entered into force on 13 June 2016 . this Amendment 
implemented the requirements of the eu Audit Reform (eu directive 2014/56/eu and eu 
Regulation no . 537/2014) . the provisions of the Act Amending Audit Regulations apply 
to business years staring on or after 17 June 2016 . the new requirements target public-
interest entities . these include all listed companies, credit institutions and insurance 
companies .  

the amendments refer to the establishment and composition of audit committees 
and their tasks . the focus is on precise requirements for the selection procedure, the 
monitoring of the period of office and the independence of the auditors . it also contains 
new reporting rules .  
the extended auditor’s report must describe the key audit matters of the auditor . the 
auditors report separately in the Audit committee .  As a measure to strengthen the 
independence of the auditor, external rotation has been introduced . After ten years, 
the auditors must be rotated . furthermore, it contains changes to permitted non-audit 
services that may be provided by the auditor and its networks . 

with the supplementary changes pursuant to ApRÄG 2016, the Audit committee 
conducts the audit activities listed below pursuant to § 63a para. 4 Banking Act (BWG): 
—  monitoring the accounting process and presenting recommendations and proposals to 

guarantee reliability
—  monitoring the effectiveness of the company's internal control system (icS), the 

internal auditing system and the risk management system
—  monitoring the audit of the single-entity and consolidated financial statements taking 

into account the findings and conclusions in reports published by the supervisory body 
for the auditing profession  

—  the review and monitoring of the independence of the auditor especially with respect 
to the additional services provided to the audited company

—  Reporting the findings of the audit of the financial statements to the Supervisory Board 
and presenting how the audit of the financial statements contributed to the reliability of 
financial reporting as well as on the role of the Audit committee

—  the audit of the financial statements and the preparations of their approval, 
examination of the proposal for the distribution of the profit, the management report 
and, if applicable, the corporate governance report, as well as reporting the audit 
findings to Supervisory Board

—  the audit of the consolidated financial statements and Group management report, the 
consolidated corporate governance report as well as reporting the audit findings to 
Supervisory Board

—  carrying out the procedure for the selection of the auditor of the financial statements, 
taking into consideration the appropriateness of the fee and also the recommendation 
for the appointment of the auditor to the Supervisory Board 
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working Committee
According to the internal business rules, the working committee usually reaches its 
decisions by circular vote on matters that cannot be decided by the plenary meeting 
or the credit committee due to their urgency . this body is convenes as needed and 
communicates closely with the management Board; therefore, it has a suitable basis for 
monitoring the management . the proposals made to the management Board and the 
outcomes of the vote must be reported afterwards to the full Supervisory Board . 

risk and Credit Committee 
the Risk and credit committee decides on the granting of new loans and loan 
prolongations, and on leasing and guarantee transactions as of a certain volume of debt . 
As a rule, these decisions are reached by circular vote . At the subsequent meetings, 
the Supervisory Board is informed of the decisions reached by the Risk and credit 
committee . Additionally, it also takes care of the following tasks pursuant to § 39d 
Banking Act (BWG):
—  providing consulting to the management Board with respect to the current and future 

risk appetite and risk strategy of the credit institution
—  monitoring implementation of the risk strategy in connection with the management, 

monitoring and mitigation of risks pursuant to § 39 (2b) nos . 1 to 14, and the own funds 
requirements and liquidity

—  Review of the pricing policy for the services and products offered by the credit 
institution to check if these adequately take the business model and risk strategy of the 
credit institution into account

—  Regardless of the tasks of the Remuneration committee, it checks to ascertain if the 
incentives of the internal remuneration system take risk, capital, liquidity, probability 
and timing of profits realized into consideration 

 
Nominations Committee
this body makes proposals to the Supervisory Board based on statutory provisions (§ 29 Banking Act 
(BWG)) for filling mandates becoming vacant on the Management Board and Supervisory Board, unless the 
Remuneration Committee is responsible. The Committee defines the target ratio for underrepresented 
gender on the management Board and on the Supervisory Board, and develops a strategy on how to attain the 
target . it regularly evaluates - in any case when events occur that indicate the need for a re-assessment - the 
structure, size, composition and performance of the management Board and of the Supervisory Board . Should 
it seem necessary, the committee makes proposals for changes to the Supervisory Board . it also supports the 
Supervisory Board at least once a year with the assessment of the knowledge, capabilities and experience of the 
members of the management Board and Supervisory Board, and with the assessment of the respective body in 
its entirety . furthermore, it evaluates the management’s policies for the selection and appointment of persons 
to top management positions . Just like all other committees, the nominations committee also reports in detail 
at the next plenary meeting of the Supervisory Board after a decision is taken . 
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remuneration Committee
the Remuneration committee deals with the content of the employment contracts of the management Board 
members and monitors remuneration policy, the practices applied and the remuneration-linked incentives 
pursuant to § 39b Banking Act (BwG) and the related Annexes . it approves, among other things, changes to the 
remuneration policy guidelines of BKS Bank and the Group . 

committeeS eStABliShed BY the SupeRviSoRY BoARd
name Audit 

committee
working 

committee
Risk and 

credit com-
mittee

nominations 
committee

Remunera-
tion 

committee

peter Gaugg, chairman1)

Gerhard Burtscher, chairman2)

franz Gasselsberger
  peter hofbauer 3)

Reinhard iro4)

heimo penker
Sabine urnik
 maximilian medwed
herta pobaschnig
hanspeter traar
ulrike Zambelli
1) until 19 may 2016 
2) from 19 may 2016 
3) until 30 September 2016 
4) from 19 may 2016 

meeTiNgS aNd maiN aCTiViTieS of THe SuPerViSorY Board 
four meetings of the Supervisory Board were held in the financial year 2016 . At every 
Supervisory Board meeting, the management Board members reported on the current 
development of the financial position, profit or loss and assets of the company and on 
the risk situation of BKS Bank and its affiliates . furthermore, at every meeting, current 
regulatory requirements and their impact on BKS Bank were discussed . the management 
Board presented all matters requiring its approval to the Supervisory Board in timely 
manner . 

the first meeting took place on 30 march 2016 . the Supervisory Board reviewed the 
financial statements and management report for 2015 of BKS Bank AG, the consolidated 
financial statements and Group management report 2015 as well as the corporate 
governance report 2015 . the audit reports were were discussed in detail with the 
representatives of KpmG Austria Gmbh . in accordance with the recommendations of the 
Audit committee, the Supervisory Board approved the single-entity financial statements 
and management report for the year ended on 31 december 2015 and the consolidated 
financial statements and Group management report for the year ending on 31 december 
2015 as well as the proposal for the distribution of the profit for 2015 . 
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the chairperson of the Audit, nominations and Remuneration committee reported 
on the key issues discussed at the committees . the Supervisory Board agreed to 
the proposal of the Remuneration committee with respect to the changes to the 
Remuneration Guidelines for BKS Bank AG and the Group, and approved it by unanimous 
vote . furthermore, reports were made to the full Supervisory Board on developments 
in the current financial year and lending matters . the Supervisory Board also authorized 
transactions with Board members under the requested conditions . A report was also 
given on the current status of the merger of BKS Bank AG with croatian subsidiary BKS 
Bank d .d . the final report on the assignment of obligations from the insurance business of 
drei-Banken versicherungs-Aktiengesellschaft to Generali versicherung AG was also dealt 
with . As in previous years, an employee share participation plan was decided within the 
scope of the annual bonus payments to the staff . the Agenda and the documents required 
to pass the resolutions at the 77th annual general meeting were also prepared . 

the second meeting of the Supervisory Board was held right after the 77th annual general 
meeting on 19 may 2016 . At this meeting, the assembly dealt with the elections for the 
chairperson and vice chairperson as well as with the appointments to the five committees 
of the Supervisory Board . As peter Gaugg was no longer on the Supervisory Board at the 
end of the annual general meeting, the Supervisory Board appointed Gerhard Burtscher 
as a new chairman of the Supervisory Board by unanimous vote . franz Gasselsberger was 
elected vice chairman . the current appointments to the committees of the Supervisory 
Report are presented on page 27 . the chairperson of the Supervisory Board also holds the 
position of chairperson of all committees . 

After the Supervisory Board and its committees were constituted, reports were given 
on the current financial year and the risk situation . As peter Gaugg was no longer on 
the Supervisory Board at the end of the annual general meeting, the Supervisory Board 
appointed Gerhard Burtscher as a new chairman of the Supervisory Board by unanimous 
vote . Additionally, the Supervisory Board passed a resolution on the establishment of an 
eu subsidiary in croatia . After the meeting, a fit & proper training course was held on the 
topic of “market abuse” . 

the third meeting took place on 8 September 2016 . the management Board reported 
on the current financial year, presented the outlook for the full year 2016 and the 
risk report . Afterwards, there were detailed reports from the Audit committee . the 
reports dealt with the monitoring of the financial reporting process, the effectiveness 
of the internal control system, the internal audit system and the risk management 
system . Additionally, the independence of the auditor was ascertained . Afterwards, 
explanations were presented on the loans granted by the Risk and credit committee . 
moreover, the revised financial recovery plan adjusted to comply with the supervisory 
requirements was approved and the resolution on the capital increase passed . the third 
meeting of the Supervisory Board closed with a fit & proper training course on the 
subject “eu audit reform” at which the new Act Amending Audit Regulations of 2016 
(Abschlussprüfungsrechts-Änderungsgesetz 2016, ApRÄG 2016 and eu-vo 537/2014) 
was dealt with in detail .
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At the fourth meeting of the Supervisory Board on 24 november 2016, the management 
Board presented the development of the BKS Bank Group referring to the balance sheet 
and income statement as well as the segment and risk reports . the management Board 
presented the company strategy 2020 to the Supervisory Board, the targets and the 
measures needed to achieve the company goals defined . the new BKS Bank mission 
Statement was also presented . furthermore, the outlook for 2016, the earnings, costs and 
investment budget for 2017 as well as the planned volume of own issues were presented 
to the Supervisory Board for resolution . the full Supervisory Board also discussed the 
loans granted by the Risk and credit committee and with the annual report regarding 
major loans pursuant to § 28b Banking Act (BwG) . the contents and the results of 
the preceding meetings held by the Risk and credit committee were also discussed . 
furthermore, the full Supervisory Board confirmed that the members of the nominations 
committee were compliant with the fit & proper test pursuant to § 29 Banking Act 
(BwG) in conjunction with the circular of the fmA and also with the fit & proper 
guidelines of BKS Bank . 

meeTiNgS aNd maiN aCTiViTieS of THe CommiTTeeS 
audit Committee
the Audit committee met twice in the reporting year . At the first meeting, the 
consolidated financial statements including the Group management report for 2015, 
the single-entity financial statements including the management report, the report of 
the chair of the Supervisory Board and the proposal for the distribution of the profit, 
the corporate governance report and the risk report were reviewed in detail . the 
report of the internal audit on the auditing activities conducted in the fourth quarter 
of 2015 was discussed as well as the audit plan for 2016 . furthermore, the decision 
was reached to propose to the Supervisory Board and subsequently to the 77th annual 
general meeting to charge KpmG Alpen-treuhand G .m .b .h ., wirtschaftsprüfungs- 
und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Klagenfurt with the audit of the single-entity and 
consolidated financial statements 2017 of BKS Bank AG .

At the second meeting on 8 September 2016, the development of the current financial 
year, the risk situation and the preparations for the audit of the financial statements 
2016 were discussed . pursuant to § 63a para . 4 fig . 1 and 2 Banking Act (BwG), the 
management Board reported in detail on the monitoring of the financial reporting 
process and the effectiveness of the internal control system, of the internal audit system 
and the risk management . in particular, the new requirements for the Audit committee 
were discussed in detail and the so-called non-audit services requiring approval were 
presented . the members of the Audit committee approved the motion made by 
management Board regarding permissible non-audit services . twice a year, a report is 
made to the Audit committee on the non-audit services actually provided . 

the representatives of the auditing firm KpmG Austria Gmbh  
attended the two meetings as experts for the purpose of providing information . 
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working Committee
At the Supervisory Board meeting of 8 September 2016, the working committee 
was authorized to pass a resolution on the final volume of the capital increase and the 
related changes to the articles of association of BKS Bank . on 20 october 2016, the 
working committee decided on the final volume of the capital increase -- based on the 
resolution of the management Board -- of 3,603,600 ordinary bearer shares . the required 
amendment to the articles of association of BKS Bank was also passed . 

risk and Credit Committee
the Risk and credit committee made almost all of its decisions during the reporting 
year by circular resolutions due to the need for prompt decisions and dealt with 46 loan 
applications . the committee reported on these resolutions at the respective subsequent 
plenary meetings of the Supervisory Board . 

At the meeting of 24 november, the committee discussed BKS Bank’s risk situation 
as well as the operational and other banking risks pursuant to § 39 para . 2b Banking 
Act (BwG) . Additionally, it reviewed its pricing policy for compliance with the bank’s 
business model and risk appetite . the review of BKS Bank’s remuneration system showed 
that the system’s incentives took into account the risk, capital, liquidity and earnings 
situation and did not create any unwanted incentives .  Subsequently, the management 
Board deliberated the Bank’s current and future risk strategy and its risk appetite . to 
this end, the members of the committee scrutinized the risk management and the risk 
strategy developed . the committee reached the conclusion that the risk strategy is 
comprehensive and all limits defined are observed . the risk management process of the 
Bank is effective and reasonable, and risk monitoring is done properly . 

Nominations Committee 
the nominations committee met on 29 march 2016 . the members of the nominations 
committee verified the knowledge, capabilities and experience of the members of the 
management Board and Supervisory Board in the course of the annual fit and proper 
evaluation . the corresponding suitability of the members of the nominations committee 
had been assessed and unanimously confirmed at the Supervisory Board’s meeting of 25 
november 2015 . 

the members of the nominations committee also dealt with the vacant mandates on the 
Supervisory Board and potential candidates . Karl Samstag and peter Gaugg’s mandates 
expired as scheduled with the close of the 77th annual general meeting . As peter Gaugg 
was no longer available for re-election, it was recommended to the Supervisory Board 
to propose to the annual general meeting the re-election of Karl Samstag and Gerhard 
Burtscher to the Supervisory Board for the maximum period permissible pursuant to the 
articles of association . 
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the nominations committee assessed the suitability of the candidates proposed to 
the Supervisory Board for election and re-election . furthermore, the nominations 
committee discussed the assessment of the structure, size, composition and 
performance of the management Board and of the Supervisory Board, and reviewed the 
policy of the management Board with respect to the selection of the top management . 

remuneration Committee
one meeting of the Remunerations committee took place on 29 march of the financial 
year 2016 . At the meeting, the committee members discussed the principles of the 
remuneration policy and its implementation . Based on the Group’s internal audit report, 
the Remuneration committee ascertained that remuneration practices were in line 
with statutory requirements and with the guidelines adopted by the Remunerations 
committee . following the unanimous vote by the Remuneration committee, the 
amendment to the Remuneration Guidelines for BKS Bank and the banking group were 
presented to the full Supervisory Board for approval . it also discussed the remuneration 
of top management members who work in risk management and compliance functions as 
well as the measurement of the variable remuneration for members of the management 
Board for the financial year 2015 . 

Self-eValuaTioN iN aCCordaNCe wiTH C rule 36 
in the reporting year, the Supervisory Board conducted a self-evaluation of its activities 
in accordance with c Rule 36 of the Austrian code of corporate Governance (ÖcGK) . At 
the meeting of 30 march 2016, it examined the efficiency of its activities, including, in 
particular, its organization and work procedures . the resolution was passed to retain the 
current organization and efficient work procedures . 
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remuneraTion reporT

The remuneration report states the criteria applied to determine the remuneration of the 
management Board and of the Supervisory Board of BKS Bank, and explains the amount  and 
structure of the remuneration paid to the management Board and Supervisory Board members as 
well as the audit fees and services of the auditors.    

details on the remuneration practices are published in the disclosure Report pursuant to the capital 
Requirements Regulation (cRR), which is available at  www .bks .at under » investor Relations» . 

maNagemeNT Board’S remuNeraTioN
the Supervisory Board delegated all matters relating to the remuneration of the 
management Board to the Remuneration committee at its meeting of 25 november 
2010 . the committee has since then regulated the relations between the company 
and the members of the management Board and monitored remuneration policy, 
remuneration practices and remuneration-linked incentives pursuant to § 39b Banking 
Act (BwG) including Annexes . 

the Remuneration committee adopted the “Remuneration Guidelines for BKS Bank 
AG and the BKS Banking Group” and passed an amended version at its meeting of 29 
march 2016 effective as of 1 April 2016 . Apart from remuneration policy principles, the 
Guidelines also include a detailed complexity analysis documented in writing as well as 
parameters for the measurement and review of the variable remuneration components . 
the remuneration policy of BKS Bank is compliant with all principles set out in the Annex 
to § 39b Banking Act (BwG) . By complying with the detailed regulatory provisions for 
banks regarding the remuneration policy of credit institutions, the requirements of § 78 
para . 1 Stock corporation Act (AktG) were also fully met . 

the remuneration of active members of the management Board of BKS Bank is oriented 
on their areas of work and remits, on their contribution to profits, and on the appropriate 
standards applicable to companies of similar size from the same industry . this takes 
into account a balanced ratio of fixed and variable components, with the guidance for 
the variable components being 25% of total remuneration .  the variable remuneration 
components are limited to 40% of total annual remuneration . 

the fixed remuneration component is based on the respective area of work . the variable components are 
guided by the sustainable and long-term achievement of the business strategy, the risk strategy and the 
sustainable, long-term economic development of BKS Bank . A shortfall in meeting these criteria is reflected in 
the measurement of the current variable annual remuneration . the criteria for the measurement of the variable 
remuneration components are: consolidated profit after tax, return on equity before tax, cost/income ratio, 
risk/-earnings ratio, staff turnover rate, trend in number of customers as well as the common equity tier 1 capital 
ratio and own funds as a measure of the overall development of operations and business and of the development 
of the individual business areas . moreover, the targets defined for risk-bearing capacity, credit, market, liquidity 
and operational risks as well as the risk of over-indebtedness were used as a measure for granting variable 
remuneration components .
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These include, for example: 
—  percentage use of economic capital 
—  measures for concentration risk in the lending business such as the share of large loans, 

the share lent outside the country and the share of foreign currency loans
—  the interest rate risk in percentage of own funds
—  loans-to-deposits ratio
—  amount of operational risk 

Joint as well as the personal performance of the members of the management Board are 
taken into account. Non-financial aspects are also considered in the assessment. Should 
it turn out ex post that the variable remuneration components were paid out on the basis 
of obviously incorrect data, the members may be requested to return the amounts . 

in the reporting year, the remuneration of active members of the management Board 
totalled EUR 1,212.6k (prev. year: EUR 1,058.8k), of which some 83% was for fixed 
components and some 17% for the variable components . in accordance with the 
Remuneration Policy Guidelines, one-fifth of the variable remuneration set aside for 
2012, 2013 and 2014 were paid out . no variable remuneration components in the form 
of instruments were allotted . BKS Bank does not have a stock option programme and 
therefore it does not have any partial payouts of variable components in the form of BKS 
Bank shares or options on these shares .

The rules defined for the variable remuneration components are based on the circular 
of the fmA on the “principles of Remuneration policy and practices” and did not change 
in any material respect compared to the preceding year . therefore, neither the variable 
components paid out to the members of the management Board nor the remuneration 
system for the second-level management staff, for employees in control functions or for 
risk buyers resulted in any incentives to assume unreasonable risks .

the remuneration paid to the management Board in the reporting year is also presented 
in the notes to the financial statements. Provisions for severance payments and post-
employment benefits for Management Board members were set aside in an amount of 
euR 112 .6k . 

the business rules for the management Board states that the Supervisory Board must 
approve any sideline activities of the members of the management Board to avoid 
conflicts of interest and contain unwanted financial incentives. 
An exception is made for mandates in the subsidiaries of BKS Bank . there is no 
remuneration for these mandates . 

company pension fund contributions for active members of the management Board are 
paid into a pension fund on a monthly basis . furthermore, management Board members 
are entitled to severance payment upon termination of their employment contracts 
under the terms applicable pursuant to the provisions of the Act on Salaried employees 
and of the collective Agreement for Banks . the rules applicable to the premature 
termination of the position on the management Board complies with the provisions of 
the c Rule 27a of the Austrian code of corporate Governance (ÖcGK) . 
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Agreements on termination compensation payments take into account the conditions 
under which the concerned member resigns from the management Board and 
the economic situation of the bank . unless there is good reason for the premature 
termination of the function on the management Board, the compensation payment may 
only cover the remaining time to expiry of the management Board contract . Should a 
management Board member terminate an employment contract prematurely for reasons 
for which he or she is responsible, the compensation payment for a maximum amount of 
two total annual remunerations is fully forfeited . 

former management Board members are entitled to old-age pension payments . the 
amount of the company pension contractually agreed is contingent on the period of 
employment and the amount of the fixed salary eligible for pension contributions. 
Surviving relatives are entitled to pension benefits after the death of an entitled member 
of the Management Board. The post-employment benefits of former Management Board 
members and their surviving relatives amounted to EUR 895k (prev. year: EUR 1,037k). 

BKS Bank has purchased and paid for directors and officers liability insurance coverage for 
the members of the management Board, the Supervisory Board, the members of second-
level management and authorized signatories as well as for the managing directors of 
subsidiaries . 

totAl RemuneRAtion of the mAnAGement BoARd 
in €k 2015 2016

total remuneration of active management Board members in the 
reporting year 1,059 1,213
— thereof, herta Stockbauer 461 551
— thereof, dieter Kraßnitzer 316 354
— thereof, wolfgang mandl 282 308
post-employment benefits for former management Board mem-
bers and their  
survivors 1,037 895
Allocation to severance and retirement provisions for  
management Board members 73 113

remuNeraTioN of ToP maNagemeNT STaff
the managing directors of the fully consolidated companies as well as the heads of 
subsidiaries of foreign branches are covered by the Remuneration Guidelines  
and classified as risk buyers . the Remuneration committee regularly evaluates the 
variable components of their remuneration . management staff is furthermore subject to 
the fit & proper rules of BKS Bank .

remuNeraTioN of SuPerViSorY Board memBerS
the remuneration paid to the Supervisory Board is regulated in the articles of association 
of BKS Bank and is adjusted as needed by the annual general meeting based on the 
resolution passed at the meeting of 15 may 2014 . 
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in the reporting year 2016, the chairperson of the Supervisory Board received euR 
21,000, the vice chairperson euR 17,000 and further shareholder representatives euR 
15,000 each per year . the reimbursement of expenses for each meeting attended was 
euR 120 for each member of the Supervisory Board . Supervisory Board members who 
belong to one or more committees set up by the supervisory Board were paid a fee 
for the additional work performed in the respective committees . the remuneration 
of members of the Audit, Risk and credit committees amounted to euR 4,000 p .a . 
for each member . members of the working committee each received euR 2,000 p .a . 
and members of the Remuneration and nominations committee each euR 1,000 p .a . 
the member of the Supervisory Board nominated by unicredit Bank Austria AG, peter 
hofbauer, does not receive any remuneration .  the company requested us to refrain from 
paying such remuneration due to current internal rules for Supervisory Board activities of 
active managers of the unicredit Group .

total remuneration paid out to the Supervisory Board was euR 183 .4k . the payments are 
made only after the Supervisory Board is discharged from liability by the annual general 
meeting for the relevant financial year . the members of the works council delegated to 
the Supervisory Board do not receive any fixed remuneration or attendance fees .

no member of the Supervisory Board participated on fewer than half of the plenary 
meetings . only two persons were excused from attending one meeting . the attendance 
ratio of the representatives of the capital and of employees was therefore 97% . 

SupeRviSoRY BoARd RemuneRAtion 
total remuner-

ation  
2016 name                   in euR

 fixed  
fees for SB

committee 
work Attendance  

fees

peter Gaugg1) 8,033 4,765 120 12,918
Gerhard Burtscher2) 13,025 7,240 360 20,625
franz Gasselsberger 17,000 10,000 480 27,480
christina fromme-Knoch 15,000 - 480 15,480
peter hofbauer3) - - - -
Reinhard iro 15,000 2,240 480 17,720
Josef Korak 15,000 - 480 15,480
heimo penker 15,000 8,000 480 23,480
Karl Samstag 15,000 - 360 15,360
Sabine urnik 15,000 4,000 480 19,480
Klaus wallner 15,000 - 360 15,360
1)  until 19 may 2016
2)  from 19 may 2016
3)  until 30 September 2016 this member of the Supervisory Board did not receive any remuneration or 

attendance fees due to an internal rule of the unicredit Group .
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direCTorS' dealiNgS
At the close of the last day of trading on the stock market in 2016, the members of the management Board 
held a total of 2,556 ordinary shares and 4,665 preference shares on their securities accounts with BKS Bank; 
Supervisory Board members held 4,714 ordinary shares and 2,951 preference shares . in total, this corresponds 
to a share of just short of 0 .04% of shares issued . Buying and selling by members of the management Board and 
of the Supervisory Board is reported to the financial market Authority (fmA) pursuant to § 48 Stock exchange 
Act (BörseG) and is published in the directors’ dealings database when the value of the trades for own account 
reaches or exceeds euR 5,000 in the calendar year . in the past financial year, there was one  
directors’ dealings notification . 

As already mentioned, BKS Bank does not have a stock options scheme for management Board and Supervisory 
Board members or for management staff and neither are there any plans to create one . within the scope of its 
regular business operations, the bank budgeted loans to members of the Supervisory Board in amount of euR 
386k (prev . year euR 274k) .  members of the management Board were extended loans amounting to euR 72k 
(prev .yr . euR 92k) .  

remuNeraTioN of THe BaNK audiTor 
At the 76th annual general meeting of 20 may 2015, the resolution was taken 
by unanimous vote to charge KpmG Austria Gmbh wirtschafts-prüfungs- und 
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Klagenfurt with the audit of the financial statements and 
financial reporting process of BKS Bank AG and the Group for the financial year 2016 . 
After the appointment and before the signing of the contract for the execution of the 
audit, the auditors informed the Supervisory Board immediately of the estimated scope of 
the audit . pursuant to c Rule 77 of the Austrian code of corporate Governance (ÖcGK), 
the audit must be conducted in accordance with international auditing standards (iSA) . 
the bank auditor also presented a list of all revenues received in the preceding financial 
year broken down by category of service to the Supervisory Board . KpmG Austria Gmbh 
wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Klagenfurt, also informed the 
Supervisory Board of its participation in a quality assurance system and plausibly declared 
its impartiality also confirming that there were no grounds that could give rise to reasons 
for its exclusion . 

the costs of the audit and for audit-related services in accordance with the articles of 
association and regulatory provisions was  
EUR 427k (prev. yr.: EUR 434k). 

infoRmAtion on feeS pAid to the BAnK AuditoR
in €k 2015 2016
fees for mandatory audits of the single-entity and consolidated 
financial statements 434 427

other auditing services 75 49
other services 189 124
Total fees 698 600
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inDepenDenT assessmenT of The 
funCTionaliTy of The risK manaGemenT 

KPmg austria gmbH wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungs-
gesellschaft, Klagenfurt, conducted an assessment of the functionality of the 
risk management of BKS Bank pursuant to C rule 83 of the austrian Code 
of Corporate governance (ÖCgK). The auditor uses the master framework 
for company-wide risk management as guidance which is published by the 
Committee of Sponsoring organizations of the Treadway Commission (CoSo). 

Among other things, the auditor assesses the risk policy, risk strategy and organization 
of the risk management . furthermore, the auditor investigated and identified risks, and 
conducted an analysis and assessment of the risks . the auditor also analyzed in detail risk 
management measures, risk monitoring and reporting on risk management . the auditor 
presented its report on the functionality of the risk management to the chair of the 
Supervisory Board and Audit committee . 

A detailed description of the risk management and current developments was given at the 
meeting of the Supervisory Board on 8 September 2016 within the scope of the catalogue 
of themes defined by § 63a para . 4 Banking Act (BwG) and at the meeting of the Risk and 
credit committee on 24 november 2016 . 

Risk management at BKS Bank is described in detail in the Risk Report which is an integral 
part of the Group management report starting on page 132 .

BKS Bank has an internal revision system in accordance with c Rule 18 of the Austrian 
code of corporate Governance (ÖcGK) and pursuant to § 42 Banking Act (BwG) that 
follows an audit plan approved by the management Board and accorded with the Audit 
committee and the plenary meeting of the Supervisory Board . the internal audit unit 
assess the risks of all company activities and operational processes, it identifies the 
potential for improving efficiency and monitors compliance with statutory provisions and 
internal guidelines . 

A further key element of the monitoring system at our bank is the internal control system 
(icS) . As early as in the 1980s, we started implementing the systematic expansion of the 
internal control system that serves primarily to safeguard assets and increase economic 
efficiency . we also invested large sums in the further development of the icS in the past 
financial year . details on this project are given in the Risk Report starting on page 172 . 
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finanCial sTaTemenTs 
anD DisClosure

as an exchange-listed company, BKS Bank ag applies l rule 65 of the austrian 
Code of Corporate governance (ÖCgK) and prepares consolidated financial 
statements and a short interim group report, which is part of the mid-year 
financial report pursuant to the international financial reporting Standards 
(ifrS) as adopted by the eu. we publish the annual financial statements at the 
latest four months after the end of the reporting period, the mid-year financial 
statements and interim reports at the latest two months after the end of the 
reporting period. 

the reports are available to the public for at least ten years . we use the services of 
the issuer information centre of oesterreichische Kontrollbank AG (oe), which is the 
officially appointed system for the central storage of mandatory disclosures . Apart from 
the statutory disclosure obligations, our bank published interim reports for the period 
ending 31 march and 30 September 2016 in the last financial year . the financial reports 
are published on the website of BKS Bank in German and in english in accordance with c 
Rule 68 of the Austrian code of corporate Governance (ÖcGK) . 

the financial reporting of the BKS Bank Group presents a true and fair view of the assets, 
financial position and result of operations of the company in accordance with l Rule 69 
and c Rule 70 of the Austrian code of corporate Governance (ÖcGK) . in the Group 
management report, the bank presents a relevant analysis of the development of business 
and describes the key financial and non-financial risks and uncertainties it is exposed to . 
Additionally, the key features of the internal control system are described as well as the 
risk management system with respect to the financial reporting process . the detailed 
risk report starts on page 132 of this annual report and contains information on how the 
company deals responsibly with the various types of risks . 

the single-entity financial statements of BKS Bank AG were prepared in accordance with 
the provisions of Austrian Business code (uGB) . the consolidated financial statements 
and Group financial statements are prepared by the company and audited by the 
auditor elected at the annual general meeting, and are approved and confirmed by the 
Supervisory Board . 

in the annual and interim reports, the management Board discusses material changes or 
deviations from the revenue, profit and strategy goals published to date as well as the 
causes and effects for the current and subsequent financial years . 

A calendar of corporate events is published in the financial reports and on the website for the current year and 
for the subsequent year in accordance with c Rule 74 of the Austrian code of corporate Governance (ÖcGK) . 
The calendar contains all publication dates of importance for financial communications and the date of the next 
annual general meeting. BKS Bank discloses financial information on the company on its website that was also 
published in other media (e .g . printed reports, press releases, ad-hoc reports) . 

further details on the relations of BKS Bank with its shareholders and stakeholders are given in the chapter 
“investor Relations communication” on page 58 of this annual report .
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ComplianCe manaGemenT 
sysTem

in addition to risk management and the internal control system, compliance 
is the third pillar of monitoring at the bank. The primary goal is to prevent 
breaches of the law and regulations, and to protect the BKS Bank group, its 
employees, the management and corporate bodies as well as the owners from 
compliance risks. To this end, a compliance management system has been set up 
at the BKS Bank group.

we take our extensive compliance obligations very seriously . we expect our management 
staff and employees to comply with all laws, regulations and internal guidelines in their 
daily work and to take guidance from our corporate values . the term “integrity” plays a 
special role in this context . integrity safeguards the trust that customers, shareholders, 
employees and business partners place in our bank and therefore assures our long-term 
success .

to ensure behaviour that is in compliance with legal provisions and regulations as well 
as ethical norms, we have set up a compliance management system based on three 
elements: “recognize”, “prevent” and “act”. We dedicate special attention to the 
theme of prevention through specific communications and training measures . All new 
employees, for example, receive training at the start of work in anti-money laundering 
and compliance . Subsequently, all employees must attend mandatory compliance 
seminars every three years . moreover, the e-learning modules on anti-money laundering 
and compliance themes must be completed every year . A further area of focus is strict 
adherence to the know-your-customer principle . this includes, among other things, 
clearly determining and documenting the identity of customers and the source of the 
funds being used in the business relationship or in a transaction .

compliAnce mAnAGement SYStem of BKS BAnK

pRevent
Training,  

consultation desk,  
awareness measures

RecoGniZe
Identify risks,  

assess risks and  
continuously monitor

Act 
Professional management  

of ad hoc incidents,  
zero-tolerance principle
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the extensive compliance themes are dealt with by two expert teams that work 
independently:  Capital Market Compliance and AML/CFT. Organizationally, the two 
teams belong to the group “legal and compliance” . the head of this group acts as 
both compliance officer and Aml officer . this person reports directly to the entire 
management Board . 

the compliance officer has a number of supervisory, control, notification, reporting and 
information obligations in accordance with the compliance decree for issuers issued 
by the Austrian financial market Authority . the compliance officer also has extensive 
powers for giving instructions, requesting information and investigating . 
the capital market compliance team is responsible for compliance tasks derived 
from statutory and regulatory provisions . these include, in particular, the creation of 
compliance rules and regulations, the development and execution of communications 
and training measures, the prevention and combatting of inside dealings and market 
manipulation, as well as the periodical assessment of compliance risks . 

the Aml officer and the Aml/cft team deal with measures to prevent money 
laundering and terrorism financing, and with financial sanctions . the team is also 
responsible for setting up and developing an effective system for fraud prevention . 

the two organizational units are also responsible for independent reporting to the 
management Board, the Supervisory Board and the financial market Authority .  
A compliance management system is also in place at the foreign branches and 
subsidiaries . 

in the past financial year, we again dealt with numerous amendments to the legal framework . the 
implementation of the set of measures referred to as the “banking package” involved an enormous effort . these 
included all measures relating to the “oecd common Reporting Standard”, the “central accounts register” and 
the “reporting of capital inflows and outflows” . Banks are now under the obligation to forward certain customer 
data to government institutions . these notification requirements needed a large volume of adaptation work and 
high investments in our it systems . Additionally, extensive training courses were organized for our staff . 

we also dealt in detail with the new rules for combatting inside trading and market abuse . market abuse 
legislation was standardized throughout the european union by the market Abuse Regulation (mAR 2014/596/
eu) and the eu market Abuse directive (mAd, 2014/57/eu) . the objective was to create the same framework 
conditions for all actors on the capital market . the mAR contains the specific regulations for combatting inside 
trading and market manipulation . it has been in force since 3 July 2016 . the eu directive by contrast contains 
provisions imposing stricter sanctions for violations against the market Abuse Regulation . these provisions 
were adopted as a directive, because the enforcement of criminal sanctions cannot be regulated directly by 
the european union due to the treaty on the functioning of the european union,  which stipulates that such 
sanctions can only be implemented by the member states . the directive was enacted in Austrian law in the Stock 
exchange Act (BörseG) and has been in force since 2 August 2016 . 
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measures To  
promoTe Women

BKS Bank’s policy on human resources is designed to ensure equal opportunities 
and rights to all employees and to prevent any type of discrimination. we follow 
l rule 52, therefore, when appointing members to the management Board, 
when filling management positions and when making proposals for the election 
of members to the Supervisory Board we give due consideration to the expert 
know-how and personal qualifications of the candidates, to the goals of ensuring 
a balanced age mix and representation of both genders as well as the appropriate 
international experience of the candidates. 

the share of women on the management Board is 33% . on the Supervisory Board of BKS 
Bank, 22% of shareholder representatives and three-fifths of employee representatives 
are women . the percentage ratio evaluated and decided for female shareholder 
representatives on the Supervisory Board is 30% . 

the number of women employed at BKS Bank is 619 . we are pleased that today 32% of 
management positions at our company are filled by women . the aim is to raise the share 
of women in management positions to 35% throughout the entire Group by 2020 . 

All employees have equal career opportunities in management positions regardless of 
their gender, age or socio-cultural background . nonetheless, the share of women in 
management positions throughout the Group in the reporting year is still lower than 
that of men . with the women’s career promotion programme started in 2012, ‘frauen .
perspektiven .Zukunft’ (women .perspectives .future) we have taken a specific measure 
to support career opportunities for women . we view this as an important step to bring 
women with the relevant expert knowledge into management positions . in the autumn of 
2016, the programme was already on its third round . of the 31 graduates from  
the first two training courses, five women have already achieved the step forward to 
starting a management career, and eight women in the programme are currently on 
maternity leave . 

in total, two management positions were newly filled by women in the year 2016 . it was 
especially pleasing that another women rose to the top management rank of BKS Bank 
in January 2016 . we have won over a female expert for modern branch network strategy 
and digital sales channels as head of retail . Another positive aspect is the steadily rising 
engagement of highly-motivated younger women . 

infoRmAtion on mAnAGement poSitionS filled BY women
As at 31 december 2016 number of 

women
 Ratio number of men Ratio

management Board 1 33% 2 67%
Supervisory Board (shareholder rep-
resentatives) 2 22% 7 78%

Supervisory Board (employee repre-
sentatives) 3 60% 2 40%

other management positions 51 32% 108 68%
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 BKS Bank offers female employees many types of support to reconcile their career and 
their private lives . flexible working time models, extensive further education and training 
opportunities, care services for small children at the day-care centre “Kinki”, and the 
proactive encouragement of men to take childcare leave are just a few examples  
for which adequate funding is also made available . these initiatives were awarded the 
certificate of the audit programme ‘berufundfamilie’ (workandfamily) by the federal 
ministry for economy, family and Youth in the years 2010, 2013 and 2016 . 

in accordance with the principle of “equal pay for equal work”, we make every effort to 
further reduce the gender wage gaps . the wage gap results mainly from the circumstance 
that there are many more women than men in part-time positions which causes their 
professional careers to develop along a flatter curve . we are also working on achieving 
an average retirement age among our female employees of 60 years of age .  in 2016, the 
average retirement age was 59 .5 years, which is very close to the target and improved 
considerably year on year (58 .4 years) . 

Klagenfurt am wörthersee, in march 2017

dieter Kraßnitzer 
member of the management 

Board

wolfgang mandl 
member of the management 

Board 

 herta Stockbauer 
chairwoman of the management 

Board
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reporT of The Chairman of The  
supervisory boarD 

dear readers,

i would like to address you for the first time as chairman of the Supervisory Board . 

the year 2016 was once again very successful for BKS Bank . even though the challenges 
did not diminish in the past financial year, BKS Bank very impressively demonstrated the 
important role it plays as a reliable partner for customers, shareholders and employees . 
the successful capital increase of october 2016 is also a strong signal of the high degree 
of trust people have in BKS Bank. BKS Bank will also easily master future challenges: 
digitization, new financial technologies, regulatory changes . the bank’s committed and 
enterprising decision-makers are supported by a competent staff, thus creating the 
right structures to achieve future success . i am very pleased to have the opportunity 
to support BKS Bank in defining these important policy decisions as chairman of the 
Supervisory Board . 
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CloSe CoordiNaTioN BeTweeN SuPerViSorY Board aNd maNagemeNT Board
the Supervisory Board monitored the work of the management Board in the reporting year, providing support 
for the management of BKS Bank and its affiliated companies At the four regular meetings held in the reporting 
year, the Supervisory Board and the management Board intensely deliberated and discussed the economic 
situation including the risk situation and risk management, the bank’s strategic development and other 
events of relevance for the bank . the Supervisory Board received extensive written and oral reports from the 
management Board in a timely manner .  Additionally, i regularly communicated with the chairwoman of the 
management Board to analyse and discuss the strategy, the development of business and the risk management . 
the Supervisory Board was therefore always involved all in key decisions . the Supervisory Board thus met all of 
its responsibilities stipulated by law, the articles of association and the rules of the Austrian code of corporate 
Governance (ÖcGK), and confirmed the correctness, expediency and proper conduct of the company’s 
management . 

the Supervisory Board bundles its areas of competence in five committees of which i have been chairman 
since 19 may 2016 . the Audit, working, Risk and credit, nominations and Remuneration committees passed 
decisions and prepared themes that required the approval of the full Supervisory Board . decisions regarding 
credit matters were reached by circular vote . At its next full meeting after the decision, the full Supervisory Board 
was informed of approved loans . the members of the Audit committee met twice during the reporting year . 
the nominations committee, the Risk and credit committee and the Remuneration committee each met once 
during the year . 

the composition and independence of the Supervisory Board, the criteria for its independence, its mode of 
procedure and decision-making powers and also the results of the full Supervisory Board meetings and of its 
committees are presented in detail in the chapter on the management Board  and Supervisory Board starting on 
page 19 of this annual report . 

CHaNgeS To THe SuPerViSorY Board
There were changes to the Supervisory Board in the reporting year: Peter Gaugg, who had 
been on the Supervisory Board since 1998 and has served as chairman since may 2014, 
resigned from his mandate at the close of the annual general meeting . for 18 years, peter 
Gaugg played a key role in shaping the future of BKS Bank as a member of the Supervisory 
Board and was involved in the major milestones achieved in the development of BKS 
Bank . i would like to cordially thank him on behalf of BKS Bank and of the Supervisory 
Board for his hard work . his extensive knowledge was of enormous value for BKS Bank . 

At the 77th annual general meeting of 19 may 2016, Karl Samstag was re-elected to the 
Supervisory Board for the maximum permissible period under the articles of association, 
and i was newly elected to the Supervisory Board . we both declared our independence 
and published the declaration on the website pursuant to § 87 para . 2 Stock corporation 
Act (AktG) . After the 77th annual general meeting, i was elected chairman of the 
Supervisory Board on 19 may 2016 by unanimous vote and franz Gasselsberger was 
confirmed as vice chairman . 
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changes to the persons appointed to the committees were also adopted at this 
Supervisory Board meeting . At the end of September 2016, peter hofbauer resigned from 
the Supervisory Board . peter hofbauer had been elected to the Supervisory Board on 20 
may 2015 . i would like to thank him for his valuable work and commitment . 

the attendance ratio of the representatives of the capital and of the employees at the 
four Supervisory Board meetings was approximately 97% . Karl Samstag and Klaus wallner 
were each unable to attend one meeting of the full Supervisory Board .

audiT of THe fiNaNCial STaTemeNTS
the bookkeeping, the financial statements and management report of BKS Bank AG as 
well as the consolidated financial statements and Group management report pursuant to 
the international financial Reporting Standards (ifRS) for 2016 were audited by KpmG 
Austria Gmbh wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Klagenfurt branch . 
the audit was conducted in accordance with statutory provisions and did not give rise to 
any objections . the auditors confirmed this by awarding an unqualified audit certificate . 

All materials relating to the financial statements, the proposal for the distribution of the 
profit and the audit reports of the auditor were discussed in detail with the auditors at 
the meeting of the Audit committee and presented to the full Supervisory Board . the 
Supervisory Board concurred with the findings of the audit and declared its agreement 
with the financial statements including the management report presented by the 
management Board, thus acknowledging and approving the financial statements 2016 of 
the company pursuant to § 96 para . 4 Stock corporation Act (AktG) . the consolidated 
financial statements, the Group management report, the annual risk report and the 
corporate governance report were also reviewed and approved by the Supervisory Board .

the Supervisory Board also agreed with the proposal of the management Board to pay 
out a dividend on the net profit 2016 of euR 0 .23  per share — which results in a dividend 
distribution of euR 9,117,108 at a number of 39,639,600 shares — and to carry the 
remaining profit to the new account .

the consolidated financial statements for the year ended on 31 december 2016 were 
prepared in accordance with ifRS as applicable in the eu and the Group management 
report prepared in accordance with Austrian company law were audited by KpmG Austria 
Gmbh wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Klagenfurt branch . this 
audit did not give rise to any objections . the legal requirements were complied with; 
therefore, the conditions for exemption from the obligation to prepare consolidated 
financial statements pursuant to Austrian law were met . in the opinion of the bank 
auditors, the consolidated financial statements present a true and fair view of the assets 
and financial position of the BKS Bank Group for the year ended on 31 december 2016 
as well as of the result of operations and cash flows during the year from 1 January to 31 
december 2016 . 
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the Supervisory Board agreed with the findings of the audit and declared its agreement 
with the consolidated financial statements including the Group management report 
presented by the management Board .

i would like to thank the management Board, the management staff and all staff members 
on behalf of the Supervisory Board for their immeasurable personal commitment and 
hard work . 

Klagenfurt am wörthersee, in march 2017

Gerhard Burtscher
chairman of the Supervisory Board
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infoRmAtion on the AuStRiAn code of coRpoRAte GoveRnAnce And on 
BKS BAnK AvAilABle on the inteRnet
austrian Code of Corporate governance
www .corporate-governance .at

BKS Bank’s Shares
www .bks .at/Aktie

Shareholders
www .bks .at/Aktionaersstruktur

Calendar of events
www .bks .at/Aktionaerstermine

annual general meeting
www .bks .at/hauptversammlung

Conformity declaration of BKS Bank ag
independence guidelines
report of BKS Bank on the austrian Code of Corporate governance
Publications pursuant to § 65a Banking act on corporate governance and remuneration  
articles of association BKS Bank
www .bks .at/corporate_Governance

Business, financial and Sustainability reports of BKS Bank
information pursuant to the Capital requirements regulation (Crr) 
www .bks .at/Berichte

oeKB issuer information Center
(central storage system for information on Austrian issuers pursuant to § 86 Stock exchange Act (BörseG))
http://issuerinfo.oekb.at/startpage.html

Press releases of BKS Bank
www .bks .at/pressemitteilungen

compliAnce And Aml infoRmAtion on BKS BAnK on the inteRnet
aml declaration
Banking license
uSa Patriot act Certification
wolfsberg Questionnaire of BKS Bank ag
w-8BeN-e
directors‘ dealings reports
www .bks .at/compliance
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The bKs banK’s shares

30-Year aNNiVerSarY of SToCK exCHaNge liSTiNg aNd CaPiTal 
iNCreaSe
1 July 1986 was a historic day for BKS Bank . the BKS Bank’s Shares was floated on the 
vienna Stock exchange . the nominal value per share was AtS 100, the share capital was 
AtS 300 million or around euR 21 .8 million . Stock market capitalization on 1 July 1986 
was around AtS 1 .3 billion (euR 92 .7 million) . the initial public offering made it possible 
to offer shares with a nominal value of AtS 30 million at an initial price of AtS 425 for the 
first time to a broad investing public shares . this move enlarged BKS Bank’s shareholders 
by adding free float shares . At year-end 1986, the BKS share was trading at AtS 456 . this 
was a price gain of 7 .3% over the issue price and resulted in a market capitalization of 
around AtS 1 .4 billion (euR 100 .7 million) . At year-end 2016, market capitalization of BKS 
Bank was euR 662 .7 million which is more than six times as high as at year-end 1986 . At 
year-end 2016, the closing price of the ordinary share was euR 16 .78 and the closing price 
of the preference share was euR 15 .40 .

the ordinary shares of BKS Bank AG have been listed on the vienna Stock exchange since 
1986 and the preference shares since 1991 . the share classes are traded on the segment 
‘standard market auction’ of the vienna Stock exchange . each share corresponds to an 
equal share of the subscribed capital . the calculated nominal value of each share is euR 
2 .0 . in contrast to ordinary shares, the preference shares do not give shareholders any 
voting rights, but grant them a minimum dividend of 6 .0% on the percentage share capital, 
payable at a later date . if the minimum dividend is not paid out for a financial year or not 
paid out in full, this remaining amount must be paid from the net profit of the subsequent 
financial year . 

pRice tRend of the BKS BAnK oRdinARY ShARe Since the initiAl puBlic 
offeRinG

price trend of the ordinary share (prices are adjusted for dividends and a stock split)  

euR

0

15

10

5

20

Source: Bloombergperiod from June 1986 to 31 december 2016

16.78

3.3

 

After 30 years of listing on the stock exchange, BKS Bank has proven that can provide its 
shareholders with a long-term increase in value on invested capital and reasonable annual 
returns on their shares despite all of the adverse market conditions and developments 
in society . Also in economically difficult years, BKS Bank has been remarkable for the 
stability, integrity and reasonable growth, and has created value for its shareholders and 
stakeholders .  
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this objective, which was defined at the time of the initial public offering in June 1986, has 
been achieved every year — despite the sometimes turbulent times on financial markets . 
the BKS Bank’s Shares has proven to be a crisis-resilient investment for private and 
institutional investors .

700

400

500

600

0

100

200

300

in euR 
million 

period from 1986 to 2016

development of dividendS of  
BKS BAnK’S ShAReS

3.1

9.11)

1) proposal to the 78th annual general meeting

in euR 
million 

10

5

6

7

8

9

0

1

2

3

4

period from 1986 to 2016

mARKet cApitAliZAtion 
of BKS BAnK

92.7

662.7

to continue this successful course, a capital increase was carried out from September 
to October of 2016 at a ratio of 10:1. Shareholders received subscription rights to one 
new ordinary share for ten “old” ordinary or preference shares . there was no trading in 
subscription rights . in total, 3,603,600 new ordinary shares were floated at an offer price 
of euR 15 .9 per share . the share capital increased by euR 7,207,200 to euR 79,279,200 
and now breaks down into 37,839,600 ordinary shares and 1,800,000 preference shares .  
By taking this step, BKS Bank achieved another milestone on the path to attaining its 
corporate goals . the improved own funds ratio enables our bank to continue on its stable 
growth path . 

with respect to the use of the net profit, BKS bank’s aim is to achieve a balance between 
strengthening the level of own funds and paying out a reasonable dividend . 
the excellent results achieved in 2016, permit us to continue on this course . 
the management Board will propose a dividend payout of euR 9,117,108 for the financial 
year 2016 at the 78th annual general meeting, which corresponds to euR 0 .23 per share 
and a yield of 1 .37% based on the year-end price of 2016 of the ordinary shares and of 
1 .49% for preference shares . the dividend payout ratio based on the net profit after tax of 
BKS Bank AG would be 31 .0% .

the solid market position of BKS Bank must be viewed in the context of the two other 
autonomous and independent regional banks, oberbank AG and Bank für tirol und 
vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft . the alliance based on mutual shareholdings and fixed 
shareholder structure that has evolved over decades is known to the public under the 
brand “3 Banken Group” . 
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the subscribed capital of BKS Bank AG of euR 79,279,200 is represented by 37,839,600 
ordinary shares and 1,800,000 preference shares . 

the voting share capital is held by the sister banks oberbank AG, linz, with 19 .4% and 
Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft, innsbruck, with 19 .5% . Generali 3Banken 
holding AG, vienna, owns 7 .8% of ordinary shares . these three core shareholders have 
entered into a syndicate agreement and jointly own 46 .7% of the shares with voting rights . 
the syndication of the shareholdings reinforces the independence of the credit institution 
and bundles the interests of the syndicate partners with respect to cooperation and sales 
partnerships . the agreement essentially contains arrangements on the joint exercise 
of voting rights at the annual general meeting and on mutual pre-emption rights of the 
members of the syndicate . 

the largest single shareholder of BKS Bank AG is cABo Beteiligungsgesellschaft m .b .h ., 
a company 100%-owned by unicredit Bank Austria AG with its registered office in 
vienna . if one adds the shares held directly by unicredit Bank Austria AG, the unicredit 
Group therefore holds 30 .4% of voting rights . the remaining ordinary shares are mostly 
owned by private and institutional investors . BKS-Belegschaftsbeteiligungsprivatstiftu
ng (employee foundation) — which serves exclusively to fully transfer income on shares to 
the employees of BKS Bank as set out in § 10 para . 1 corporation tax Act (KStG) — owned 
over 0 .4% of shares with voting rights at the end of 2016 .  Apart from this foundation, 
BKS Bank AG does not know of any constellation of individuals or a group of shareholders 
who own a controlling interest in the company . further information on the shareholder 
structure of BKS Bank is available in the Group management report from page 86 and on 
the website www .bks .at » investor Relations » Aktionärsstruktur .

reSoluTioNS PaSSed BY THe 77TH aNNual geNeral meeTiNg 
Shareholders of BKS Bank with voting rights exercise their votes at the annual general 
meeting and law entitled to participate in important company decisions by law and 
the articles of association . Resolutions are generally passed by a simple majority of the 
votes cast, or, if the approval of a motion requires the majority of the votes of capital 
representatives, by a simple majority of the share capital representatives .

At the 77th annual general meeting of BKS Bank AG on 19 may 2016, some 88% of the 
voting capital was represented, with the free float presence of shareholders with voting 
rights being around 17% . 

The shareholders acknowledged and approved the financial statements and the 
management report for the financial year 2015 with the Supervisory Board report and the 
consolidated financial statements and also the Group management report for the financial 
year 2015 with the Supervisory Board report and the corporate governance report as well 
as the explanations presented by the chairman of the Supervisory Board regarding the 
principles of the remuneration system for the management Board of BKS Bank . 



–57––57–

I n v e s t o r  r e l at I o n s

The resolutions on the use of the net profit for the financial year 2015, the discharge 
of the management Board and of the Supervisory Board from liability as well as 
the resolution on the selection of KpmG Austria Gmbh wirtschaftsprüfungs- und 
Steuerberatungs-gesellschaft, Klagenfurt, as bank auditor for the financial year 2017 were 
all reached by a majority vote . 

Accordingly, the shareholders agreed with the recommendation to pay out a dividend 
of EUR 0.23 per share on the net profit for the year ended on 31 December 2015 
and to carry the remainder to the new account in accordance with § 65 para . 5 Stock 
corporation Act (AktG) . the dividend payout date proposed was 25 may 2016 . 

the Agenda item “elections to the Supervisory Board” was also passed by a majority vote 
— with the exception of the re-election of Karl Samstag . the chairman of the Supervisory 
Board peter Gaugg announced that he would no longer be available for re-election after 
the end of his period of office. The annual general meeting elected Gerhard Burtscher as 
a new member of the Supervisory Board for the maximum permissible period pursuant 
to the articles of association . Karl Samstag was again elected to the Supervisory Board for 
the maximum permissible period pursuant to the articles of association after the expiry 
of his mandate that lasts until the close of the annual general meeting that decides on the 
discharge of the Supervisory Board for financial year 2020.

At the 75th annual general meeting of 15 may 2014, a resolution was passed authorizing 
the management Board to 
—  purchase own shares in accordance with § 65 para . 1 no . 4 Stock corporation Act 

(AktG) up to the legally permissible volume for the purpose of offering these shares to 
the employees, management staff and members of the management Board or of the 
Supervisory Board of the company or of an affiliated company and

—  to purchase own shares in accordance with § 65 para . 1 no 7 Stock corporation Act 
(AktG) for the purpose of securities trading in a volume of up to 5% of the share capital 
and also 

—  to purchase own shares in accordance with § 65 para . 1 no 8 Stock corporation Act 
(AktG) up to the legally permissible volume without a dedicated purpose 

for a period of 30 months in each case as of the date of the resolution . 

the 77th annual general meeting of 19 may 2016 authorized the management Board to  
revoke the aforementioned resolutions . At the same time, the resolution was passed to 
authorize the management Board to acquire own shares in accordance with § 65 para . 1 
nos 4, 7 and 8 Stock corporation Act (AktG) . this resolution at the 77th annual general 
meeting was passed by a majority vote .  
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invesTor relaTions  
CommuniCaTion

we value regular, open and proactive communication with our stakeholders. we 
inform our shareholders, employees, customers, media representatives and the 
interested public in a timely manner and extensively on BKS Bank to ensure the 
best possible level of transparency. 
The information published is made available to all shareholders simultaneously. 
our reporting practices comply with the provisions of the austrian Code of 
Corporate governance. in our financial communications, we give high priority to 
best practices in transparency and the fair dissemination of information to  
all market participants at press conferences and in our reporting. 

on our website www .bks .at under investor Relations, we provide 
extensive information on the company such as the annual reports 
and mid-year reports as well as interim reports on the results for 
the periods ending on 31 march and 30 September, on new bond 
issues planned, on changes to key investment thresholds and other 
capital actions subject to notification requirements . the 
notifications on directors’ dealings pursuant to the market Abuse 
Regulation (mAR) are also published here .
we additionally use the issuer information upload platform of 
oeKB, the euro adhoc-Service of ApA-otS and the website www .
pressetext .com to publish mandatory reports pursuant to the ad 
hoc criteria of the eu transparency directive . we publish press 
releases on the website of BKS Bank under » newsroom » BKS 
news .

we have been publishing an annual sustainability report in accor-
dance with the requirements of the Global Reporting initiative 
(GRi) since 2012 . we explain our sustainability strategy in detail 
in this report and also discuss the numerous activities in the areas 
of company management and strategy, people, customers and 
products, society and social affairs as well as environment and 
climate protection . the next sustainability report is scheduled to 
be published in April 2017 . it is made available for downloading 
from the internet at www .bks .at, » investor Relations » Berichte 
und veröffentlichungen .
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coRpoRAte eventS cAlendAR 2017
date Content of the notification

5 march to 4 April 2017 Quiet period
4 April 2017 press conference at year-end 2016 

5 April 2017 publication of the financial statements and the consolidated financial state-
ments 2016 on the internet and in the official Gazette of the Republic of 
Austria “wiener Zeitung” 

26 April to 26 may 2017 Quiet period
9 may 2017 78th annual general meeting 
15 may 2017 dividend ex-day
17 may 2017 dividend payout day
26 may 2017 interim report for the period ended on 31 march 2017
26 July to 25 August 2017 Quiet period
25 August 2017 half-year financial report  
30 october to 29 november 2017 Quiet period
29 november 2017 interim report for the period ended on 30 September 2017

inveStoR RelAtionS contAct

Herbert Titze, Head of Investor Relations, E-Mail: investor.relations@bks.at
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Company profile

BKS Bank is a universal regional bank with its headquarters in Carinthia. we are represented in six 
countries with subsidiaries and employ 1,071 persons and operate 60 branches in austria and abroad. 
Since 1922, we have been constantly expanding our business activities. originally established as a 
bank for corporate customers,  we started providing services to retail customers in the 1960s. we 
began our international expansion in the late 1990s. Today, we serve over 152,000 corporate and 
retail customers in austria and in our foreign markets. BKS's ordinary shares have been listed on the 
Vienna Stock exchange since 1986. in the reporting year, we celebrated our 30-year anniversary on 
the stock market. 

our CuSTomerS
As a universal bank, we offer our corporate and retail customers a wide range of financial 
services designed to meet their specific needs . in the corporate segment, we focus on  
industrial, commercial and trade companies . our advisory services and products are 
mainly in finance for working capital, capital goods and exports; advisory services for 
state subsidy schemes; payment transfers; investment products and leasing . we serve 
around 18,600 corporate customers . in the retail segment, we have approximately 
133,600 customers . these include private individuals, members of the healthcare 
professions and private banking customers . in the retail segment, our range of services 
runs the gamut from standardized account services to customized finance solutions as 
well as retirement provisioning, savings and investment products . 

detailed information on the retail and corporate business is given in the segment reports 
starting on page 115 . 

our marKeTS
Austria is our principal market and includes the regions of carinthia, Styria, Burgenland, 
vienna and lower Austria . Apart from Austria, we are also present in Slovenia, croatia 
and Slovakia with branches and leasing companies . BKS Bank has one representation 
office in italy and one in hungary . customers in these countries are serviced exclusively 
cross-border the same as German customers . 

our ParTNerS
we are part of the 3 Banken Group, which consists of oberbank AG and Bank für tirol 
und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft, an alliance that gives us the strength of a major 
bank . cross holdings secure our independence and joint subsidiaries create synergy 
effects . our long-year partnership with the building society wüstenrot and Generali 
versicherung complete our range of products . 
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BuSineSS ActivitieS of BKS BAnK - oveRview BY ReGion
country company Status, location employees

Austria BKS Bank AG
BKS-leasing Gmbh

Banking operations 
since 1922
49 bank branches

844

Slovenia BKS-leasing d .o .o . Banking operations 
since 2004
6 bank branches

115

croatia 

croatia BKS-leasing croatia 
d .o .o .
Representation office 
Zagreb

Banking operations 
since 2007
2 bank branches

68

Slovak Republic BKS-leasing s .r .o . Banking operations 
since 2011
3 bank branches

39

italy 
Representation office 
padua
BcS fiduciaria S .r .l .

cross-border business 4

hungary Representation office 
Sopron cross-border business 1

As at 31 december 2016

development of BAnK BRAncheS

  number of branches of the BKS Bank Group  (estimate)

75

60

45

30

15

0

60

2016

70

2020

50

2005

55

2010Branches

38

2000

coRe ReGionS of BKS BAnK

Main Offices, Headquarters Leasing Companies, Representation Offices
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bKs banK mission sTaTemenT

we want to grow step-by-step on our own strength – and this remains our motto for the future. 
within the scope of our strategic planning process, we have defined a vision and a mission that 
underpins our basic stance. The newly drafted mission statement of BKS Bank clearly defines the 
goals we pursue in the interest of our shareholders, customers, business partners, employees and 
society, and the values that define our self-concept, thinking and actions. Since 1922, today, and in 
the future.

our ViSioN 
regionally rooted 
open-minded 
excellent in our work

our deep regional roots are the starting point of our organic growth in Austria and 
abroad . for demanding customers, we are the first choice . why? Because we are able 
to combine advisory excellence with modern technical solutions . this reinforces our 
position as one of the leading banks in Austria . 

our miSSioN
our mission is an expression of our self-concept and shows what BKS Bank stands for . the 
mission is based on our convictions and values as well as on our company's history . the 
mission statement expresses what BKS Bank wants to be for its customers, employees, 
partners and society: 
—  our deep regional roots give us stability and permit us to grow nationally and 

internationally .
—  we understand ourselves to be an international, universal bank, independent and 

autonomous in its decisions . 
—  Being part of the 3 Banken Group and the equal standing within the alliance gives us the 

strength of a large bank . 
—  we pursue a self-determined path . we are gradually working on becoming one of the 

ten most important banks in Austria . 
—  we take risks only when we are able to master them on our own strength . this is how 

we secure our independence and autonomy . 
—  we understand the individual needs of our customers better . we are the first choice 

for demanding customers and combine advisory excellence with modern technical 
solutions . 

—  Because we live our principles of sustainability in all respects, trust in our company is 
high and our capacity for innovation is strong . 

—  our employees act responsibly and strive to provide good quality .  
we offer our employees an attractive workplace and challenging prospects .  
we invest in their further education and promote a good work-life balance . 

—  we offer shareholders long-term value appreciation and reasonable annual returns . this 
makes us appealing to investors and strengthens our capital base .
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our ValueS
our values dominate our perceptions within the company and externally . our 
management staff rely on these values as a basis for their decisions and they serve our 
employees as a benchmark for their personal behaviour . it is important to us  
that the company’s values are lived by all persons involved, and therefore, we have 
established these values in a new code of conduct as well as in BKS Bank’s mission 
statement. Our actions are guided by the following values: 

focus on the future
“The future has many names: For the weak it is the unattainable; for the fearsome, it is the 
unknown; for the brave it is an opportunity .” victor hugo . we are brave .

Stability
we are a responsible, predictable and reliable partner for our customers and employees - 
also in challenging times .

Professionalism
we accomplish all tasks assigned to us efficiently and professionally, also under difficult 
conditions . this is possible due to our high level of expert qualification, our credibility 
and our reliability towards customers and employees .

accountability
Our accountability is shown by how we work and act: focused, conscientiously, carefully  
and always with a view to big picture .

respect
Respect and appreciation of our colleagues, customers and partners are the key values we 
represent . we treat others the way we would like to be treated ourselves .  
we hold our customers and colleagues in high esteem .

integrity
our actions are guided by high ethical principles and we are against any form of 
discrimination and corruption . we work in compliance with currently valid laws and 
internal guidelines .
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sTraTeGy proCess

BKS Bank has a well-thought-out strategy process. once a year, the top 
management meets at a strategy retreat for several days to review and 
redefine our strategy. The strategy retreat is the initial step to the planning and 
budgeting process, and is held every year without fail. This ensures that the 
entire management team has worked on the strategy for the coming years and 
knows the strategy.

the strategy retreat is prepared well in advance of the actual strategy meeting . A separate 
strategy working group prepares the topics for the retreat . the topics are defined based 
on a preceding strategic analysis of the current starting situation in which a realistic 
assessment is made and information is gathered on relevant developments . in order to 
prepare the strategic analysis, we closely follow the topics listed below throughout the 
year . 
—  the development of our company based on key indicators and 

surveys
—  the development of the economy in our markets
—  the public perception of BKS Bank in media reports, online 

reports and through awards and seals of quality received
—  the market and our competitors
—  potential new competitors from other industries
—  changes to legal requirements and regulations
—  new technologies and trends

At the strategy retreat an external moderator guides us through the process; additionally, 
there are expert inputs on the strategic topics that are currently especially important . At 
every strategy retreat, the strategic initiatives of the past business year are evaluated and 
the current status of implementation is ascertained . Afterwards, work continues on the 
further development of the strategy . the opportunities and risks are discussed and the 
diverse strategic options analysed . these may result in adjustment to the strategy as well 
as new projects and measures .

All key strategic plans are discussed and accorded with the Supervisory Board . the key 
results of the strategy retreat are communicated to the employees twice a year at the 
information talks of the management Board 

the monitoring of the strategy during the year takes place at regular meetings of the top 
management . this monitoring process helps us to take countermeasures in time  
if there are deviations from the targets . 



–67–

Co rpo rate  Strate gy

viSuAliSAtion of the StRAteGY pRoceSS

ViSioN / miSSioN STaTemeNT / CurreNT CorPoraTe STraTegY

Monitoring
the company’s development

Analysis of customer and  
employee satisfaction,
survey of stakeholders,

 analysis of performance indicators,
management accounting report for sales, 

sales cockpit

Monitoring the market
 and environment

Market development,
peer analysis,

economic forecasts,
statutory and regulatory  

requirements,
new technologies and trends

Strategy retreat (once a year)
—  supported by an external moderator
—  Participants: Management Board and sec-

ond management level
—  Evaluation of projects and measures from 

the preceding retreat 
—  Discussion of new opportunities and risks
—  Development of strategic options
—  Adjustment of corporate strategy 
—  Definition of new projects and measures

Internal
preparation 
of
new
themes

Input
of external 
experts

Implementation of projects and measures

Communication of key topics to employees 

Monitoring
strategy

implementa-
tion

Continuous 
improvement

Monitoring
strategy

implementa-
tion

Continuous 
improvement
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sTraTeGy 2020

The challenges for banks remain enormous: The sustained phase of low interest 
rates, the increasing number of regulations, the advance of digitization and, 
not least, the fiercer competition are creating a growing need for change in the 
banking industry. 

interest rate levels are at all-time lows . no trend reversal is in sight . we are now starting 
to get used to the “new normalcy” of low interest rates . we are responding to declining 
earnings in the traditional lending business by expanding our sales activities in payment 
transfers and in the securities business . Although we are expanding into new areas with 
earnings potential and enlarging our range of products, we pursue strict cost discipline . 

the increasing trend of digitization is drastically changing the behaviour of our customers . 
especially younger customers are demanding new and innovative banking services and 
moving their banking activities to the internet . BKS Bank does not view the advance 
of digitization as a threat, but rather as an opportunity . At the strategy retreat 2016, 
we worked on the development of our digitization strategy . we are working hard on 
transforming our entire organisation for the digital era . in this context, we are not looking 
only the pace of change, but also at customers’ digital experience . we have already 
achieved a great step forward with BKS Bank online . the focus of development work on 
further digital offers is on smart solutions for standardized transactions . Another area of 
focus is the aspect of security in digital transactions .

for us, digital does not mean anonymous . Although our customers are increasingly doing 
banking transactions online, we nonetheless believe our branches are crucial for business .  
especially when dealing with complex products such as housing loans or retirement 
provisioning, our customers — also younger customers — like to have competent advisors 
to help them and for this they go to a bank branch . we remain a branch-based bank and 
will continue to open new branches unlike the general trend in the industry . our new 
branches will have a focus on business customers . 

the excellent advisory quality of our account managers is one of our strengths .  
the numerous awards received from independent third parties reinforce our commitment 
to continue on this path . we are therefore investing substantially in the further education 
and training of our employees to continue meeting the high quality standards . 

Along with the advance of digitization, a growing number of fintech companies are entering the market that 
offer convenient solutions, especially for payment transfers . it remains to be seen how the market will ultimately 
consolidate . however, we believe that fintechs are not just a passing fad . 
therefore, we are investigating the economic options of cooperating with fintechs and what we can learn from 
them . nonetheless, we believe that our long-years of experience in payment transfers is a decisive competitive 
advantage that our customers still appreciate . 
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our STraTegY model
we have modelled our corporate strategy on a Greek temple .   the three-pillar model 
features three groups of measures defined to support our plans to achieve future success . 
in combination with a professional risk strategy, we aim to shape and sustainability secure 
the future of our bank . 

equity as the key to further growth
Growth is only possible if you have sufficient equity capital. A strong level of own funds is 
therefore the key to future growth . the successful capital increase of october 2016 has 
considerably improved our capital adequacy and own funds ratio . this makes it possible 
continue pursuing organic growth in lending . despite the sound capital adequacy and 
equity ratios, the continued  improvement of our own funds remains a goal on our  
strategic agenda . 

focus on earnings and cost discipline for an independent future 
we have enlarged the central pillar of our strategy to include costs 
 which is an expression of our strong cost awareness. BKS Bank earned solid profits also 
during the financial and economic crisis, because we took advantage of every earnings 
opportunity and always use our resources efficiently.

accountability to increase our competitive edge
competent, well-trained employees are our most important asset . entrepreneurial 
thinking and the independence the management staff in their actions with a view to the 
big picture are factors that support our competitive position . Quality awareness, the 
constant improvement of our own performance and a culture of open feedback are the 
cornerstones of success . A further area of focus in this context is the training of our future 
branch directors . 

Equity Income and
Costs

account- 
ability 

risk, Earnings and Costs

Vision and Mission

Quality and Sustainability
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risk management as a strategic success factor
the business strategy is the overarching framework for the definition of the risk strategy . 
A key element of our business is assuming risks . what is important in this respect 
is the early recognition of all relevant banking and operational risks and their active 
management and mitigation through effective risk management measures . the risk report 
describes in detail the risk strategy and risk management process as of page 132 . 

Building on corporate quality and sustainability
long before corporate social responsibility (cSR) became a trend, we set great store by 
responsible business policies . we have developed our own sustainability strategy that 
defines the qualitative and quantitative goals until 2020 as well as measures for their 
attainment . we have received several awards for our numerous cSR activities . we are 
very proud of the “prime” status of the ratings we have received from the sustainability 
research organisation oekom research AG . Since 2016, we have been included in the 
sustainability index, vÖniX, of the vienna Stock exchange . we are among the best in the 
area of sustainability . 

Quality has always been important to us . we have our corporate quality improvement 
activities regularly reviewed by the organisation Quality Austria . 
we are proud to have received the internationally-recognized distinction “efQm 
Recognised for excellence 5 Star” . we are very pleased to have received this quality 
seal for a second time . we are still the only bank in Austria that is included in the list of 
excellent companies in Austria . 

further details on our cSR activities and our quality management programme are given in 
the chapter “Sustainability and non-financial performance indicators” on page 176 as well 
as in a separate sustainability report .

KeY STraTegiC goalS 
we aim to improve our position as one of the leading banks in Austria and are working intensely on the following 
—  further increase profitability and productivity,
—  adequately limit (credit) risks,
—  strengthen the tier 1 capital ratio, and
—  raise the number of customers .

Additionally, we are constantly working to exploit the growth potential in vienna und in Styria as well as in 
foreign markets to acquire more market shares . Apart from this, we focus our growth on business areas that 
use our capital resources responsibly . we also want to further strengthen our image as a responsible bank . 
Sustainability is an important differentiation feature for us . therefore, we want to establish it more firmly in 
our core business and daily routines . And not least, it is our declared strategic goal to make our bank fit for the 
advance of digitization . 
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oVerView of STraTegiC iNiTiaTiVeS
in the reporting year, we again successfully completed a number of important strategic 
projects . the following sections present an overview of the measures taken . we also 
report on the strategic initiatives in the corporate and retail business in the segment 
reports starting on page 115 . 

Successful capital increase: 746 new shareholders
we are very proud of the capital increase successfully completed . we acquired 746 new 
shareholders and succeeded in floating the entire volume of new BKS bank shares on 
the market . BKS Bank AG issued a total of 3,603,600 new ordinary no-par value shares . 
calculated on the offer price of euR 15 .9 per new share, the gross proceeds from the 
capital increase was around euR 57 million . the capital increase raised the free float ratio 
measured by shares with voting rights to 19 .5% .

BKS Bank d.d. successfully merged
We completed an important project for our bank on 30 September 2016: Our Croatian 
subsidiary, BKS Bank d .d ., was merged with BKS Bank AG . Since 1 october 2016, the new 
eu branch has been conducting the banking business of BKS Bank d .d . up to now, we are 
the only bank that has carried out a cross-border merger with croatia . we would also like 
to mention that all employees of BKS Bank d .d . were taken over in BKS Bank AG . Although 
the merger did not pursue any reduction in headcount, we expect it to substantially 
reduce general administrative expenses . 
we will make use of these cost savings for the planned expansion on the croatian market . 

Customer portal successfully migrated 
in April 2016, we migrated around 31,000 online banking customers to the new BKS Bank 
online services . A dedicated customer service centre was set up for the migration period . 
we are very pleased that our current online banking customers been very positive about 
the new system . with the successful migration, we have attained an important milestone 
in the enlargement of the range of digital offers . 

Project opex in the securities business 
in the reporting year, we started an optimisation project for the securities business . the 
objective is to make the internal securities process and distribution structures for the 
securities business more efficient, leaner, digitally-oriented and to reduce personnel 
resources . Since the summer of 2016, we have been able to offer our customers with 
securities accounts the option of retrieving portfolio account statements and other 
documents directly from the communications centre of the customer portal . Some 
2,600 securities customers are already using this convenient service . the archiving of 
all securities documents is done centrally and the internal procedures are simplified by 
workflow solutions . 
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New positioning of domestic leasing business 
lease financing is in high demand on the market, because this is an attractive financing 
alternative to classical loan financing . in order to better profit from this trend, we started 
repositioning our Austrian leasing company in the business year 2016 . Apart from  
establishing a direct sales system, we are investing in the standardization of the 
application and approval procedures for automobile leasing . A further area of work is to 
speed up processing at our branches . 

New loan application system accelerates loan processing
fast . efficient . inexpensive– these are the features of our new application for corporate 
loans developed jointly with our it service provider, 3BeG . the new system makes it 
possible to automate the lending process from the decision phased to the creation of the 
contract documents and the payout of the loan amount . 
 this considerably shortens processing time . with the introduction of the new loan 
application system, we have achieved a major step forward in the standardization of the 
lending business .

BKS Bank complete – one-stop-shop 
in the year 2016, we dealt intensely with new product ideas . 
we will soon be offering retail customers a complete range of services at an attractive flat 
rate  that include online banking, an overdraft facility, bank cards, savings and household 
accounts .   we involved customers and potential new customers in the design of the 
product by sending out a questionnaire on the appeal and price sensitivity .
this new product will be introduced to the market in the first half of 2017 .

expansion in austria and abroad on schedule
Our goal is to steadily increase our market shares. This approach follows two paths: On 
the one hand, by increasing in the number of customers in the core markets through 
intensified sales activities . on the other, by opening new branches where we believe that 
the market chances good . in 2016, we opened one branch in the Slovak Republic and one 
in Slovenia . At the beginning of 2017, a further branch will start operations in vienna . in 
Slovenia and croatia, we plan to open a new branch in each country this year . 

Project “move” on schedule abroad 
last year, we reorganized the distribution structure in Austria within the “move” project 
and introduced the sales cockpit as a tool to improve the management of sales activities . 
in the reporting year, we started reorganizing distribution channels in the foreign markets 
according to the Austrian model and organizing the branches by customer group and also 
introduced the sales cockpit . 
the restructuring process is being done country by country . the first foreign market to 
complete the change on schedule was Slovakia with the project “move” . Afterwards, 
Slovenia started with the project . the changes to the distribution organisation in Slovenia 
were completed in the first quarter of 2017 . the next country to launch the “move” 
project was croatia . 
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reorganisation of the insurance business
in the reporting year, we also reorganised our insurance segment . the insurance portfolio 
of the drei-Banken versicherungs-Aktiengesellschaft was transferred to our long-year 
partner, Generali versicherung AG . within the course of the restructuring, a separate 
3 Banken service team has been established within Generali versicherung AG . this 
guarantees shorter times for coordination work and regular mail delivery as well as closer 
collaboration and rapid adjustments to changes at both companies .

wider range of sustainable products
At the beginning of the year 2016, we started the BKS “Silberkredit”, a new loan product 
for customers over 65 . the product launch received wide coverage by the media, because 
to date this target group hardly has had access to the credit market . we give senior 
citizens a chance to invest in their quality of life or in the special needs for old age . A 
further product innovation was finalized shortly before Christmas: We were the first 
Austrian bank to issue a social bond1) . the proceeds of the issuance are dedicated to 
finance a competence centre for persons with dementia diseases in carinthia . 

“Banking package” implemented on time
we also dealt with numerous new changes to the legal framework in the reporting year 
generally referred to as the “banking package” . in this context, we implemented the new 
provisions in the areas “oecd common Reporting Standard”, “central accounts register“ 
and “reporting of capital inflows and outflows” . viewed together, these new laws place 
banks under the obligation to collect certain data on the their customers and current 
business relations and to report these to authorities . the data is used, among other 
things, for taxation purposes . the implementation of the new rules required extensive 
work . the work was completed at BKS on schedule despite the many unclear wordings in 
the text of the law, which made implementation harder .

1)  this is a marketing publication . the information provided in this text serves only as non-binding information and does not 
replace in any way advisory services for the purchase or sale of securities . it is neither an offer nor a solicitation to buy or 
sell the bond mentioned here, and neither is it a buy or sell recommendation . the offer for the product described is based 
on the base prospectus published by BKS Bank AG on 1 April 2016 including all documents to which a reference is made 
and all supplementary information to the base prospectus as well as the final terms published on 5 January 2017. The base 
prospectus including supplements and the final terms are available free of charge on the website of the issuer at http://www.
bks.at, Investor Relations > BKS Bank Anleiheemissionen and also at the offices of BKS Bank AG, 9020 Klagenfurt, St. Veiter 
Ring 43, during regular office hours.
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mifid ii
in the reporting year, we also dealt intensely with the new mifid ii / mifiR rules effective 
from January 2018 . the aim of the mifid amendment is to increase resilience and the 
efficiency of market structures, raise transparency, widen the powers of supervisory 
bodies, regulate commodity markets more closely and further improve investor 
protection . implementation involved an enormous effort on the part of banks, because 
literally nothing remained unchanged . the changes concern both product design and 
pricing as well as the advisory process itself and the training of the investment advisors 
due to stricter requirements . despite the major changes, we are confident that the project 
will be implemented by the deadline defined by law . 

ifrS 9
the preparations for the implementation of the new accounting standards pursuant 
to iRfS 9 are currently under way . implementing ifRS 9 involves enormous technical 
resources, time and costs . the assessment system currently in place does not meet the 
complex requirements of ifRS 9, thus it was necessary to buy new software . further 
details on the status of implementation of the ifRS 9 project and the expected effects are 
provided in the consolidated financial statements pursuant to ifRS as of page 202 .
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eConomiC environmenT 

The year 2016 was an extremely eventful one: fear of a global recession dominated at the beginning of 
2016. later on, the surprising outcome of the Brexit vote started a new era of uncertainty. and finally, 
the election of donald Trump as 45th president of the united States of america marked the close of a 
turbulent year. it is still unclear what the economic consequences of this development will be. 

THe gloBal eCoNomY iS deVeloPiNg roBuSTlY
considering the events around the world, the global economy is developing remarkably 
well . the international monetary fund (imf) forecasts global economic growth at 3 .1% 
for 2016 . it corrected its original forecast for 2016 of 3 .4% in mid-year 2016 to 3 .1% . the 
greatest source of worry was china in 2016 where the economic growth rate slowed to 
6 .6% . weak foreign exports and the low levels of industrial production contrasted with 
higher retail sales and more spending on infrastructure . this is a sign that the chinese 
economy is shifting from exports to more domestic consumption and the expansion of 
the services sector . Russia’s economy by contrast is very stable despite the persistent 
economic sanctions and the weakness of the rouble . expensive imports are depressing 
volumes and stimulating domestic demand . Analysts assume that Russia has passed the 
trough and is now on the path to economic recovery .

uS economy below expectations
in the past business year, the uS economy was more sluggish than expected . in 2016, the 
uS economy grew by only 1 .6% according to estimates by imf . the high consumption 
propensity of uS citizens was a reliable pillar of support for moderate growth . the 
important uS housing market also shows some clear signs of revival . By contrast, exports 
were down due to the strength of the uS dollar . investment activity was also below 
expectations . nonetheless, consumer confidence at year-end 2016 was very positive 
and sentiment in the corporate sector in the uS improved substantially . this trend is 
expected to continue in 2017 . many market participants expect the trump administration 
to stimulate spending on capital goods and also considerable tax reliefs that will give a 
hefty boost to the uS economy . the federal Reserve Bank (fed) also expected the uS 
economy to move into a sustainable upswing . therefore, the uS fed made the expected 
interest move and raised key lending rates slightly to 0 .5% to 0 .7% in december 2016 . the 
uS labour market was very robust in 2016 . the unemployment rate remained below the 
important mark of 5% on the annual average of 2016 . 

european economy achieves moderate growth
the economic outlook in the euro area and in the european union (eu) brightened over the course of the year 
2016 . economic growth in europe was 1 .7% in the euro area for 2016 and for the entire eu it was  
1 .9% according to estimates of the european commission . the unemployment rate was 8 .5% for the entire eu . 
it was primarily the positive developments on the labour market and the high demand for consumer goods from 
private housholds that supported the moderate growth . it is also pleasing that Gdp in the eu is again at pre-crisis 
levels, even though the growth rates of the individual member states vary widely .
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change in real Gdp vs . previous year in %
 2015  2016 (forecast)  2017 (forecast) Source: International Monetary Fund IMF, European Commission
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the economic situation in Spain (+3 .2%) and in the netherlands (+2 .1%) was extremely 
dynamic, and also italy (+0 .9 %) and france (+1 .2 %) reported positive contributions . in 
italy, there was no shock over the outcome of the referendum on the constitution .  the 
economic data of our most important foreign markets of Slovenia (2 .5%), croatia (+2 .8%) 
and Slovakia (+3 .3%) also developed excellently in the year 2016 . 

the British economy did surprisingly well considering the decision of the British to 
exit the eu . the economic plunge often predicted did not happen in 2016 . Rather, the 
economic data from the third quarter 2016 indicates that growth in Great Britain (+1 .9%) 
was even stronger than in the euro area . it was only the Britsh pound that depreciated 
substantially . the depreciation of the pound had started already before the referendum, 
but it accelerated due to the vote . in spite of the good economic development in the 
year 2016, the economic effects of the Brexit are still hard to assess . what we do know 
though is that there is a high probability of a “hard Brexit”, i .e ., leaving the european single 
market . 

Germany remains the driving force behind the economy in the european union, although 
the German economy slowed a bit in the third quarter of 2016 . private consumption and 
higher government spending proved once again to be an important pillar of support for 
the German economy . on the other hand, investments by German companies stagnated 
and exports also declined . despite the drop in exports, Germany’s economy developed 
soundly, with Gdp rising to 1 .9% in 2016 according to the european commission .

economic upswing also in austria
the long-awaited economic upswing started in Austria in 2016 . for the first time in four years, the domestic 
economy grew by more than one percentage point to 1 .5% . this was announced at the beginning of 2017 by 
the Austrian institute of economic Research (wifo) . on the one hand, growth was driven by higher demand for 
consumer goods from private households . it was, above all, the reliefs of the tax reform 2016 that had a positive 
impact on consumer sentiment . on the other, the increase in investment activity among Austrian companies 
also supported the upswing . the economic recovery also had a benign influence on labour market data . the 
good economic situation helped increase the employment ratio, while at the same time the supply of labour also 
rose steeply . therefore, the unemployment rate remained high on the annual average at 9 .1% according to the 
national accounting method .
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VolaTiliTY oN CaPiTal marKeTS CoNTiNued
in the preceding year, both stocks and bonds fluctuated widely . At the beginning of the 
year, stock markets saw a substantial correction . fears over the economy in china 
motivated many market participants to move “into safe havens” . they sold off risky assets 
such as stocks, and shifted their holdings to allegedly secure investments such as German 
shifted government bonds . Subsequently, stock indices in German and Austria lost almost 
19% by mid-february . uS stocks fared slightly better and prices dropped by “only” around 
11% . By contrast, the decline in yields on German bonds continued . in June 2016, yields 
on ten-year German government bonds dropped for the first time into negative territory 
and hit a all-time low on the day of the Brexit vote on 23 June 2016 at -0 .17% . 

the rest of the year was also marked by intensive fluctuations . An example is the 
devleopment of stock markets in June 2016 . thus, the German stock index (dAX) lost 
-7 .3% by mid month . Afterwards, the index gained ground until the day of the Brexit vote 
posting +7 .7% . After the vote, the dAX lost -9 .6% within just two days . it then gained 
+4 .4% in the last three days of the month .

Stock markets moved rather sluggishly on a sideways trend until the uS elections in 
november 2016 and after the electins set off on a year-end rally . As a result, many indices 
closed the year 2016 with clear gains despite the weak start at the beginning of the year . 
especially uS stocks outpaced european stocks . Strong recovery tendencies were seen 
among the stocks of companies from the commodity countries such as Brazil and Russia . 

After an initial drop in yields on government and corporate bonds with good credit 
ratings, a countermovement set in as of the autumn of 2016 .  Yields on 10-year German 
government bonds rose after the uS elections until mid-december to +0 .4% . this caused 
price losses on euro government bonds . the reason for the substantial increase were 
higher inflationary expectations as a result of improved prospects for global growth . 
Yields on uS dollars climbed more steeply than those of the euro zone . 

  index change y/y in percent Source: Bloomberg  mSci world
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european Central Bank (eCB) continued expansive monetary policy
in 2016, the ecB’s economic policy remained expansive . due to higher inflation rates, 
market participants feared the ecB might end its bond purchase programme - which it 
had enlarged in 2016 to include corporate bonds - in march 2017 . on 8 december 2016, 
the ecB announced that the purchasing programme would be prolonged to last after 
April 2017 . however, monthly securities buying volumes would be reduced as of that 
time from euR 80 billion to euR 60 billion . this should not be considered the beginning 
of the phasing out of the ultra-expansive monetary policy . Rather the prolongation of 
the securities purchasing programme to the end of 2017 highlights the intent of the 
ecB to maintain the monetary stimulus for a longer time despite the still low levels of 
core inflation . Several analysts assume that the ecB will gradually phase out its securities 
buying programme as of spring 2018 . the first hike in key lending rates will probably be 
much later though . money market rates are therefore likely to continue their sideways 
trend below the zero line for some time to come .

Source: Bloomberg Germany  uSA
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exCHaNge raTeS remaiNed dYNamiC
the year 2016 painted a mixed picture for the euro . this is revealed by looking at the exchange rates versus 
the five major trade partners of the european monetary union (chinese renminbi, uS dollar, British pound, 
Japanischer yen and Swiss franc) . the euro depreciated only moderately versus the uS dollar from 1 .08 to 1 .05 
euR per uS dollar . the depreciation versus the uSd was not higher because of the suprisingly hesitant monetary 
policy stance of the uS fed . At the beginning of the year, expectations had been of two to three hikes in key 
lending rates by the fed . in the end, there was only one in december 2016 by 25 basis points to within the 
corridor of 0 .50% to 0 .75% . 
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the euro depreciated only slightly also versus the Swiss franc from 1 .08% to 1 .07% per 
chf . in 2016, the euR/chf exchange rate stayed within a narrow bandwidth with the 
support of the Swiss central bank of 1 .11 to 1 .07 euR per chf . 

the steepest depreciation was seen in the euro versus the Japanese yen at 5 .4% . the euro 
was the winner versus the chinese renminbi in 2016 with an appreciation of 3 .7% . the 
highest gains of the five currencies was attained by the euro versus the British pound 
(+17 .8%) . the British pound lost a lot of value before and especially after the Brexit vote 
on 23 June 2016 and it failed to regain the confidence lost until year-end . the pound 
weakened also due to the cut in the key lending rate by the Bank of england at the start 
of August 2016 . the croatian kuna, which is important to us, appreciated slightly versus 
the euro over the course of the year and was quoted at hRK 7 .56 per euR at the end of 
december 2016 after nach hRK 7 .65 at the beginning of the year . 

CommodiTieS marKeTS deVeloPed well 
the development of the commodities markets in 2016 was surprisingly good . Above all, 
energy commodities and precious metals gained in value . demand for commodities was 
very robust, while supply developed weakly . however, it was probably not the beginning 
of a new strong commodities cycle . price gains were achieved from pretty low levels and 
are also likely to continue on a moderate trend this year again with wide fluctuations . 
Generally, the sustained moderate economic growth of the global economy in 2017 
together with rising inflationary expectations are good conditions for moderate increases 
in commodity prices . the risk of tighter trade restrictions by the uS might, however, 
dampen both supply and demand on commodity markets and trigger some surprising 
price movements .

Source: Bloomberg  Gold price in uS dollar Source: Bloomberg Brent crude oil in uS dollar
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manaGemenT anD 
orGanizaTional sTruCTure 

BKS Bank’s sets great store by a flat hierarchy in its organizational structure. The highest 
management body of the BKS Bank group is the management Board. more details on the distribution 
of areas of responsibility and remits are contained in the Corporate governance report as of page 22. 

flaT orgaNiZaTioN
for the ideal management of the company, the organization of the company 
is structured as follows:
—  central administrative departments which report directly to the management Board 

and include the Office of the Management Board, Controlling and Accounting as well as 
human Resources and the internal Audit that provide assistance for management and 
support processes .

—  central departments that manage sales and new product development (corporates, 
retail, private banking and securities); analyze and control credit risk (credit 
management) and ensure it solutions to guarantee stable and secure it operations .  
The international branches, subsidiaries and representantion offices of BKS Bank are 
assigned to the department for treasury and international operations which is also 
responsible for proprietary trading and treasury tasks .  
BKS-leasing Gmbh is assigned to the department for corporates and business banking .

—  Regional Head Offices for Carinthia, Styria, Vienna-Lower Austria-Burgenland, Slovenia, 
croatia and Slovakia that are responsible for local sales and the branches assigned to 
them .

—  Service companies to which back office activities (BKS Service GmbH) and construction 
management, building administration and the vehicle fleet (BKS Immobilien-Service 
Gmbh) have been outsourced .

PerSoNNel CHaNgeS
The first management level, which heads the so-called staff units, central departments, 
directorates and service companies, has a low level of staff turnover .  Gudrun matitz was 
newly appointed in the reporting year as head of Retail Banking . thus, another woman 
advanced to the top management of BKS Bank . Another change took place on the staff of 
the Regional Head Office for Vienna-Lower Austria-Burgenland where Diethmar Wölle is 
now responsible for corporate customers . diethmar wölle holds this position as well as 
being head of corporates at the Regional Head Office for Carinthia. 
At the Regional Head Office for Vienna-Lower Austria- Burgenland, he focuses primarily 
on the further development of the real estate business . 

merger iN CroaTia
As of 30 September 2016, the subsidiary BKS Bank d .d . was retroactively merged with 
BKS Bank AG (for details, see the chapter “market Regions” under “croatia”) effective as 
of 1 January 2016 . the management board members of BKS Bank d .d ., Goran Rameš and 
christian pettinger, will continue to manage our business in croatia and were appointed 
authorized signatories of BKS Bank AG .
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New auTHoriZed SigNaTorieS 
on the proposal of the management Board, in 2016 the following persons were 
appointed as authorized signatories:
—  Gerald Auer, head of Group proprietary trading and Risk controlling,
—  Andreas Kritzer, head of Group credit Risk management,
—  Anton Seebacher, head of the Regional head office for vienna-lower Austria-

Burgenland
  

firST-Time aPPoiNTmeNT of exPerTS
while the stages of a career in sales are established at our bank — the account manager 
for corporates and the private bankers at the top — the only externally visible career step 
in the central administrative department was the management position . for the first 
time, 15 key positions were defined to which 14 employees were appointed as experts, 
including four women, in the fourth quarter . the selection criteria for the expert functions 
included: 
—  expertise which is hard-to-find on the labour market
—  employee makes a major contribution to creating value 
—  high level of engagement, project leadership qualifications and networked thinking 

diVerSiTY iN THe maNagemeNT
All employees of BKS Bank have the same career opportunities regardless of age, gender 
or socio-cultural background. Nonetheless, only 51 women (2015: 50) held management 
positions throughout the Group. The number of male managers was 108 (2015: 110). 
the aim is to raise the share of women in management positions to 35% by 2020 . the 
high constancy of the management means that the majority of managers at the BKS Bank 
Group are over 50 years old (45 .9%) . 75% are Austrian and 25% have other nationalities . 
when filling management positions in our international markets, BKS Bank relies primarily 
on persons from the respective region or who know the region well .

HigH maNagemeNT QualiTY
the high level of social and expert competence of the management staff is very important to BKS Bank . 
whenever possible, management positions are filled from within the company . there are training and further 
education options available to all management staff . An annual development conference has been held with the 
top management for several years now . this event serves to develop participants’ management skills, awareness 
of strategic personal development and organizational development themes as well as to identify potential 
management staff .

furthermore, BKS Bank trains its management Board members, Supervisory Board, management staff and 
persons in key positions in a comprehensive fit & proper training course . the Bankwissenschaftliche Gesellschaft 
has created an e-learning tool for Supervisory Board members that can be attended at any time and from 
anywhere . moreover, after the end of Supervisory Board meetings, fit & proper training courses are held for the 
members of the corporate bodies .
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As of 31 december 2016

oRGAniZAtionAl StRuctuRe

mAnAGement BoARd

Herta Stockbauer, Chairwoman
dieter Kraßnitzer
wolfgang Mandl

ReGionAl heAd officeS

Subsidiaries
BKS-leasing s.r.o. (Bratislava)   
BKS-leasing d.o.o. (ljubljana)  

BKS-leasing Croatia d.o.o. (Zagreb)

Representation Offices
Italy (Padua)

Hungary (Sopron)
Croatia (Zagreb)

ABRoAd

BKS-Leasing GmbH
Heimo Hebein
Karl Schabus

leASinG in AuStRiASeRvice compAnieS
in AuStRiA

BKS Immobilien-Service GmbH
Manfred Isopp

BKS Service GmbH
Georg Köferle 

Jaroslav Zvolensky

heAd office

Corporates and Business Banking
Viktor König

Retail Banking  
Gudrun Matitz

Credt Management
Michael Oberwalder

Treasury and International
Operations
Josef Morak

Private Banking and Securities 
Operations

Georg Svetnik

Operations
Klaus Patterer

heAd office
centRAl AdminiStRAtive 

depARtmentS

Office of the Management Board
Herbert Titze

dieter Kohl (Compliance and aMl)

Controlling and Accounting
Hubert Cuder

Personnel Management
werner laure

Internal Audit
robert raunig

Carinthia
Bernd Berger
Sabine Lax
Karl Mertel

Diethmar Wölle

Styria
nikolaus Juhász
alfred Kordasch

Vienna - Lower Austria - Burgen-
land

Martin Gratzer
anton Seebacher
diethmar wölle

Slovenia
Boštjan Dežman
alexander novak

Croatia
Christian Pettinger

Goran rameša 

Slovakia 
Harald Brunner

Joachim reitmeier
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shareholDers of bKs banK

BSK Bank shares have been listed on the vienna Stock exchange since 1986 . the nominal value per share was 
AtS 100, the share capital was AtS 300 million or around euR 21 .8 million . As of 1 July 1986, BKS Bank had the 
following shareholders: BKS-Beteiligungsverwaltung-GmbH, into which the syndicate partners Oberbank AG and 
Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft paid in shares, held 50%, creditanstalt für handel und Gewerbe 
held 30%, and Bayerische hypotheken- und wechselbank held 10% of the shares . A share of 10% were placed on 
the market and were free float . Stock market capitalization on 1 July 1986 was around AtS 1 .3 billion, which is 
around euR 94 .5 million .

The capital increase carried out in 2016 at a ratio of 10:1 raised the share capital by EUR 
7,207,200 through the issuance of 3,603,600 ordinary bearer shares . free float widened 
from 16 .08% to a very satisfactory 19 .47% . the italian unicredit S .p .A . holding did not 
participate in the capital increase through its Group companies unicredit Bank Austria AG 
and cABo Beteiligungsgesellschaft m .b .h . — just as in 2014 . their share of voting rights 
as a major indirect single shareholders decreased from 33 .55% to 30 .35% . the subscribed 
capital of BKS Bank AG of euR 79,279,200 breaks down into 37,839,600 ordinary bearer 
shares and 1,800,000 preference bearer shares pursuant to the articles of association . As 
of the registration of the capital increase, the approved capital pursuant to the articles of 
association was euR 7,207,200 .
A share of 77 .0% of voting rights was held by institutional investors whose positions 
exceeded the notification threshold of 5% . A share of 38 .9% were owned by the two sister 
banks oberbank AG and Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft . the calculation 
of voting rights was done based on the registrations to the 77th general annual meeting as 
well as on the information available to us as of year-end 2016 . Generali 3Banken holding 
AG owned 7 .8% of voting shares in the company . these three investors contributed 
their stakes into a syndicate, which, as of the end of 2016 held 46 .7% of voting rights . 
the purpose of the syndicate agreement is to guarantee the independence of BKS Bank 
AG through the joint exercise of voting rights at annual general meetings and mutual 
preemptive rights of the syndicate partners . 

KeY infoRmAtion on the BKS BAnK’S ShAReS
2015 2016

number of ordinary no-par shares (iSin At0000624705) 34,236,000 37,839,600
number of no-par preference shares (iSin At0000624739) 1,800,000 1,800,000
high (ordinary/preference share) in € 17 .5/15 .7 17 .3/15 .4
low (ordinary/preference share) in € 16 .5/14 .8 15 .8/13 .9
close (ordinary/preference share) in € 16 .9/15 .1 16 .8/15 .4
market capitalisation in €m 605 .8 662 .7
ifRS result per share outstanding in € 1 .50 1 .26
dividend per share 0 .23 0 .231)

peR ordinary/preference share 11 .3/10 .1 13 .3/12 .2
dividend yield ordinary share 1 .36 1 .37
dividend yield preference share 1 .52 1 .49
1)  proposal to the 78th annual general meeting on 9 may 2017
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wüstenrot wohnungswirtschaft reg . Gen .m .b .h . held 3 .1% of voting shares . the free 
float held by companies, institutional investors and private shareholders, which was raised 
by 3 .4%-points at the last capital increase, included 19 .5% of shares with voting rights at 
year-end 2016 . of this share, a substantial percentage of 0 .6% is owned by employees of 
BKS Bank . BKS-Belegschaftsbeteiligungsprivatstiftung (employee foundation) — serves 
exclusively to fully transfer income on shares to the employees of BKS Bank — owns 
160,470 ordinary shares, which corresponds to a stak of 0 .42% of shares with voting 
rights . 

Broken down by shares in the capital, as of 31 december 2016 oberbank AG held 18 .5%, 
Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft 18 .9% and Generali 3Banken holding AG 
7 .4% . unicredit Bank Austria AG owned 6 .6% of shares in the capital directly, and taking 
into account the stake of 23 .2% owned by cABo Beteiligungsgesellschaft m .b .h ., it held a 
total of 29 .8% of the share capital . wüstenrot wohnungswirtschaft reg . Gen .m .b .h . holds 
3 .0% and the free float accounts for 21 .7% of ordinary and preference shares .

in %

1 oberbank AG 19 .36
2 Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft 19 .50
3 Generali 3Banken holding AG 7 .80

4
wüstenrot wohnungswirtschaft reg . Gen .m .b .h . 
Gen .m .b .h . 3 .09

5 BKS-Belegschaftsbeteiligungsprivatstiftung 0 .42
6 unicredit Bank Austria AG 6 .10
7 cABo Beteiligungsgesellschaft m .b .h . 24 .25
8 free float 19 .47

ShAReholdeRS of BKS BAnK BY ShAReS with votinG RiGhtS
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3
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in %

1 oberbank AG 18 .52
2 Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft 18 .89
3 Generali 3Banken holding AG 7 .44
4 wüstenrot wohnungswirtschaft reg .Gen .m .b .h . 2 .99
5 BKS-Belegschaftsbeteiligungsprivatstiftung 0 .71
6 unicredit Bank Austria AG 6 .63
7 cABo Beteiligungsgesellschaft m .b .h . 23 .15
8 free float 21 .67
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ShAReholdeRS of BKS BAnK BY eQuitY inteReSt

the shareholders highlighted in red are members of a syndicate agreement .
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Apart from this, BKS Bank AG does not know of any constellation of individuals or a 
group of shareholders who own a majority and/or controlling interest in the company . 
therefore, in our view no measures are required to prevent the abuse of a controlling 
interest . 

As of 31 december 2016, the bank held 438,062 ordinary shares and 156,723 preference 
shares in its own portfolio . this was a share of roughly 1 .2% of voting rights or 1 .5% of 
shares . market capitalizationof BKS Bank amounted to euR 662 .7 million based on the 
year-end 2016 market quotation . 

in 2013, our bank acquired around 100,000 shares on the stock exchange and off-floor 
through a publicly-announced stock buyback programme . in 2016, during the period from 
4 to 15 April, a number of 11,985 shares were transferred to employees at a market price 
of euR 17 .15 within the scope of the employee participation scheme and paid out as part 
of the annual bonus under certain conditions . At the end of 2016, the number of ordinary 
shares attributable to this programme was 40,118 or 0 .1% of voting shares compared to 
52,103 shares in the preceding year . 
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marKeTs of bKs banK 

in 2017, BKS Bank celebrated its 95th anniversary. Since its foundaton in 1922, when the bank 
operated only in Carinthia, the market regions of the bank have expanded considerably. Today, BKS 
Bank does business in austria, Slovenia, Croatia and Slovakia. it operates a total of 60 bank branches 
and leasing companies in these four countries. 

auSTria
the predominant market region is Austria where it has 49 branches . Regionally, the 
market covers an area along the south-east axis from carinthia to vienna . organizationally, 
the bank has grouped the domestic market into the sales areas carinthia, Styria and 
vienna-lower Austria-Burgenland .

CariNTHia
excellently positioned on the home market
At the beginning of october 2016 when it became known that a large majority of heta 
creditors had accepted the repurchase offer of the province of carinthia, the relief 
this gave way to was felt across the home market of BKS Bank . the agreement created 
legal certainty and released the province from its state of shock and opened the way 
for structural reform . BKS Bank welcomed the agreement as a positive step for the 
southernmost province of Austria, because it was an opportunity for a new start . 

the economy in carinthia developed in line with the average in Austria in 2016 . Some 
sectors such as the manufacturing industry even grew at an above-average rate . the 
construction industry, which is an important sector, however, saw a decline in output in 
building and civil engineering . the initial forecasts for 2017 of the carinthian institute for 
Advanced Studies (institut für höhere Studien) stated that the overall economic pace in 
Carinthia would lag behind that of Austria. One reason is the high significance of Italy as an 
export destination for carinthian businesses . our southern neighbour is still ailing from a 
sluggish economy .

For BKS Bank, the home market of Carinthia has the greatest signficance. 642 of our 1,071 
employees are employed in carinthia . the branches for private banking and corporates in 
carinthia granted loans in an amount of euR 2 .5 billion at the last count . this corresponds 
to a share of 40% of total financing volume of BKS Bank. The share on deposit accounts 
was euR 2 .8 billion at year-end 2016 . many companies in carinthia have been customers 
of BKS Bank for generations . they appreciate the expert knowledge and long years of 
experience of our account managers . this makes BKS Bank the number one source of 
finance for exports in Carinthia. 

STYria
economy still going strong
with the opening of the branch in Graz in 1983, BKS Bank for the first time set up a 
branch outside the borders of carinthia . therefore, our company is well established in 
Styria . the bank employs 76 employees at 12 branches (fte) . 



–90–

Gro u p  ManaGeMent report

Styria is one of the economically strongest provinces of Austria . An important stimulus 
comes from the automotive cluster, currently, for example, magna . the supplier of major 
automobile manufacturers hired 3,000 new employees thanks to a large contract with 
Bmw .  the main exporting companies fared very well on the market again in 2016 and 
won the silver medal in Austria as the province with the highest exports . there was a 
major setback for agriculture though . the late return of winter at the end of April 2016 
caused widespread harvest losses and also the low price of milk were the cause of the 
lower income of farmers . 

the government of Styria presented an optimistic outlook for the future in the “economic 
and tourism Strategy 2025 — Growth through innovation” published in July 2016 . the 
key themes defined in the strategy are mobility, eco-tech and health-tech . Small and 
medium-sized companies are also identified as a core target group . to better support the 
innovation capacity, the provincial government plans to develop new financial assistance 
and financing instruments . 

we therefore believe that Styria will be able to expand its strong position among Austrian 
provinces and continue to assess Styria as one of our growth markets . in 2016, we 
succeeded in increasing the number of customers in the corporates and retail segments 
just as in the year before . we had a volume of around euR 1 .0 billion outstanding in 
loans and lease finance in Styria, while the deposit volume was euR 0 .6 billion . private 
banking also developed very gratifyingly . Styrian customers appreciate the enormous 
know-how and the high advisory quality of our customer relationship managers . this 
achievement is recognized, among others, by the regional victory in a study conducted 
by Österreichische Gesellschaft für verbraucherstudien and ‘trend’ magazine on advisory 
services for retirement provisioning . 

VieNNa-lower auSTria-BurgeNlaNd
upswing on growth market
in 2015, the market areas of vienna, lower Austria and Burgenland were combined under one head office and 
this change proved useful already in 2016 . BKS Bank achieved gains in all customer groups and expanded its 
market shares . BKS Bank head office vienna-lower Austria-Burgenland serves over 25,123 customers at 16 
branches . the most recent branch was opened in January 2017 on wagramer Straße . the new branch will focus 
on corporate and business customers . 

it is not only the carinthians that live in vienna that appreciate our products, BKS Bank has also 
created a solid reputation as an alternative to the large established banks in vienna . the high quality of our 
advisory services is also recognized by the good ratings achieved in tests conducted in studies by Österreichische 
Gesellschaft für verbraucherstudien and trend magazine . our branches in vienna were the winners of the tests 
for advisory services in the area of investments and real estate finance . 

the outstanding advisory competence is also evidenced in the good results of the head office . in 2016, we 
increased our credit volume to over euR 1 .0 billion which is a plus of around 13 .0% . customer deposits rose to 
euR 0 .6 billion . 
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BKS Bank plans to continue its expansion in the eastern region of Austria in the coming 
years as well . vienna has the steepest population growth in Austria, and the purchasing 
power and income statistics bode well for the capital as a market region . 

iNTerNaTioNal marKeTS
BKS Bank has branches and independent leasing companies in Slovenia, croatia and 
Slovakia . Support is provided to customers from other countries exclusively cross-border 
by our Austrian Head Offices. 

BKS BAnK inteRnAtionAl - oveRview
Slovenia croatia Slovakia

population in millions 2 .1 4 .2 5 .4
capital ljubljana Zagreb Bratislava
economic growth 2016* 2 .5% 2 .8% 3 .3%
economic Growth forecast* 3 .0% 3 .1% 2 .9%
currency euR hRK euR
main banking location ljubljana Rijeka Bratislava
employees in banking (fte) 101 .6 55 .2 23 .5
Branches 6 2 3
leasing company BKS-leasing 

d .o .o .
croatia 

BKS-leasing 
croatia d .o .o .

BKS-leasing 
s .r .o .

Registered office of leasing comnpany ljubljana Zagreb Bratislava
employees in leasing (fte) 13 .4 11 .8 9 .3
* Source: European Commission

SloVeNia
Slovenia is the international market in which BKS Bank has been engaged as a bank 
since 2004 and where it has been represented by leasinggesellschaft BKS-leasing d .o .o 
since 1998 . therefore, our bank is well established as a universal bank in Slovenia . we 
succeeded in expanding our market position substantially in the past years . the market 
share of BKS Bank in the Slovene banking market was around 3 .6% in november 2016 . 

economic growth in 2016 stood at 2 .5%, which is higher than the Austrian level of 1 .5%, 
and sentiment and consumer spending among the population corresponded to the 
robust growth rates . on the back of this uptrend, our branches succeeded in lifting the 
number of private and corporate customers considerably . today, BKS Bank serves 17,565 
customers in Slovenia, which corresponds to an increase of 14 .3% versus 2015 . 

New branch in Slovenj gradec
BKS Bank operates six bank branches in Slovenia . the newest subsidiary was opened at 
the beginning of december 2016 in Slovenj Gradec . Slovenj Gradec is around 45 km west 
of the city of maribor and some 65 km to the northeast of the capital of ljubljana . the 
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city in the northeast of Slovenia  has around 7,000 inhabitants . the new branches offer 
customers the services of daily payment transfers, financing and investment and focus on 
corporate customers . the retail business will be introduced in Slovenj Gradec at a later 
time .

the most important business in Slovenia is the finance business . the volume of loans 
managed by our Slovene branch was around 0 .6 billion at year-end 2016 . 

flourishing securities business
BKS Bank also serves many customers with savings and deposit accounts in Slovenia . 
the volume of primary deposits of our Slovenian branches reached a record level of 
approximately euR 1 .0 billion on 31 december 2016 . the securities business also 
developed very well . this trend was boosted by the acquisition of some 250 securities 
accounts with a volume of assets of around euR 100 million . today, we have a volume of 
assets under management in Slovenia of euR 550 .0 million .

in total, the business of our branches in Slovenia developed very well resulting in a net 
profit before tax of euR 3 .9 million .

BKS-leasing d.o.o. on a solid growth path 
BKS-leasing d .o .o . has been part of the BKS Bank Group since 1998 and has its registered 
office in ljubljana . BKS-leasing d .o .o . employed 13 .4 persons (fte) as of year-end 2016 . 
the leasing business in Slovenia developed excellently in 2016 .  BKS-leasing d .o .o . 
attained the highest volume of new business ever and substantially increased the number 
of leasing contracts . At the end of the reporting year, the leasing volume was euR 91 .1 
million which is an gain of 19 .3% . the net profit before tax was excellent at euR 1 .1 
million and was the best result achieved in its almost 20-year history .

CroaTia
in 2016, BKS Bank wrote banking history in croatia . our bank was the first one to open a eu branch in croatia . 
the establishment of the branch was preceded by the merger of our subsidiary BKS Bank d .d into BKS Bank AG . 
this combination was the first cross-border merger of a bank from another eu country with a croatian bank . the 
new name of our eu branch is BKS Bank AG, Glavna podružnica Rijeka . 

the aim of this move was to simplify administration and to organize a uniform Group structure for our foreign 
business . the two branches in Rijeka and Zagreb remain open and all croatian BKS Bank employees continue to 
work for the BKS Bank Group . neither were there any direct changes for customers, the range of offers did not 
change . in Slovenia and Slovakia, BKS Bank has always operated its banking business through an eu branch .
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good business year
the croatian economy developed slightly better in the reporting year than economic 
forecasts would have originally led one to expect . fortunately, our croatian branches 
were able to benefit from this economic upswing . At a net profit before tax of euR 3 .9 
million, BKS Bank attained the best result since the acquisition of the former Kvarner 
banka d.d. in 2007. At year-end, BKS Bank AG, Glavna podružnica Rijeka had a volume of 
deposits of euR 99 .1 million . the lending volume also increased and reached euR 176 .6 
million (+12 .4%) at year-end 2016 . BKS Bank will take the excellent development of 
business into consideration in 2017 . there are plans to open a new branch in Split in the 
third quarter in addition to the branches in Rijeka and Zagreb . 

leasing company progressing
Apart from the banking business, BKS Bank also has a leasing business in croatia through 
BKS-leasing croatia d .o .o . seated in Zagreb . it employed 11 .8 persons (fte) as of 31 
december 2016 . in the reporting year, new business developed satisfactorily . At year-end, 
the leasing volume of our subsidiaries was euR 41 .7 million and a net profit before tax of 
euR 0 .8 million was earned .

SloVaKia
in Slovakia, the banking business of BKS Bank is still being established and concentrates on products that can be 
settled in cash . the resource-intensive counter business is planned to be launched in several years . the goal is 
currently to successively expand our market position . therefore, in the reporting year we opened another branch 
in february in Žilina where we were already present with a leasing subsidiary . thus, BKS Bank has three bank 
subsidiaries in Slovakia . At year-end, the credit volume of our Slovak subsidiaries was euR 64 .3 million and the 
deposit volume was euR 21 .5 million . 

we expect further growth in 2017, as Slovakia has recovered very well economically . Growth rates in Slovakia 
were substantially higher than the european average . Some industrial branches, for example, the automotive 
segment developed very positively . Slovakia is the worldwide leader in number of automobiles produced per 
capita today . for example, volkswagen, Kia and British Jaguar land Rover manufacture their autos in Slovakia . 
the electro-technical industry has also developed very well . the economic expansion also led to a very gratifying 
reduction in unemployment . Slovakia achieved its goal of an unemployment rate below 10% for the first time in 
2016 . 

leasing at three locations 
our Slovak leasing company, BKS-leasing s .r .o has three business locations . Apart from its registered office in 
Bratislava, BKS-leasing s .r .o has sales branches in Banská Bystrica and in Žilina . our Slovak leasing subsidiary 
employed 9 .3 persons (fte) . the leasing volume was euR 23 .5 million at year-end 2016 . 
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resourCes anD serviCes 

PeoPle aT BKS BaNK
At the end of december 2016, BKS Bank employed 1,071 persons in Austria and abroad . 
there was a slight decrease in the headcount by 20 persons . the job image at BKS Bank 
staff corresponds to that of a modern international corporation:
—  78 .8% of employees work in Austria, 10 .7% in Slovenia, 6 .3% in 

croatia and 3 .6% in Slovakia .
—  57 .8% of our employees are women .
—  32% of our management staff are women . our goal is to achieve 

a share of 35% by 2020 .
—  At 47 .4%, the majority of employees are between 35 and  

50 years old, with 32 .6% over 50 and 20 .0% younger than 35 
years .

—  21 employees have physical disabilities .

emploYment StRuctuRe
employees by number of persons 2015 2016

total number of employees 1,091 1,071
— thereof in Austria 868 844
— thereof in Slovenia 110 115
— thereof in croatia 72 68
— thereof in Slovakia 37 39
— thereof in italy 3 4
— thereof in hungary 1 1
— thereof women 630 619
— thereof men 461 452
full-time employees 851 822
— thereof women 403 384
— thereof men 448 438
part-time employees 240 249
— thereof women 227 235
— thereof men 13 14
employees with physical disabilities 18 21
Please note that the employee figures given in the other parts of this annual 
report are in full-time equivalents (FTE) unless specifically pointed out 
otherwise . the table also contains the employees of the non-consolidated 
companies .

an attractive employer 
open positions were filled only selectively in 2016 . in total, we hired 66 persons of which 33 were women . 
BKS Bank’s appeal as an employer is unbroken . our recruiters processed 2,158 job applications in 2016 . An 
indicator of the positive work climate is the high degree of loyalty of BKS Bank employees . the average duration 
of employment within the Group is 14 .8 years . 58 employees celebrated a service anniversary, and one Austrian 
employee even celebrated 45 years of work at BKS Bank . An overview of our cSR activities that contribute 
enormously to our appeal as an employer is available on page 176 of this report .
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enthusiasm for learning 
life-long learning has been more than just a buzzword in the banking industry for 
many years . the banking sector is one of the most strongly affected by the advance of 
digitization . Additionally, we are seeing constantly tightening regulatory requirements 
and often very well-informed — internet —  though also unsure customers .  therefore, 
BKS Bank invested heavily in the training and further education of its employees in 2016, 
because well-trained employees are a valuable competitive advantage . 

on the annual average, every employee spent 5 days in training; in total 39,008 training 
hours were completed . our human resources management organized 234 internal further 
education courses . Apart from this, many employees attended seminars offered by 
reputed seminar organizers . 

A new addition to the training cycle was the training course in reorganization which 
24 employees attended . the training programme for customer relationship managers 
for corporates was also redesigned . the programme was adjusted to better meet the 
professional experience of the staff . each training module is completed with a knowledge 
test. Also long-year customer relationship managers must complete the recertification 
every three years .

High productivity
The high degree of enthusiasm for learning and regular projects to improve efficiency 
substantially contribute to an increase in productivity . in the year 2007, business volume 
per employee was euR 7 .2 million, while today ten years later it is euR 8 .2 million . this is 
an increase of 13 .9% . 

development of BuSineSS volume peR emploYee
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iNformaTioN TeCHNologY
digitization and it play a central role at every bank . Because smooth processes and 
user-friendly customer applications are indispensable for the banking business today . 
therefore, the trend towards digital solutions is a key element of BKS Bank’s strategy .  
our digitization plans are described in the Segment Report starting on page 115 . 

Joint iT service provider within the 3-Banken alliance
dRei-BAnKen-edv Gesellschaft m .b .h (3BeG) is responsible for implementation of it 
projects and it operations .   3BeG is a joint subsidiary of oberbank AG, Bank für tirol 
und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft and BKS Bank . it employs 236 persons on the annual 
average . the registered office of 3BeG is in linz, and it also operates competence centres 
in Klagenfurt and innsbruck . the interface function to 3BeG is run by our operations 
department . in 2016, 128 projects - some of which ran for several years - were processed . 
79% of the projects planned for 2016 were succesfully finalized .

regulatory requirements make iT adapations necessary 
Apart from digitization, supervisory requirements are also a key reason for starting many 
it projects . for example, in the reporting year we implemented projects relating to the 
central accounts register, the reporting of capital inflows and outflows and the “common 
Reporting Standard (cRS), new anti-money laundering provisions as well as preparations 
for the implementation of mifid ii and ifRS 9 . one of the main activities abroad was the 
necessary changeover of the it systems due to the merger of BKS Bank into BKS Bank AG . 

large investments in iT technology
the great significance of information technology means that BKS Bank invests large 
amounts every year in the network infrastructure, and in hardware and software . it costs 
were euR 15 .9 million in 2016 . A further euR 2 .0 million were invested in information 
technology and not through 3BeG . 

Among other things, the outdated self-service devices in our customer lounges were 
replaced, the network infrastructure was improved, preparations for the voice recording 
required in future under mifid ii were made, and the capacity of the lines at our branches 
were upgraded .

A simplified loan application and a simplified rating procedure for business customers was 
introduced at the beginning of 2017 . with these new systems, standard business routines 
are more efficient, faster and less expensive starting from the decision-making process to 
contract creation and activation within the it system . we expect processing costs to be 
cut by six employees (fte) in the future . we also worked on the successive development 
of our workflow system and the related acceleration of procedures .
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the roll-out of the sales cockpit in our international markets, the implementation of 
electronic loan records for retail customers, the further development of our payment 
systems and the introduction of a new reminder and collections system are just a few of 
the internal process innovations achieved in the past year . 

with the progress of digitization, it security is also shifting to the focus of attention . we 
took measures and made investments to fight cyber-attacks in the past business year, 
and looked very closely at the issue of cyber-security . the methods of the attackers are 
becoming increasingly sophisticated and our company was not spared from some of 
the attacks (e .g . fake president) . the continuous development of our security systems 
and a higher awareness among employees for the issue have made it possible for us to 
recognize such attacks very early on and successfully ward these off .

 
excellent system availability
the quality of the it infrastructure is measured by the ratio of system availability . the so-
called online availability during the prime shift from 8 .00 a .m . to 5 .00 p .m . was 99 .9% . Also 
impressive is the fact that 99 .6% of transactions have a response time of less than one 
second . And the multiple backup tests conducted yielded satisfactory results . 

development of it coStS
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CoNSTruCTioN, SeCuriTY aNd VeHiCle fleeT
BKS immobilien-Service Gesellschaft m .b .h . is responsible for all activities of the BKS 
Bank Group with a reference to construction . it is responsible for 
—  project development, construction and facility management for our own properties and 

properties used by others
—  facility management
— Bank and work safety
—  Service vehicles and 
—  waste management
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BKS immobilien-Service Gmbh manages and services 59 properties that belong to the Group with a surface area 
of more than 63,000 m2 . the changes in the number of properties and surface area versus the preceding year is 
due to the sale of two properties in Klagenfurt and the new acquisition of a property in villach . 32,016 m2 are 
used by BKS Bank itself and the rest is rented out . Rental income from rentals to third parties increased again in 
2016 and was euR 2 .2 million (+4 .8%) .

in total, we invested euR 4 .0 million in construction work which was generally carried out by skilled Austrian 
tradespersons . 

oveRview of pRopeRtieS in AuStRiA BelonGinG to the GRoup 
 2015 2016

number of properties 60 59
total surface area in 2 61,979 63,159
— thereof used for banking operations in m2 31,864 32,016
— thereof rented to third parties in m2 25,070 26,059
Rental occupancy ratio in % 91 .90 91 .95
net rental income from third party rentals in euR millions 2 .1 2 .2 

Palais Christalnigg: Baroque stucco ceilings masterfully restored
A highlight of skilled artisan work is the restoration of palais christalnigg in Klagenfurt . 
palais christnaligg will be used by BKS Bank as a training and educational centre in the 
future . the core of the city palace in Klagenfurt dates back to the 16th century . in 1724, 
the family of the counts of christalnigg came into possession of the palace . After world 
war ii, the building was purchased by the then Bank für Kärnten, which is BKS Bank AG 
today . during the renovation work in 2014, a stucco ceiling of 600 m2 was discovered that 
is attributed to Kilian pittner and his son, which were among the most important Baroque 
stucco artists in the Alpe-Adria region . 

the restauration of the stucco ceiling was done by applying very fine artwork in traditional 
techniques . the layers of paint had to be removed layer by layer . master builder leopold 
Steiner and his restorers did this work manually using very small hammers and scalpels . 
Special attention was paid to preserving the orginal structure as far as possible . in a next 
step, the existing structure was reinforced using pure limestone mortar .  however, parts 
of the stucco were missing and had to be remodelled by hand . in this case as well, only 
limestonde mortar was used just as in 1730 to restore the ceiling . the entire restauration 
work was carried out in close cooperation with the federal monuments office . the 
images on the overleaf of this report give a brief impression of the carefully restored 
ceiling .

New branches up to the latest standards
during the reporting year work was not only on preserving the valuable, but on creating 
the new . BKS immobilien-Service Gmbh furnished the new branches in Žilina, Slovenj 
Gradec and wagramer Straße in vienna . the branches comform to the barrier-free 
standard defined in the specifications for rooms of BKS Bank . 
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High degree of customer satisfaction with branch furnishings
the look-and-feel of our branches was developed together with the experienced 
marketing expert christian mikunda . the objective was to create a place where our 
customers feel comfortable and offer them a brief escape from hectic daily life . therefore, 
our branches have customer lounges instead of the usual foyers with self-service devices . 
they have lounge furniture and living room lighting . our customer survey conducted in 
2016 revealed that this concept has been well accepted by our customers . nine out of ten 
persons interviewed stated that they feel comfortable in the BKS Bank branches .

focus on energy efficiency 
A further focus during the reporting year was on improving energy efficiency . Bearing this 
in mind, air conditioning and ventilation installations at the head offce were upgraded . 
moreover, the employees of our facility management subsidiary were trained as energy 
auditors . further information on our climate protection measures is given in the chapter 
Sustainability starting on page 176 of this report . 

2017: assisted-living as an answer to demographic change
in 2017, construction work for a large project will start on the parking lot of the 
headquarters in Klagenfurt . the extensive preparatory work was completed in 2016 . A 
residential park with four buildings with an underground garage will replace the current 
parking lot. Part of the building will be used for assisted-living facilities; these flats will be 
serviced by hilfswerk Kärnten . the rising age of the population is increasing demand for 
such offers, also in Klagenfurt . with this construction project, BKS Bank contributes to 
mastering the demographic challenges the lie ahead . 

environmentally-friendly vehicle fleet management
the tasks of BKS immobilien-Service Gmbh include the management of the vehicle 
fleet. When buying new vehicles special attention is given to energy efficiency. Only new 
vehicles that comply with emissions standards 5 and 6, electronic automobiles and hybrid 
vehicles are acquired . in the course of the year, 76 vehicles were in use throughout the 
Group and 2,294k kilometres were driven for business travel . 

Safety is a high priority
the safety of the employees has high priority at BKS Bank .  we are happy to report that there were no bank 
robberies at our branches in 2016, and the number of work-related accidents was very low at four incidents . 
we invest regularly in modern safety technology and train our employees in workplace safety, which helps 
to maintain a high standard . three workplace safety experts and 13 workplace safety officers are available to 
our employees as contacts for concrete questions . together with the police department, we organize training 
courses regularly and webinars are also available on the intranet .
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ConsoliDaTeD Companies 
anD equiTy inTeresTs

at present, the relevant group of consolidated companies of BKS Bank includes 
19 credit and financial institutions as well as companies that supply banking 
services including domestic and foreign leasing companies.  The overview below 
is a visualization of the companies that belong to the BKS Bank group pursuant 
to the international financial reporting Standards. 

the inclusion of affiliated companies is based on the aplication of uniform materiality 
principles for the entire Group as well as quantitative and qualitative parameters . 
materiality criteria are, above all, the net profit of the subsidiaries, the pro rata equity in 
associated companies as well as the number of employees at the respective company . 

other consolidated companies

GRoup of conSolidAted compAnieS 

BKS Bank AG,
Klagenfurt

credit institutions and financial institutions

BKS-Leasing Gesellschaft 
m.b.H.,
Klagenfurt

BKS-leasing d.o.o.,
Ljubljana

BKS-leasing Croatia d.o.o., 
Zagreb

BKS-Leasing s.r.o.,
Bratislava

Oberbank AG,
Linz

Bank für Tirol und Vorarlberg
Aktiengesellschaft,
Innsbruck

drei Banken Versicherungs-
agentur GmbH, linz

ALPENLÄNDISCHE
GARANTIE - GESELLSCHAFT
m.b.H. Linz

BKS Zentrale-Errichtungs u.
Vermietungsgesellschaft
m.b.H., Klagenfurt

Immobilien Errichtungs- u. 
Vermietungsgesellschaft 
m.b.H. & Co. KG, Klagenfurt

IEV Immobilien GmbH,
Klagenfurt

VBG-CH Verwaltungs und
Beteiligungs GmbH,
Klagenfurt

LVM Beteiligungs
Gesellschaft m.b.H., 
Vienna

BKS Service GmbH,
Klagenfurt

BKS Immobilien-Service
Gesellschaft m.b.H.,
Klagenfurt

BKS Hybrid alpha GmbH,
Klagenfurt

BKS Hybrid beta GmbH,
Klagenfurt

BKS 2000 – Beteiligungs-
verwaltungsgesellschaft
mbH, Klagenfurt

Full consolidated accounted for using the equity method accounted for on a proportionate basis
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the group of consolidated companies of the BKS Bank Group includes, apart from BKS 
Bank AG, 14 credit and financial institutions and companies that supply banking-related 
services in which BKS Bank AG holds controlling interests . these consolidated financial 
statements are based on the uniformly prepared single-entity financial statements of all 
fully consolidated companies . 

for the three companies recognized by the equity method in accordance with iAS 28, 
the carrying amounts of the investments are adjusted for the changes in the net assets 
of the respective entitites . Apart from drei Banken versicherungsagentur Gmbh, the 
sister banks oberbank AG and Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft are also 
recognized by the equity method . At year-end 2016, BKS Bank held a share of 14 .2%, and 
13 .6% in these credit institutions, respectively, which is less than 20% of voting rights in 
each case; however, the voting rights are exercised under a syndicate agreement . this 
agreement makes it possible to participate in the financial and business policy decisions of 
these credit institutions of the 3 Banken Group, without exercising a controlling interest . 

die AlpenlÄndiSche GARAntie - GeSellSchAft m .b .h . (AlGAR) is recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements on a proportionate basis . this investment is classified as 
a joint operation pursuant to ifRS 11 . 

the other fully consolidated companies which are mostly real estate companies provide 
mainly banking-related services . All other consolidated entities are recognized as 
available-for-sale assets .

there was one major change to the group of consolidated companies in the reporting 
year . the croatian subsidiary BKS Bank d .d was merged into BKS Bank AG as of 30 
September 2016 . the banking operations at the locations Rijeka and Zagreb have been 
run since 1 october 2016 through an eu branch . the new company name of our eu 
branch is BKS Bank AG, Glavna podružnica Rijeka. To date, we are the only bank in the 
european union to have carried out a cross-border merger of a croatian bank with an 
Austrian bank . 

CrediT iNSTiTuTioNS aNd fiNaNCial iNSTiTuTioNS
BKS Bank ag
BKS Bank AG is the parent company of the BKS Bank Group . its registered office is in Klagenfurt . its profit on 
ordinary business activities was euR 37 .1 million, thus contributing substantially to the Group earnings in 2016 . 
total assets of euR 7 .2 billion highlight its dominant position . 

BKS-leasing gesellschaft m.b.H.
BKS-leasing Gesellschaft m .b .h . is a 99 .75% subsidiary of BKS Bank AG with business activities in vehicle, 
movables and real estate leasing . it is a member of the same taxable group as BKS Bank . At year-end 2016, the 
share capital was euR 40 .0k and the leasing volume euR 159 .7 million . BKS Bank AG supplies 8 .3 person-years 
and the infrastructure for providing leasing contracts . 



–102–

Gro u p  ManaGeMent report

BKS-leasing d.o.o.;
BKS-leasing Croatia d.o.o.
the two 100% subsidiaries BKS-leasing Gesellschaft m .b .h . with their registered office 
in ljubljana, and BKS-leasing croatia d .o .o . with its registered office in Zagreb reflect the 
historical development of the business relations of BKS Bank with the Alpe Adria region . 
BKS-leasing d .o .o ., which was acquired in 1998, reported a share capital of euR 260 .0k and 
a leasing volume of euR 91 .1 million at year-end 2016 . the company had a staff of 13 .4 
persons (fte) in financial year 2016 . the focus of business is on vehicle, movables and 
real estate leasing . the foundation of the croatian leasing subsidiary with its registered 
office in Zagreb took place in 2002 . in 2016, it employed 11 .8 persons (fte) . BKS-leasing 
croatia d .o .o . managed a leasing volume of euR 41 .7 million in the reporting year .

BKS-leasing s.r.o.
BKS-leasing s .r .o . was acquired in 2007 as KofiS leasing a .s . and operated as a joint stock 
company until 30 September 2013 . it was transformed into a limited liability company 
(Gmbh) for business policy and administrative reasons . . the capital of the company 
at year-end 2016 was euR 15 .0 million and the leasing volume euR 23 .5 million . the 
company has its registered office in Bratislava . its customers are mostly within the region 
demarcated by Bratislava, Žilina and Banskà Bystrica. BKS-Leasing s.r.o. employed 9.3 
persons (fte) .

oberbank ag
oberbank AG was founded in 1869 under the name “Bank für oberösterreich und 
Salzburg“ . it has its registered office in linz and is recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements of BKS Bank by the equity method . it is the leading independent bank for 
the middle market in its core regions of upper Austria and Salzburg with a total of 159 
branches in upper Austria, Salzburg, vienna, lower Austria, Germany, czech Republic, 
Slovakia and hungary . At the end of 2016, oberbank employed 2,048 persons . 

Bank für Tirol und Vorarlberg aktiengesellschaft
Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft was founded in 1904 . in addition to 
oberbank AG and BKS Bank AG, it is the third independent credit institution with equal 
rights in the 3 Banken Group . under the brand name Btv vieR lÄndeR BAnK, it is 
represented not only in tyrol, vorarlberg and vienna, but also in eastern Switzerland, 
Southern tyrol and Germany with 36 branches and employs 1,350 persons in total . 
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alPeNlÄNdiSCHe garaNTie - geSellSCHafT m.b.H.
die AlpenlÄndiSche GARAntie - GeSellSchAft m .b .h . (AlGAR), linz, is a joint 
subsidiary of 3 Banken Group . the purpose of the company founded in 1983 as a credit 
institution was to secure large credit risks of the three partner banks by assuming 
guarantees, sureties and other liabilities for loans, credit lines and lease financing . it is a 
non-profit company . the share capital of euR 3 .0 million is held 50% by oberbank AG and 
25% each by Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft and BKS Bank AG . AlGAR is 
recognized by proportionate consolidation in the BKS Bank Group financial statements in 
accordance with ifRS 11 .

drei Banken Versicherungsagentur gmbH
in the second quarter of 2016, drei-Banken versicherungs-Aktiengesellschaft was 
transformed into drei-Banken versicherungsagentur Gmbh through interim steps . 
Before this, as of 1 January 2016 all liabilities under the insurance business of drei-
Banken versicherungs-Aktiengesellschaft were transferred to Generali versicherung 
AG in accordance with the shareholders’ resolution and after obtaining approval from 
the financial market Authority and the federal competition Authority . Since 1 January 
2016, Generali versicherung AG has been handling the insurance business sent to it by 
BKS Bank . the re-established drei Banken versicherungsagentur Gmbh manages the 
remaining assets of the former company . oberbank AG owns 40% in the company, Bank 
für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft, BKS Bank AG and Generali holding vienna AG 
each hold 20% . 

oTHer CoNSolidaTed ComPaNieS
BKS Zentrale-errichtungs- u. Vermietungsgesellschaft m.b.H.
BKS Zentrale-errichtungs- u . vermietungsgesellschaft m .b .h ., Klagenfurt, was founded in 
1990 and rents out the building of the headquarters of BKS Bank on St . veiter Ring . there 
are further rental contracts for the underground parking lot, exterior parking areas and 
shops . BKS Bank AG owns 100% of BKS Zentrale-errichtungs- u . vermietungsgesellschaft 
m .b .h . indirectly through BKS-leasing Gesellschaft m .b .h . and vBG verwaltungs- und 
Beteiligungs Gmbh . the company has a share capital of euR 36 .4k . 

immobilien errichtungs- u. Vermietungsgesellschaft m.b.H. & Co. Kg;
ieV immobilien gmbH 
immobilien errichtungs- u . vermietungsgesellschaft m .b .h . & co . KG acquires, rents 
out and leases and also sells plots of land and buildings of all kinds . As a subsidiary of 
the Group, it deals mainly with the erection and renting out of commercial space within 
the BKS Bank Group, with the management being assumed by iev immobilien Gmbh as 
general partner . BKS Bank AG directly owns 100% in these companies . Both companies 
have their registered office in Klagenfurt .
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BKS Hybrid alpha gmbH;
BKS Hybrid beta gmbH
the main object of business of the company set up in September 2008, BKS hybrid alpha 
Gmbh, Klagenfurt, and of BKS hybrid beta Gmbh established in April 2009 is the issuance 
of hybrid bonds and use of the proceeds of such issues to acquire tier 2 capital bonds of 
BKS Bank AG . in accordance with the transitional provisions of cRR (capital Requirements 
Regulation), it was only possible to partially recognize the proceeds raised in the reporting 
year from the issuance of hybrid capital, so-called “Additional common equity tier 1 
capital” of the group of credit institutions .

VBg-CH Verwaltungs- und Beteiligungs gmbH;
lVm Beteiligungs gesellschaft m.b.H.
BKS Bank AG owns 100% of the shares in vBG-ch verwaltungs- und Beteiligungs Gmbh, 
which in turn holds 100% in lvm Beteiligungs Gesellschaft m .b .h . the object of business 
of these companies is mainly to assume the financing of the foreign subsidiaries of BKS 
Bank . 

BKS Service gmbH
the 100% subsidiary of BKS Bank has a share capital of euR 35k; its registered office is in 
Klagenfurt and it supplies banking-related services . the company is responsible for taking 
care of routine back office work and servicing the branches of BKS Bank . At year-end 
2016, it employed 49 .3 employees (fte), which were seconded by BKS Bank AG to BKS 
Service Gmbh with one employee under a direct employment contract .

BKS immobilien-Service gesellschaft m.b.H.
the company founded in 1973 as liegenschaftsverwaltungs- und verwertungs Gmbh 
was renamed BKS immobilien-Service Gesellschaft m .b .h . in 1994; it has a share capital 
of euR 40k and serves mainly to rent out, buy and sell real estate . this 100% subsidiary 
seated in Klagenfurt takes care of all construction projects within the Group and is also 
the facility manager for all real estate properties of the BKS Bank Group . in the reporting 
year, the company received contributions from the shareholders of euR 3 .0 million to 
strengthen its equity for its expansion plans . BKS Bank AG seconded 9 .0 persons (fte) to 
this company; three persons are directly employed . 

BKS 2000 - Beteiligungsverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH
the object of business of the wholly-owned Group company of BKS Bank with its 
registered office in Klagenfurt and a share capital of euR 40k is essentially commercial 
trade, acquisition of properties and investments in other companies . At the end of 2016, 
the company held a stake of 30% in Beteiligungsverwaltung Gmbh, 16 .4% in Generali 
3Banken holding AG and 30% in 3-Banken Beteiligung Gesellschaft G .m .b .h .
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furTHer iNVeSTmeNTS

inveStmentS in cRedit And finAnciAl inStitutionS
Share in capital 1) >50% 20% to  50% 10% to  20% <10%

3 Banken-Generali investment-Gesellschaft m .b .h . 15 .43
oesterreichische Kontrollbank AG 3 .06
BwA Beteiligungs- und verwaltungs AG 0 .89
3-Banken wohnbaubank AG 10 .00
3 Banken Kfz-leasing Gmbh 10 .00
1) including direct and indirect stakes

otheR ShAReS in AffiliAted compAnieS
Share in capital 1) >50% 20% to  50% 10% to  20% <10%

vBG verwaltungs- und Beteiligungs Gmbh 100 .00
e 2000 liegenschaftsverwertungs Gmbh 99 .00
1) including direct and indirect stakes

otheR inveStmentS in non-BAnKS
Share in the capital >50% 20% to  50% 10% to  20% <10%

dRei-BAnKen-edv Gesellschaft m .b .h . 30 .00
3 Banken versicherungsmakler Gesellschaft m .b .h . 30 .00
Bank deposit protection organisation (einlagensicherung der 
Banken und Bankiers Gmbh) 3 .10
ceeSeG AG 0 .38
pSA payment Services Austria Gmbh 1 .46



–106–

Gro u p  ManaGeMent report

asseTs anD 
finanCial posiTion  

Total assets of the BKS Bank group was eur 7.58 billion on 31 december 2016 
which is far above the level of the financial year 2015 (+7.3%). The solid increase 
was driven mainly by higher loans and advances to customers. on the liabilities 
side, the volume of primary deposits reached a new record. 

aSSeTS
Steep increase in demand for loans 
the lending business developed very well in the past financial year . At the start of 2016, it 
was not yet noticeable that the economy was starting to pick up, but by the fourth quarter 
2016 demand for loans had risen steeply . loans and advances to customers increased 
by 4 .2% to euR 5 .33 billion, while the preceding year’s figure was euR 5 .1 billion . Apart 
from the credit volume of the parent company BKS Bank AG, loans and advances to 
customers also include amounts lent by the domestic and foreign leasing companies . our 
croatian subsidiary BKS Bank d .d . was merged into BKS Bank AG 30 September 2016 with 
retroactive effect as of the beginning of the year . the credit volume of BKS Bank AG also 
includes euR 176 .6 million of the former subsidiary . in total, some 25 .2% of loans and 
advances were granted to customers abroad . 

we are especially pleased about the robust increase in lending, because in the course 
of the year we were repeatedly confronted with substantial loan repayments due to 
the high level of cash on hand at many companies . As a regional bank with a reputation 
for trustworthiness, we succeeded in acquiring new retail and corporate customers 
interested in taking out loans, especially in the eastern part of Austria and in our foreign 
markets .

charges for losses on loans and advances also developed very positively . compared to 
the preceding year (euR 193 .7 million), the charges for losses on loans and advances 
decreased by 19 .9% and stood at a very pleasing euR 155 .1 million as of 31 december 
2016 . our efforts to lastingly improve the quality of our loan portfolio are reflected in 
these good figures . 

Slovenian leasing company achieves best year ever 
the leasing business of our domestic and foreign subsidiaries performed satisfactorily 
overall, with the different companies achieving varying levels . for our Slovenian leasing 
company, the year 2016 was by far one of the best in the history of the company . the 
roughly 13 employees acquired 72% more contracts than in the preceding year . the 
volume of new business increased by a remarkable 65% to euR 39 .8 million . our Slovene 
customers appreciate our extensive advisory know-how and the speed and reliability of 
our services . Also satisfactory was the development of the croatian leasing company . the 
leasing volume increased by 9 .2% to euR 41 .7 million in 2016 . only the Slovak leasing 
company did not develop in line with our expectations . 
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in Austria as well, demand for lease finance for cars, trucks and other capital goods is 
stable . As we have not been able to profit from this trend to a sufficient degree, we 
started re-positioning our Austrian leasing company on the market in the business year 
2016 . in 2017, we expect this move to have an impact on earnings . in 2016, the leasing 
volume of BKS-leasing Gmbh was euR 159 .7 million which is a slight decrease versus the 
preceding year . 

the share in foreign currency in the financing decreased again substantially in the 
reporting period . the share of foreign currencies (fX ratio) was only 4 .5% on 31 
december 2016 . we expect the risks of foreign currency loans to increase significantly 
due to economic and political uncertainty . therefore, we continue to work on reducing 
the share of fX loans . the low level of euR interest rates offers a good setting for 
switching to euro loans . unfortunately, some customers are very persistent and even if 
the conditions are attractive for a switch, they cannot be motivated to move out of their 
foreign currency loans .

financial assets are an important steering instrument
investments in fixed interest securities are an important management element for 
complying with statutory liquidity requirements . in times of negative interest rates 
though, it is hard to find the right investments . Yields on 10-year German bonds moved 
into negative territory for the first time in 2016 and at the end of december 2016 the 
reading was 0 .21% . financial assets increased by 2 .7% to euR 1 .48 billion . the decrease 
in the fair value-through profit or loss portfolio by more than one third resulted from the 
expired fair value hedges of the year 2016 . By contrast, AfS assets increased by euR 22 .6 
million or +13 .6% from euR 166 .7 million in 2015 to euR 189 .3 million . the increases 
were driven mainly be new investments . the held-to-maturity portfolio widened 
marginally by 3 .2% to euR 747 .8 million . we have high quality liquid assets in this 
position . this is how we ensure compliance with minimum liquidity standards .

development of ASSetS
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the shares of companies measured by the equity method increased in the reporting 
year by 7 .4% to euR 470 .9 million year-on-year . this increase was a result, on the one 
hand, of the successful capital increase carried out by oberbank AG, and on the other, 
of the addition of net profits of the companies recognized by the equity method, 
which are primarily our sister banks oberbank AG and Bank für tirol und vorarlberg 
Aktiengesellschaft . All investments have been analysed for potential impairment . in total, 
three investments of euR 1 .6 million were impaired .

cash reserves, which consist of cash and balances with the central banks, increased 
substantially to euR 543 .5 million as at 31 december 2016 . this high level is due to the 
good liquidity situation of our corporate customers . the other asset positions such as 
property, plant and equipment, real estate held as financial investments, intangible assets 
as well as the item other assets did not undergo any changes of mention in the reporting 
year . 

eQuiTY aNd liaBiliTieS
Primary deposits hit new record
primary deposits reached the highest level in the history of 
the company of euR 5 .57 billion on 31 december 2016 . this 
development was a surprise for us considering the persistent 
low-interest environment . we interpret this as a sign of the high 
degree of trust people have in our bank . As primary deposit 
balances are the most important source of refinancing, we are very 
pleased about this increase . At the same time this development 
has a slightly bitter aftertaste, because we have to pay negative 
interest of 0 .4% for depositing customer funds with the central 
banks .

the predominant position in loans and advances to customers was 
once again sight and term deposits which increased steeply by euR 
573 .9 million or 21 .1% to a total of euR 3 .30 billion . As already 
reported, the substantial rise was driven by the good liquidity 
situation of our corporate customers, especially in Slovenia . we 
recorded a strong rise in deposits there with euR 351 .9 million . By 
contrast, savings deposits decreased by 6 .2% to euR 1 .53 billion . 
this is an impressive figure considering that classical savings 
products are still losing their appeal due to the low level of interest 
rates . 
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At euR 544 .7 million (-5 .5%) securitized liabilities lagged behind the previous year’s level 
of euR 576 .3 million on account of the difficult interest rate environment . despite the 
historically low interest rates, we are making every effort to be able to offer our customers 
long-term investments . last year, we issued a step-up bond with an interest bandwidth of 
0 .75% to 3 .0% . in April 2016, we issued a junior capital bond with a life of 8 years and an 
interest rate of 2 .75% to strengthen our subordinated capital . the issue was a success and 
subordinate capital increased by euR 16 .8 million or +9 .3% and amounted to euR 198 .6 
million at year-end 2016 . 

the Group’s equity - this includes subscribed capital, capital reserves, profit and other 
reserves - rose in the reporting year to euR 958 .8 million (+11 .5%) . As set out in note no . 
32, the subscribed capital rose due to the latest capital increase with a ratio of 10:1 by 
euR 7 .2 million to euR 79 .3 million . we allocated euR 50 .0 million to the capital reserves, 
while the dividend payout of euR 8 .1 million in may 2016 had the effect of lowering 
equity . 
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resulT of operaTions

The financial year 2016 remained challenging due to the sustained low level of 
interest rates, the stringent regulatory requirements and a highly competitive 
market. even though the demanding market situation made it harder for us to 
attain our strategic goals, the year 2016 was a successful one for BKS Bank. once 
again, BKS Bank has proven the value of its business model geared to achieving 
sustainable growth. 

BKS Bank attained a consolidated net profit before tax of euR 49 .8 million as at 31 
december 2016 . Although at this level we did not achieve the excellent result of the 
preceding year of euR 60 .7 million, which was characterized by special factors, we are 
generally satisfied with the development of business in 2016 in the light of the difficult 
environment . the decrease in profit by around 18 .0% is due largely to the charge for the 
stability tax of euR 7 .8 million . 

SuSTaiNed PreSSure oN iNTereST BuSiNeSS 
net interest income before impairment provisions was euR 154 .2 million, which at -7 .4% 
is clearly below the level of 31 december 2015 . the continued decline of market interest 
rates caused interest income to drop by 8 .6% to euR 161 .0 million and was only partly 
offset by the decline in interest expenses . interest expenses decreased by 23% to euR 
40 .5 million and besides savings deposits, these also concerned expenses for sight and 
term deposits . pressure on margins continued unabated in our core markets of carinthia 
and Slovenia . At a financing margin of 1 .86% after 1 .90% in the preceding year, we 
succeeded in defending the level quite well . margins on deposits were burdened by the 
level of market interest rates and flattened further year-on-year from 0 .01% to -0 .05% . in 
the segment of institutional deposits, negative interest was charged . 

the profits of the companies assessed by the equity method - especially oberbank AG 
and Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft - contributed euR 33 .7 million to 
interest income . the decline of almost one third was caused by the special effects of the 
equity method measurement of Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft . in the 
preceding year, Bank für tirol and vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft reported substantial 
hidden reserves due to the restructuring of its securities portfolio .

KeY componentS of the income StAtement

in € m 2015 2016 ± in %

net interest income 166 .4 154 .2 -7 .4
charges for losses on loans and advances -48 .5 -31 .0 -36 .1
net fee and commission income 53 .0 48 .8 -7 .8
net trading income 2 .3 1 .7 -26 .0
profit from financial assets -1 .7 -2 .1 -23 .6
General administrative expenses -105 .1 -106 .4 1 .2
profit/loss for the year before tax 60 .7 49 .8 -18 .0
tax on income and earnings -7 .1 -3 .6 -49 .1
profit/loss for the year 53 .6 46 .2 -13 .9
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Based on the much improved risk situation, charges on losses and advances decreased 
to a gratifying euR 31 .0 million versus euR 48 .5 million in the preceding year . this 
decline was due mainly to the lower allocations for individual impairment losses 
recognized . compared to the previous year, we allocated euR 16 .0 million less . this 
positive development was the result of the improved structure of the credit portfolio . 
the volume rated as at risk of default 5a to 5c has substantially decreased by euR 131 .0 
million . the volume allocated for charges for losses on loans and advances was euR 42 .4 
million of which euR 4 .0 million were for commissions paid to AlGAR . the level of credit 
risk provisions in percentage of the average outstanding liabilities including contingent 
liabilities was 2 .7% . 

we allocated euR 360 .6k for the credit risk of our foreign leasing companies . of this 
amount, euR 332 .2k and euR 107 .8k, respectively, were allocated for the Slovenian 
and Slovak leasing companies, while the croatian BKS-leasing croatia d .o .o . released 
provisions of euR 79 .4k on balance .

net interest income after impairment charges increased by 4 .5% to euR 123 .2 million 
after euR 117 .9 million year on year . 

development of impAiRment chARGeS

in € m 2015 2016 ± in %

direct write-offs 0 .9 1 .0 9 .4
impairment allowances 58 .4 42 .4 -27 .4
impairment reversals -10 .0 -11 .3 13 .7
Subsequent recoveries -0 .8 -1 .0 30 .3
impairment charge on loans and advances 48 .5 31 .0 -36 .1
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NeT fee aNd CommiSSioN iNCome lower THaN exPeCTed
the net fee and commission income developed disappointingly and remained clearly 
below our expectations at euR 48 .8 million . the considerable decrease was caused by the 
slow securities business and by declining commissions on loans . 

net fee and commission income from the securities business shrunk markedly by 7 .2% 
to euR 13 .0 million . Stock markets fluctuated very widely throughout the entire financial 
year 2016 . therefore, investors acted defensively which was also reflected in declining 
securities turnover which went down from euR 4 .53 billion to euR 4 .28 billion . the 
volume on securities accounts increased by 0 .7% due to the acquisition of a brokerage 
firm in Slovenia . on the whole, we have 250 portfolio accounts with a securities volume 
of around euR 100 million . 

in the area of financing, the challenge was defending our pricing policy . despite our 
hard efforts, the result from loan commissions deteriorated to euR 13 .0 million, which 
is a drop of euR 1 .4 million (-9 .8%) year on year . in contrast, commissions on payment 
transfers remained almost constant . At a profit of euR 19 .4 million after the euR 19 .7 
million in 2015, the key business area of payment transfers is again contributing stably to 
the total earnings . 

foreign exchange commission income continued to flatten as expected . in the preceding 
year, the conversion of chf loans boosted net profit to euR 3 .6 million, while it decreased 
strongly until the close of december 2016 and was only euR 2 .2 million .

diVergeNT deVeloPmeNT of fiNaNCial aSSeTS
net income from financial assets remained more or less at last year’s level at euR -2 .1 
million . the income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss reversed 
into negative territory and was euR -1 .9 million . this development is attributable to the 
improved own credit spreads, which resulted in an increase in expenses on own issues 
that were secured by a fair value option . the income from financial assets available for 
sale improved significantly year on year, but was still slightly negative at euR -0 .4 million . 
income on assets held to maturity was euR 0 .2 million at year-end .

net trading income decreased in the reporting period by 26 .0% to euR 1 .7 million . 
decisive for the decline were the small profits on the foreign exchange business .
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geNeral admiNiSTraTiVe exPeNSeS STaBle
General administrative expenses increased year-on-year by only 1 .2% to euR 106 .4 
million . the increase was only minor due to our strict cost management . A major portion 
of general administrative expenses is attributable to personnel expenses which posted 
only a slight rise at euR 69 .4 million (+0 .9%) . the collective agreements reached to 
increase wages by an average of 1 .2% reflects this development . Generally, we act very 
defensively when filling vacancies . the average headcount increased versus 2015 by only 3 
to 926 employees (fte) . 

other administrative costs amounted to euR 30 .5 million in the reporting period, which 
is 4 .3% higher year on year . the increase results primarily from higher expenses in it and 
facilities management . write-downs decreased by contrast by 8 .3% to euR 6 .5 million . 

Tax BurdeN dePreSSeS oTHer oPeraTiNg iNCome
the item other operating income shows quite impressively the high burden that banks 
must bear . the negative result of the year 2015 deteriorated by a further euR 9 .7 million 
and was euR 15 .4 million as of 31 december 2016 . this decrease was due on the one 
hand, to expenses for the winding up and deposit protection fund amounting to euR 4 .1 
million, with the amount paid into the deposit protection fund being due for only half the 
year, and on the other, due to the one-off payment of euR 7 .8 million for the reformed 
stability tax . we reached the decision not to opt for the payment distributed over four 
financial years . we welcome the long-awaited reform of the banking tax, because this 
supports our international competitiveness . however, the one-off payment was a heavy 
burden for the domestic economy . we hope that in the future we will not be confronted 
again with such an unreasonable charge on banks .

NeT ProfiT
in 2016, BKS Bank earned a consolidated net profit before tax of euR 49 .8 million following euR 60 .7 million in 
the preceding year . After deducting taxes of euR 3 .6 million, the net profit after tax for the Group was euR 46 .2 
million . considering the challenging market environment and the increased tax burden, we view this result as 
quite satisfactory .
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ProPoSal for THe diSTriBuTioN of THe ProfiT
the distributable profit is based on the net profit of the parent company BKS Bank AG . BKS Bank AG earned an 
net profit of euR 29 .4 million from 1 January to 31 december 2016 after euR 25 .7 million in the preceding year . 
Reserves of euR 20 .4 million were set aside from the net profit . taking into account the profit carried forward 
of euR 0 .3 million from the preceding year, BKS Bank AG reports a net profit of euR 9,384,972 .96 . At the 78th 
annual general meeting on 9 may 2017, the proposal was made to pay out a dividend of euR 0 .23 per share, 
which is euR 9,117,108 and to carry the remainder of euR 0 .3 million to the new account . 

PerformaNCe raTioS 
the lower net profit year on year also affects the key performance ratios, of course . Return 
on equity (Roe) before tax decreased from 7 .3% to 5 .5% and return on assets (RoA) 
after tax dropped from 0 .8% to 0 .6% . the cost/income ratio developed contrary to our 
expectations at 56 .2% . Year on year, the cost/income ratio deteriorated by 7 .5%-points 
there were two factors that were responsible for the disappointing rise .
—  lower net interest income and net fee and commission income
—  the one-time payment of euR 7 .8 million on the stability tax . without these special 

effects, the cost/income ratio would be 54 .0% . 

in contrast, the risk/earnings ratio developed excellently . At year-end 2016, it was 20 .1% 
compared to 29 .2% in the preceding year due to the measures we took to improve the 
quality of our credit portfolio . Both the equity ratios and also the leverage ratios improved 
after the successful placement of the capital increase . we provide more details in the 
chapter on consolidated own funds as of page 130 . the lcR ratio reached 155 .6% on 31 
december 2016 and has been far above the level of 100% that must be reached in stages 
by 2018 as applicable since october 2015 . ifRS earnings per shares was euR 1 .26 as at 31 
december 2016 . 

KeY peRfoRmAnce indicAtoRS

in % 2015 2016 ± in %-points

Roe before tax (net profit/loss / Ø equity) 7 .3 5 .5 -1 .8
Roe after tax 6 .5 5 .1 -1 .4
RoA after tax (net profit/loss / Ø equity) 0 .8 0 .6 -0 .2
cost/income ratio (cost/income coefficient) 48 .7 56 .2 7 .5
Risk/earnings ratio (credit risk/net interest income) 29 .2 20 .1 -9 .1
lcR ratio 130 .7 155 .6 24 .9
leverage ratio 7 .7 8 .5 0 .8
common equity tier 1 ratio 11 .8 12 .6 0 .8
own funds ratio 12 .3 13 .5 1 .2
ifRS earning per share in issue in € 1 .50 1 .26 -0 .24
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seGmenT reporTs

The segment corporate and business banking is by far BKS Bank’s most 
successful one. a large share of our net profit is earned in the segment corporate 
and business banking. we have been making steady earnings in the segment 
financial markets despite the volatile market environment. The retail banking 
segment is currently our weak spot. The low level of interest rates is causing 
earnings to shrink. our goal is to return to profitability in this segment as well by 
2020.

CorPoraTe aNd BuSiNeSS CuSTomerS
we served some 18,600 customers in the segment corporate and business banking in 
2016 . this customer segment includes many firms from the industrial sector, commerce 
and trade, as well as from the free professions, farming and forestry and also as 
municipalities and the public sector . 

corporate and business banking has a long tradition at our bank . Already at the time of its 
founding in 1922, the object of our business was primarily supplying banking services to 
business customers . today, this segment is still the most important operational business 
unit . A large share of the loans we grant go to corporate and business customers .

Solid SegmeNT earNiNgS
net interest income developed positively in the reporting year at euR 85 .5 million 
compared to euR 82 .9 million in the preceding year . the good net income interest 
is attributable to two success factors: First, we have managed to keep margins at a 
reasonable level despite historically low interest rates . Second, the higher credit volume 
and our stricter policy on loan terms have had a positive effect on net interest income . 
net fee and commission income by contrast decreased by 6 .4% to euR 26 .8 million . the 
decline is the result of the downtrend in net fee and commission income from foreign 
payment transactions, while the net fee and commission income from business within the 
country rose slightly . our goal is to continuously expand our sales activities in payment 
transfers, which we did very well in 2016 . 

coRpoRAte And BuSineSS BAnKinG

in € m 2015 2016

net interest income 82 .9 85 .5
impairment charge on loans and advances -44 .1 -29 .7
net fee and commission income 28 .6 26 .8
General administrative expenses -43 .2 -45 .9
other operating income net of other operating 
expenses 0 .1 1 .7

Profit/loss for the year before tax 24.3 38.4
Roe before tax 9 .9% 15 .4%
cost/income ratio 38 .7% 40 .2%
Risk/earnings ratio 53 .2% 34 .7%
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credit risk developed highly satisfactorily . the improving economy helped keep us from 
being hit by any major cases of insolvency in 2016 . moreover, the internal measures 
taken to improve the structure of the portfolio are showing results . compared to the 
same period of the preceding year, impairment charges decreased by a pleasing euR 14 .4 
million to euR 29 .7 million . By contrast, general administrative expenses increased year 
on year by 6 .3% to euR 45 .9 million . this increase was due to the costs of it services . 
other operating income was euR 1 .7 million on 31 december 2016 . in total, in the 
financial year 2016 we attained a net profit before tax of euR 38 .4 million, which is a gain 
of euR 14 .1 million . 
 
the excellent development of business is reflected in the improved management 
benchmarks . Return-on-equity based on the net profit and allocated equity euR 249 .6 
million increased from 9 .9% to a noteworthy 15 .4% . the cost/income ratio was 40 .2% as 
of 31 december 2016, which is slightly worse by 1 .5%-points . the excellent risk situation 
boosted the risk/earnings ratio to a gratifying 34 .7%, which is an improvement by 
18 .5%-points . 

robust increase in demand for loans
loans to corporate and business customers were up by 4 .4% to euR 4 .15 billion as of 
31 december 2016 . A share of 75% of all loans granted by BKS Bank Group were for 
corporate and business customers . we are especially pleased about this development, 
because 95 years after the establishment of our bank we are still following the business 
philosophy of our founding fathers — to serve and support the economy . 

the share of leasing receivables increased by euR 4 .8 million to euR 290 .8 million . we 
saw an especially dynamic development in Slovenia in this business area in 2016 . many 
companies use leasing as a useful alternative to loan financing that does not burden 
liquidity and is neutral on the balance sheet . Also in 2017, leasing will continue to be a 
focus in corporate and business banking .

the share of foreign currency loans in corporate lending has always 
been very low at our bank . in the reporting year 2016, the fX ratio flattened further 
and was only 2 .5% on 31 december 2016 . 

we have established a solid reputation in Slovenia as a finance partner for municipalities . 
the volume of loans to local governments rose from euR 43 .1 million to euR 68 .6 million . 
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Primary deposit balances reach all-time high
we are a reliable partner for our corporate and business customers not only in finance 
services, but there is also a growing number of companies that come to us to invest their 
money . the volume of sight and term deposits increased considerably by 25 .3% to euR 
2 .41 billion . this increase was driven by the good liquidity situation of our corporate 
customers . for the first time in the history of the corporate and business segment, we 
have recorded more deposits than in the traditionally much stronger retail segment . 
euR 854 .5 million have been deposited by our Slovene corporate customers . we have 
established a good reputation in Slovenia, during the banking crisis . many corporate 
and business customers rely on the high quality of our advisory services and appreciate 
working with us for our fast and efficient processes . 

Customized solutions for our corporate and business customers
we offer our corporate and business banking customers a broad range of financing 
products . in personal talks, we arrange working funds and project finance, lease and 
export finance, guarantees and loans under subsidized finance schemes for our customers 
that are specifically designed to meet their needs . 

An important area of business is export subsidies . our many years of experience and the 
excellent expert knowledge of our customer relationship managers are highly appreciated 
by our corporate and business customers . we also expanded our customer base in the 
area of finance services for subsidized loan schemes for investments in capital goods . 
in 2016, the volume of new loans increased by euR 45 .6 million . we create economic 
benefits for our corporate and business customers by taking into account the right mix 
of finance, subsidy and security aspects .  we have extensive knowledge of the wide 
range of subsidized loan options available in Austria and in the eu and maintain excellent 
relationships with the competent bodies .
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for several years, we have been employing the concept of sales specialists in areas 
requiring extensive advisory services for export finance, subsidized investment finance, 
payment services and leasing . Apart from providing support to customer relationship 
managers for advisory talks, the sales specialists also investigate the potential for further 
business in the respective areas . the aim is to strengthen our market position in business 
areas with little impact on equity such as payment transfers and the securities business, 
but boost the cross-selling ratio .

in corporate banking we provide support to large corporates with sales revenues of over 
euR 75 million as well as to institutional customers . At year-end 2016, we processed 
a finance volume of euR 509 .0 million of which euR 262 .0 million were extended 
within syndicated loans . the success of this unit is based, among other things, on the 
deployment of sales specialists who work mainly for this business area .  

in 2016, advisory services for company retirement schemes was enlarged in the 
corporates segment with the support of 3 Banken versicherungs-makler Gesellschaft 
m .b .h . A special focus was placed on reinsurance coverage for post-employment benefits 
already committed . this segment expanded strongly in 2016 and accounted for 18% of 
total revenues from the insurance business generated through our bank .

Quality of advisory services confirmed in customer survey
the high quality of our customer advisory services was confirmed in a survey conducted 
in the spring of 2016 . eight out of ten corporate customers stated that they were “very 
satisfied or at least quite satisfied” with BKS Bank in general . in the few years, we have 
successively been increasing the number of corporate customers being served, and also 
in 2016 . in both Slovenia as well as in vienna and Styria, we have succeeded in convincing 
new corporate customers of our range of services and products . we acquired a net 
balance of 550 new corporate customers . we plan to continue our expansionary policy in 
the growth regions and open new locations, above all, branches specialized in corporate 
and business banking .

Payment services gaining significance
the ubiquitous buzzword ‘digitization’ has been a tradition in corporate and business 
banking for a long time . mainly the area of payment services has seen very fast advances 
in innovation in the past years . many of these new services offer clear efficiency benefits . 
with the advance of digitization and its related possibilities, we believe there are great 
opportunities for making payment services even more efficient for our corporate and 
business customers . 
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therefore, we offer our customers an analysis of their specific payment transfers 
and advise them on the new payment methods, modern cash register options, near-
field contactless payment and payment options for online sales . A further area we 
are concentrating on is providing advisory services on the use of QR codes for billing 
purposes . efficiency can be increased significantly by the automated settlement 
of incoming payments . we revised our terms and conditions for foreign payment 
transactions in the past financial year and increased price transparency for our customers 
enormously . 

in the reporting year, we defined the path for the major digitization projects . in this 
context, we want to further the automation of settlement processes and also provide our 
customers with customized online products and services . we are working intensely on 
enlarging our new customer portal BKS Bank online for our corporate customers . the 
issue of security is also of great importance in this context . Both our customers and our 
bank are repeatedly confronted with attempts of fraud and cyberattacks . we informed 
our customers at an event of the entrepreneurial risks and protection methods in 
connection with cyber-attacks . 

outlooK coRpoRAte And BuSineSS BAnKinG
our strength in the corporate and business banking segment is advisory excellence 
with personal services provided by the assigned customer relationship managers . we 
intend to continue this policy in the future as well . Geographically, we believe there is 
a great market potential in vienna and surroundings, and in our foreign markets . we 
will successively proceed with our expansion plans in these regions . our efforts will 
concentrate on acquiring new corporate customers through a moderate expansion of 
our branch network . Apart from this, we have planned a series of strategic measures for 
the year 2017 designed to improve our profitability and productivity in the corporates 
and business banking segment . for example, we plan to focus on promoting the leasing 
business . in 2017, we plan to commence with direct lease sales in the regions . the fast 
and uncomplicated settlement of standardized leasing transactions is a key element of 
our success . to attain our strategic goals, acquire market shares and new customers, we 
will concentrate on the expansion of finance for local governments and also on acquiring 
well-established manufacturing companies as customers this year . in agriculture, we plan 
to expand our sales activities to target farmers and winegrowers . 
And as already mentioned, we will invest substantially in the digitization of our corporate 
customer processes and products . 
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reTail CuSTomerS
in retail banking we provide services to private individuals, members of the healthcare 
professions and private banking customers . in last financial year, we served around 
133,600 customers in this segment .

for banks, the retail customer segment long since stopped being profitable . the 
extremely flat interest rate curve is having a negative impact on margins on deposits . 
for classical commercial banks like BKS Bank, this is an enormous challenge, because the 
commission business is an important source of revenues . profitability is also depressed 
by the costs of the branch network . moreover, the changing behaviour of customers 
is making it necessary to redesign the concept of our branches . the frequency of visits 
to branches is steadily decreasing and many daily banking transactions are being done 
online . this cultural transformation means that the bank has to get closer to customers 
and proactively address their needs to remain successful . 

RetAil BAnKinG SeGment

in € m 2015 2016

net interest income 27 .2 26 .2
impairment charge on loans and advances -2 .1 -1 .3
net fee and commission income 23 .2 21 .7
General administrative expenses -49 .6 -51 .9
other operating income net of other operating expenses -0 .2 1 .9
Profit/loss for the year before tax -1.5 -3.5
Roe before tax -3 .7% -8 .8%
cost/income ratio 98 .7% 104 .4%
Risk/earnings ratio 7 .8% 5 .1%

development of eARninGS unSAtiSfActoRY
considering the adverse factors described above, the result of the segment for the 
financial year 2016 decreased again . even our intensive cross-selling activities failed 
to stop this trend . net profit/loss for the year before taxes was euR -3 .5 million on 31 
december . Year on year, this is a decline by euR 2 .0 million . net interest income dropped 
by 3 .8% to euR 26 .2 million . nonetheless, this is still a stable development considering 
that interest rates levels have been at zero for years now . net fee commission income 
was disappointing . net fee and commission income decreased by 6 .8% to euR 21 .7 
million after euR 23 .2 million in the preceding year . this decline was due to the sluggish 
securities business and also to the low level of earnings on foreign exchange transactions . 
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the expenses attributable to this segment of  
euR 51 .9 million increased versus 2015 by 4 .6% .  
other operating income improved to euR 1 .9 million thanks to 
lower provisions requirements .

the key management benchmarks show the negative development 
of the retail business . the cost/income ratio deteriorated to 
104 .4%, which is 5 .7%-points higher versus 2015 . 

Return on equity dropped from -3 .7% to -8 .8% due to the 
development of earnings . however, remarkable among the 
indicators is the good risk/earnings ratio with an excellent 5 .1% . 
the risk situation in the retail business is still very relaxed on 
account of the rigorous lending policy pursued . 

Slight increase in private loans
the credit business developed positively in the course of 2016 . demand for loans for 
residential housing and real estate as well as for consumer spending rose year on year 
by 3 .7% to euR 1 .18 billion . At the start of 2016, we created a new product for senior 
citizens, the ‘BKS Silberkredit’, as this customer group has had only limited access to the 
credit market up to now . in just the first year, we granted a loan volume of euR 4 .8 million . 
the ‘BKS Silberkredit’ is the successful enlargement of our range of sustainable finance 
products . Since 2015, we have also been offering our Slovenian customers a ‘Green 
loan’ oriented on climate protection . this loan for financing energy-saving construction 
measures or for renovation work is very popular . Year on year, the credit volume increased 
threefold from euR 1 .5 million to euR 4 .7 million . 

the risk situation in private lending continues to be relaxed . charges for losses on loans 
and advances decreased markedly by 36 .7% to a gratifying euR 1 .3 million .  
the reduction in the volume of chf foreign currency loans progressed briskly also in 
2016 . the volume of loans in chf dropped by euR 30 .6 million to euR 136 .6 million . the 
fX ratio as of 31 december 2016 was 12 .4% versus 16 .2% in 2015 . As already mentioned, 
we do not understand why our customers are so hesitant about converting these loans 
into euro loans . in any case, we will continue to provide our customers with extensive 
information on the risks of loans in foreign currencies . 
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Solid level of savings deposits
in the retail business we are currently struggling with profitability, but it is nonetheless 
an indispensable business area for us . A large part of our savings deposits — namely a 
substantial share of 87% — comes from our loyal savings accounts customers . in the 
reporting year, outflows from savings deposits were 5 .8%, but the level of euR 1 .33 billion 
is still very good . we recorded a gain of 10 .9% in term and sight deposits which stood at 
euR 0 .9 billion at year-end 2016 .

High quality of advisory services confirmed by customer surveys and testing
in the spring of 2016, we conducted a survey of customer satisfaction in the retail 
segment . Almost 9 out of 10 retail customers are very satisfied or at least quite satisfied 
with BKS Bank . customers rated the high quality of our advisory services and the well-
written information in the right quantities as very good, assigning grades from 8 to 10 . 
the recommendation rate was excellent at 48% . According to this reading, every other 
customers would recommend BKS Bank to friends and acquaintances . Apart from this, we 
were also awarded the ‘fmvÖ Recommender Award’ for “excellent customer orientation” 
in the category “regional banks” in may 2016 . we also have two achievements to report 
for 2016:  We were named winner in two studies conducted by Gesellschaft für 
verbraucherstudien (ÖGvS), namely the study “Beratung bei immobilien-finanzierungen 
2016” (advisory services for real estate finance) and the study “Anlageberatung” 
(investment advisory services) . 

Higher number of customers
the excellent satisfaction ratings are supportive for attaining our strategic goals, acquiring 
market shares and increasing the number of customers . in the reporting year, we acquired 
some 1,400 new retail customers . A steady increase in the number of new customers was 
seen, above all, in our growth regions of vienna and Slovenia . on the carinthian market, 
however, we experienced a slight decrease due mainly to the demographic developments . 
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wider range of digital offers
Since 2016, the new customer portal, BKS Bank online, has been in operation in all our 
markets . Since we completed the migration of current online banking users to the new 
system, we have acquired 4,500 new users, a gain of 13% . the electronic mailbox 
integrated into the customer portal is especially popular among customers .  
the secure communications channel between customers and account managers has been 
well-received and also the electronic sending of account statements and securities 
documents highly popular . 

Also available on the customer portal from April 2016 is our new investment module . our 
customers can use it to conveniently place buy and sell orders at any time or to obtain 
an overview of their portfolio account . Apart from a clear display of all transactions, 
it also offers a graphical visualization of the composition of the portfolio and detailed 
information on each security . 

in the year 2016, we were very satisfied with the development of the BKS app, which 
has been on the market since 2013 . in 2016, we recorded an increase in users of 29 .1% . 
more than 20,000 BKS Bank customers already use the BKS app for payment services and 
information . we are also very pleased that the app’s ratings on the diverse app stores are 
all positive .

Cashless payments on the rise 
the maestro card — also known as the bank card — is by far the most frequently-used 
means of payment second only to cash . in this context, it is clear that the trend is moving 
towards cashless payment transactions . while on average every bank card is used for 
1 .5 withdrawals from Atms per month, the figure for payments at shops using the bank 
card is 5 times per month . the nfc function is also a success story . more than 20% of 
all transactions are done efficiently and securely using the nfc functionality . Before this 
backdrop, the emotional debates about the introduction of fees on withdrawals from cash 
dispensers seems even more pointless . 

the credit card business also developed very gratifyingly in the past financial year . Both 
the number of cardholders and also sales using credit cards increased . the advance of 
digitization is quite apparent here . of the transactions executed with the BKS mastercard 
more than 56% were used for online purchases .
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Volatile stock market year depressed investor sentiment
2016 was not the best year for stock markets . the widely fluctuating stock markets in 
the first quarter that came with dropping prices put a damper on investor sentiment 
and lasted throughout the year 2016 . political events like the Brexit vote and the 
uS presidential elections reinforced the cautiousness of customers regarding new 
investments on the stock market . Bonds continued to lose their appeal in the course of 
the year due to the low level of interest rates which in some cases were even negative . 
Despite these events, there was some good news from the securities business:  
 

in private banking, we saw an increase in the volume of assets under management by 
euR 171 million to euR 844 million . we also acquired new private banking customers, 
with a year-on-year increase of 541 to around 1,900 . these very pleasing developments 
prove that we are on the right path with our professional and customer-oriented support 
combined with exclusive, made-to-measure services . 

our ‘brokerage’ services, which celebrated its fourth anniversary in december 2016, 
also did very well in the reporting year . our brokerage customers benefit, on the one 
hand, from the analysis and optimization of their securities portfolios, and on the other, 
from the extensive support provided by our customer relationship managers who are 
specialized in investing in individual stocks . the volume of assets under management in 
brokerage widened by 13% . 

the volume of sustainably-invested customer assets also increased . At year-end 2016, 
358 customers entrusted us with a volume of euR 18 .6 million in our asset management 
‘Avm nachhaltig’1), which won the Austrian award for sustainable financial products 
(Österreichische umweltzeichen für nachhaltige finanzprodukte2) . the international trend 
towards greater demand in the area of sustainable investments is also present in our bank: 
Avm nachhaltig has meanwhile become the fastest-growing product of all of our asset 
management products .

1)  this is a marketing publication . the information contained in this report is non-binding and does not replace in any way 
advisory services for the purchase or sale of securities . it is neither an offer or a solicitation to buy or sell the investments 
mentioned, and neither does it constitute a recommendation to buy or sell .

2)  the ministry of Agriculture, forestry, environment and water management awarded the Austrian environmental label 
“Avm nachhaltig”, because ecological and social criteria are considered when selecting investment funds in addition to the 
economic aspects . this environmental label guarantees that the criteria and their implementation are suitable for selecting 
the relevant investment funds . this has been audited by an independent body . the Austrian environmental label received 
does not permit any conclusions to be drawn regarding the future developments in the value of the investment .



–127–

GrO U P Ma n a GEME nT rE P OrT

insurance business developed as expected
in the reporting year, we reorganized our insurance business . our long-standing partner, 
Generali versicherung AG, took over the commitments from the insurance policies of 
drei-Banken versicherungs-Aktiengesellschaft as of the beginning of the year . Since 
then, Generali AG has been handling the insurance business sent by BKS Bank . in this 
context, we concentrate mainly on the brokerage of endowment insurance policies with 
ongoing premium payments, and on risk and accident insurance . in 2016, we closed a 
total of 4,534 new policies, of which 3,272 were risk and accident insurance, and 1,262 
were endowment insurance policies . the insurance business in Slovenia also developed 
positively . we act only as brokers for insurance products on the Slovene market as well . 

insurance products are very complex due to the many different features they may have . 
therefore, customers are very appreciative of the professional advice they receive from 
us . in this respect, they rely not only on the competence of the insurance companies, but 
also place this trust in the bank . to further improve the advisory quality for insurance 
and retirement products, we have been relying on a concept of sales specialists for years . 
the customer relationship managers are supported by our in-house insurance specialists 
during the advisory sessions with customers . in 2016, we took part in 350 advisory talks 
and contributed our profound insurance business know-how .

outlooK foR the RetAil SeGment
we aim to earn profits in the retail segment again by 2020 . our strategic agenda includes 
measures to increase profitability while at the same time lowering costs . our goal is to 
achieve growth and profits through a combination of outstanding advisory competence 
and attractive products and smart technology solutions . moreover, the processes in retail 
banking will be simplified and streamlined further . in this context, we will also increasingly 
exploit the benefits from the advance of digitization . 

we have already launched three new products to implement our digitization strategy for 
the retail banking segment . Simpler, faster and always secure — these are the features that 
characterize our plans in this area . the initiatives we are working on range from offering 
the option of opening accounts online to granting consumer loans . furthermore, we are 
also working on refining our array of products . with the “BKS Komplett — alles aus einer 
hand” product, we will launch an innovative new product in just a few weeks that targets 
new customers . we also plan to continue the sales specialist concept in 2017 . in this area, 
the focus is on reinforcing cross-selling and up-selling . 
And finally, we also hope that the ecB will start shifting its bias away from expansive 
monetary policy in the coming years . 
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fiNaNCial marKeTS
Apart from income earned on the management of the term structures, the main pillars 
of the financial markets segment are returns on securities in the own portfolio and the 
contributions of entities consolidated by the equity method . proprietary trading is not at 
the focus of our business activities . 

the extremely flat interest rate curve is a severe barrier to the possibility of earning 
returns on the process of maturity transformation . the renewed interest rate cut by the 
european central Bank in march 2016 made proactively managing interest rate structures 
much harder in the past financial year . Additionally, the low interest rates are depressing 
the earnings potential on interbank transactions . 

mixed reSulT for SegmeNT
considering the factors mentioned above, the returns on maturity transformation 
decreased significantly in 2016 . the net income from maturity transformation decreased 
by euR 4 .6 million or 15 .8% . this includes the results from interbank transactions, 
own securities transactions, derivatives in the banking book and the netting of internal 
reference interest rate . All investments and divestments were examined for the risk/
earnings ratios and the expected market scenarios . the low level of returns on maturity 
transformation had a direct effect on net interest income . net interest income declined 
by euR 14 .7 million to euR 40 .3 million, which is a minus of 26 .7% and was influenced 
mainly by the decreasing net profit on equity consolidation . in the preceding year, the 
profit of the Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft was better than average due 
to the special effect of the sale of the securities portfolio . the profit as of 31 december 
2016 was again in line with the normal course of business similar to that of previous years . 
therefore, the decline did not come as a surprise for us . As of 31 december 2016, the 
result of equity consolidation was euR 33 .7 million or a drop by 21 .6% .  
 

finAnciAl mARKetS

in € million 2015 2016

net interest income 55 .0 40 .3
— of which, from entities consolidated by the equity 
method 43 .0 33 .7
impairment charge on loans and advances -2 .3 0 .04
net fee and commission income 0 .2 0 .2
net trading income 2 .3 1 .7
General administrative expenses -7 .4 -6 .4
other operating income net of other operating ex-
penses -0 .1 -0 .06
profit/loss from financial assets -1 .7 -2 .1
Profit/loss for the year before tax 46.0 33.7
Roe before tax 8 .6% 5 .5%
cost/income ratio 12 .8% 15 .2%
Risk/earnings ratio 4 .3% -
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the past financial year 2016 developed very well with respect to interbank transactions . 
our banking partners all have first-class ratings of AA to A3 . in the reporting year, there 
was no need to recognize impairments on receivables from credit institutions, just as in 
the previous years . in the financial year 2016 as well, we used the option of procuring 
liquidity in an amount of euR 300 million through the long-standing oenB/eScB tender . 

the general administrative expenses decreased year on year and stood at a very 
satisfactory euR 6 .4 million, which is a decline by 13 .2% . this decline was made possible 
by the strict cost discipline exercised . net income from financial assets remained around 
the same level as in the preceding year at euR -2 .1 million; a detailed comment is given in 
this report on page 112 . 

the cost/income ratio increased slightly by 2 .4% to 15 .2% . Return on equity based on the 
segment result was down by 3 .1%-points to 5 .5% as at 31 december 2016 .

long-term refinancing funds were raised through the issuance of own bonds issued in 
seven tranches . As a reliable issuers of securities, we successfully floated four tranches in 
the form of private placements in the reporting year, of which three were covered debt 
securities with a mortgage-backed cover pool . 

ouTlooK for THe fiNaNCial marKeTS SegmeNT
in 2017, we also hope to act as a solid and reliable issuer of securities and plan to float own issues in the current 
year as well . the goal is to offer our customers a good investment option and it is also a means of meeting the 
net stable funding ratio (nSfR) permanently . our investment activities in 2017 will continue to be guided by 
the avoidance of market risks . we will stand by our conservative investment strategy and invest mainly in high 
quality liquid assets . we will, of course, also continue our collaboration with our strategic partners, oberbank AG 
and Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft, to strengthen our joint capacities .

BKS BAnK deBt SecuRitieS fRom 2016
iSin designation nominal amount 

in €

At0000A1JGA6 1 .73% covered BKS Bank Bond 2016-2031/1/pp 10,000,000
At0000A1lfc0 1 .05% covered BKS Bank bond 2016-2026/2/pp 10,000,000
At0000A1mBZ8 1 .25% covered BKS Bank bond 2016-2032/3/pp 10,000,000
At0000A1pJ71 1% BKS Bank bond 2016-2023/4/pp 5,000,000
At0000A1htB1 BKS Bank step-up bond 2016-2025/1 6,600,000
At0000A1l6K6 2 .75% BKS Bank subordinated bond 2016-2024/2 13,027,000
At0000A1pcp0 1% BKS Bank bond 2016-2024/3 3,144,000
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ConsoliDaTeD 
oWn funDs

BKS Bank calculates the own funds ratio and assessment basis according to 
the provisions of the Capital requirements regulation (Crr) and the Capital 
requirements directive (Crd). we compute the capital requirements for credit 
risk based on the standardized approach. 

The CRR defines three categories of own funds: Common Equity Tier 1 capital, Art. 26 
cRR; Additional tier 1 capital, Art . 51 cRR; and tier 2 capital, Art . 62 cRR . the following 
minimum requirements must be met for each of the capital components including a 
capital buffer as a percentage of the risk-weighted assets .
— 5 .125% common equity tier 1 capital 
— 6 .625% Additional tier 1 capital (cet1 + Additional tier 1 capital)
— 8 .625% total capital (tier 1 capital + tier 2 capital)

in addition to the minimum requirements for own funds, a capital buffer must be created 
as a reserve for times of crisis . the combined buffer requirements include different 
buffers that must be created exclusively from common equity tier 1 capital . Among 
other things, a capital conservation buffer must be created in the period from 2016 
to 2019, starting at 0 .625% up to a level of 2 .5% of the risk-weighted assets . Another 
requirement of relevance under certain circumstances for the banking industry concerns 
the anti-cyclical buffer pursuant to § 23a Banking Act of a maximum of 2 .5% of the risk-
weighted assets . this buffer is defined by the fmA in steps depending on the economic 
situation when lending is excessive .

exCelleNT leVerage raTio
in order to avoid excessive levels on bank balance sheets with a heavy bias on debt at low 
levels of equity at the same time, the supervisory authorities have taken a closer look at 
the leverage ratio . the leverage ratio is the ratio of common equity tier 1 capital to the 
unweighted exposure of BKS Bank including off-balance sheet risk positions . At a leverage 
ratio of 8 .5%, our bank reported excellent readings at the end of 2016 as well as during the 
year . we were thus far above the regulatory minimum ratio of 3% and the internal target 
of >5%. 

leveRAGe RAtio of the BKS BAnK GRoup 
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BKS BANK GROUP OF CREDIT INSTITUTIONS: OWN FUNDS PURSUANT 
to cRR
in € million  31/12/2015 31/12/2016

Share capital 71 .0 77 .8
Reserves net of intangible assets 748 .0 831 .4
deductions -243 .4 -283 .3
common equity tier 1 capital (cet 1)1) 575 .6 625 .9
common equity tier 1 ratio 11 .8% 12 .6%

hybrid capital 28 .0 24 .0
At1 note 23 .4 23 .4
deductions -51 .4 -47 .4
Additional tier 1 capital - -
tier 1 capital (cet1 + At1) 575 .6 625 .9
tier 1 ratio (incl . Additional tier 1 capital) 11 .8% 12 .6%

tier 2 capital items and instruments 114 .7 120 .6
deductions -90 .4 -76 .5
tier 2 capital 24 .3 44 .1
total own funds 599 .9 670 .0
own funds ratio 12 .3% 13 .5%

Assessment base 4,883 .4 4,974 .1
Surplus own funds 209 .2 241 .0
1) Includes profit for the year 2016. Formal adoption is still outstanding.

Solid CaPiTal BaSe due To CaPiTal iNCreaSe
In the past financial year, we successfully completed a capital increase at a ratio of 10:1. 
in total, BKS Bank AG issued 3,603,600 new ordinary shares at an issue price of euR 15 .9 
per new share . this yielded proceeds of euR 57 .3 million . the common equity tier 1 
capital, which is important for the banking tax, increased quite satisfactorily by euR 50 .3 
million or 8 .7% to euR 625 .9 million . the common equity tier 1 capital ratio improved 
by 80 basis points to 12 .6% following 11 .8% in 2015 . taking the tier 2 capital of euR 44 .1 
million into account, our bank’s own funds amounted to euR 670 .0 million at year-end 
2016 . the capital adequacy ratio also rose and was 13 .5% on 31 december 2016 .  
the own funds surplus was euR 241 .0 million . 



–132–

Gro u p  ManaGeMent report

risK reporT

our business policy motto is to secure autonomy and independence by increasing 
profits within the scope of a sustainable growth strategy . A key element of our business 
is to specifically assume risk based on the premise of recognizing all relevant risks early 
that may result from the banking business and banking operations, and to actively 
manage and mitigate risk through effective risk management . All individual risks must 
be permanently and fully identified . the capital available is used as efficiently as possible 
taking into account the medium to long-term strategic goals with the risk/profit ratio 
being constantly optimized .  As a general principle of our risk strategy, we only assume 
such risks that we can bear on our own strength in order to avoid risking the autonomy 
and independence of the bank .  the risk strategy of BKS Bank is updated every year and 
discussed and accorded with the Supervisory Board . 

BKS Bank made every effort to proactively meet the new risk management requirements . 
the focus was on the 
— data transmission and calibration for risk reporting,
—  implementation of the draft guidelines of the european central Bank  

“Guidance to banks on non-performing loans”
—   Amendments derived from the international financial Reporting Standards, especially 

from ifRS 9, 
—  Supervisory Review and evaluation process (SRep)
— Review of cRR/cRd iv, referred to as Basel 3 .5

The CRR review package discusses the following issues for further development:
—  introduction of a binding leverage ratio of 3% and a binding  

nSfR ratio
—  change to the risk weighting for Sme exposures that exceed euR 1 .5 million
—  Adoption of the new Basel Standards on market Risk and large loans  

with a new definition of “eligible capital”
—  further development of BRRd by introducing new management ratios in the form of 

tlAc and mRel as well as new asset classes for bail-in-eligible banking bonds
—  Adjustment to the proportionality principle for smaller banks
— five-year phasing-in period for impairment charges pursuant to ifRS 9

BKS Bank has prepared for the amended supervisory review and evaluation process 
(SRep) with a separate project . the project was designed based on the directive of the 
european Banking Authority eBA/Gl/2014/13 .  
the SRep questionnaire was sent to the supervisory authority in may 2016 .

Apart from an analyses of the business model, the internal governance and the internal 
control system in place throughout the Group (icS), SRep has a strong focus on the 
internal capital Adequacy Assessment process (icAAp) and the internal liquidity 
Adequacy Assessment process (ilAAp) . 
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in accordance with the provisions of § 39a Banking Act, banks must have effective plans 
and processes to determine the amount, the composition and distribution of the capital 
used for the quantitative and qualitative hedging of all risks arising from the banking 
business and banking operations . Based on these factors, banks must maintain capital in 
the required volume . these processes are summarized by icAAp and presented by BKS 
Bank under the risk-bearing capacity calculation . 

ilAAp is the process that must be established by BKS Bank pursuant to § 39 para . 3 
Banking Act (BwG) for the purpose of identifying, measuring, managing and monitoring 
liquidity . it comprises a description of the systems and methods to be used to measure 
and manage liquidity and finance risks . BKS Bank measures and monitors compliance 
with its liquidity goals by producing timely and extensive risk reports . the quantitative 
information in the reports pursuant to ifRS 7 .31 to 7 .42 is based on the internal reporting 
for overall bank risk management .

Business model 
analysis

Internal  
governance and 

Group-wide 
internal  

control system

Capital risks and  
capital adequacy  

 

liquidity and  
refinancing 

risks

oveRview of the SRep fRAmewoRK

cAteGoRiZAtion of cRedit inStitutionS

monitoRinG of KeY indicAtoRS

SREP overall assessment

Regulatory measures

“Early intervention measures“

Source: EBA/GL/2014/13
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BKS Bank must prepare a resolution plan for the Group pursuant to § 15 Austrian Bank 
Recovery and Resolution Act (BaSAG, Bundesgesetz zur Sanierung und Abwicklung 
von Banken) that must be updated annually . this plan must ensure that BKS Bank will 
be able to master a crisis on its own strength and also serves as a measure for crisis 
avoidance by measuring and monitoring early warning signals, which should in turn trigger 
countermeasures . our early warning indicators comprise ratios on capital adequacy, 
the liquidity situation, profitability and the quality of assets . these are monitored in a 
so-called BaSAG dashboard and are reported regularly to the Supervisory Board . the 
resolution plan and advance management measures are an integral part of BKS Bank’s risk 
organisation . 

 

STruCTure aNd orgaNiSaTioN of riSK maNagemeNT
the risk strategy of BKS Bank is characterized by a conservative handling of the risks 
involved in the banking business and in banking operations . A comprehensive system of 
risk principles, risk measurement and monitoring procedures as well as an appropriate 
organizational structure is in place for risk monitoring and management . our principles 
include the constant review of the appropriateness and reliability of the monitoring 
procedures in order to be able to adjust these if necessary to changing market conditions . 

A member of the management Board independent of the market has the central 
responsibility for risk management . the risk strategy is revised within the scope of 
the annual budgeting and planning process, approved by the management Board and 
discussed and evaluated by the members of the Risk and credit committee of the 
Supervisory Board . Special attention is paid to the issue of risk concentration . the 
management Board decides on the risk management principles, the limits for all relevant 
risks, and the procedures for monitoring and managing risks . 

in accordance with § 39 para . 5 Banking Act, risk controlling is a central unit independent 
of operations at BKS Bank that is responsible for identifying and measuring risks . this unit 
reports regularly to the management Board and to the operational units responsible for 
risk, and evaluates the current risk situation taking into account the corresponding risk 
limits and risk-bearing capacity . As an independent unit, it measures if the risks remain 
within the limits defined by the management Board . 

All of the information is sent to the Supervisory Board, the Risk and credit committee 
as well as the Audit committee so as to enable them to carry out their oversight 
responsibility . once a year, a representative of this unit reports to the Risk and 
credit committee of the Supervisory Board on the types of risk and on the risk 
situation . Additionally, the risk controlling unit is responsible for the development and 
implementation of the risk measurement methods, for the ongoing development and 
improvement of the management instruments as well as for the further development and 
maintenance of the risk strategy and other rules and regulations . 
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the oRGAniZAtionAl foundAtionS of RiSK mAnAGement
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At the annual review of the risk strategy, BKS Bank takes an inventory of all risks . the 
identification of risks and the assessment of their threat is based on a risk analysis by 
the risk controlling unit in the form of a risk matrix created by the icAAp committee . 
All of the findings from the risk identification process and assessment of the risk threat 
are taken into consideration in the annual definition of the risk strategy . the limits and 
targets defined in the risk strategy are adapted once a year commensurate with the risk 
assessment and business strategy or, if necessary, amended .



–136–

dieter Kraßnitzer
Member of the Management Board

Quality Creates
Security

–136–



–137–

Quality Creates
Security



–138–

Gro u p  ManaGeMent report

As an independent internal unit, the internal audit department of BKS Bank reviews all 
operating and business procedures, the appropriateness and efficacy of the measures 
taken by the risk management and risk controlling as well as of the internal control 
systems .

A number of bodies have been established for the management of the overall banking 
risks . the broad knowledge the individual members of the bodies contribute to the 
management process guarantees a comprehensive treatment of each risk type .

iCaaP Committee
the icAAp committee meets four times a year and discusses the risk-bearing capacity by 
analysing the economic capital requirement and the assets available to cover risks . the 
committee is made up of the entire management Board, the head of controlling and 
Accounting as well as the head of Risk controlling Group . 

the following topics were dealt with in detail and, if necessary, the relevant measures 
were taken:
—  discussion of the allocation of the risk cover amount and definition of the limits in line 

with the risk strategy
— current risk situation and, if applicable, any measures required
— degree of utilization of the overall bank limit and of the limits for individual risks
— monitoring of the leverage ratio
— monitoring of the indicators of the BaSAG dashboard

The asset/liability management Committee
the Asset/liability management committee meets once a month; its tasks are to analyze 
and manage the structure of the balance sheet with respect to interest rate risk in the 
banking book, market risk and liquidity risk, and, in this context, also the important tasks 
of funding planning, funds transfer pricing and the management of concentration risks .

the members of the Asset/liability management committee include the entire 
management Board, the head of the proprietary trading and international operations, 
the head of the trading Group, the head of controlling and Accounting, the head of the 
Risk controlling Group and an expert from securities operations .
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The operational risk Committee
the operational Risk committee also meets four times a year . the operation Risk 
Committee does the following:
—  monitors the development of risk and analyzes historic data of past damage incidents 
—  Supports the Rtus (Risk-taking-units) and the management with the active 

management of operational risk
— tracks the measures taken by the Rtus
— works on the further development of the operational risk management system

the core team of this committee is made up of the management Board member 
responsible for risk, the head of the internal Audit department, the head of controlling 
and Accounting and a staff member from the Risk controlling Group .

Credit risk jour fix meetings
credit risk is by far the most important risk category as defined in the risk strategy . 
therefore, effective credit risk management is a condition for our bank to lastingly achieve 
success and must ensure the precise identification the risks, optimization of the bank’s 
risk and earnings profile, and guarantee consistency with BKS Bank’s risk-bearing capacity . 

the main topics of discussion at the weekly jour fixe meetings on credit risk are issues 
relating to daily operations in connection with loan approvals and prolongations as well as 
other current topics relating to the corporate and business banking and to retail banking . 
the weekly jour fixe meetings are attended by at least one management Board member 
responsible for front office operations, the management Board member responsible 
for risk, the head of Risk Analysis and the head of credit Risk management . if needed, 
additional staff members are invited .

Apart from the weekly meetings, an extended credit Risk committee meet on a 
quarterly basis . this committee manages credit risk at the portfolio level, engages in the 
continuous further development of the credit risk management process, and facilitates 
the swift deployment of steering instruments . the involvement of the responsible 
decision-makers from various organizational units is important for effective credit 
risk management apart from a holistic view of credit risk . the key tasks of the regular 
meetings of the extended credit Risk committee include
— discussing the credit risk strategy
— Assessing the credit risk situation
— managing the credit portfolio at the Group level
— managing the sub-portfolios
— discussion of measures to improve the risk position
— deciding measures for compliance with credit risk limits and their management
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usually, the entire management Board takes part in the extended jour fixe meetings, the 
head of credit management, the head of the domestic Risk Analysis, the head of the 
international Risk Analysis, the head of Risk management, the head of monitoring and 
Services, the head of the controlling and Accounting department and the head of the 
Risk controlling Group . Senior staff from front office units are invited if necessary .

maNagemeNT of oVerall BaNK riSK
An analysis of the risk-bearing capacity based on the internal capital adequacy assessment 
process (icAAp) is an essential component of the overall bank risk management at BKS 
Bank . An assessment of the appropriateness of the internal capital adequacy is done 
quarterly based on the risks identified by the internal models . the aim is to ensure that 
BKS Bank always has sufficient assets to cover its risks and is able to absorb the risks taken 
also in the case of unexpected events . All identified and quantified unexpected risks are 
aggregated to an overall bank risk . 

the overall bank risk is the equivalent of our economic capital requirement, which is the 
minimum amount of capital needed to cover unexpected losses . the ‘foreseeable costs’ 
arising from credit and liquidity risk are accounted for in the prices charged to customers 
as risk premiums (standard risk costs, liquidity premiums) . the aggregated total loss 
potential is compared with the assets available to cover such potential loss to ascertain 
whether the bank is in a position to bear unexpected losses without experiencing any 
severe negative effects on its business activities . 

the individual positions of the risk cover assets are ranked according to their realization 
capacity, taking into account above all, their liquidation capacity and publicity effects . 
the capital adequacy goal of a going concern balances the risk potential, risk-bearing 
capacity and the limits derived therefrom in such a way so as to ensure that the bank is in 
a position to withstand an adverse event and continue orderly business operations . 
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RiSK-BeARinG cApAcitY BY liQuidAtion AppRoAch

  Risk cover assets   economic capital requirement  Buffer         

1,000

31/12/2016
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470.8

521.5

992.3

31/12/2015

Buffer

405.1

519.1

924.2

the capital adequacy goal in the liquidation approach reflects the regulatory perspective 
and serves to protect creditors . the methods to measure and analyze material risks are 
continuously being developed and refined . 

Based on the liquidation approach, the economic capital requirement was determined 
at euR 521 .5 million, as at 31 december 2016 compared with euR 519 .1 million in 
the preceding year . the corresponding cover assets were euR 992 .3 million compared 
with euR 924 .2 million at year-end 2015 . the increase in the risk cover assets as of 31 
december 2016 was attributable mainly to the capital increase of the past financial year 
and the solid net profit for the year . 

BReAKdown of oveRAll BAnK RiSK BY cAteGoRY (liQuidAtion AppRoAch)

in % 2015 2016

1 credit risk 76 .1 76 .8
2 market and interest rate risk 10 .3 10 .3
3 operational risk 5 .0 5 .0
4 liquidity risk 1 .9 1 .5
5  macroeconomic risk 5 .2 4 .9
6) other risks 1 .5 1 .5
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unexpected losses in the liquidation approach are calculated for a period of observation 
of one year with a confidence level of 99 .9% at BKS Bank . As in the preceding year, the 
economic capital requirement for credit risk was the largest risk capital requirement 
within group of credit institutions . credit risks account for about 76 .8% of the total loss 
potential (2015: 76.1%). Market and interest rate risk account for a share of 10.3% (2015: 
10 .3%) .

STreSS TeSTS iN oVerall BaNK riSK maNagemeNT
we conduct stress tests to evaluate the risk-bearing capacity of the group of credit 
institutions in the event of potential adverse events . the results are analyzed to determine 
the quantitative impact on our risk-bearing capacity . Stress tests provide supplementary 
information to the value-at-risk analysis and reveal additional loss potentials . the results 
of the various scenarios are reported to the management Board and the risk management 
units on a quarterly basis .

our stress tests used scenarios to capture adverse changes in the macroeconomic 
environment . in 2016, our risk-bearing capacity was adequate in all scenarios and at 
all points in time in the analysis . in addition, we conducted an inverse stress test to 
specifically analyze the bank’s risk-sensitive areas . the results of this stress test provide 
the management with important information on the maximum losses the bank can bear . 
this test stresses the risk-sensitive areas until all the assets available as risk cover are 
exhausted . 

Apart from the overall bank risk stress test within the icAAp process, further specific test 
are conducted
— in the reorganization plan
— in liquidity management
— in interest rate risk management 
—  in the management of fX-induced credit risks and repayment vehicle risks .

CrediT riSK
we define credit risk as the risk of a partial or complete default on contractually-agreed 
repayments on loans . this risk may be grounded in a counterparty’s creditworthiness or 
indirectly in the country risk of a counterparty’s domicile . credit risk is by far BKS Bank’s 
most important risk category . the monitoring and analysis is done at the product and 
individual customer level, at the level of groups of related customers and on a portfolio 
basis . 
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managing credit risk
the management of credit risk is based on the principle of granting loans only on a know-
your-customer basis . thus, loans are granted only after a thorough check of the person 
and creditworthiness and — if relevant — in compliance with the dual control principle 
(front office and back office) . collateral requirements are derived from the rating class 
and the product . the valuations at fair value of the collateral are oriented on the average 
liquidation proceeds obtained in the past . lending in markets outside of Austria is 
governed by special guidelines that are specific to the features of the country concerned, 
in particular, the economic environment and the higher realization risk of the collateral . 

cRedit RiSK mAnAGement

1) Credit Risk Management
2) BKS Service GmbH 
3) Controlling and Accounting/Risk Controlling 
4) Office of the Management Board

Risk
Management

ZKM1)

Risk 
Control

ZCr/rC3)

Back Office  
Loan Process

ZKM1)

BSG2)

Counterparty default risk and Concentration risk

Risk 
Management

ZVB4)

Risk 
Control

ZCr/rC3)

Equity Investment risk

Credit Risk

the credit management department is responsible for risk analysis and risk management 
for individual customers . independent risk control at the portfolio level is done by the 
controlling and Accounting, Risk controlling Group . the main goals when assuming new 
risk positions concern the rating structure, which means that new business is acquired 
only up to rating class 3a or better and when the collateral provided is commensurate 
with the debtor’s credit standing

cRedit RiSK puRS . to icAAp

in € m 
Risk position at  

31/12/2015 
Risk position at 

31/12/2016 

Receivables from customers  5,711  5,913 
contingent liabilities1)  212  236 
Receivables from banks  389  263 
Securities and funds  772  815 
equity investments  495  529 
Credit risk  7,579  7,756 
1 promised credit lines based on internally calculated withdrawal patterns
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pursuant to ifRS 7 .31 to 7 .42, receivables according to ifRS are reconciled with the credit 
risk positions pursuant to the internal risk management rules as follows:

ReconciliAtion of ifRS poSitionS to inteRnAl cRedit RiSK poSitionS

in € m
Receivables as at 

31/12/2015 

Receivables 
as at 

31/12/2016

consolidated receivables from customers purs . to note 13 5,114 5,330
+loans measured at fair value purs . to note 16 74 53
+ contingent liabilities purs . to note 43 387 391
+ corporate bonds 94 84
+  value of risk position from derivative contracts with customers/other (adjustments) 42 55
receivables from customers according to internal risk management 5,711 5,913
other exposures purs . to note 43 1,058 1,244
Contingent liabilities based on internally calculated withdrawal patterns 212 236
Receivables from other banks purs . to note 12 364 242
+ exposure of risk position from derivative contracts entered into with other banks 25 21
receivables from other banks according to internal risk management 389 263
held-to-maturity financial assets purs . to note 18 725 748
+  Bonds and other fixed-interest securities measured to fair value purs. to note 16 41 23
+  Bonds and other and fixed-interest securities classified as available for sale purs. to 

note 17 67 83
+ Shares and other non-interest bearing securities purs . to note 17 43 48
— corporate bonds, other (included in receivables from customers) -104 -87
Securities and funds according to internal risk management figures 772 815
other equity investments purs . to note 17 56 58
+ investments in entities accounted for by the equity method purs . to note 19 439 471
investments purs. to iCaaP 495 529
Credit risk purs. to iCaaP 7,579 7,756
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Credit ratings in credit risk
A major pillar of the risk assessment process is our comprehensive rating system that 
serves as the basis for decision-making processes and for risk management within the 
BKS Bank Group . in total, twelve different rating procedures are used . the bank’s internal 
rating models are subject to annual quantitative and qualitative validation reviews in 
which each rating model is assessed to check whether it accurately identifies  
the risks measured .

RAtinG clASSeS

AA first-class (best) credit 
standing A1 first-class (excellent) credit stand-

ing 
1a first-class credit standing 1b very good credit standing
2a Good credit standing 2b Still good credit standing

3a
Acceptable credit stand-
ing 3b Still acceptable credit standing

4a
inadequate credit stand-
ing 4b poor credit standing

5a in default — performing 5b in default — non-performing
5c in default — irrecoverable

BKS Bank uses a rating scale with 13 rating classes. Around 53% (2015: 49%) of the loan 
portfolio were assigned AA to 2b ratings . the increase in receivables from customers 
in these rating classes from euR 2 .80 to euR 3 .16 billion is a positive development . 
Borrowers in these rating classes exhibit a very good to good capacity to repay their loans .  
the focus of new business was on customers in the rating classes AA to 3a . the volume of 
loans in the rating classes 4a to 5c was reduced by euR 173 million . 

loAn QuAlitY BY clASS of ReceivABle
Risk position by rating
in €m for 2016 AA-A1 1a-1b 2a-2b 3a-3b 4a-4b 5a-5c no rating

Receivables from customers 40 1,316 1,799 1,823 538 385 12
contingent liabilities 2 60 105 57 9 3 -
Receivables from banks 133 94 27 8 - 1 -
Securities and funds 685 76 16 — — — 38
equity investments 512 9 5 1 - - 2
Total 1,372 1,555 1,952 1,889 547 389 52

Risk position by rating
in €m for 2015 AA-A1 no rating1a-1b 2a-2b 3a-3b 4a-4b 5a-5c

Receivables from customers 30 1,117 1,655 1,811 582 514 1
contingent liabilities 1 77 73 50 7 6 -
Receivables from banks 83 268 33 2 1 - 2
Securities and funds 598 156 7 - - - 11
equity investments 440 48 6 1 - - -
Total 1,152 1,666 1,775 1,864 589 520 14
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BKS Bank’s default definition corresponds to the definition given in cRR Article 178 . 
Receivables were therefore deemed to be in default when they were more than 90 days 
overdue and the overdue amount was at least 2 .5% of the agreed credit line and at least 
euR 250 . furthermore, BKS Bank also classified receivables as in default if it assumed that 
the debtor would not be able to repay the full amount of the loan to the bank .  this is 
assumed when one of the following applies:
 — A new impairment charge (individual allowance)
 — Restructuring of the credit exposure combined with a deterioration in the quality of the 
 receivable
 — initiation of collection procedures because of inability or unwillingness to pay or fraud 
 or for other reasons
 — Receivables only collectable at a loss for BKS Bank
 — Sale of the receivable at a significant loss for BKS Bank due to credit rating
 — debtor’s insolvency
 — exposure irrecoverable for other reasons

our intense efforts to lastingly improve the quality of the portfolio is seen in the decline 
in exposures in the rating classes 4a to 4b and in the non-performing classes 5a to 5c .

At year-end 2016, the non-performing loan ratio was 4.8% (2015: 6.6%). The calculation 
is based on non-performing loans in the rating classes 5a to 5c of the BKS Bank rating 
system (default classes), which are compared to gross receivables from loans to 
customers, contingent liabilities, loans to banks and fixed-interest securities . the ratio 
given is a gross ratio, i .e ., before deduction of collateral for defaulted receivables . 
Adjusted for collateral, it decreased to 2.2% (2015: 3.1%).

the concept of ‘forbearance’ plays an important role in the management of problematic 
exposures . this term covers all agreements that must be redrafted, because a borrower 
has fallen into financial difficulties . financial difficulties were deemed given if repayment 
from cash flows could no longer be assured within a realistic period or due to the 
outcome of an assessment of creditworthiness . pursuant to cRR, these business cases 
must be specifically tagged. Such forbearance may, for instance, involve:
— extending the term of the loan
— making concessions compared with the loan instalments that had originally been agreed
— making concessions regarding the terms and conditions of the loan
— completely reconfiguring the loan (restructuring)
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in €k for 2015
corporate and 

business banking 
customers

Retail banking 
customers total

Performing exposures         29,798            2,322          32,120 
— of which with concessions regarding instalments 24,003 2,230           26,233 
— of which refinancing 5,795 92             5,887 
Non-performing exposures      116,147          4,888       121,035 
— of which with concessions regarding instalments 112,293 4,300         116,593 
— of which refinancing 3,854 588             4,442 
Total 145,945 7,210       153,155 

eXpoSuReS clASSified AS foRBoRne 

in € k for 2016
corporate and 

business banking 
customers

Retail banking 
customers total

Performing exposures  24,134  910  25,044 
— of which with concessions regarding instalments  19,103  710  19,813 
— of which refinancing  5,031  200  5,231 
Non-performing exposures  74,137  4,096  78,233 
— of which with concessions regarding instalments  70,950  3,552  74,502 
— of which refinancing  3,187  544  3,731 
Total  98,271  5,006  103,277 

assessment of credit risks 
the risks identifiable at the time the financial statements were prepared were taken into 
account by recognizing individual impairment charges, recognizing individual impairment 
charges applying class-specific criteria, and by recognizing appropriate provisions in 
accordance with iAS 37 . An objective indication of an incidence of impairment on a 
receivable is given if the Basel iii default criteria apply, i . e ., a material amount payable 
by the debtor to the credit institution is more than 90 days overdue or one of the other 
default criteria apply . pursuant to the international financial Reporting Standards, 
portfolio impairment losses are also recognized based on iAS 39 .64 for receivables in the 
performing rating classes . 

impairment losses are recognized pursuant to Group-wide guidelines and a standardized 
process according to which charges are recognized on impaired receivables in respect of 
the non-collateralized portion of the debt . impairment losses on significant receivables 
were calculated using the discounted cash flow method (dcf method) .  
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infoRmAtion on impAiRed And pASt due
finAnciAl inStRumentS

carrying value/max . default risk per class in euR m

financial instruments that were 
neither past due nor impaired

past due financial instruments 

2015 2016 2015 2016

Receivables from customers  5,189 5,490 514  385 
— of which, measured at fair value  83  52 - -
contingent liabilities  212  233 6  3 
Receivables from banks  389  262 —  1 
Securities and funds  772  815 -  -  
— of which, measured at fair value  33  23 -  - 
equity investments 495  521 -  - 
Total  7,057  7,321 520  389 

infoRmAtion on impAiRed And pASt due finAnciAl inStRumentS

carrying value/max . default risk per class in euR m

impaired financial instruments
past due but not yet impaired 

financial instruments

2015 2016 2015 2016

loans and advances to customers 464  318 103  105 
— of which, measured at fair value - - - -
contingent liabilities -  - -  3 
Receivables from banks -  1 -  - 
Securities and funds -  - -  - 
— of which, measured at fair value -  - -  - 
equity investments 8  8 -  - 
Total 472  327 103  108 

BKS Bank does not use credit derivatives to hedge default risks .

oveRdue, not Yet impAiRed loAnS And AdvAnceS to cuStomeRS BY defAult dAte

Rating class <1 month 1 to 6 months 6 months to 1 year from 1 year to 5 years >5 years

in € m 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016

5a 7  1 13  16 9  11 32  42 2  3 
5b -  1 7  2 4  2 20  20 9  7 
5c -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  
Total 7  2 20  18 13  13 52  62 11  10 
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the balance of impairment allowances for receivables is reported on the consolidated 
balance sheet of BKS Bank . At year-end 2016, the balance was euR 155 .1 million  
(2015: EUR 193.7 million). The annual addition to the impairment allowance balance 
recognized in the income statement is the sum of impairment allowances, reversals 
thereof, subsequent recoveries of written-off receivables, direct write-offs, allowances 
resulting from the recognition of our portion of the payments to AlGAR — the 3 Banken 
Group joint operation set up to mitigate large loan risks — and portfolio impairment 
assessments carried out in accordance with iAS 39 .64 . in the year under review, direct 
write-offs came to EUR 1.0 million (2015: EUR 0.9 million). Portfolio impairment for 
country risks was recognized per exposure outstanding for each country and rating class .

development of impAiRment AllowAnceS

 
in €k

individual 
impairment 
allowances country Risks

portfolio  
impairment 

purs . to iAS 39

impairment  
allowance 

balance

As at 1/1/2016 158,056 4,665 31,027 193,748
Additions 40,415 252 2,446 43,113
Reversals -16,574 -16,574
exchange rate differences 57 57
used -65,208 -65,208
as at 31/12/2016 116,746 4,917 33,473 155,136

Specific impAiRment AllowAnceS BY cuStomeR GRoup

2015 2016

 
in €k

carrying 
amount 

reduction1)

Specific impair-
ment  

allowances

collateral  
fair value

carrying 
amount

reduction

Specific impair-
ment 

allowance

collateral  
fair value

corporate and business customers 438,690 146,325 233,356 297,835 105,651 135,882
Retail customers 26,456 11,731 12,367 19,695 10,584 7,702
Total  465,146  158,056  245,723  317,530  116,235  143,584 
1) carrying amount of impaired receivables
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In 2016, impairment allowances totalled EUR 43.1 million (2015: EUR 54.6 million), while 
impairment reversals were EUR 16.6 million (2015: EUR 12.0 million). 

in addition, the BKS Bank Group’s other provisions included unappropriated provisions 
for ALGAR on a proportionate basis of 25% or EUR 30.2 million (2015: EUR 30.1 million). 

the impairment charges for foreign subsidiaries were minor in comparison at euR 0 .4 
million (2015: EUR 1.7 million). The corporate and business banking segment accounted 
for EUR 29.7 million of the newly formed impairment allowances in 2016 (2015: EUR 42.8 
million) .  the allowance for country risk exposure during the 2016 financial year came to 
euR 0 .3 million, increasing the balance to euR 4 .9 million . 

2015 2016
€k in % €k in %

1  croatia 2,483 52  2,646 54
2  Slovenia 1,406 30  1,620 33
3 hungary  91 2  44 1
4  montenegro  115 3  93 2
5  Serbia  126 3  78 1
6  other  444 10  436 9
Total 4,665 100 4,917 100

impAiRment AllowAnceS foR countRY RiSK

2016

1

2

34 5
6

2015

1

2

3
4

5
6

This risk/earnings ratio for the financial year 2016 was 20.1% (2015: 29.2%). While the 
ratio of risk costs to net interest income improved from 7 .8% to 5 .1%, the ratio in the 
corporate and business banking segment, where volumes are much larger, improved 
significantly from 53 .3%t to 34 .7% .

loan collateral
A further key component of risk management is collateral management . eligible collateral 
and the measurement methods for determining the value are defined in comprehensive 
internal valuation guidelines . collateral valuation is defined uniformly for the Group, 
although it takes local market conditions into account and is generally oriented on past 
average liquidation proceeds as well as on the expected development of market prices . 
Real estate collateral is appraised and regularly reviewed by an independent expert from 
credit management .  
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loAn collAteRAl 2016

in € m

credit expo-
sure /max . 

default risk             

total collat-
eral

of which 
financial 
collateral

of which 
personal col-

lateral 
of which 

Real estate
collateral

of which
other

risk
position1)

Receivables from customers  5,913 3,422 165 141 2,443 673 2,491
contingent liabilities  236  -   -   -   -   -  236
Receivables from banks  263  -   -   -   -   -  263
Securities and funds  815 60  45  152) 755
equity investments  529  -   -   -   -   -  529
Total  7,756 3,482 165 186 2,443 688 4,274
1) exposure minus collateral 2) covered bonds covered by cover pool

loAn collAteRAl 2015

in € m 

credit expo-
sure /max . 

default risk             
total 

 collateral 

of which  
financial 
collateral 

of which 
personal 

collateral 

of which 
Real estate

collateral 
of which

other
Risk

 position1)

Receivables from customers 5,711 3,316 169 170 2,351 626 2,395
contingent liabilities 212 - - - - - 212
Receivables from banks 389 - - - - - 389
Securities and funds 772 45 - 25 - 202) 727
equity investments 495 - - - - - 495
Total 7,579 3,361 169 195 2,351 646 4,218
1) exposure minus collateral2) covered bonds covered by cover pool

Credit risk concentrations
concentrations of credit risk are managed at the portfolio level .  our aim is to achieve 
a balanced distribution of credit exposures by size, and limits are set for individual 
geographical regions, sectors and industries and the foreign currency portion of the loan 
portfolio . industry developments are closely monitored and regularly appraised, and a 
clear strategic focus defined . the large loan risks incurred by BKS Bank were covered by 
a cover pool in AlGAR . As a subsidiary of the 3 Banken Group, AlGAR serves to provide 
security for the large loans of the three credit institutions by assuming guarantees, sureties 
and other liabilities for credit lines, loans and lease receivables .

–  loan size concentrations  
loan size concentration risk is separately quantified in the risk-bearing capacity 
calculation . loan size concentration risk measures the granularity of the credit portfolio 
especially in large loans extended to groups of related borrowers . Such customers are 
legally or financially interconnected in such a way that if one borrower in the group falls 
into financial difficulties, the other customers in the group might also have difficulty 
making repayments . 
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The risk-bearing capacity calculations make an allowance for the risk and unexpected losses 
resulting from loan size concentrations by an ‘add-on’ for the granularity adjustment (GA). 
The Herfindahl Hirschman Index calculated in this context was 0.0018 at the year-end and 
showed a well-balanced spread of loan sizes within the customer loan portfolio. loan size 
concentration risk is managed by setting limits on distribution for customer receivables 
at the overall bank level . Adherence to the credit exposure size distribution limits is 
continuously monitored by the management committees .

SiZe diStRiBution of ReceivABleS fRom cuStomeRS
2015 2016

Receivables from customers by Size
Basis: IFRS values, €m exposure proportion, % exposure proportion, %

<euR 0 .15 million 817 .9 14 .3           839 .2 14 .2
euR 0 .15 m  to euR 0 .5m 772 .3 13 .5           811 .1 13 .7
euR 0 .5 m  to euR 1 .0 m 303 .7 5 .3           337 .0 5 .7
euR 1 .0 m  to euR 3 .0 m 681 .6 11 .9           669 .2 11 .3
euR 3 .0 m  to euR 14 .0 m 1,842 .6 32 .3       1,852 .7 31 .3
euR 14 m  to euR 20 m 384 .8 6 .7           452 .5 7 .7
> 20 m 908 .2 15 .9           951 .3 16 .1
Total 5,711.1 100.0 5,913.1 100.0

–  Concentration by industry
BKS Bank presents the distribution of industries in accordance with the ÖnAce list 
of economic activities . the main areas are the categories of retail customers (18 .3%), 
construction (14 .7%), goods manufacturing (12 .5%), properties and residences (14 .5%) 
and trade (7 .9%) . the customer loan portfolio of BKS Bank is broadly diversified with 
respect to loan size and also with respect to industry diversification . the corporate 
and business banking segment accounted for over three quarters of the loan portfolio 
managed .
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ReceivABleS fRom cuStomeRS BY induStRY
2015 2016

economic Activity classification in conformity with ÖnAce (Statistik Austria) in € m in % in € m in %

households  1,044 18 .3  1,085 18 .3
construction  824 14 .4  869 14 .7
Real estate, renting and business activities  799 14 .0 857 14 .5
manufacturing  743 13 .0 739 12 .5
wholesale and retal trade; repair of motor vehicles and 
motor cyles  517 9 .1  468 7 .9
financial and insurance activities  336 5 .9  365 6 .2
Professional, scientific and technical activities  260 4 .6  260 4 .4
transportation and storage  196 3 .4  229 3 .9
Accommodation and food sercice activities  172 3 .0  185 3 .1
health and social work  169 3 .0  158 2 .7
electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply  131 2 .3  91 1 .5
public administration, defence, mandatory social insurance  120 2 .1  132 2 .2
mining and quarring  104 1 .8  60 1 .0
Administrative and support service activities  78 1 .4  169 2 .9
Agriculture and forestry, fishing  60 1 .1  60 1 .0
other service activities  51 0 .9  68 1 .1
water supply, sewerage, waste management and remedia-
tion activities 41 0 .7  36 0 .6
information and communication  39 0 .7  46 0 .8
Arts, entertainment and recreation  21 0 .4  23 0 .4
education  6 0 .1  13 0 .2
Other borrowers with no industry classification  — —  —   0 .0
extraterritorial organizations and bodies  — —  — 0 .0
Total 5,711 100  5,913 100.0

–  foreign exchange-induced credit risk 
foreign exchange-induced credit risk is another form of credit risk concentration . 
 the classical foreign exchange risk borne by the customer may, if exchange rates 
change unfavourably, seriously affect the ability of a borrower with a foreign currency 
loan to repay a debt . fX-induced credit risk was calculated for the foreign currency 
debts of customers in corporate and business banking and in retail banking . to quantify 
the potential risk from movements in foreign exchange rates, we calculated the risk 
for BKS Bank AG’s main currencies (chf/JpY/uSd) and for euR loans extended to 
customers without a currency congruent income separately, and as a general risk for all 
other currencies . using a random walk simulation based on movements in exchange 
rates in the preceding 1,000 days, we simulated an adverse movement in rates with a 
confidence interval of 95% and 99 .9% .

A breakdown by country of the foreign currency loan portfolio shows that the foreign 
exchange risk was limited primarily to the Austrian and croatian markets . in croatia, the 
foreign currency loan volumes were almost exclusively euro loans granted to borrowers 
with incomes in a different currency . 
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ReceivABleS fRom cuStomeRS in foReiGn cuRRencieS BY countRY And cuRRencY
euR* chf uSd JpY total

in € m 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016

Austria  -   -   273 .5  210 .7  16 .3  15 .6  4 .7  4 .2  294 .5  230.5 
Slovenia  -   -   10 .7  7 .9  -   -   -   -   10 .7  7.9 
croatia  350 .0  359 .6  0 .4  0 .4  -   -   -   -   350 .3  360.0 
hungary  29 .8  25 .8  -   -   -   -   1 .2  1 .1  30 .9  26.9 
Switzerland  27 .6  30 .6  1 .5  1 .3  -   -   -   -   29 .1  32.0 
other  13 .4  13 .0  5 .3  3 .8  -   -   -   -  18 .7 16.8
Total  420.7  429.1  291.4  224.1  16.3  15.6  5.9  5.3  734.3  674.0 

* euR loans to customers from non-euro states

2015 2016
in % in %

1 euR 57 .3 63 .7
2 chf 39 .7 33 .2
3 uSd 2 .2 2 .3
4 JpY 0 .8 0 .8

foReiGn cuRRencY loAnS BY cuRRencY

2 12
3 4

1
3 4

2015 2016

for years, BKS Bank has been pursuing the strategy to steadily reduce the volumes of 
foreign currency loans and loans with repayment vehicles . 
we regularly discuss this with our customers and, if possible, develop customized risk 
limitation solutions together with them . the portfolio of foreign currency loans in Swiss 
francs decreased in 2016 by EUR 67.3 million to EUR 224.1 million (2015: EUR 291.4 
million) .  the share of loans in chf, uSd and JpY in the total loan portfolio dropped to 
4.5% by year-end (2015: 6.3%). 
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ReceivABleS fRom cuStomeRS in foReiGn cuRRencieS

 Share of foreign currencies (excl . euro loans in non-euro states) in the total lending volume in % 
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the volume of euro loans granted to borrowers with incomes in a different currency 
increased slightly due to our activities in croatia and reached euR 429 .1 million .  
on the croatian market, a large share of the new volume of loans granted are still tied 
to the euro, with the hRK being considered a currency with close ties to the euro . the 
foreign exchange-induced credit risk was managed by defining limits at the profit centre 
and the overall bank levels, and continuously monitoring the risk . 

–  Country risk
the country or transfer risk is the risk of a counterparty failing to meet its obligations 
because the central bank of that counterparty’s domicile fails to supply the necessary 
foreign currency . Besides transfer risk, the borrower’s creditworthiness may also be 
directly affected by the economic or political developments in a country .  the countries of 
material significance for BKS Bank with respect to concentration risk are the sales markets 
of Slovenia, croatia, Slovakia and Germany . 
country risk exposure is reported in the comprehensive income statement as a collective 
impairment charge and limited in the risk strategy . the country exposures are monitored 
on a monthly basis within the scope of the country limit monitoring process . the volume 
of credit outstanding in BKS Bank’s target markets in the reporting year increased 
significantly, especially in Slovenia . for loans to non-banks abroad, we defined a bank-
wide cap of EUR 1.6 billion in 2016 (2015: EUR 1.6 billion). This limit was complied with 
throughout the entire year . 

for risk management and control purposes, we applied different rating measurements 
to domestic and foreign loans, with a stricter lending policy applying to loans abroad and 
designed to the specific features of the country .

8

ReceivABleS fRom cuStomeRS BY countRY
2015 2016

in € m in % in € m in %

1 Austria  4,375 76 .6  4,425 74 .8
2 Slovenia   661 11 .6  722 12 .2
3 croatia   384 6 .7  407 6 .9
4 hungary   31 0 .5  27 0 .5
5  Slovakia  

  84 1 .5  92 1 .6
6 italy   14 0 .2  14 0 .2
7  Germany  110 1 .9  171 2 .9
8 other   53 0 .9  55 0 .9

8754
3

2

1

2015

6 7543

2

1

2016

6
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collateral  
for past due 
receivables  

ReceivABleS fRom cuStomeRS BY countRY 2016

Receivables1)in €k past due2)
Specific impair-

ment allowances

Austria  4,424,726 241,021 66,323 121,780
Slovenia  722,141 68,564 18,051 35,126
croatia  407,188 45,572 19,125 23,193
hungary  27,004 9,117 4,038 3,589
Slovak Republic  92,147 13,993 4,264 7,404
italy  14,233 6,273 3,725 2,645
Germany  171,079 337 709 121
other  54,582 171 0 171
Total 2016 5,913,100 385,048 116,235 194,028
1)  Risk volume purs . to icAAp
2) past due purs . to the definition of BKS Bank

collateral  
for past due 
receivables  

ReceivABleS fRom cuStomeRS BY countRY 2015

in €k Receivables1) past due2)
Specific impair-

ment allowances

Austria 4,374,571 335,346 115,530 172,858
Slovenia 660,801 82,794 27,441 44,552
croatia 383,576 67,342 36,481 41,224
hungary 31,110 10,903 4,528 5,230
Slovak Republic 83,970 9,969 3,383 5,253
italy 14,185 6,084 2,471 3,844
Germany 110,048 1,478 1,364 333
other 52,786 195 617 192
Total 2016 5,711,047 514,111 191,815 273,486
1)  Risk volume purs . to icAAp
2) past due purs . to BKS Bank’s definition of default

SecuRitieS And fundS BY domicile of iSSueR

in €k 
Regions

Acquisition costs carrying amount purs . to ifRS1)

2015 2016 2015 2016

Austria  451,443  452,668  456,491  457,657 
Germany  50,501  63,203  51,489  63,255 
Belgium  19,746  15,718  20,047  15,932 
finland  -    10,196  -    10,233 
france  17,246  42,378  17,134  42,411 
ireland  15,890  26,085  16,159  26,427 
italy  20,072  15,087  20,290  15,286 
croatia  -    9,914  -    9,940 
lithuania  -    3,052  -    3,058 
luxembourg  122,090  92,167  126,807  96,420 
netherlands  -    9,992  -    10,015 
poland  4,975  4,975  5,063  5,068 
portugal  5,096  5,096  5,123  5,115 
Slovak Republic  19,956  19,956  20,607  20,614 
Spain  13,776  13,776  13,902  13,924 
u .S .A .  18,253  18,852  18,412  19,028 
Total  759,044  803,114  771,524  814,384 
1) including accrued interest

there were no impairments on positions in the securities and fund portfolio of BKS Bank in 2016 .
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macroeconomic risk
macroeconomic risk describes the risk of adverse negative macroeconomic changes 
and the resulting risks that may arise for BKS Bank . At BKS Bank, we quantify the effects 
of adverse macroeconomic developments in the credit risk . the effects on the bank’s 
portfolio are determined on the basis of changes in selected macroeconomic indicators 
such as Gdp growth, the unemployment rate, the inflation rate and the current account 
deficit . the correlations used, which have an effect on the probability of default (pd), 
are based on BKS Bank’s historic data and are regularly validated . the greatest impact on 
credit risk comes from inflation, followed by gross domestic product . macroeconomic risk 
in icAAp was quantified in the going concern and liquidation approaches . 

investment risk
investment risk includes the risk of dividends not being paid out, the risk of impairments 
and liquidation losses,and the risk of a decline in the value of hidden reserves due to the 
negative economic development of the companies in which BKS Bank holds stakes . the 
acquisition of equity investments is not a focus of our strategy and is  
done only to support our banking operations . 

eQuitY inveStmentS
consolidated financial statements, €m 31/12/2015 31/12/2016

listed banks 434 .0 468 .3
unlisted banks 6 .8 7 .6
other unlisted equity investments 54 .4 53 .4
Total 495.2 529.3

in the case of affiliated companies, our focus is on strategic partners from the banking and  
financial sector as well as from the banking-related service industries . 
we do not acquire investments in countries whose legal, political or economic situations 
are assessed as risky and neither do we trade on a regular basis in such investments .

BKS Bank has a strategic and an operational equity investment strategy investment 
management . the strategic orientation of investments is the responsibility of the 
management Board, and operational equity investment management is the responsibility 
of the office of the management Board . Risk control is the remit of the controlling and 
Accounting department, Risk controlling Group . 

the carrying amount of BKS Bank’s equity investments calculated pursuant to ifRS was 
euR 529 .3 million at 31 december 2016, compared with euR 495 .2 million at year-end 
2015 . this total included our interests in oberbank AG and Bank für tirol und vorarlberg 
Aktiengesellschaft with a carrying amount of EUR 468.3 million (2015: EUR 434.0 million) 
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to manage and control individual financial risks, we prepare annual budgets for 
subsidiaries as well as budgets and adjusted projections for the returns on the 
investments forecast . monthly reports on operating subsidiaries are part of our Group 
reporting system .

marKeT riSK iNCludiNg iNTereST raTe riSK iN THe BaNKiNg BooK 
BKS Bank defines market risk as the potential risk of loss that might arise from movements 
in market prices or exchange rates (e .g . equity and bond prices, foreign exchange rates, 
interest rates) or other parameters that influence prices or rates (e .g . volatilities and credit 
spreads) . market risk affects all interest rate and price-sensitive positions in the banking 
and trading books of BKS Bank and the individual institutions within the group of credit 
institutions . therefore, for the internal risk management, the BKS Bank Group includes 
the risk of potential changes in interest rates for positions in the banking book  
in the market risk. BKS groups market risk into the following categories:
— interest rate risk (including credit spread risk)
— equity price risk 
— foreign currency risk 

Principles of market risk management
managing interest rate risk in the banking book, which is the important risk category 
within market risk, is the responsibility of the Asset/liability management committee 
(Alm committee) . the management Board and the heads of the relevant banking 
departments are on this committee . the Alm committee analyzes on a monthly basis 
the results of present value and duration analyses, value-at-risk analyses, and simulations 
of changes in interest rates .

BKS Bank pursues a conservative strategy regarding interest rates risk and as a general 
rules does not engage in any significant speculative derivative transactions .  
BKS Bank engages in derivative transactions almost exclusively to hedge against market 
risks, using only instruments whose characteristics and related risks are known and for 
which experience-based data is available .  
  
interest rate swaps are BKS Bank’s key interest rate management instrument .  
depending on the interest rate and yield structures, the Alm committee hedging 
transactions are decided for individual transactions and also for portfolios . where 
applicable in interest rate hedges, the underlying transactions and the corresponding 
interest rate derivative are recognized using the fair value option pursuant to iAS/ifRS .  

traditionally, exposure to currency risks is kept low at BKS Bank, because making profits 
on open foreign exchange positions is not the focus of our business policy . therefore, 
open foreign exchange positions are held only short term and in low volumes .  
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foreign currency loans and deposits in foreign currencies are generally refinanced or invested in the same 
currency . to hedge foreign exchange risks, BKS Bank in some cases entered into derivative transactions such as 
cross currency swaps, foreign currency forwards and foreign currency swaps .  
the management of foreign currency positions is the responsibility of proprietary trading and international 
operations, money market and fX trade . foreign exchange positions are monitored by Risk controlling . 

1) Asset/liability management committee
2) proprietary trading and international operations
3) controlling and Accounting/Risk controlling 

Market Risk

Banking Book
ZCr/rC3)

Trading Book
ZCr/rC3)

Banking Book
aPM1)

Trading Book
ZEa2)

mARKet RiSK mAnAGement

risk Management risk Control

the management of the equity price risk in the banking book is done by the Alm 
committee . there was no proprietary trading in shares in the reporting year . long-term 
investments in shares and assets in the banking book are done through investment funds 
in general; we invest in individual stocks only to a minor extent . equity price risk is limited 
with respect to volume and value-at-risk, and is monitored by Risk controlling . 

trading book positions and banking book positions are exposed to market risk . the 
market risks from the trading book are only of secondary importance due to the low 
volumes . proprietary trading is done within the defined limits . monitoring compliance 
with limits is done on a daily basis by Risk controlling and any breaches are reported 
to the management Board . A separate treasury Rulebook documents in detail all rules 
applicable to proprietary trading .

the management of market risks and the setting of the relevant limits is based on a 
combination of indicators and methods such as value-at-risk (vAR), modified duration, 
volume analysis and stress tests of the economic capital . the limit for market risk in 
icAAp is defined once a year when the risk strategy is reviewed by the management 
Board with the involvement of Risk controlling . Risk controlling determines the vAR for 
the interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and stock market price risk . taing into account 
the diversification effects, the entire vAR is compared to the defined limit and reported to 
the Alm committee . 



–160–

Gro u p  ManaGeMent report

Value-at-risk
the principal measure we use to manage market price risk in the trading book and banking 
book is value-at-risk (vAR) . it indicates the maximum potential loss that may result from 
market risk within a specified holding period and with a specific probability (confidence 
interval) .

BKS Bank measures vaR based on a historical simulation of the changes in market prices 
observed in the previous 1,000 days . we apply vAR with a holding period of 180 days 
and a confidence interval of 95% for ongoing risk management and to calculate the risk-
bearing capacity in the going concern approach . the icAAp liquidation view is based on a 
holding period of 250 days and a probability of occurrence of 99 .9% .

the vAR values are presented below with a confidence interval of 95% and a holding 
period of 180 days . the table shows that market risks did not undergo any major 
fluctuations in the past financial year .

in € m 

developmemnt of mARKet RiSKS BASed on vAlue At RiSK 

 Total risk incl. diversification effects
 equity price risk  Risk from foreign currency positions  interest rate risk incl . credit spread risks

Q1/2015 Q2/2015 Q3/2015 Q4/2015 Q1/2016 Q2/2016 Q3/2016 Q4/2016

20

15

10

0

5

vAlue-At-RiSK fiGuReS
interest rate risk1) fX risk equity price risk total2)

in €m 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016

minimum values 7 .9 6 .6 0 .7 0 .7 1 .3 1 .2 7 .9 7 .1
maximum values 15 .2 12 .3 1 .1 0 .9 1 .9 2 .2 15 .8 12 .5
Average values 11 .6 8 .6 0 .9 0 .8 1 .5 1 .8 11 .9 9 .1
values are year-end 12 .2 6 .7 0 .7 0 .9 1 .3 1 .2 12 .2 7 .1
1) incl . credit spread risks
2) incl. diversification effects

interest rate risk
interest rate risk refers to the risk of a negative development in positions sensitive to 
interest rate fluctuations or in net interest income. We differentiate between:
—  Basis risk
—  interest rate adjustment risk
—  Yield curve risk
—  option risk
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divergent maturities and interest adjustment periods may create the risk of changes 
to interest rates for both the assets and liabilities sides of the balance sheet . these 
risks may be generally hedged by a combination of on-balance sheet and off-balance 
sheet transactions . BKS Bank does not engage excessively in maturity transformation 
transactions . therefore, we do not focus on maturity arbitrage with significant volumes 
of open positions to generate income by applying the“riding the yield curve”method . 
Additionally, the credit spread risk, which is part of the interest rate risk, is also computed . 
the credit spread risk shows the effects of changes in market prices induced by credit 
ratings and/or risk premiums on the portfolio of interest-bearing securities . the quotient, 
which is reported to oenB, derived from the interest rate risk and eligible own funds 
based on an interest rate shift of 200 basis points was 0 .71% at year-end versus 3 .32% in 
the preceding year . we point out that the supervisory authorities classify a bank as an 
‘outlier bank’ as of a ratio of 20% . our bank is not anywhere near this figure .

ReGulAtoRY inteReSt RAte RiSK 
in % of own fundS

currency 31/12/2015 31/12/2016

€ 2 .79 0 .20
chf 0 .11 0 .10
uSd 0 .41 0 .39
JpY 0 .00 0 .00
other 0 .01 0 .02
Total 3.32 0.71

chAnGeS in pReSent vAlue due 
to An inteReSt RAte Shift of 200 
BASiS pointS
currency, in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016

€ 15,667 1,314
chf 620 647
uSd 2,312 2,507
JpY 16 6
other 37 37
Total 18,652 4,511

At the end of 2016, BKS Bank reported a very low interest rate risk of euR 6 .7 million as computed by the value-
at-risk method and 0 .71% as measured by the regulatory interest rate risk ratio . 
especially because in the event of an increase in interest rates the aim is to avoid pressure to recognize 
impairment losses on securities in the available-for-sale portfolio . the biggest interest rate gaps are in the 
maturity bands from 1 through 3 months and from 6 through 12 months . 
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equity price risk
equity price risk is the risk of changes in stock market prices that result from the 
interaction of supply and demand . investments in equities in our treasury portfolio are 
mainly in highly liquid German and Austrian listed securities . the bank complied with all 
internal limits for shares and funds of shares . once a month, equity price risk is quantified 
using a historical simulation as value at risk and reported to the Alm committee . At 31 
december 2016, the value at risk from this risk position based on a holding period of 180 
days and a confidence interval of 95% was EUR 1.2 million (2015: EUR 1.3 million). 

risks from foreign currency positions
these risks result from entering into foreign currency positions on the assets and 
liabilities side that are not closed out by a matching opposite position or a derivatives 
transaction . therefore, an adverse movement in exchange rates may result in losses . 
to assess the foreign exchange risk, open currency positions are evaluated daily and 
compared with the corresponding limits . 
the value at risk from the foreign exchange position at year-end was euR 0 .9 million 
(2015: EUR 0.7 million).

eXchAnGe RAte RiSK (open fX poSitionS)
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liQuidiTY riSK
liquidity risk is the risk of not being able to meet present or future financial obligations in 
full or in time . this also includes the risk of only being able to raise funds at higher-than-
usual market rates (refinancing risk) or that assets have to be liquidated at lower-than-
usual market prices (market liquidity risk) .
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Liquidity Risk

ZCr/rC3) 
Short-term
ZEa/GHd1)

Medium and  
long-term

aPM2)

1) treasury and international operations/money market and fX Group 
2) Asset/liability management committee
3) controlling and Accounting dept ./Risk controlling Group

liQuiditY RiSK mAnAGement

risk Management risk Control

Principles of liquidity management/ilaaP
ilAAp is a fundamental component of the supervisory review and evaluation process 
(SRep) and has the purpose of ensuring adequate liquidity and effective liquidity risk 
management . liquidity management is based on procedures to assess, determine, 
measure, manage and monitor liquidity . BKS Bank has clearly defined principles for 
the management of liquidity risk that are set out in the risk strategy and in the ilAAp 
framework . 
A key component for long-term liquidity planning is the funding plan of BKS Bank . 

essential for liquidity management is a diversification of the refinancing profile by 
investor category, product and maturity . the policies guiding the terms and conditions 
of the lending business is based on the Austrian Regulation on credit institution Risk 
managementand the eBA Guidelines . the costs of refinancing financial products are 
determined within the scope of a sophisticated funds transfer pricing model . these costs 
are allocated in the product and profit centre calculations .

intraday liquidity management is done by managing daily deposits and withdrawals . this 
is based on information on transactions with an impact on liquidity . Such transactions 
include dispositions regarding payment transfers, advance information from Sales on 
pending customer transactions, information on cash flows resulting from the bank’s own 
issues supplied by the securities back office, and information on securities and money 
market transactions from the treasury department . possible liquidity peaks are balanced 
out by borrowing or investing money with the Austrian central bank, oenB, or on the 
interbank market . intraday liquidity management is done within the limits defined and 
utilization is reported daily to Risk controlling and the chief risk officer . A report is sent to 
the entire management Board and to the members of the Alm committee on a monthly 
basis .
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medium-term and longer-term liquidity and the liquidity buffer are managed by the 
Alm committee . the internal liquidity buffer was euR 1,170 .9 million at year-end 
(2015: EUR 862.3m) and was composed of receivables from customers eligible for 
refinancing with oenB (credit claims) and fixed-interest securities . the counterbalancing 
capacity additionally includes shares and funds, and was around euR 1 .4 billion at year-
end (2015: EUR 1.0 billion). Thus, the bank had comfortable liquidity buffer for the 
event of disruptions on the money or capital markets . furthermore, the Asset/liability 
management committee monitors BKS Bank’s liquidity position on a monthly basis based 
on predefined early warning indicators . the Alm committee is required to meet should 
the early warning indicators surpass the defined thresholds and must take action . Apart 
from this, BKS Bank’s Risk management manual contains contingency plans that define 
responsibilities, measures and procedures in the event of disruptions on the money and 
capital markets . 

counteRBAlAncinG cApAcitY
in € m 31 .12 .2015 31 .12 .2016

Securities deposited with oenB 668 .8 584 .3
Securities deposited with clearstream - 66 .1
credit claims ceded to oenB 377 .4 365 .1
credit claims ceded to the Slovenian national Bank 46 .3 24 .7
total collateral eligible with the ecB 1,092 .4 1,040 .2
minus oenB tender block -264 .4 -300 .0
minus euReX repo - -28 .3
total available eScB-eligible collateral 828 .1 711 .9
cash and cash equivalents 34 .3 34 .1
free cash oenB - 424 .9
liquidity buffer 862.3 1,170.9
other securities 167 .9 213 .7
Counterbalancing capacity 1,030.2 1,384.6

the Risk controlling Group is responsible for liquidity risk control in order to ensure 
compliance with the defined principles, procedures and limits . Reporting is done on a 
daily, weekly, monthly and quarterly basis . in the event of extraordinary developments or 
when certain early warning stages or limits are reached, an ad hoc report is sent to the 
management Board .
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liquidity gaps and funding
our daily liquidity flow analysis allocates all assets and liabilities of relevance for our funding profile into maturity 
bands . these liquidity flow analysis shows a liquidity surplus or shortfall for each maturity band, thus permitting 
a very timely management of open liquid positions . moreover, a comprehensive system of limits (limits per 
maturity band, time-to-wall limits) is in place that gives the management Board and the responsible risk 
management units a quick overview of the current situation .  the analyses are supplemented by indicative stress 
tests, which we categorize depending on the nature of the stress trigger, as general macroeconomic scenarios, 
bank-specific scenarios or combined stress scenarios .

the measurement of liquidity risk in the going concern approach and in the liquidity approach for the risk-
bearing capacity calculation is done by the value-at-risk method . the risk is determined on the basis of the net 
gap in an assumed increase in funding costs after a hypothetical deterioration of the credit rating of the bank .  
the confidence interval was 95% in the going concern approach and 99 .9% in the liquidation approach .

Refinancing is mostly in euro . As regards foreign currencies, our main focus is on securing funding for Swiss 
franc loans . in this context, euro liabilities are partially converted into chf through medium- to long-term capital 
market swaps .
 
BKS Bank is a member of the General collateral (Gc) pooling market of euReX clearing AG . in the Gc pooling 
system, liquid assets can be borrowed or invested in euro, uS dollar and Swiss franc with terms ranging from 
overnight (euR and uSd) to 12 months . BKS Bank is one of many participants in a steadily growing market 
segment for standardized and collateralized funding transactions using the services of a clearing agent .

the chart below shows BKS Bank’s funding structure by product category . the increase in the item other 
customer deposits in the year 2016 was mainly the result of newly acquired deposits in Slovenia . 
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the chart below presents derivative and non-derivative liabilities by contractually-agreed 
cash flows .

deRivAtive And non-deRivAtive liABilitieS 2016 (cASh flow BASiS)

in € m
carrying 
amounts

contractual 
cash flows1) <1 month

1 month to 1 
year 1-5 years > 5 years

Non-derivative liabilities 6,436 6,986 804 2,670 1,470 2,042
— deposits from banks 867 1,182 187 369 621 5
— deposits from customers 4,825 4,944 595 2,146 497 1,706
— Securitized liabilities 545 628 22 96 238 272
— Subordinated liabilities 199 232 - 59 114 59
derivative liabilities 31 23 - 1 22 -
— derivatives in the banking book 31 23 - 1 22 -
Total 6,467 7,009 804 2,671 1,492 2,042
1) not discounted

deRivAtive And non-deRivAtive liABilitieS 2015 (cASh flow BASiS)

in € m
carrying 
amounts

contractual 
cash flows1) <1 month

1 month to 1 
year 1-5 years > 5 years

Non-derivative liabilities 6,015 6,381 544 2,657 1,617 1,563
— deposits from banks 905 981 244 670 60 7
— deposits from customers 4,352 4,497 293 1,868 1,123 1,213
— Securitized liabilities 576 685 7 102 269 307
— Subordinated liabilities 182 218 - 17 165 36
derivative liabilities 30 23 - 2 21 -
— derivatives in the banking book 30 23 - 2 21 -
Total 6,045 6,404 544 2,659 1,638 1,563
1) not discounted

on account of the decreasing volume of Swiss franc loans, our Swiss franc funding 
requirement also declined, dropping to EUR 224.1 million (2015: EUR 291.4 million) and is 
now only 4 .2% of our entire refinancing requirement .

fundinG ReQuiRementS, BY cuRRencY

in % 2015 2016

1 euR  93 .9 95 .4
2 chf  5 .7 4 .2
3 uSd  0 .3 0 .3
4 JpY  0 .1 0 .1

432
1

2015

432
1

2016
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deposit concentration
the chart on next page shows the deposit concentration, which reached a level of 0 .30 
in the reporting year . this value is an estimate of the withdrawal risk associated with a 
run on deposits and indicates, above all, the risk of being dependent on large deposits . 
All customer deposits are broken down into defined size bands and valuated with their 
respective share and with a weighting factor from 0 to 1 .

loan/deposit ratio
the loan/deposit ratio is a further key indicator for liquidity management and shows the 
relation between loans and primary deposits . At a ratio of 91 .7%, we are clearly below the 
benchmark and thus in an excellent position . 

we have defined as benchmark a balanced ratio of 100% . we interpret this development 
as a sign of the trust placed in our bank and the yields of the hard work we invested to 
acquire primary deposits . 

liquidity coverage ratio
the liquidity coverage ratio (lcR) tests whether a bank is in a position to remain liquid for 
the next 30 days in the event of simultaneous market and bank-specific stress situations . 
it compares highly liquid assets with the expected net cash outflow (cash inflow less cash 
outflow) in the coming 30 days . this regulatory liquidity ratio was 155 .6% at 31 december 
2016 and was therefore far above the minimum ratio of 100% which is being-phased in 
from october 2015 until 2018 . 

encumbered assets
pursuant to Article 100 cRR in conjunction with the commission implementing 
Regulation (eu) no 2015/79, banks are obliged to report encumbered assets to the 
regulators on a quarterly basis . in these reports, an asset is deemed encumbered if it has 
been pledged or used to secure on-balance sheet or off-balance sheet transactions . At 31 
December 2016, the share of encumbered assets was 7.8% (2015: 7.2%) with the banking 
group . this ratio is relatively low and is below the regulatory threshold of 15 .0%, which 
means that we are subject only to the reduced reporting requirements . 

Net stable funding ratio
the net stable funding ratio (nSfR) is a structural liquidity ratio that should secure  
a stable funding profile for a bank for a period of over one year . in this context, available 
stable funding is compared to the required stable funding . this additional liquidity ratio 
will become mandatory as of 2018 and will be at least 100% . in the ilAAp report of BKS 
Bank, we now monitor nSfR on an ongoing basis . As of year-end 2016, nSfR was 110 .1% . 
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oPeraTioNal riSK
As set out in the cRR, we define operational risk as the risk of losses arising primarily in 
BKS Bank’s operations that might result from inadequate or failed internal processes, 
people or systems errors or from external factors .  
 
At BKS Bank AG and at all Austrian and foreign subsidiaries, operational risks are limited 
by an appropriate control system that is continually being developed . the system 
features a number of organizational measures that include the separation of functions 
within business processes (separation of front office from back office activities, dual-
control principle) as well as extensive internal rules and regulations, regular checks and 
contingency plans and also self-auditing systems . 

we deal with it risks by means of professional it security management run by dRei-
BAnKen-edv Gesellschaft m .b .h ., a company held jointly with our sister banks, and by 
extensive data protection and security measures and professional business continuity 
management . these measures are reviewed regularly by internal Audit for adequacy . 
Any weaknesses in the system discovered by internal Audit are immediately fixed . All 
enterprise processes are related to it, and therefore, it governance is of enormous 
importance . it governance is understood to be all principles, procedures and measures in 
place to ensure that business targets are attained, resources are responsibly used and risks 
are adequately monitored with the aid of the hardware and software in use at the bank .

An oR committee has been established for the overall management of operational risk 
throughout the bank that meets once every quarter . An operational risk report is sent 
every quarter to the relevant decision-makers . 
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OPERATIONAL RISK

risk Management risk Control

ZCr/rC 1and Or Committee 2 risk-taking units

1) controlling and Accounting/Risk controlling 
2) operational Risk committee

opeRAtionAl RiSK

Risk controlling is responsible for operational risk measurements and for defining the 
operational risk framework . the implementation of risk mitigating measures is the 
responsibility of the risk-taking units . 

we employ a variety of techniques to ensure the effective management of operational 
risk, such as 
—  carrying out Group-wide self-assessments on a bottom-up basis; these may be used to 

derive the risk profile specific to each business area
—  documenting operational risk losses in a Group-wide database of loss incidents
—  developing risk-mitigating measures on the basis of the threat analysis carried out 

within the scope of the self-assessment process and the analysis of actual losses

Operational risks were assigned to one of the following categories: 
—  fraud
—  customers, products, business practices 
—  property damage
—  System errors
— Settlement, sales and process management 
— employment practices 

in 2016, there were 240 loss events at BKS Bank excluding those resulting from credit 
operations (2015: 300 loss events). The average loss amount after deducting amounts 
recovered was EUR 2,224 (2015: EUR 9,380). Most loss events occurred in the category 
settlement, sales and process management .

As in past years, we applied the standardized approach to measure regulatory capital requirement for operational 
risk. In the year under review, the regulatory own funds requirement was EUR 26.2 million (2015: EUR 25.7 
million). This contrasted with an actual operational risk loss net of amounts recovered of EUR 0.5 (2015: EUR 2.8 
million) . the total loss was only 2 .0% of the regulatory own funds requirement for operational risk . 
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A self-assessment was conducted in 2016 again . in this process, 103 persons were interviewed about their risk 
assessment for operational risk . the results of the risk assessment were dealt with in the oR committee and      
the themes of relevance for further analysis were defined . the competent departments were then charged 
with the task of developing and implementing suitable measures to mitigate the risks identified . the measures 
developed and the ongoing status of implementation is reported at the meetings of the oR committee .
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further types of risks closely related to operational risk are reputational risks, conduct risks, model risks and 
information and communications technology risks (ict risks) . 

Reputational risk is understood to mean the negative effects in general public awareness 
(customers, employees, shareholders, media, business partners, participants of the 
interbank market, etc .) . A key component for the management of reputational risk is 
complaints management .

conduct risks are covered by the extensive provisions in the code of conduct, the 
compliance code, the compliance charter and in the manuals on anti-corruption and 
anti-money laundering . 

model risks comprise the risks that may arise from the calculation models used at BKS 
Bank and models for decision-making processes . these models are considered in credit 
risk and also in market risk with buffers in the risk-bearing capacity calculation .

As regards ict risk, BKS Bank has a stringent concept for the authorization system as 
well as clear guidelines for data protection management . ongoing training and further 
education of employees raises awareness and regular checks are also conducted within 
the scope of ict . Regular backup tests are conducted to ensure the availability of the 
data in a loss event . the sum of these many measures aim to protect the confidentiality, 
integrity and availability of the information being processed and its use in compliance 
with the law . 
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A risk catalogue is used to identify critical systems that is regularly adapted by the security 
manager of dRei-BAnKen-edv Gesellschaft m .b .h . . the catalogue classifies risks by level 
of threat (criticality) and lists the risks of all systems and applications . the assessment 
criteria for risk analysis includes maximum downtimes tolerable, possible damage 
scenarios in the event of downtimes exceeding the tolerance limit and contingency 
procedures . furthermore, detailed analysis of protection requirements for existing 
applications and systems are prepared . the security concept, the contingency plans and 
the emergency manual are regularly updated . 

the main focus in the further development of operational risk management is on the 
internal control system where the documentation of the checks of the main processes 
in Austria and in Slovenia including degree of maturity of the checks are carried out . An 
important area is the expansion of measures to protect the systems from cybercrime due 
to a changed threat situation . 

riSK of exCeSSiVe BorrowiNg
the risk of excessive borrowing indicates the threat of a high level of indebtedness that could have a negative 
impact on BKS Bank’s business operations . Apart from any change that may be required to the business plan, 
refinancing bottlenecks may occur that could make it necessary to sell assets in an emergency situation and, 
therefore, cause losses or the impairment of the remaining assets . 

the risk of excessive borrowing is measured by the leverage ratio . the leverage ratio is the quotient of the unit of 
capital measured (tier 1 capital) and overall risk (balance sheet total plus off-balance sheet items); it was 8 .5% at 
year-end (2015: 7.7%). Therefore, the leverage ratio is much better than the minimum ratio of 3% currently being 
discussed . 

Risk of excessive borrowing

risk Management risk Control

ZCr/rC1) Management Board

1) controlling and Accounting/Risk controlling 

RiSK of eXceSSive BoRRowinG
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oTHer riSKS
further risk types that BKS Bank does not currently assess as material are subsumed under in the category other 
risks.  These include:
— Strategic risks
— Risks from new types of business
— Reputational risks
— earnings and business risks
— Risks relating to residual values in leasing
— Risks of money laundering and terrorism financing
— Risks from the bank’s business model
— Systemic risks
— equity risks

in both the going concern and liquidation approaches, risk buffers have been recognized for other risks for 
the calculation of the risk-bearing capacity that are evaluated annually and adjusted as necessary . the icAAp 
committee is responsible for the management of these risks .

feaTureS of THe iNTerNal CoNTrol aNd  
riSK maNagemeNT SYSTem
this section discusses the material disclosures required pursuant to § 243a para . 2 
Business code (uBG) regarding the internal control and risk management system (icS) 
in connection with BKS Bank’s financial reporting process . the characteristics of the risk 
management system have been commented on in detail in earlier chapters .
 
deVeloPmeNT of THe iNTerNal CoNTrol SYSTem
the internal control system (icS) is a system monitoring activities that has evolved over 
the years for the purpose of safeguarding assets and increasing economic efficiency . 
moreover, the icS ensures compliance with the law and the internal rules and regulations 
as well as the preciseness and reliability of operational documentation . Already in 1980, 
our bank started working on the systematic development of an internal control system . 
ever since, the icS has been improved and adapted to meet national and international 
standards . the internationally-recognized framework “coSo internal control — 
integrated framework” was used as a reference model .

the internal control system underwent a major further development in one project in 
the past financial year . the focus was on the creation of an icS framework and on a new 
design for the process-based icS documentation . the newly created icS framework based 
on the coSo model describes the goals, procedures and design principles of the entire 
icS . Apart from giving a good overview of all icS measures, it clearly defines the areas 
of responsibility within the organization, the new functions of icS coordinator and icS 
manager as well as reporting .
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the main improvement is the newly developed risk control matrix .  this matrix evaluates 
and links the existing controls with the risks identified by business process and support 
process . the process-based risk assessment and detailed description of the controls 
support efficient and correct modes of work, and significantly improves enterprise 
management . furthermore, it also ensures that the bank can respond quickly to changed 
risk conditions . Additionally, the quality of established controls is assessed based on a 
maturity level model . the model consists of five progressive maturity grades 
(from “1 - not very reliable” to “5 - optimized”), with the maturity grade  
“3 — standardized” being the lower limit for us . 

THe CoNTrol eNViroNmeNT
Apart from the legal requirements in Austria, Slovenia, croatia and Slovakia, the focus 
is also on the code of conduct defined by BKS Bank . in addition, we have implemented 
a compliance management system in line with the “tone of the top” principle and have 
drafted a code of conduct . we also follow the principles of corporate governance and set 
great store by strict adherence to the internal guidelines . 
 
the regular controls of the icS mandated by law are carried out by internal Audit based 
on an audit plan approved by the management Board and a risk assessment of all business 
activities throughout the company .
the Supervisory Board’s Audit committee is responsible for monitoring the effectiveness 
of the icS .

iCS iN THe fiNaNCial rePorTiNg ProCeSS
the icS ensures the reliability of the company’s reporting, in particular, financial 
reporting . An important part of the icS with a reference to the financial reporting process 
is the documentation of the key financial reporting processes in the form of a Group 
manual and internal guidelines on how to recognize impairment allowances . 

the management Board is responsible for setting up and designing a control and risk 
management system that meets the needs of the Group’s financial reporting process . 
Accounting, the associated processes and related risk management procedures are the 
domain of the controlling and Accounting department .

there are job descriptions for every position that precisely define the competence 
required and areas of responsibility . internal and external seminars are organized to 
ensure that employees are appropriately trained .
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risk assessment
the risk matrix newly developed in the reporting year defines in more detail the control requirements for 
financial bookkeeping, asset management and the drafting of the financial statements . the focus was placed on 
the refinement of the control steps by assigning categories to principal and ancillary controls . depending on the 
category assigned in the risk-control matrix, the individual work activities and positions are allocated to specific 
control activities . 

Control procedures
the financial reporting process of BKS Bank uses several 
different control procedures . Recurring systemic controls were 
implemented together with it users and external auditors to 
monitor the it systems employed (SAp, GeoS, etc .) . Accuracy, 
completeness and precision of the data were audited . in addition, 
plausibility checks were conducted, checklists used and the dual-
control principle rigorously applied . 

in financial accounting, the checks focused on ensuring that 
outgoing payments had been authorized by the responsible parties 
and that no authorization boundaries had been overstepped . 
payments are authorized for execution only after dual control . 
coordination processes are in place for synchronizing the data 
between the organizational units Accounts (Balance Sheet 
Accounting) and controlling . 
this ensures data consistency for internal reporting, notifications 
to authorities and external reporting . An important control 
procedure concerns the restrictive granting and monitoring of 
it authorizations for SAp . Authorizations are documented and 
their approval is reviewed by internal Audit within the scope of a 
separate authorization administration system .

these extensive control procedures are set out in internal manuals, 
guides, checklists and process descriptions . 
 

information and communication
the management Board of BKS Bank is informed regularly and 
promptly in monthly reports about every aspect of the financial 
reporting process and the financial results . each quarter, the 
Supervisory Board and Audit committee as well as the shareholders 
of BKS Bank received an interim report containing notes on budget 
deviations, material changes and changes over time .
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monitoring procedures
the monitoring of the financial reporting process is done in several stages . first, we 
conduct a self-assessment every year . Second, a critical review of the icS relating to the 
financial reporting process is conducted within the scope of process management . 
moreover, an independent review is conducted by the internal Audit unit
of BKS Bank that reports directly to the management Board . the heads of departments 
and the responsible group heads performed the primary monitoring and supervisory 
tasks within the financial reporting process in accordance with their role descriptions . 
to ensure the reliability and proper execution of the financial reporting process and the 
relevant reports, additional monitoring procedures were carried out by the statutory 
auditors of the consolidated financial statements and by the mandatory Audit committee . 
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susTainabiliTy anD non-finanCial  
performanCe inDiCaTors  

BaNKiNg oN aCCouNTaBiliTY
Sustainability and quality are the foundation of BKS Bank’s corporate strategy (see chapter corporate Strategy, 
page 61) . we believe that accountability is essential to business policy and a competitive advantage . Because
—  a bank needs a solid reputation to gain the trust of customers and business partners,
—  being regionally well-established with branches and contracting work to local companies keeps added value at 

home,
—  treating employees with respect and appreciation increases appeal as an employer,
—  conserving resources helps protect the climate and helps keeps costs low,
—  risk awareness in business activities protects earnings capacity over the long term and heightens appeal for our 

shareholders .

Holistic strategy for sustainability
for many years, BKS Bank has been pursuing a holistic strategy rather than just isolated 
CSR measures and is constantly developing activities within the clearly defined 
sustainability strategy . we act responsibly and treat our customers, employees and 
shareholders with equal respect . Sustainability is a core element of our business and also 
environmental and climate protection are included in our strategic considerations . 

holistic in our sustainability strategy means that we take guidance from the cSR mission 
statement of respAct1). We differentiate between the following fields of action
—  management and strategy
—  people at BKS Bank
—  customers and products
—  Society and social engagement
—  environment and climate protection

when developing our activities, we pay special attention to the Sustainable development 
Goals (SdGs), the principles of the un Global compact of which BKS Bank is a member, 
and the findings from dialogue with our stakeholders 

BKS Bank joined the VÖNix index in June 2016
our approach to sustainability always take account of the big picture and is periodically 
reviewed by external experts . After oekom research AG, an institution specialized in 
sustainability research, awarded BKS Bank a “prime” rating for its sustainability activities 
in 2015, in 2016 its ordinary shares were added to the sustainability index, vÖniX, 
computed by the vienna stock exchange . this index tracks the shares of Austrian listed 
companies with the best sustainability performance . the index members are selected by 
the company rfu - Reinhard friesenbichler unternehmensberatung .

1)  respAct - Austrian Business council for Sustainable development is the leading corporate platform for social responsibility and sustainable development in 
Austria . for more details, see www .respact .at .
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CorPoraTe goVerNaNCe aNd STraTegY
the management Board of BKS Bank is responsible for sustainability management . the 
two cSR officers coordinate the activities of the various departments and working groups 
for specific themes . on a quarterly basis, the cSR core team holds cSR jour fix meetings 
with the chair of the management Board to coordinate activities . furthermore, the cSR 
manager informs the top management of the progress achieved in the implementation of 
the cSR measures at the quarterly meetings . in 2016, the sustainability aspects were also 
added to the job descriptions for the top management . 

dialogue with stakeholders
the stakeholders of BKS Bank are persons and groups of persons as well as organisations 
and institutions which have a
—  legal,
—  financial,
—  commercial or
—  social interest
in the decisions and actions of the bank . important stakeholders for BKS Bank are its 
customers, business partners and suppliers, its shareholders, employees, the media, 
authorities as well as nGos and associations . we regularly communicate with these 
groups at events, in publications and mailings, on the internet and social media . we also 
use this dialogue to gain inputs for our further development by conducting surveys and 
workshops on major issues .

for us, successful stakeholder management means
—  exchange on an equal footing
—  Recognizing potential risks and avoiding damage to our image
—  Attainment of good image, sympathy and satisfaction ratings with internal and external 

stakeholder groups 
—  Basis for innovation through external feedback

in 2016, valuable impulses for further development came, for example, from 
—  the results of our customer surveys (details are given in Segment Report, page 115)
—  the feedback report of the application for the state award for company quality, in which 

a three-person assessment team analyzed the quality of the BKS Bank based on the  
efQm excellence model . 

Stakeholder workshop in Vienna
the extensive stakeholder survey conducted in 2015 was continued in 2016 by interviews with representatives 
of selected focus groups and in a stakeholder workshop with sustainability experts . the focus of the interviews 
and of the workshop was on the enlargement of the range of sustainable products and investments of BKS Bank, 
and on environmental and climate protection . the findings resulted in an adaption of the materiality matrix . A 
detailed description is given in our sustainability report, which is available online at www .bks .at . 
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New Code of Conduct
in the reporting year, the code of conduct pursuant to the eBA Guidelines on internal 
Governance was reviewed thoroughly and completely revised . the code of conduct is 
available to all employees of the BKS Bank Group in their local language . it serves as a 
valuable tool for compliance when reaching decisions on critical issues . 

in 2016, our procurement rules were also enlarged to include a section on sustainability . 
Apart from minimum standards on sustainable procurement practices, it now also 
contains a list of sustainability labels and certificates . this catalogue makes it easier for 
our procurement staff to decide if a product or service is sustainable . 

award “efQm recognised for excellence 5 Star” confirmed
Quality is given a high priority . we have been rewarded for our efforts to improve 
the quality of our company by receiving the internationally recognized label “efQm 
Recognized for excellent 5 Star” for the second time . we are pleased to be among the 
excellent companies in Austria . we are still the only Austrian bank to have been awarded 
this distinction .
 
our application to compete for the state distinction for company excellence is the basis 
for this award . the application procedure includes a self-description of the organization 
using a defined questionnaire and a two-day assessment process by assessors from 
Quality Austria . the team of assessors evaluated the quality of our company based on 
the documentation submitted and the outcome of the interviews conducted . we are 
very pleased that the measures we have taken to improve quality have yielded results: 
Compared to the first application, we significantly increased the number of points 
obtained .
 
we are very proud of this award . At the same time, it also places us under the obligation 
to continue our efforts to improved quality . therefore, in the reporting year, we also took 
a number of measures to increase customer and employee satisfaction and reinforce 
quality awareness . 
 
our two-year quality management programme comprised 18 measures, 15 of which we 
completed successfully in the reporting year . one of larger projects was the introduction 
of new BKS Bank quality standards . our new quality standards provide users with 
concrete guidance for typical everyday banking tasks under the motto “customer 
orientation . professional . Successful .” 
the principle question was to ascertain the expectations of customers with respect to 
quality and service, and how to best meet these expectations . twelve different themes 
were addressed and communicated to the management and employees covering topics 
such as dress code, personal communication behaviour and the improvement of data 
quality . 
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moreover, we continued our initiative “Schreibwerkstatt” (writing workshop) in which 
we developed a new writing style for our company . our style guide (der gute ton) was 
distributed to all management staff and employees and a follow-up writing workshop was 
organized in the second half of the year . participants from the central departments and 
head office in carinthia attended and had an opportunity to train the new writing style by 
writing their own texts . interest and feedback from participants was positive and we plan 
to conduct further workshops in 2017 .
 
Several members of the quality management group analyzed internal communications in 
the year 2016 . the analysis was presented at the end of the third quarter 2016 and also 
comprises an extensive catalogue of measures . the principal area of improvement will be 
the replacement of our intranet for a more interactive one with better performance and 
greater visually appeal . 
 
we plan to develop a new quality management programme for 2017 that will be based 
on the improvement potentials identified in the documentation submitted to obtain the 
company excellence award . 

non-finAnciAl peRfoRmAnce indicAtoRS  
(mAnAGement And StRAteGY)

indicators 
2015

indicators 2016

Sustainability rating by oekom research AG (grading from A+ to d-) c “prime” c “prime”1)

company quality rating R4e 5* R4e 5*2)

number of complaints Group-wide 605 403
1) the last rating was assigned in 2015 . BKS Bank will be rated again by oekom in 2017 .
2) efQm Recognised for excellence 5 Star

THe PeoPle wHo worK aT BKS BaNK 
the employees of BKS Bank have always held our company in high esteem as a family-
friendly and attractive employer . many of our sustainability activities target the people 
who work at the bank . the many measures taken to help employees achieve a good 
balance of career and family life call for special mention . 

these include 
—  a programme to promote workplace health, 
—  flexible working hour models, and
—  a broad further training and education programme .

Successful re-audit for the ‘berufundfamilie’ certificate
in 2016, BKS Bank applied again for a re-audit of the ‘berufundfamilie’ certificate . 
the bank was awarded the certificate by the minister for family Affairs and Youth, 
Sophie Karmasin, in november . the re-certification was a catalogue of new measures 
drafted together with a team of employees . the 13 newly developed measures will be 
implemented in the coming three years by the Audit team . 
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the activities at the bank up to now initiated by the audit for the ‘berufundfamilie’ 
certificate include the following: 
—  A free and anonymous advisory session for employees in a difficult life situation by the 

eAp-institut für mitarbeiterberatung
—  Support for childcare on holidays and free days
—  A swap market on the intranet
— information brochure on leaves of absence
—  Breakfast event for fathers and mothers on childcare leave
—  An information meeting for employees with relatives requiring care

our Slovenian subsidiaries have also had the quality label ‘family-friendly employer — 
Družini prijazno podjetje“ since 2015. In Croatia, the certification process was started in 
2017 . 

exemplary company for work-life balance 
BKS Bank is a role model for other companies to make greater efforts to achieve a work-
life balance for their employees . it is a member of the network ‘unternehmen für familie’ 
and is frequently used as best practice example for presentations and publications . the 
study conducted on behalf of the ministry of family Affairs and Youth by fAS Research 
names BKS Bank as one of the tope 20 exemplary companies in Austria with respect to 
work-life balance and the largest hub in the in the network of “network of family-friendly 
companies” . 

Banking on health
the promotion of workplace health under the motto “durch die Bank gesund” 
(Banking on health) was again awarded the quality label “Gütesiegel für Betriebliche 
Gesundheitsförderung” (quality label for workplace health promotion) in 2016 . the main 
focus in the reporting year was the prevention of metabolic diseases . the employees were 
offered webinars, nutrition workshops and a blood test . the programme was very well-
received . in total, 211 employees in Austria and 70 in Slovenia took advantage of these 
offers .  

Quick check of employee survey
the employee survey 2014 resulted agreements for 108 improvement measures . All 
measures were implemented by year-end 2016 except for nine that were discarded . 
At the beginning of January 2016, the implementation of the measures was evaluated 
throughout the company by quick check . the aim was to find out with how much 
enthusiasm the measures were implemented, and which themes were dealt with well and 
to identify improvement potential . happily, a large share of the employees stated that the 
effects were positive and their organizational unit was well on the way to fully achieving 
the measures . in the year 2017, another extensive survey of employees is planned . 
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non-finAnciAl peRfoRmAnce indicAtoRS (emploYeeS)

indicators 
2015

indicators 
2016

number of employees, Group 1,091 1,071
Share of women on the management Board (in %) 33 .3 33 .3
Share of women on the Supervisory Board (in %) 33 .3 35 .7
Share of women in total management staff (in %) 31 .2 32 .1
Average days of training per employee 4 .4 5 .0
fluctuation rate (in %) 3 .9 3 .7
participants in annual workplace health promotion project 328 281
Sick leave (in %) 3 .0 2 .9
Average parenthood leave in years 1 .5 1 .8
Share of fathers on parenthood leave (in %) 15 —
Awards for staff-related activities and  
memberships in staff-related networks:
—  Audit certificate “berufundfamilie”
—  Quality label for workplace health promotion 
—  unternehmen für familien
—  carinthian international club
—  charta der vielfalt

CuSTomerS aNd ProduCTS
in this context, we address the issue of how to anchor sustainability in our core business 
and the theme of responsible customer relationships management . 

‘Silberkredit’ opens the way for loans to seniors 
in 2016, we expanded the range of our sustainable products to include the ‘Silberkredit’, 
a product designed specifically for retirees. The willingness to invest in old age has 
increased significantly but older people often are refused loans. BKS Bank is now one 
of the few banks in Austria that offers such loans . this loan type can be applied for by 
persons over the age of 65 with a good credit standing, as appropriate collateral is a 
requirement for obtaining the loan . the terms of the loan can be agreed individually . the 
‘Silberkredit’ has been very well-received by our customers and associations of retirees . At 
year-end 2016, the volume of loans was euR 4 .8 million . 



–182–

Gro u p  ManaGeMent report

first Social Bond1)

we enlarged our range of products by a social bond1) issued at the beginning of 2017 . 
the extensive preliminary work to prepare the issue was done by our investment experts 
during the reporting year . the capital invested by investors in the social bond1) is used 
to finance the “mavida parks” in velden . this is a competence centre specialized in 
dementia diseases . the issue, especially the use of the funds for the social finance project, 
was audited and certified by the research institution specialized in sustainability, rfu — 
Reinhard friesenbichler unternehmensberatung . the external audit gives investors the 
reassurance of knowing that they have actually invested in a sustainable product . BKS 
Bank is the first Austrian bank to issue a social bond1) .

3 Banken-Generali investment-Gesellschaft m .b .h, which is the joint investment 
management company of Generali, BKS Bank, oberbank AG and Bank für tirol und 
vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft, also expanded its range of products to include sustainable 
offers in the reporting year . 3 Banken dividende+nachhaltigkeit 2022*2) is an actively-
managed stock fund that invests in companies with high dividend payouts, predictable 
cash flows and verifiable business models . the fund is international and consists of 33 
more or less equally-weighted individual stocks . Additionally, only stocks are acquired 
that have passed the sustainability filter of the private Swiss bank, J . Safra Sarasin . 

we were also satisfied with the development of the sustainable products that had already 
been in our portfolio for some time, namely, Öko-Kredit, umwelt-Kredit, Öko-Sparbuch 
and the actively-managed investment fund Avm nachhaltig . in Slovenia, BKS Bank has a 
so-called green loan on offer that is very popular among customers .

1)  this is a marketing publication . the information provided in this text serves only as non-binding information and does not 
replace in any way advisory services for the purchase or sale of securities . it is neither an offer nor a solicitation to buy or 
sell the bond mentioned here, and neither is it a buy or sell recommendation . the offer for the product described is based 
on the base prospectus published by BKS Bank AG on 1 April 2016 including all documents to which a reference is made 
and all supplementary information to the base prospectus as well as the final terms published on 5 January 2017 . the base 
prospectus including supplementary information and the final terms are available free of charge on the website of the 
issuer at http://www.bks.at, under Investor Relations > BKS Bank Anleihenemissionen and also at the offices of BKS Bank 
AG, 9020 Klagenfurt, St . veiter Ring 43 during usual office hours . 

2)  this is a marketing publication . the information contained in this text only serves as non-binding information for 
investors and does not in any way replace advisory services for the purchase or sale of securities . it is neither an offer nor 
a solicitation to buy or sell the bond mentioned here, and neither is it a buy or sell recommendation . the exclusive basis 
for the purchase of investment fund shares is the key information document (Kid) and the respective prospectus which 
is available in its currently valid version in German on the website at www .3bg .at as well as at the Austrian paying agent of 
the investment fund .
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excellent quality of customer and advisory services
BKS Bank does not want to be a discount or online bank . An essential part of our business 
strategy is the high quality of advisory services in which we are constantly investing . 
our customer relationship managers received extensive training and BKS Bank does not 
address sensitive target groups or engage in aggressive advertising practices . 
these efforts are highly appreciated by our customers and by external experts . BKS Bank 
was certified to offer “excellent customer satisfaction” by the fmvÖ Recommender 
Award 2016 . this award measures the degree of willingness of customers to recommend 
a bank . in 2016, Österreichische Gesellschaft für verbraucherstudien (ÖGvS) and trend 
magazine named BKS Bank the bank with the best investor advisory services in Austria 
and the bank with outstanding advice for real estate financing . the two ÖGvS tests 
stressed the quality of service and transparency of the advice given .

SoCieTY aNd eNgagemeNT for SoCieTY
As a regionally established bank, BKS Bank is an important partner for many social and 
cultural initiatives . the bank financially supports social and cultural projects as well as 
educational projects or in the form of corporate volunteering . we have long-standing 
partnerships with many institutions and associations . 

eur 20,000 for the victims in afritz of the natural disaster 
in 2016, BKS Bank supported 445 sponsoring projects, including the highlights of 
Carinthian culture: Carinthian Summer and German Literature Days. Likewise, the 
bank also supported the music association viktring, the exhibition “farbenrausch 
— meisterwerke deutscher expressionisten” at Stadtgalerie Klagenfurt and Brahms 
competition for talented young musicians from all over the world . our employees are 
warm of heart . After the town of Afritz in carinthia was devastated by a natural disaster, 
they donated around euR 10,000 for the victims . this amount was doubled by BKS Bank 
to euR 20,000 . 

non-finAnciAl peRfoRmAnce indicAtoRS (pRoductS)
indicators 

2015
indicators 

2016

number of customers 150,000 152,000
number branches 59 60
investment volume in Avm nachhaltig in € m 18 .1 18 .6
Share of assets invested in Avm nachhaltig to Avm total in % 18% 20%
Sustainable assets of 3 Banken KAG in public investment funds in € m — 191 .6
Sustainable assets of 3 Banken KAG in special funds in € m — 148 .0
deposits on eco-savings accounts in € m 7 .5 7 .9
Share of suppliers which have agreed to the code of conduct for Suppliers 100% 100%
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the mayor of Afritz, max linder, was presented with the donation by management 
Board member wolfgang mandl and herta pobaschnig from the central works council . 
we also continued our partnership with “Kärntner in not” . examples for educational 
sponsoring include the financial support for the series of lectures by volkswirtschaftliche 
Gesellschaft, the Junior-wettbewerb competition and the activity “Kärntner löwalan” 
in which around 1,000 primary school children went on an excursion to Klagenfurt and 
learned about the capital and its history .

348 work hours for NPos
BKS Bank does not only donate funds for social activities, but also the time of its 
employees . 112 employees worked 348 hours in corporate volunteering projects . the 
projects in 2016 included
—  cooking for the homeless at Zweite Gruft in vienna,
—  Building a shady sitting spot in Kinderdorf pöttsching in Burgenland,
—  organizing a games day with children in a shared flat of the diakonie de la tour
—  celebrating a party with the disabled clients of the day care centre mosaik Seiersberg 
—  Building a pergola for a pro-mente youth project .

multipliers for CSr
Sustainability can only change things if as many people as possible share this idea . for this 
reason, BKS Bank is engaged in many cSR networks such as verantwortung zeigen!, Green 
tech cluster Styria, charta der vielfalt and unternehmen für familien . BKS Bank is also 
an active member of respAct and is supported in these activities by the chairwoman of 
management Board, herta Stockbauer . in cooperation wit the respAct team, a business 
lunch was organized in the reporting year on the topic of climate protection and an 
excursion to the company Kärntnermilch, which is exemplary for sustainability . 

BKS Bank puts sustainable companies on the centre stage
At the trigos Kärnten event, BKS Bank together with other tRiGoS organizers presents 
companies that work sustainably to the public . the cSR award is conferred every two 
years under the lead of BKS Bank in carinthia or Styria, and the winners in the category 
“holistic CSR engagement“ were:
—  hiasl Zirbenhütte leitgeb KG — small business 
—  Kärntnermilch reg . Gen .m .b .h . — medium-sized business 
—  flex — large company
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the special award “cSR newcomer” was conferred to terra möbel produktions Gmbh . 
the pRimuS Award in the category “Sustainability” in Styria sponsored by BKS Bank went 
to the two young innovative entrepreneurs verena Kassar and Sarah Reindl . they opened 
a food store in Graz with products sold completely free of packaging materials . 

non-finAnciAl peRfoRmAnce indicAtoRS (SocietY)

indicators  
2015

indicators 
2016

number of sponsored projects 399 445
Sponsoring in euR k 249 267
participants in corporate volunteering projects 102 112
working capacity made available for corporate volunteering 
projects in person-hours

574 312

entries for tRiGoS Styria (2015) and carinthia (2016) 36 25
Memberships in CSR networks:
— un Global compact
— respAct
— verantwortung zeigen!
— unternehmen für familien
— eco cluster Styria

eNViroNmeNT aNd ClimaTe ProTeCTioN
At the climate change conference in 2015 in paris 195 nations agreed on a new climate 
accord . At the follow-up conference in november 2016 in marrakech, the details 
were defined . the common goal is to reduce global warming . the worldwide average 
temperature is to rise at most 2 °c versus the level of the 20th century . if the temperature 
rises over 2 °c, climate scientists expect the ice in Greenland to melt completely causing 
the sea level to rise by around seven metres so that further areas of land throughout the 
world will be flooded .

BKS Bank also endeavours to contribute to climate protection as far as it can . in 
the reporting year, BKS Bank adapted its climate protection strategy to the current 
requirements; the current version is available on the website at www .bks .at .
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Carbon footprint of the entire group determined for first time
the carbon footprint provides information on how much greenhouse emissions a product 
or a service produces during its entire life cycle . the carbon footprint is measured 
in co2equivalents for a defined and functional unit . the annual review of the carbon 
footprint creates the basis for improving our own processes, comparing ourselves with 
other companies and reducing our greenhouse emissions . to this end, data such as energy 
consumption, mobility, use of coolant and paper is surveyed .

Apart from the locations in Austria, in 2016 we included for the first time our locations in 
croatia, Slovakia and Slovenia in our analysis . we compared the results for the reference 
year 2015 with the reference years 2012 to 2014 (Austria) and 2013 to 2014 (croatia and 
Slovakia) .

in the survey period 2014, we were able to lower our corporate carbon footprint 
versus 2012 by 31% and versus 2013 by 21%, the picture is mixed for 2015 . in 2015, 
consumption of heating fuel, coolant and paper dropped versus 2014 in Austria, but in 
all other categories we recorded increases . compared to other companies in the services 
sector, we are within the average range . the carbon footprint throughout the Group was 
2,410 t co2-equivalents for 2015 . 

in % 2015
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2
d i s t a n c e 
heating 22 .4

3 natural gas 3 .6
4 heating fuel 3 .0
5 Gasoline 0 .3
6 diesel 14 .6
7 Rail 0 .2
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9 coolant 1 .7
10 paper 2 .0
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Proactively protecting resources
in 2016, we continued our efforts to cut the use of resources . throughout the entire 
year, our employees received tips on how to save energy and a number of employees 
participated again in a training course on how to save fuel . with the introduction of 
the electronic mailbox in BKS Bank online, we can now send documents electronically 
instead of by regular mail . the use of our video conference system was promoted and the 
control technology for the heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems was upgraded 
at the head office thus contributing considerably to improving our energy efficiency . we 
also consider it a positive step that we also switched to electricity from renewable sources 
in croatia . in Austria, BKS Bank has been using green electricity since 2015 . 

afB recycled old BKS banking hardware
the cooperation project with AfB mildtätige und gemeinnützige Gmbh was continued in 
the reporting year . AfB is specialized in the treatment of discarded it hardware from large 
corporations and public entities by processing the hardware and conducting a certified 
deletion of any existing data . the devices are then resold to be used for their original 
purposes . defective apparatus is dissembled into their component parts and the raw 
materials are disposed of by a certified recycling plant . All work steps within the company 
are barrier-free, and are carried out in solidarity by disabled and non-disabled persons .

the activities presented here are only a small part of our engagement for sustainability . 
for details see our Sustainability Report available at  www .bks .at/nachhaltigkeit .

non-finAnciAl peRfoRmAnce indicAtoRS (enviRonment And climAte)
indicators 

20141) indicators 20151)

carbon footprint, total in t co2-equivalents 1,950 2,410
electricity consumption in Gwh 3 .0 3 .2
Share of electricity from renewable sources in total consumption 100%2) 100%2)

natural gas consumption in Gwh 0 .16 0 .20
diesel in 1,000 l 80 102
1)  the calculation of the carbon footprint is based on the respective year-on-year figures . Since 2016, the  

values are calculated at the Group level . the values for 2014 and 2015 were adjusted accordingly . 
2) only in Austria

indicators  
2015

indicators  
2016

Kilometres of travel saved through video conferences 194,400 256,890
Kilometres travelled by rail 76,869 81,258
paper consumption in t 45 .1 45 .1
paper consumption per employee in kg 50 .6 51 .1
units of hardware recycled by AfB 574 205
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gloBal eCoNomiC reCoVerY PiCKiNg uP
Global economic growth is expected to rise again slightly in 2017 to just over 3% . 
According to estimates by the international monetary fund (imf), the global economy is 
expected to grow in the current year by 3 .4% and in 2018 even by 3 .6% . the imf believes 
the drivers of global economic growth are the uS and china, but also europe and Japan 
might help to stimulate the global economy in 2017 more strongly than in the preceding 
year . the forecast for the uS in 2017 was raised to 2 .3% by the imf and for 2018 to 2 .5% . 
one of the reasons named was the trump effect, that is, a stronger stimulus for the 
economy from higher government spending, less regulation and lower taxes . Additionally, 
experts also expect leading interest rates to gradually recover in the uS this year . 

the imf estimates that china will attain an economic growth rate of 6 .2% . 
the economic situation has been stabilizing more and more over the past few months . 
however, the imf warned that growth driven by higher government spending and lending 
is not sustainable . china is making only slow progress in fighting high levels of corporate 
indebtedness . 

euroPeaN eCoNomY oN reBouNd
the economic recovery in the past year arrived in all eu member states and is expected to 
continue in 2017 and in 2018 . the european commission estimates a rise in Gdp of 1 .6% 
and 1 .8% in the euro area for 2017 and 2018 respectively . for the entire eu, it expects an 
increase of 1 .8% for the next two years . therefore, the recently published winter forecast 
of the european commission was more optimistic than the one released in the autumn 
of 2016 . the main stimulus for the brighter economic outlook came from the robust 
development of the economy in the second half of the year 2016 and the good start 
into the new year. Despite all positive assessments, there is one major risk factor: The 
perceptible and unusually high insecurity prevailing on the markets may turn out to be a 
damper for the economy . private consumption is the driving force for economic recovery . 
the excellent development of the labour market plays a major role in this context . for 
2017, the european commission expects a decline from 8 .5% to 8 .1% throughout the 
european union . Before the backdrop of rising inflation though, consumption propensity 
may slow until year-end 2017 . investments in capital goods by companies and the public 
sector are expected to increase slightly by 2 .9% in 2017 . An incentive mentioned is the 
low financing costs and the solid development of the global economy . 
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auSTria’S eCoNomY SeT for roBuST growTH alSo iN 2017
the economic estimates for Austria’s economy are still positive . in its recent forecast, 
wifo expects economic growth to be 1 .5% for 2017 . Both sustained strong internal 
demand and the improved situation of orders on hand in industry will continue to support 
the upswing . the propensity to spend of private households will weaken over the course 
of 2017 and higher inflation will also put a damper on domestic demand . however, the 
prospects for industry are becoming better . the year 2017 started well for Austria’s 
industrial sector, with the increases in new orders and the higher demand for labour 
being indicators for this trend . Additionally, analysts believe that foreign trade will gain 
momentum again in 2017 . the solid economic development is having a positive effect 
on employment rates, but the supply of labour is constantly growing due to the strong 
immigration . the domestic economy will not be able to fully absorb the increase in labour 
supply . therefore, wifo expects the unemployment rate to increase to 9 .3% in 2017 .

BaNKiNg BuSiNeSS remaiNS CHalleNgiNg
we expect the challenges for banks to remain just as demanding as up to now . the 
historically low levels of interest rates, the heavy regulation and the rapidly developing 
technologies will accompany us in the current year as well . 
the earnings situation of banks will remain tense in the light of the expansive monetary 
policy of ecB . even though the economic prospects for europe are improving, we do not 
expect an end to the low interest rates this year . with respect to the new regulations, we 
are optimistic that the regulatory “tsunami” of the past few years has already peaked and 
that future regulatory changes will drop back to reasonable volumes . we have expended a 
lot of resources in the past few years for meeting regulatory requirements . 
Any easing in this respect would most certainly help to strengthen our profitability . 

we have plans for a lot of projects for the next few years . we hope to continue growing in 
the years to come and to further expand our position among the leading banks in Austria . 
therefore, we are making every effort to improve our profitability and productivity 
further, and to continue our growth strategy oriented on sustainability . in the current 
year, we have already opened two new branches . in vienna, we have been operating the 
ninth branch since January 2017, and in ljubljana the seventh branch started operations 
in march 2017 . we plan to open a branch in Split in croatia in the autumn of 2017 . 
our plans, however, do not project only the opening of new branches, but also the 
development of new products . therefore, in 2017 we will concentrate on substantially 
expanding payment services and the securities business . As already mentioned, we have 
launched a number of projects to implement our digitization strategy . 
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At the same time, we are also pursuing a strict cost management policy to improve our 
earnings capacity . therefore, the agenda for 2017 also includes optimization and cost-
cutting projects . the objective is to push the cost/income ratio back down below the  
internal benchmark of 55 .0% . we currently are not planning any larger reductions 
in personnel costs, but we do plan to resize employee deployment, especially in the 
processing units . 

naturally, we are aware that the implementation of our strategy goals could be disrupted 
by market turmoil, economic downturns, regulatory changes or heightened competition . 
therefore, we are cautiously optimistic and believe that due to our proven business 
model, stable own funds adequacy and good market position we will be able to continue 
on the path we have chosen . By standing by our vision “Regionally rooted . open-minded . 
Excellent in our work” we will also master the challenges of the financial year 2017. As in 
the past, we plan to pay out a dividend that adequately reflects our profits and own funds.

At this point we would like point out that in the period from the end of the financial year 
and the preparation of the financial statements and their approval by the auditor, no 
material events have occurred of relevance for the report .

Klagenfurt am wörthersee, 10 march 2017

dieter Kraßnitzer 
member of the management 

Board
wolfgang mandl 

member of the management 
Board

herta Stockbauer 
chairwoman of the management 

Board 
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infoRmAtion on the AuStRiAn code of coRpoRAte GoveRnAnce (ÖcGK) 
And 
BKS BAnK on the inteRnet
austrian Code of Corporate governance (Österreichischer Corporate governance Kodex)
www .corporate-governance .at

The BKS Bank’s Shares
www .bks .at/Aktie

Shareholders of BKS Bank ag
www .bks .at/Aktionaersstruktur

Shareholder events
www .bks .at/Aktionaerstermine

annual general meeting
www .bks .at/hauptversammlung

Conformity declaration of BKS Bank ag with the Code of Corporate governance (ÖCgK)
guidelines on independence
BKS Bank’s Code of Corporate governance (ÖCgK) report
Publications pursuant to § 65 Banking act (Bwg) regarding Corporate governance and remuneration 
articles of association of BKS Bank
www .bks .at/corporate_Governance

Business, financial and Sustainability reports of BKS Bank
disclosure pursuant to Crr
www .bks .at/Berichte

oeKB issuer information Center
central depository for information on Austrian issuers pursuant to Art . 86 Stock exchange Act (BörseG)
http://issuerinfo.oekb.at/startpage.html

Press releases of BKS Bank
www .bks .at/pressemitteilungen

compliAnce And Aml infoRmAtion on BKS BAnK on the inteRnet
aml declaration
Banking license
uSa Patriot act Certification
wolfsberg Questionnaire of BKS Bank ag
w-8BeN-e
directors‘ dealings reports
www .bks .at/compliance
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sTaTemenT of Comprehensive inCome of 
The bKs banK Group, finanCial year 2016

income StAtement (full YeAR)
in €k note 2015 2016 ± in %

interest income 176,051 160,967 -8 .6
interest expenses -52,593 -40,476 -23 .0
profit/loss from equity-method accounted investments 42,986 33,696 -21 .6
Net interest income (1) 166,444 154,187 -7.4
impairment charge on loans and advances (2) -48,547 -31,007 -36 .1
Net interest income after impairment charge 117,897 123,180 4.5
fee and commission income 56,154 52,586 -6 .4
fee and commission expenses -3,172 -3,756 18 .4
Net fee and commission income (3) 52,982 48,830 -7.8
net trading income (4) 2,320 1,717 -26 .0
General administrative expenses (5) -105,120 -106,428 1 .2
other operating income (6) 10,034 6,590 -34 .3
other operating expenses (6) -15,708 -22,012 40 .1
Profit/loss from financial assets -1,679 -2,076 23.6
— profit/loss from financial assets designated as at fair value through 
profit or loss (fv) (7) 109 -1,863 >100

— profit/loss from available-for-sale financial assets (AfS) (8) -2,075 -366 -82 .4
— profit/loss from held-to-maturity financial assets (htm) (9) 287 153 -46 .7
Profit/loss for the year before tax 60,726 49,801 -18.0
income tax expense (10) -7,110 -3,617 -49 .1
Profit for the year after tax 53,616 46,184 -13.9
minority interests in profit for the year -3 -4 33 .3
Profit for the year after minority interests 53,613 46,180 -13.9

eARninGS And dividend peR ShARe
2015 2016

Average number of shares in issue (ordinary and preference shares) 35,410,670 36,667,864
dividend per share (ordinary and preference share), € 0 .23 0 .23
earnings per ordinary and preference share (diluted and undiluted), € 1 .50 1 .26

earnings per share compares consolidated profit for the year with the average number of no-par shares in issue . 
in the period under review, earnings per share and diluted earnings per share were the same because no financial 
instruments with a dilution effect on the shares were outstanding . 

income And eXpenSeS tAKen diRectlY to eQuitY

in €k 2015 2016 ± in %

Profit for the year after tax 53,616 46,184 -13.9
items not reclassified to consolidated profit or loss -1,672 2,649 >100
± +/(—) Actuarial gains/(losses) in conformity with iAS 19 3,788 815 -78 .5
+/(–) deferred taxes in conformity with iAS 19 -949 -204 -78 .5
+/(—) Gains less losses arising from use of the equity method in conformity 
with iAS 19 -4,511 2,038 >100
items reclassified to consolidated profit or loss -5,536 1,030 >100
+/(—) exchange differences 77 971 >100
+/(—) Available-for-sale reserve -132 940 >100
+/(—) deferred taxes taken to AfS reserve items -40 -238 >100
+/(—) Gains less losses arising from use of the equity method -5,441 -643 -88 .2
Total income and expenses taken directly to equity -7,208 3,679 >100
Comprehensive income before minority interests 46,408 49,863 7.4
of which minority interests -3 -4 33 .3
Comprehensive income after minority interests 46,405 49,859 7.4
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QuARteRlY Review 2016

in €k
2016 

1Q
2016

2Q
2016

3Q
2016 

4Q

interest income  42,319  40,300  40,108 38,240
interest expenses -10,644 -10,617 -9,969 -9,246
profit/loss from investments in equity-method account-
ed entities  5,726  10,211  9,728 8,031

Net interest income  37,401  39,894  39,867 37,025
impairment charge on loans and advances -8,793 -3,608 -13,361 -5,245
Net interest income after impairment charge  28,608  36,286  26,506 31,780
fee and commission income  13,864  13,301  12,176 13,245
fee and commission expenses -974 -828 -908 -1,046
Net fee and commission income  12,890  12,473  11,268 12,199
net trading income  199  779 -61 800
General administrative expenses -26,898 -27,400 -26,100 -26,030
other operating income  1,239  953  1,583 2,816
other operating expenses -5,039 -3,424 -1,512 -12,037
Profit/loss from financial assets -61 -120 -1,297 -598
— profit/loss from financial assets designated as at fair 
value through profit or loss (fv) -195 -414 -1,553 299

— profit/loss from available-for-sale financial assets (AfS)  134  294  103 -897
— profit/loss from held-to-maturity financial assets (htm)  —    —    153 —
Profit for the period before tax  10,938  19,547  10,387 8,929
income tax expense -2,414 -3,362  1,778 381
Profit for the period after tax  8,524  16,185  12,165 9,310
net profit for the year after tax -1 -1 — -2
Profit for the period after minority interests  8,523  16,184  12,165 9,308

QuARteRlY Review 2015
in €k

2015
Q1

2015  
Q2

2015
Q3

2015
Q4

interest income 43,099 45,985 40,970 45,997
interest expenses -13,376 -11,303 -10,639 -17,275
profit/loss from investments in equity-method  
accounted entities 6,371 8,735 9,624 18,256

Net interest income 36,094 43,417 39,955 46,978
impairment charge on loans and advances -6,161 -6,126 -12,907 -23,353
Net interest income after impairment charge 29,933 37,291 27,048 23,625
fee and commission income 14,439 14,103 13,133 14,479
fee and commission expenses -769 -843 -856 -704
Net fee and commission income 13,670 13,260 12,277 13,775
net trading income -67 998 1,086 303
General administrative expenses -26,173 -26,875 -26,185 -25,887
other operating income 1,433 899 1,209 6,493
other operating expenses -1,751 -4,170 -6,810 -2,977
Profit/loss from financial assets 1,768 1,004 358 -4,809
—  profit/loss from financial assets designated as at fair 

value through profit or loss (fv) 1,256 -528 565 -1,184

— profit/loss from available-for-sale financial assets (AfS) 225 1,532 -207 -3,625
— profit/loss from held-to-maturity financial assets (htm) 287 — — —
Profit for the period before tax 18,813 22,407 8,983 10,523
income tax expense -6,534 -3,032 3,337 -881
Profit for the period after tax 12,279 19,375 12,320 9,642
minority interests in profit for the period -1 -1 - -1
Profit for the period after minority interests 12,278 19,374 12,320 9,641
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ASSetS
in €k note 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

cash and balances with the central bank (11) 190,310 543,542 >100
Receivables from other banks (12) 363,862 242,347 -33 .4
Receivables from customers (13) 5,113,867 5,330,395 4 .2
— impairment allowance balance (14) -193,748 -155,136 -19 .9
trading assets (15) 46 10 -78 .3
financial assets 1,445,094 1,483,583 2 .7
— financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss (16) 114,863 75,568 -34 .2
— Available-for-sale financial assets (17) 166,721 189,335 13 .6
— held-to-maturity financial assets (18) 724,891 747,773 3 .2
— investments in entities accounted for using the equity method (19) 438,619 470,907 7 .4
intangible assets (20) 1,868 1,735 -7 .1
property and equipment (21) 58,437 56,274 -3 .7
investment property (22) 29,690 30,720 3 .5
deferred tax assets (23) 25,441 17,288 -32 .0
other assets (24) 28,566 30,298 6 .1
Total assets 7,063,433 7,581,056 7.3

eQuitY And liABilitieS
in €k note 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

payables to other banks (25) 904,574 867,494 -4 .1
payables to customers (26) 4,351,716 4,824,760 10 .9
— of which, savings deposit balances 1,629,833 1,528,994 -6 .2
— of which other payables 2,721,883 3,295,766 21 .1
liabilities evidenced by paper (27) 576,346 544,656 -5 .5
trading liabilities (28) 46 10 -78 .3
provisions (29) 125,973 126,902 0 .7
deferred tax liabilities (23) 9,312 261 -97 .2
other items (30) 53,472 59,602 11 .5
Subordinated debt capital (31) 181,752 198,585 9 .3
equity (32) 860,242 958,786 11 .5
— of which total minority interests and equity 860,227 958,767 11 .5
— of which minority interests in equity 15 19 26 .7
Total equity and liabilities 7,063,433 7,581,056 7.3

The total return on equity in the 2016 financial year was 0.61% (2015: 0.76%).

balanCe sheeT of The bKs banK Group
as aT 31 DeCember 2016
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sTaTemenT of ChanGes in equiTy

totAl minoRitY inteReStS And eQuitY in 2016
Adjustment 

for 
Associates1)

profit/loss 
for the year

Additional 
equity 
instru-

ments2)
equity

in €k
Subscribed  

capital
capital

Reserves
exchange 

differences
Revaluation 

Reserve
Retained
earnings

as at 1 January 2016 72,072 143,056 -1,030 2,388 562,416 4,312 53,613 23,400 860,227
distribution -8,124 -8,124
coupon payments on addi-
tional equity instruments -1,462 -1,462
taken to retained earnings 44,027 -44,027 —
profit/loss for the year 46,180 46,180
income and expenses taken  
directly to equity 971 702 611 1,395 3,679
increase in share capital 7,207 49,976 57,183
effect of the equity method 780 780
change in treasury shares 1,758 1,758
Additional equity  
instruments2 —
other changes -1,454 -1,454
as at 31/12/2016 79,279 193,032 -59 3,090 608,138 5,707 46,180 23,400 958,767
Available-for-sale reserve 4,120
deferred tax reserve -1,031
1) this column shows the cumulated pro rata oci of entities recognized by the equity method .
2) The Additional Tier 1 note issued in 2015 was classified as equity in conformity with IAS 32.

totAl minoRitY inteReStS And eQuitY in 2015
Adjust

ment for 
Associates1)

profit/loss
for the year

Additional 
equity 
instru-

ments2)
equity

in €k Subscribed capital
capital

reserves
exchange 

differences
Revaluation 

reserve
Retained
earnings

as at 1 January 2015 72,072 143,056 -1,107 2,560 519,297 11,219 48,740 — 795,837
distribution -8,148 -8,148
taken to retained earnings 40,592 -40,592 —
profit/loss for the year 53,613 53,613
income and expenses taken 
directly to equity

77 -172 2,839 -9,952 -7,208

increase in share capital -

effect of the equity method 2,234 3,045 5,279
change in treasury shares -2,503 -2,503
Additional equity 
instruments2) 23,400 23,400
other changes -43 -43
at 31 december 2015 72,072 143,056 -1,030 2,388 562,416 4,312 53,613 23,400 860,227
Available-for-sale reserve 3,181
deferred tax reserve -793
1) this column shows the cumulated pro rata oci of entities recognized by the equity method .
2) The Additional Tier 1 note issued in 2015 was classified as equity in conformity with IAS 32.

Minority interests were of secondary importance in the BKS Bank Group’s Statement of Changes in Equity (2016: 
EUR 19.0k; 2015: EUR 15.5k). At the end of 2016, there were 438,062 ordinary shares and 156,723 preference shares 
(2015: 557,284 ordinary shares and 138,667 preference shares) with a market value of EUR 9.8 million (2015: EUR 
11 .5 million) in the treasury portfolio . 

the capital increase carried out in october 2016 raised the share capital of the company from 72,072,000 to 
79,279,200 . An offer price of euR 15 .9 per new share was defined for the issue and subscription price . the new 
shares have full dividend rights for the financial year 2016 . the gross proceeds were euR 57 .3 million; the transaction 
costs of euR 0 .1 million were deducted from equity . 
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sTaTemenT of Cash floWs

cASh flowS

in €k 2015 2016

Profit for the year before minority interests 53,616 46,184
Non-cash positions in profit for the year:
— depreciation/amortization and impairment charge on receivables, and property and 
equipment  49,700  33,076 
— changes in provisions  8,674  10,265 
— Gains and losses on disposals -2,562 -1,222 
— change in other non-cash items -1,390 -705 
— profit/loss shares in entities accounted for using the equity method -38,534 -26,931 
Subtotal  72,284  60,667 
change in assets and liabilities arising from operating business activities after 
correction for non-cash items:
— Receivables from customers and other banks, effect of using the fair value option -225,466 -137,069 
— trading assets  -    36 
— other assets  5,639  5,979 
— payables to customers and other banks  171,807  435,964 
— liabilities evidenced by paper -17,268 -31,690 
— trading liabilities  1 -36 
— provisions and other liabilities -545 -11,240 
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities  6,452  322,611 
Proceeds from sales of:
— financial assets and property and equipment  162,556  160,964 
Outlay on purchases of:
— financial assets and property and equipment -190,503 -196,898 
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities -27,947 -35,934 
increases in share capital  -    57,297 
dividend distributions -8,148 -8,124 
proceeds from issuing additional equity components  23,400 -
coupon payments on additional capital instruments — -1,462 
cash inflow from subordinated liabilities and other financing activities  8,512  26,273 
cash outflow on subordinated liabilities and other financing activities -27,504 -7,700 
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities -3,740  66,284 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of preceding year  215,269  190,310 
net cash from/(used in) operating activities  6,452  322,611 
net cash from/(used in) investing activities -27,947 -35,934 
net cash from/(used in) financing activities -3,740  66,284 
effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  276  271 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year under review  190,310  543,542 
Taxes, interest and dividends 
— income tax paid  7,154 9,808
— interest received  170,098  157,449
— interest paid  54,866  42,243 
— dividends received  909  1,155 

cash and cash equivalents are recognized in the line item cash and balances with the central bank . 

the cash flow Statement is not of much significance to the BKS Bank Group because it cannot be used as a manage-
ment or planning instrument in this form .
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noTes To The ConsoliDaTeD finanCial 
sTaTemenTs of bKs banK

maTerial aCCouNTiNg PoliCieS 
i. geNeral iNformaTioN
BKS Bank AG is headquartered at St . veiter Ring 43, 9020 Klagenfurt, Austria . As the parent of the BKS Bank Group, 
it prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with the principles of the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (ifRS) published by the international Accounting Standards Board (iASB) and the interpretations 
by the international financial Reporting interpretations committee (ifRic) as adopted by the eu for the 2016 
financial year as exempting consolidated financial statements within the meaning of § 59a Banking Act. In addition, 
the requirements of § 245a para . 1 Business code are met . 
BKS Bank was founded in Klagenfurt in 1922 as Kärntner Kredit- und wechsel-Bankgesellschaft ehrfeld & co . Years 
of effort to transform the limited partnership (Kommandite) into a stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) led to the 
establishment of Bank für Kärnten in 1928 . it entered the Styrian market in 1983 . the ordinary shares of BKS Bank AG 
have been listed on the vienna Stock exchange since 1986 and the preference shares since 1991 . Both share classes 
are traded in the standard market auction segment . BKS Bank has had a presence in vienna since 1990 . in 2003, it 
began developing the Burgenland and lower Austrian markets . Abroad, it also operates in Slovenia, croatia, Slovakia, 
northern italy and western hungary . 
BKS Bank AG together with oberbank AG and Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft (Btv AG) constitute 
the 3 Banken Group . together, the alliance in the 3 Banken Group gives the banks the strength of a major bank 
combined with the flexibility and market presence of a regional bank.
The Management Board of BKS Bank AG signed the consolidated financial statements on 10 March 2017 and 
approved them for submission to the Supervisory Board . the Supervisory Board had the responsibility of examining 
the consolidated financial statements and stating whether it approves these. Up to the time of signature, there were 
no reasons to doubt that the entity would continue as a going concern .

ii. effeCTS of New aNd ameNded STaNdardS
with the exception of the revised standards and interpretations effective for the financial year under review, the 
financial reporting policies applied in the 2015 financial year were retained in 2016 . 
the comparative figures for the previous year were also based on the same requirements . Standards announced but 
not yet effective for the financial year under review were not applied . 

AmendmentS And inteRpRetAtionS foR the finAnciAl YeAR 2016

Standard or Amendment

effective in the eu for  
annual periods beginning on or 

after  
this date

endorsement  
by the eu

iAS 19 — employee Benefits 1/2/2015 december 2014
Annual improvement cycle 2010 to 2012 1/2/2015 december 2014
ifRS 11 — Acquisition of shares in joint operations 1/1/2016 november 2015
iAS 16 and iAS 38 — clarification of Acceptable methods of deprecia-
tion and Amortization 1/1/2016 december 2015
IAS 41 and IAS 16: Accounting for Bearer Plants 1/1/2016 november 2015
iAS 27 — equity method for single-entity financial statements 1/1/2016 december 2015
IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28: Investment Entities 1/1/2016 September 2016
IAS 1: Disclosure Initiative 1/1/2016 december 2015
Annual improvement cycle 2012 — 2014 1/1/2016 december 2015

ifrS 11 (amendment): on 6 may 2014, the iASB issued an amendment to ifRS 11 on the accounting for 
the acquisition of shares in a joint operation that constitutes a business within the meaning of ifRS 3 Business 
combinations . According to the amendment, such cases must be accounted for as business combinations within the 
meaning of ifRS 3 . this amendment may have an effect on BKS Bank in the future .
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iaS 1 (amendment): on 18 december 2015, iASB released amendments to iAS 1 .  
under the amendment, information must only be disclosed in the notes if its content is not immaterial . Among 
other things, it also precisely regulates the aggregation and disaggregation of items on the balance sheet and in the 
comprehensive income statement . 
furthermore, it explains how an entity’s share of the profit or loss of equity-accounted entities should be presented 
in the comprehensive income statement . this amendment could result in changes for BKS Bank .

no material changes result from the other amendments mentioned above for the BKS Bank Group .

ApplicABle StAndARdS/AmendmentS fRom 1/1/2017

Standard or Amendment

effective in the eu for 
financial years beginning on or after this date endorsement  

by the eu

iAS 7 — Statement of cash flows 1/1/2017* outstanding
iAS 12 — income taxes 1/1/2017* outstanding
* Assuming the endorsement of the eu

IAS 7: The IASB issued amendments to IAS 7 on 26 January 2016. The purpose of the amendments is to improve 
disclosures about changes in an entity’s debt .  
they require more detailed disclosure of inflows and outflows of financial liabilities and cash flows from financing 
activities . following endorsement by the eu, the BKS Bank Group will meet this requirement .

IAS 12 (Amendment): The amendment to IAS 12 was issued in January 2016. It clarifies how to account for deferred 
tax assets for unrealized losses related to debt instruments measured at fair value since different approaches have 
been used in practice . the amendment does not have any effect on the BKS Bank Group, because there are no 
unrealized losses .

StAndARdS/AmendmentS ApplicABle foR finAnciAl YeARS AS of 1 JAnuARY 2018 oR lAteR  

Standard or Amendment

effective in the eu for  
Annual periods Beginning on 

or After this date
endorsement 

by the eu 

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments 1/1/2018 november 2016
IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1/1/2018 September 2016
IFRS 16: Leases 1/1/2019* outstanding
ifRS 2 — Share-based payment (Amendment) 1/1/2018* outstanding
ifRS 4 — insurance contracts (Amendment) 1/1/2018* outstanding
Annual improvements to ifRS Standards, 2014-2016 cycle 1/1/2018* outstanding
ifRic interpretation 22 — interpretation on foreign currency transac-
tions and advance consideration 1/1/2018* outstanding
iAS 40 — classification of property under construction 
(Amendment) 1/1/2018* outstanding
ifRS 10 and iAS 28 — Sales or contributions of assets between an inves-
tor and its associate/joint venture

postponed for an 
indefinite period

* provided there is an eu endorsement

IFRS 9: On 24 July 2014, IASB released the final version of IFRS 9, which replaces IAS 39: Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and measurement . eu endorsement was given on 22 november 2016 . ifRS 9 must be applied for the 
first time in the first reporting period of a financial year starting on or after 1 January 2018, with early application 
being permitted. The BKS Bank Group intends to apply IFRS 9 for the first time as of 1 January 2018. The new 
standard requires the Group to adjust its accounting processes and internal control system relating to the reporting 
and measurement of financial instruments; these adjustments have not yet been completed. The BKS Bank Group 
conducted a preliminary assessment of the potential effects of the application of ifRS 9 as at 31 december 2016 . 
The standard can be divided into three main areas, namely classification and measurement, impairment und hedge 
accounting . At present, the BKS Bank Group does not engage in hedge accounting, therefore, the focus is on project 
implementation for the two areas of classification and impairment.
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Classification and Measurement
IFRS 9 contains a new classification and measurement approach for financial assets that reflects the business model 
in which the assets are held as well as the characteristics of its cash flows. The new approach to the classification and 
measurement of financial instruments provides for two totally new criteria for classification, namely classification 
driven by business models and classification driven by the ‘SPPI’ criteria. These only allow instruments with cash flows 
that consist solely of payments of principal and interest . Based on what we have learned from the project, receivables 
from other banks and receivables from customers as well as financial assets, which are currently classified as “held-
to-maturity” assets pursuant to IAS 39, must now be classified in the business model “hold to collect”. Securities and 
funds, which under IAS 39 are classified as available-for-sale, have to largely be assigned to the business model “hold 
to sell” . derivatives are assigned to the business model “sell” . 

with respect to the Sppi criterion, at present we may state that a large share of the loans and advances to customers 
and to credit institutions meet the Sppi criterion, thus guaranteeing that a large part of portfolio positions of 
receivables from other banks and receivables from customers can continue to be measured at amortised costs under 
IFRS 9 . This also applies to the current portfolio of financial assets classified as “held to maturity”. The AfS securities 
in the portfolio at present also largely meets the Sppi criterion and therefore will be recognized under ifRS 9 at fair 
value through other comprehensive income (fvoci) . under ifRS 9, investment funds and shares are to be recognized 
at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) unless it is designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI). The discussion on this discretionary choice is still under way. Under IAS 39, investments classified as 
available-for-sale are measured at a carrying value of euR 20 million . 
pursuant to ifRS 9, an additional mandatory fair value measurement will apply . 

As regards the classification of financial liabilities, there are generally no changes compared to IAS 39. In the case of 
measurement at fair value, only the changes in fair value arising from own credit risk are to be reported in equity .

impairment
ifRS 9 replaces the model of “incurred losses” of iAS 39 by a forward-looking model or “expected loss impairment” . 
ifRS 9 requires an impairment charge on loans and advances for customers with performing loans rated AA to 4b . 
the currently applicable provisions for determining impairment charges for the event of default remain more or less 
unchanged . 

there are two stages for determining the impairment charge for customers in the rating classes of performing 
loans. If the credit risk has not deteriorated to any significant extent since the first recognition, then the 12-month 
expected-loss (stage 1) must be determined and recognized . however, if there has been a material deterioration 
in credit risk, then the lifetime expected-loss (stage 2) must be determined . the standard does not specify how to 
measure the expected loss . the BKS Bank Group will use the formula “default probability (pd) x loss given default 
(lGd) x expected exposure at default (eAd) for determining the impairment charge . 
for determining the multi-year parameters for the lifetime-expected-loss, it is very likely that the markov chain 
process will be used . According to ifRS 9, when calculating the expected loss, also forward-looking information must 
be included and in this context we will use the estimates of recognized institutions. The definition of what constitutes 
a significant increase is still being discussed and evaluated.

data
ifRS 9 involves extensive new tasks, especially with respect to hedge accounting transactions, credit risk and 
expected credit losses . the preliminary assessment by BKS Bank Group contains an analysis to identify if there are 
gaps in the data versus the current method used and at present changes to the system and control methods are being 
evaluated and implemented .
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implementing ifRS 9 involves enormous technical resources, time and costs . the systems in use at present do not 
meet the requirements of ifRS 9 in several aspects, and therefore, it will be necessary to procure new software . the 
configuration and testing of the software will probably be completed by mid-2017. 

no reliable assessment of the quantative effects of ifRS 9 can be assessed currently . what is clear is that the new 
rules for classification and measurement will partly result in the credit exposure being measured at fair value, 
provided the benchmark test is failed . furthermore, equity investments which are currently measured at cost in the 
available-for-sale portfolio (carrying value around euR 20 million at present) will have to be recognized at fair value . 
the Group believes that the impairment charge for assets to which the impairment loss model of ifRS 9 applies will 
be higher and more volatile . with the initial application of ifRS 9, earlier periods will not be adjusted, because this 
will not be possible without backward-looking processes, and therefore, the adjustment of the period of comparison 
pursuant to ifRS 9 will not be permissible . instead, we will provide all of the required information in the notes on the 
transition to ifRS 9 . 

ifrS 15 and clarifying statement on ifrS 15: the iASB and the fASB (financial Accounting Standards Board) 
issued ifRS 15 jointly on 28 may 2014 . it regulates the accounting for revenues from contracts with customers . 
the purpose of this standard is to combine into one standard the many regulations on the subject that existed 
beforehand. This standard replaces IAS 11: Construction Contracts; IAS 18: Revenue; IFRIC 13: Customer Loyalty 
Programmes; IFRIC 15: Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate; IFRIC 18: Transfer of Assets from Customers; 
and SIC 31: Revenue-Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.  We are still studying the impact of this 
standard on our financial statements. At the present time, do not assume any material changes.

ifrS 16: The IASB published IFRS 16 Leasing on 13 January 2016. IFRS 16 specifies how lessors and lessees  
must recognize and measure the information given in the notes and fully replaces the currently valid iAS 17 . the 
central idea behind the new ifRS 16 is that lessees must in future account for all leases and the associated rights and 
obligations on their balance sheets, including those previously classified as operating leases. For lessees in particular, 
ifRS 16 will result in material changes . the provisions in iAS 17 affecting lessors have largely been retained . As 
the BKS Bank Group is solely a lessor, we do not, based on an initial assessment, expect any significant changes to 
accounting, but rather only additional extended information in the notes . we do not plan to apply said standards, 
amendments and interpretations ahead of time .

iaS 40: This Amendment defines as of what time and for how long a property under construction or under 
development must be classified as an ‘investment property’. The classification of property under construction had 
not been clearly defined up to now. This Amendment will have an effect on the financial reporting of the BKS Bank 
Group, because the subsidiaries of BKS Bank AG are also properties constructed and developed for the purpose 
being used by third parties . the other amendments mentioned above do not result in any material changes .

iii. reCogNiTioN aNd meaSuremeNT
general notes
the financial statements were prepared in euro (the functional currency) . All figures in the following consolidated 
financial statements are rounded to thousand euro unless otherwise specified . the balance sheet is arranged in 
descending order of liquidity . A going concern was assumed in the preparation of the financial statements .
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group of consolidated companies
Besides BKS Bank AG, the consolidated financial statements accounted for a total of 18 entities (14 consolidated, 
three accounted for using the equity method and one accounted for on a proportionate basis) . on 30 September 
2016, the subsidiary BKS Bank d .d . was retroactively merged with BKS Bank AG effective 1 January 2016 . otherwise 
there were no changes in the group of consolidated companies compared to the preceding year . the inclusion 
of subsidiaries was based on the criteria for materiality set out in point 29 and point 30 of the ifRS framework . 
materiality was judged applying common Group-wide criteria on the basis of qualitative and quantitative parameters . 
the quantitative parameter used in the case of subsidiaries was their total assets . in the case of associates, it was 
the Group’s stake in their equity . the number of employees was another criterion . furthermore, each entity was 
evaluated to ascertain whether its exclusion might affect financial decisions on the part of the report’s addressees . 
the key criteria in this case were an entity’s business activity and future business expectations . At the initial 
consolidation, an entity’s cost was compared with (the Group’s share in) its re-measured equity .

Consolidated entities
the following entities all conformed to the control concept for the purposes of ifRS 10 . BKS Bank AG as the parent 
company has the decision-making power to affect the variable returns . Besides BKS Bank AG, the following related 
entities were consolidated members of the Group:

entities accounted for using the equity method
the following entities were classified as associates within the meaning of iAS 28, because we could exercise a 
significant influence on those entities’ financial and business policy decisions:

entitieS Accounted foR uSinG the eQuitY method
company Head Office direct equity interest

date of financial 
Statements

oberbank AG 2,098 .5 14 .21% 30/09/2016
Bank für tirol und vorarlberg AG innsbruck 13 .59% 30/9/2016
drei Banken versicherungsagentur Gmbh linz 20 .00% 31/12/2016

Regarding oberbank AG and Btv AG, we point out that although BKS Bank had voting interests of less than 20% in 
those banks, namely of 15 .21% and 14 .95%, respectively, and equity interests of less than 20%, namely of 14 .21% 
and 13 .59%, respectively, the exercise of voting rights was governed by syndicate agreements . these allowed 
participation in those two banks’ financial and business policy decisions within the scope of the 3 Banken Group 
without having a controlling interest in them . 

conSolidAted entitieS 
company Head Office

direct equity
interest

indirect equity 
interest    

date of financial 
Statements

BKS-leasing Gesellschaft m .b .h . Klagenfurt 99 .75% 0 .25% 31/12/2016
BKS—leasing d .o .o . ljubljana 100 .00% - 31/12/2016
BKS-leasing croatia d .o .o . Zagreb 100 .00% - 31/12/2016
BKS-leasing s .r .o . Bratislava 100 .00% - 31/12/2016
iev immobilien Gmbh Klagenfurt 100 .00% - 31/12/2016
immobilien errichtungs- und vermietungs Gmbh & co 
KG Klagenfurt 100 .00% - 31 .12 .2016

BKS 2000—Beteiligungs— und verwaltungs Gmbh Klagenfurt 100 .00% 31/12/2016
BKS Zentrale-errichtungs- und vermietungs Gmbh Klagenfurt - 100 .00% 31/12/2016
BKS hybrid alpha Gmbh Klagenfurt 100 .00% - 31/12/2016
BKS hybrid beta Gmbh Klagenfurt 100 .00% - 31/12/2016
vBG-ch verwaltungs- und Beteiligungs Gmbh Klagenfurt 100 .00% - 31/12/2016
lvm Beteiligungs Gesellschaft m .b .h . Klagenfurt - 100 .00% 31/12/2016
BKS immobilien-Service Gmbh Klagenfurt 100 .00% - 31 .12 .2016
BKS Service Gmbh Klagenfurt 100 .00% - 31/12/2016
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Because of the circular shareholdings that exist between BKS Bank AG, oberbank AG and Btv AG and also 
considering that the consolidated financial statements of the sister banks are prepared simultaneously, the 
most recently available quarterly financial statements of these credit institutions were used when preparing the 
consolidated financial statements of BKS Bank.

entities accounted for on a proportionate basis
pursuant to the provisions of ifRS 11, the investment in AlpenlÄndiScheGARAntie-GeSellSchAft m .b .h . 
(ALGAR) required classification as a joint operation and was, therefore, accounted for on a proportionate basis.

entitieS Accounted foR on A pRopoRtionAte BASiS
company Head Office

direct equity
interest

date of financal 
Statements

AlGAR linz 25 .00% 31/12/2016

other entities not included in the consolidation
Based on our own discretion, the following entities in which BKS Bank held stakes of over 20% were not included in 
the consolidated financial statements on the grounds of the aforementioned immateriality provisions . 

otheR entitieS not included in the conSolidAtion

company Head Office
direct equity

interest
indirect equity 

interest
date of financal 

Statements

finAnciAl StAtementSdRei-BAnKen-edv Gesellschaft 
m .b .h . linz 30 .00% - 31/12/2016

vBG verwaltungs- und Beteiligungs Gmbh Klagenfurt 100 .00% - 31/12/2016
e 2000 liegenschaftsverwaltungs Gmbh Klagenfurt 100 .00% - 31/12/2016
peKRA holding Gmbh pörtschach 100 .00% - 31/12/2016
3 Banken versicherungsmakler Gesellschaft m .b .h . 6,913 .8 30 .00% — 31/12/2016

like all other equity investments, investments in these entities were classified as available-for-sale financial assets 
and, if their fair value could not be reliably measured, recognized at cost .

Performance of the foreign subsidiaries and branches

foReiGn SuBSidiARieS And BRAncheS AS At 31 decemBeR 2016

in €k
net interest 

income
operating

income

number of
employees 

(fte)
Profit/loss 
before tax

income tax 
expense

Profit/loss 
after tax

Branches abroad
Slovenia Branch (banking branch) 10,763 13,129 101 .6 3,888 -666 3,221
croatia Branch (banking branch) 6,808 7,881 55 .2 3,915 -526 3,389
Slovakia Branch (banking branch) 1,280 1,536 23 .5 -1,646 - -1,646
Subsidiaries
BKS leasing d .o .o ., ljubljana 2,283 2,668 13 .4 1,057 -95 962
BKS-leasing croatia d .o .o ., Zagreb 1,521 1,737 11 .8 839 -212 627
BKS-leasing s .r .o ., Bratislava 831 1,482 9 .3 122 -1 121

foReiGn SuBSidiARieS And BRAncheS AS At 31 decemBeR 2015
in €k

net interest
income

operating 
income

number
of employees

Profit/loss
before tax

income tax 
expense

Profit/loss 
after tax

Branches abroad
Slovenia Branch (banking branch) 12,111 14,516 95 .9 1,934 -274 1,660
Slovakia Branch (banking branch) 1,196 1,446 20 .0 -86 - -86
Subsidiaries
BKS-leasing d .o .o ., ljubljana 2,261 2,750 11 .6 946 -477 469
BKS-leasing croatia d .o .o ., Zagreb 1,448 1,534 11 .8 714 -149 565
BKS-leasing s .r .o ., Bratislava 1,033 1,509 12 .0 90 -8 82
BKS Bank d .d ., Rijeka 5,370 6,144 57 .2 1,229 -37 1,192
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foreign currency translation
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies were generally translated at the market exchange rates valid 
at the balance sheet date . the financial statements of subsidiaries that were not prepared in euro were translated 
using the closing rate method .  within the Group, there is just one croatian company that did not prepare its 
financial statements in euro, but in croatian kuna (hRK) . 
the assets and liabilities were translated at the exchange rates applicable at their balance sheet dates, while expenses 
and income were translated applying the average rate of exchange for the respective period . the resulting exchange 
differences were recognized in other comprehensive income and currency translation differences were recognized as 
a component of equity .

NoTeS oN iNdiVidual iTemS oN THe BalaNCe SHeeT
Cash and balances with the central bank
these items consist of cash and balances with the central bank . these were recognized at nominal values .

financial instruments
A financial instrument is a contract, which for the one contractual partner gives rise to a financial asset, and for the 
other contractual partner, a financial liability or equity . financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at their fair 
value, which is, as a rule, at cost . they were subsequently measured in conformity with the provisions of iAS 39 and  
according to their category:
—  financial assets requiring measurement to fair value, subdivided into 
 —  trading assets and trading liabilities: these are financial instrument held for trading, inclusive of all derivatives 

with the exception of those designated as hedges (held for trading); 
 —  financial assets and liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option)
—  available-for-sale financial assets (AfS) 
—  held-to-maturity financial assets (htm) 
—  loans and receivables (lAR) 
—  financial liabilities (other liabilities)

on each reporting date, financial assets are tested to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment . 
Such objective evidence includes, for instance, a debtor in financial difficulties, default or delay in interest payments 
or repayments and concessions made by BKS Bank AG or the consolidated subsidiary for economic or legal reasons 
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the borrower a concession that the lender would not 
otherwiese consider . Subsequent measurement of financial instruments is either at fair value or amortized cost . BKS 
Bank classified and measured financial instruments in conformity with IAS 39 and IFRS 7 as follows:

clASSificAtion And meASuRement of finAnciAl inStRumentS1)

ASSetS At fair value
At amortised 

cost
other, 

note iAS 39 category

cash and balances with the central bank nominal not assignable
Receivables from other banks - loan and receivables
Receivables from customers - loan and receivables
trading assets - held for trading
Financial assets at FV through profit or loss - fair value option
Available-for-sale financial assets - Available for sale
Held-to-maturity financial assets - held to maturity
investments in entities accounted for using the 
equity method

equity 
method not assignable

investment property - not assignable
other assets
—  of which derivatives - held for trading
—  of which other items nominal not assignable
1) As in the preceding year, no reclassifications were carried out pursuant to ifRS 7 .12
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liABilitieS
At fair value

At Amortized 
cost

other, note 
comment iAS 39 category

payables to other banks - other liabilities
payables to customers - other liabilities
liabilities evidenced by paper  
—  Of which at fair value through profit or loss - fair value option
—  of which other liabilities evidenced by paper - other liabilities
trading liabilities - held for trading
other liabilities
—  of which derivatives - held for trading 
—  of which other items nominal not assignable
Subordinated debt capital - other liabilities

financial assets and liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss
Selected items are summarized in assets in the position at fair value through profit or loss (fA) by applying the fair 
value option . the designation is done bythe Alm  committee . these items are taken to profit or loss at their 
fair value (asset or liability and related derivative) . Revaluation gains net of revaluation losses are recognized in the 
income statement in the line item profit/loss from financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss .

available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale (AfS) securities are a separate category of financial instrument . they are what remains when a 
financial asset is accounted for neither as a held-to-maturity asset nor as an asset designated as at fair value through 
profit or loss . they are generally measured by applying stock exchange prices . if these are not available, interest rate 
products are measured using the present value method . market value fluctuations resulting from the measurement 
are recognized in the AfS reserve and not through profit or loss . when such securities are sold, the corresponding 
part of the AfS reserve is released through profit or loss . 

in the event of impairment (e .g . a debtor in severe financial difficulties or a measurable decline in the expected future 
cash flows), a charge is recognized in the income statement . if the reason for such a charge no longer exists, a write-
back is recognized . in the case of equity capital instruments, it was taken to equity through the AfS reserve and in 
the case of debt instruments, to income . investments in entities to which ifRS 10, ifRS 11 and ifRS 28 do not apply 
were deemed to be part of the AfS portfolio . where market prices were unavailable, equity investments were 
valued on a cost basis .

Held-to-maturity financial assets
in this line item, we account for financial instruments that were to be held to maturity (htm) . 
premiums and discounts were spread over their term using the effective interest rate method . impairment charges 
are recognized in the income statement . 

investments in entities accounted for using the equity method
entities in which BKS Bank held a stake of over 20% were accounted for in the consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method .  in addition, oberbank AG and Btv AG were also accounted for in the consolidated 
financial statements using the equity method, although our stakes in oberbank AG and Btv AG are below 20% . 
Syndicate agreements are in place that allow participation in those banks’ financial and business policy decisions 
within the 3 Banken Group alliance without requiring a controlling interest in these entities . if there was objective 
evidence (triggering events) of impairment of an investment accounted for using the equity method, a value in use 
was calculated on the basis of the estimated future cash flows that were to be expected from the associate . the 
present value (value in use) is calculated on the basis of the equity method/dividend discount model . there were no 
impairment losses in this category in the year under review .
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receivables and payables
the category receivables and payables includes all non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that were not listed in an active market . At BKS Bank, this category corresponds to the line items 
Receivables from other banks and Receivables from customers . they were measured at amortized cost . impairments 
were allowed for by recognizing impairment allowances . premiums and discounts are distributed over the life of the 
asset and recognized in profit or loss . other liabilities refer to payables to other banks and payables to customers . 
these liabilities are recognized in the amounts payable .

impairment allowance balance
Account was taken of the risks identifiable at the time of the balance sheet’s preparation by recognizing individual 
impairment charges (in the case of material exposures, these were calculated on the basis of the discounted 
cash flow method), by recognizing individual impairment charges applying group-specific criteria and by way of 
collective impairment assessments carried out in accordance with iAS 39 .64 . the latter includes incurred but not yet 
identifiable losses . the calculation of these losses is done using the formula probability of default (pd) x loss given 
default (lGd) x exposure at default (eAd) x loss identification periods (lip) . provisions were recognized for risks 
arising from contingent liabilities in accordance with iAS 37 . A collective assessment of impairment for country risks 
is recognized at the reporting date, with the exposures outstanding in each country being broken down into risk 
classes . the total impairment allowance balance is disclosed as a deduction on the assets side of the balance sheet 
(impairment account) . the criteria for charging or writing off receivables deemed irrecoverable is when these are 
completely uncollectible and when all the collateral for the receivables have been finally realized .

investment property
this line item encompasses property intended for renting to third parties .  it was measured at amortized cost (cost 
method) . the fair value of investment property is disclosed in the notes .  it was mainly based on estimates (by 
certified appraisers) . depreciation rates were between 1 .5% and 2 .5% . depreciation was linear .

Trading assets/liabilities
within the line item trading assets, primary financial instruments were measured at fair value . derivative financial 
instruments were measured at fair value . financial instruments with negative fair values were recognized on the 
balance sheet in the line item trading liabilities . Revaluation gains and losses on this line item were recognized in the 
income Statement in the line item net trading income . interest expenses incurred in the financing of trading assets 
were reported in the line item net interest income . Spot transactions are recognized and derecognized at their 
settlement dates .

derivatives
derivative financial instruments were measured at fair value . changes in value were generally recognized through 
profit or loss in the income statement .

Property and equipment
the line item property and equipment consists of land, buildings and other property and equipment comprising 
primarily office furniture and business equipment . property and equipment was recognized at the amortized cost of 
acquisition or conversion. Depreciation was based on an asset’s usual useful life and lay within the following bands:
—  immovable goods 1 .5% to 2 .5% (i .e . 66 .7 to 40 years)
—  office furniture and business equipment: 10% to 20% (i.e. from 10 to 5 years).

impairments allowances are recognized in the income Statement under general administrative expenses to take 
account of impairment . if an impairment no longer exists, a write-back is made to the asset’s amortized cost . no 
impairments or reversals were recognized during the period under review . 
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intangible assets
the other intangible assets were all purchased and had limited useful lives; they consisted primarily of software . 
ordinary amortization was linear based on an asset’s usual useful life . the amortization rate for software was 25% 
(i .e . four years) .

leasing
the leased assets within the Group were recognized as assets leased under finance leases (the risks and rewards 
being with the lessee for the purposes of iAS 17) . leased assets were recognized as receivables in the amount of the  
present values of the agreed payments taking into account any residual values .

other assets and other liabilities
Besides deferred items, the line items other assets and other liabilities comprise ‘other’ assets and liabilities, and the 
fair values of derivative instruments . they were recognized at amortized cost or measured to fair value .

liabilities evidenced by paper
the line item liabilities evidenced by paper comprises bonds in circulation, debt securities and other liabilities 
evidenced by paper (own issues) . As a rule, liabilities evidenced by paper were recognized at amortized cost . in 
exceptional cases and based on decisions by the Alm committee, the fair value option is used .

Subordinated debt capital 
Subordinated debt capital and subordinated obligations are liabilities that, by contractual arrangement, will, in the 
event of BKS Bank’s liquidation or bankruptcy, only be settled after the claims of other creditors . 
As a rule, subordinated debt capital was recognized at amortized cost .

deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
the reporting and calculation of income tax was done in accordance with iAS 12 . the calculation for each taxed 
entity was carried out applying the tax rates that, according to the applicable legislation, were to be applied in the 
tax period in which a temporary difference was going to reverse .  deferred taxes were computed on the basis of 
differences between the tax base and the carrying amounts of assets or liabilities for the purposes of ifRSs . these will 
probably give rise to additional tax burdens or reduce tax burdens in the future . 

Provisions
provisions are recognized in accordance with iAS 37 if there was a reliably determinable current obligation to a third 
party arising from an event in the past likely to cause an outflow of resources . BKS Bank mainly created provisions 
for post-employment benefits and similar employee benefit obligations (iAS 19), for taxes and for interest on 
stepped coupon products . the provision for death benefits was also calculated in accordance with the ifRS principles 
contained in iAS 19 . As of 31 december 2000, the retirement pension entitlements of all active employees were 
transferred to vBv-pensionskasse AG as the legal successor to Bvp-pensionskasse AG .

equity
equity consisted of paid-in and earned capital (capital reserves, retained earnings, revaluation reserve, foreign 
exchange differences and profit for the period) . BKS Bank strives to strengthen its capital base on a sustainable basis 
by reinvesting its profits . An Additional tier 1 note was issued in the reporting period . under iAS 32, it required 
classification as equity .
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NoTeS To iNdiVidual liNe iTemS iN THe iNCome STaTemeNT
Net interest income
the line item net interest income contains interest income from credit operations, from securities in the treasury 
portfolio, from equity investments (in the form of dividend payments), from lease receivables and from investment 
property less interest expenses on deposits from other banks and from customers, liabilities evidenced by paper and 
investment property . interest income and interest expenses were accounted for on an accrual basis . income from 
investments in entities accounted for using the equity method was disclosed in the line item net interest income 
net of financing costs . the historically low interest rates led to negative interest earnings . According to the ifRic 
interpretations committee (ic), these should not be presented as income within the meaning of iAS 18 . instead, they 
must be presented in an ‘appropriate expense classification’ . As a result, negative interest income is presented as 
interest expense . likewise, positive interest expenses are presented as interest income . 

impairment charge on loans and advances
this line item recognizes impairment allowances, impairment reversals and provisions . Recoveries on receivables 
previously written off were also accounted for in this line item . 
See also note 2 for details .

Net fee and commission income
the line item net fee and commission income comprises income from services rendered to third parties net of 
the expenses attributed to such services . fees and commission connected with newly granted loans with original 
maturities of more than one year were recognized in the income statement pro rata temporis .

general administrative expenses
the line item General administrative expenses includes staff costs, other administrative costs and depreciation and 
amortization . they were accounted for on an accrual basis . 
    
Net trading income
this line item comprises income and expenses arising from our proprietary trading activities . positions in the trading 
book were marked to market . net trading income also includes revaluation gains and losses .

other operating income net of other operating expenses
this item includes fees, charges, damage, damage compensation, proceeds from the sale of properties  
and similar items and is accounted for on an accrual basis .

iV. diSCreTioNarY deCiSioNS aNd eSTimaTeS
estimates and assumptions were required to account for some of the items on the balance sheet in conformity 
with the international financial Reporting Standards . Such estimates and assumptions were based on historical 
experience, plans, expectations and forecasts regarding future events that were likely from our current perspective . 
the assumptions upon which the estimates were based were regularly reviewed . possible uncertainties in the 
estimates mean that adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities may be necessary in future periods .

BKS Bank operates in the Austrian, croatian, Slovenian, northern italian, western hungarian and Slovakian markets 
with subsidiaries and representation offices . in a number of areas in which discretionary decisions, assumptions and 
estimates were made, the economic environments in the aforementioned markets were precisely analyzed and the 
results considered in the decision-making process . 
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Material discretionary decisions, assumptions and estimates were made in the following areas:

impairment of financial assets: impairment charges
financial assets recognized at cost are tested for objective evidence of impairment at each balance sheet date . this 
requires estimates of the amounts and times of future cash flows . the identification of an impairment event and the 
determination of the individual impairment adjustments have substantial assessment uncertainties and room for 
discretion resulting from the economic situation and development of the borrower as well as from the valuation of 
the credit collateral and which may impact the amounts and times of expected future cash flows . the impairment 
charges for portfolio impairments for loans according to statistical methods for cases in which no impairment 
has been identified is based on models and statistical parameters such as probability of default and loss ratio, and 
therefore also contain room for discretion and assessment uncertainties . See the Risk Report for further details .

measuring the fair value of financial assets and liabilities
fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date . ifRS 13 regulates the measurement to fair value, with validity 
for all standards, of financial assets and liabilities that must or may be measured to fair value as well as the disclosures 
that are required regarding fair value measurements . ifRS 13 assigns the fair values of financial assets and liabilities to 
one of three categories . 

—  Level 1: If there is an active market, the fair value can best be determined on the basis of quoted prices in the 
primary market or, if there is no primary market, in the market that produces the most advantageous results .

—  Level 2: If the financial instrument is not listed on an exchange, its fair value is ascertained using the input factors 
available in the market . BKS Bank uses mainly yield curves and foreign exchange rates as input factors . 

—  Level 3: There are no indirectly or directly observable input factors for financial instruments in this category. Here, 
generally accepted valuation methods are used depending on the financial instrument .

Generally, reclassifications take place at the end of a reporting period .

using the fair value option
the Alm committee decides when to use the fair value option (i .e . designate a financial instrument as at fair value) . 
See the Risk Report for further details .

Provisions for social capital
estimates regarding the discount rate, salary growth, the career trend and the retirement age were required to 
calculate provisions for post-employment, termination, jubilee and death benefits . the discount rate is particularly 
important because a change to the interest rate materially affects the amount of the provision . See note 29 for 
further details .

other provisions
the amounts of other provisions were calculated on the basis of experience and expert assessments .
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deTailS of THe iNCome STaTemeNT 

(1) net inteReSt income
in €k 2015 2016 ± in %

interest income from:
lending transactions 130,320 119,778 -8 .1
fixed-income securities designated at fair value through profit or loss 1,516 1,017 -32 .9
fixed-income securities classified as available for sale 1,622 849 -47 .7
fixed-income securities classified as held-to-maturity 20,397 19,068 -6 .5
leasing receivables 8,460 8,219 -2 .8
Shares 1,600 1,536 -4 .0
positive interest expenses1) 4,836 5,720 18 .3
investment property 3,197 3,044 -4 .8
other investments 4,103 1,736 -57 .7
Total net interest income 176,051 160,967 -8.6

interest expenses for:
deposits from customers and other banks2) 24,347 12,842 -47 .3
liabilities evidenced by paper 24,477 22,984 -6 .1
negative interest income1) 2,852 4,014 40 .7
investment property 917 636 -30 .6
Total interest expenses 52,593 40,476 -23.0

Profit from entities accounted for by the equity method 
income from investments in entities accounted for by the equity method 42,9863) 33,6964) -21 .6
Refinancing costs of investments in entities accounted for by the equity  
method5) - - -

Profit from entities accounted for by the equity method 42,986 33,696 -21.6
Net interest income 166,444 154,187 -7.4

1) this consists of interest expenses that are positive or interest income that is negative as a result of the historically low interest rates . 
2) net of financing costs of investments in entities accounted for using the equity method . 
3) income from investments in 2015 in entities accounted for using the equity method takes account of a dilution effect of €2 .8 million .
4) income from investments in 2016 in entities accounted for using the equity method takes account of a dilution effect of €2 .4 million .
5) Based on the average 3-month euribor .

The line item Interest income includes recoveries on defaulted receivables in the amount of EUR 4.9 million (pr.yr.: 
euR 5 .5 m) and income from unwinding (i .e . from changes in the present values of cash flows) in the amount of euR 
2.5 million (pr.yr.: EUR 2.3 m). 

(2) impAiRment chARGe on loAnS And AdvAnceS 2015 2016 ± in %
in €k

impairment allowances 58,393 42,374 -27 .4
impairment reversals -9,954 -11,318 13 .7
direct write-offs 908 993 9 .4
Recoveries in respect of receivables previously written off -800 -1,042 30 .3
impairment charge on loans and advances 48,547 31,007 -36.1

This line item contains impairment charges on lease receivables in the amount of EUR -0.7 million (pr.yr: EUR 1.3 
million) . 
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(4) net tRAdinG income 
in €k 2015 2016 ± in %

price-based transactions -10 -10 -
interest rate and currency contracts 2,330 1,727 -25 .9
Net trading income 2,320 1,717 -26.0

5) GeneRAl AdminiStRAtive eXpenSeS
in €k 2015 2016 ± in %

Staff costs 68,768 69,401 0 .9
– wages and salaries 50,871 51,310 0 .9
– Social security costs 13,212 13,806 4 .5
– costs of retirement benefits 4,685 4,285 -8 .5
other administrative costs 29,282 30,547 4 .3
depreciation/amortization 7,070 6,480 -8 .3
general administrative expenses 105,120 106,428 1.2

The expenses for post-retirement benefits are defined contribution plan payments to a pension fund of EUR 1.5 
million (2015: EUR 1.5 m). 

(6) otheR opeRAtinG income net of otheR opeRAtinG eXpenSeS
in €k 2015 2016 ± in %

other operating income 10,034 6,590 -34 .3
other operating expenses -15,708 -22,012 40 .1
other operating income net of other operating expenses -5,674 -15,422 >100

The most important items in Other operating income were non-interest leasing income of EUR 0.8 million (2015: 
EUR 0.8 m); commission income from the insurance business of EUR 1.0 million (2015: 0.8 m); reversals of provisions 
of EUR 1.0 million (2015: EUR 0 m) which were mainly the reversals of provisions for processing fees in consumer 
loan operations as well as rental income of EUR 0.1 million (2015: EUR 0.2 m).

the most important increase in other operation expenses was the one-time payment of euR 7 .8 million for the 
stability tax. Further significant expenses were, among others, the regular stability tax of EUR 3.9 million (2015: EUR 
4.1 m), the contributions to the resolution fund of EUR 2.2 million (2015: EUR 2.1 m) and the contributions for the 
deposit protection fund of EUR 1.9 million (2015: EUR 0.8 m).

(3) net fee And commiSSion income
in €k 2015 2016 ± in %

Net fee and commission income:
payment services 21,314 21,138 -0 .8
Securities operations 14,858 13,918 -6 .3
credit operations 14,780 13,587 -8 .1
foreign exchange operations 3,835 2,734 -28 .7
other services 1,367 1,209 -11 .6
Total net fee and commission income 56,154 52,586 -6.4
fee and commission expenses
payment services 1,635 1,727 5 .6
Securities operations 803 870 8 .3
credit operations 368 582 58 .2
foreign exchange operations 240 510 >100
other services 126 66 -46 .8
Total fee and commission expenses 3,172 3,756 18.4
Net fee and commission income 52,982 48,830 -7.8



–215–

CO n SO l I d a T Ed  F I n a n CI a l  ST a T EMEn T S PU rSUanT TO IF rS

(7) pRofit/loSS fRom finAnciAl ASSetS deSiGnAted AS At fAiR vAlue thRouGh pRofit oR loSS 
in €k 2015 2016 ± in %

Revaluation gains and losses and on disposals of derivatives 1,379 11 -99 .2
Gain/(loss) as a result of using the fair value option -1,270 -1874 47 .6
Profit/loss from financial assets designated as at fair value through 
profit or loss 109 -1,863 >100

Fixed-interest loans to customers in the amount of EUR 52.7 million (2015: EUR 73.6 m), bonds in the asset portfolio 
of EUR 22.9 million (2015: 41.2 Mio. EUR) and own issues of EUR 85.1 million (2015: EUR 103.5 m) were hedged by 
interest rate swaps within the fair value option. The result of these hedging transactions was EUR -1.9 million (2015: 
EUR -1.3 m). The effect of the fair value option essentially reflects the amount that can be attributed to counterparty 
risk and creditworthiness risk rather than to changes in market risk .

(8) pRofit/loSS fRom AvAilABle foR SAle finAnciAl ASSetS 
in €k 2015 2016 ± in %

Revaluation gains and losses -4,523 -1,752 -61 .3
Gains and losses from their realization 2,448 1,386 -43 .4
Profit/loss from available-for-sale financial assets -2,075 -366 -82.4

(10) tAXeS
in €k 2015 2016 ± in %

current taxes -9,919 -6,723 -32 .2
deferred taxes 2,809 3,106 10 .6
income tax expense -7,110 -3,617 -49.1

ReconciliAtion
in €k 2015 2016

Profit for the year before tax 60,726 49,801
Applicable tax rate 25% 25%
computed tax expense 15,182 12,450
effect of differing tax rates1) -355 -624
tax savings  
– Arising from tax-exempt profit from equity investments -326 -499
– Arising from use of the equity method -8,769 -8,424
– Arising from other tax-exempt income -202 -669
– Arising from other valuation adjustments -95 35
Additional tax incurred  
– As a result of non-allowable expenses 1,004 111
– Arising from other tax effects 560 237
Aperiodic tax expenses/gaines 112 1,000
income tax expense in period 7,110 3,617
effective tax rate 11 .7% 7 .3%
1)  this figure also includes the change to the tax rate in Slovenia from 17% to 19% and has an effect in this item 

of euR -106k .

(9) pRofit/(loSS fRom held-to-mAtuRitY finAnciAl ASSetS 
in €k 2015 2016 ± in %

Revaluation gains and losses - -
Gains and losses realized on disposal 287 153 -46 .7
Profit/(loss from held-to-maturity financial assets 287 153 -46.7
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(13) ReceivABleS fRom cuStomeRS
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

corporate and business banking customers 3,974,127 4,148,430 4 .4
Retail banking customers 1,139,740 1,181,965 3 .7
receivables from customers, by customer group 5,113,867 5,330,395 4.2

The position receivables from customers includes receivables from lease transactions of EUR 302.9 million (pr.year: 
EUR 294.5 million) In the reporting year there were no sale-and-lease-back transactions of material significance.

ReceivABleS fRom cuStomeRS, BY RemAininG time to mAtuRitY
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

due on demand 368,708 252,359 -31 .6
up to 3 months 806,084 842,656 4 .5
from 3 months to 1 year 691,439 815,192 17 .9
from 1 year to 5 years 1,469,559 1,514,625 3 .1
from 5 years and over 1,778,077 1,905,563 7 .2
receivables from customers, by remaining time to maturity 5,113,867 5,330,395 4.2

finAnce leASe ReceivABleS, BY RemAininG time to mAtuRitY

in €k 2015  <1 year  1-5 years  > 5 years 2016 ± in %

Gross investment value 319,013 93,090 169,319 62,894 325,303 2 .0
Unrealised financial income 24,556 6,306 11,948 4,108 22,362 -8 .9
Net investment value 294,457 86,784 157,371 58,786 302,941 2.9

Receivables under leases are essentially contained in maturity bands >1 year.

deTailS of THe BalaNCe SHeeT 

(11) cASh And BAlAnceS with the centRAl BAnK 

in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

cash in hand 36,700 35,727 -2 .7
credit balances with central banks 153,610 507,815 >100
Cash and balances with the central bank 190,310 543,542 >100

12) ReceivABleS fRom otheR BAnKS
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

Receivables from Austrian banks 153,143 93,766 -38 .8
Receivables from foreign banks 210,719 148,581 -29 .5
receivables from other banks 363,862 242,347 -33.4

ReceivABleS fRom otheR BAnKS, BY RemAininG time to mAtuRitY 
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

due on demand 114,234 81,109 -29 .0
up to 3 months 245,759 160,141 -34 .8
from 3 months to 1 year 3,031 414 -86 .3
from 1 year to 5 years 522 537 2 .9
from 5 years and over 316 146 -53 .8
receivables from other banks, by remaining time to maturity 363,862 242,347 -33.4
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(14) impAiRment AllowAnce BAlAnce
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

At the start of the reporting year 194,161 193,748 -0 .2
+ Additions 54,587 43,113 -21 .0
- Reversals -11,957 -16,574 38 .6
- use -43,021 -65,208 51 .6
+/(-) exchange differences -22 57 >100
at the end of the reporting year 193,748 155,136 -19.9

the line item impairment allowance balance includes provisions for the economic risks arising in connection with 
leasing operations and impairment charges on lease receivables of EUR 7.2 million (2015: EUR 11.7 million).  
further explanations on impairment charges are given in the risk report .

(17) AvAilABle-foR-SAle finAnciAl ASSetS  

in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016

net 
interest 
income

Debt securities and other fixed interest securities 67,303 83,093 23 .5
Shares and other non-interest bearing securities 42,811 47,882 11 .8
other equity investments 56,607 58,360 3 .1
Available-for-sale financial assets 166,721 189,335 13.6

finAnciAl ASSetS deSiGnAted AS At fAiR vAlue thRouGh pRofit oR loSS, BY RemAininG time to 
mAtuRitY
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

up to 3 months 1,431 1,904 33 .1
from 3 months to 1 year 39,823 9,224 -76 .8
from 1 year to 5 years 17,651 17,168 -2 .7
from 5 years and over 55,958 47,272 -15 .5
Financial assets at FV through profit or loss by remaining time to 
maturity 114,863 75,568 -34.2

(15) tRAdinG ASSetS
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

Bonds and other fixed-interest securities - - -
Positive fair values of derivative financial instruments 46 10 -78 .3
— currency contracts - - -
— interest rate contracts 46 10 -78 .3
Trading assets 46 10 -78.3

(16) finAnciAl ASSetS deSiGnAted AS At fAiR vAlue thRouGh pRofit oR loSS  
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

Bonds and other fixed interest securities 41,236 22,893 -44 .5
loans 73,627 52,675 -28 .5
Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss 114,863 75,568 -34.2

AvAilABle-foR-SAle finAnciAl ASSetS, BY RemAininG time to mAtuRitY
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

Debt securities and other fixed interest securities
— up to 3 months 192 358 86 .5
— from 3 months to 1 year 5,135 52,478 >100
— from 1 year to 5 years 59,905 14,869 -75 .2
— from 5 years and over 2,071 15,388 >100
Available-for-sale financial assets, by remaining time to maturity 67,303 83,093 23.5
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(18) held-to-mAtuRitY finAnciAl ASSetS
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

Debt securities and other fixed interest securities 724,891 747,773 3 .2
Held-to-maturity financial assets 724,891 747,773 3.2

held-to-mAtuRitY finAnciAl ASSetS, BY RemAininG time to mAtuRitY
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

Debt securities and other fixed-income securities
— up to 3 months 31,399 55,059 75 .4
— from 3 months to 1 year 64,990 29,992 -53 .9
— from 1 year to 5 years 206,989 192,134 -7 .2
— from 5 years and over 421,513 470,588 11 .6
Held-to-maturity financial assets 724,891 747,773 3.2

(19) inveStmentS in entitieS Accounted foR uSinG the eQuitY 
method
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

oberbank AG 278,308 308,778 10 .9
Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft 155,671 159,514 2 .5
drei-Banken versicherungsagentur Gmbh 4,640 2,615 -43 .6
investments in entities accounted for using the equity method 438,619 470,907 7.4

(20) intAnGiBle ASSetS And Goodwill
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

other intangible assets 1,868 1,735 -7 .1
intangible assets 1,868 1,735 -7.1

(21) pRopeRtY And eQuipment
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

land 7,870 8,072 2 .6
Buildings 42,307 40,238 -4 .9
other 8,260 7,964 -3 .6
Property and equipment 58,437 56,274 -3.7

(22) inveStment pRopeRtY
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

land 8,667 8,643 -0 .3
Buildings 21,023 22,077 5 .0
investment property 29,690 30,720 3.5

At 31 December 2016, the fair values of our investment properties totalled EUR 45.4 million (pr. year: EUR 46.9 
million). Rental income during the year under review was EUR 3.0 million (2015: EUR 3.2 m). Expenses associated 
with achieving this rental income were EUR 0.6 million (2015: EUR 0.9 m).
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pRopeRtY And eQuipment, intAnGiBle ASSetS And inveStment pRopeRtY 2016

in €k
property and 

equipment Assets1) property2) total

cost at 1 January 2016 126,731 11,630 50,817 189,178
Added 3,813 855 4,449 9,117
disposals 4,113 1,442 1,620 7,175
exchange differences 2 1 - 3
Reclassified 1,194 - -1,194 -
Cost of acquisition at 31/12/2016 127,627 11,044 52,452 191,123
Accumulated depreciation/amortization 71,353 9,309 21,732 102,394
Carrying amount at 31/12/2016 56,274 1,735 30,720 88,729
carrying amount at 31/12/2015 58,437 1,868 29,690 89,995
depreciation/amortization in 2016  4,508  975  997 6,480
1 other intangible assets
2 investment property

pRopeRtY And eQuipment, intAnGiBle ASSetS And inveStment pRopeRtY 2015

in €k
property and 

equipment Assets1) property2) total

cost at 01/01/2015 124,125 10,931 50,830 185,886
Added 4,081 904 4,771 9,756
disposals -2,696 -215 -3,576 -6,487
exchange differences 12 10 1 23
Reclassified 1,209 - -1,209 -
Cost of acquisition at 31/12/2015 126,731 11,630 50,817 189,178
Accumulated depreciation/amortization 68,294 9,762 21,127 99,183
Carrying amount at 31/12/2015 58,437 1,868 29,690 89,995
carrying amount at 31/12/2014 59,040 1,993 28,985 90,018
depreciation/amortization in 2015  5,005  1,032  1,033 7,070
1) other intangible assets
2) investment property

(23) defeRRed tAX ASSetS And defeRRed tAX liABilitieS 2016
in €k 01/01/2016 31/12/2016

deferred tax
receivables

deferred tax lia-
bilities

Receivables from customers 3,857 4,220 4,246 26
impairment allowance balance 8,057 10,172 10,667 495
trading assets and trading liabilities -7 -6 18 24
Available-for-sale financial assets -4,146 -4,682 206 4,888
Held-to-maturity financial assets -204 -168 631 799
financial assets and liabilities designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss -2,515 -2,232 - 2,232
property and equipment 609 -681 639 1,320
other assets and liabilities 1,027 612 2,589 1,977
liabilities evidenced by paper 2,410 3,024 3,024 -
provisions/Social capital 7,040 6,768 6,768 -
Tax assets (debt) before netting 16,128 17,027 28,788 11,761
netting of taxes -11,500 -11,500
deferred tax assets/debt net 17,288 261

defeRRed tAX ASSetS And defeRRed tAX liABilitieS 2015
in €k 01/01/2015 31/12/2015

deferred tax 
receivables

deferred tax lia-
bilities

Receivables from customers  3,438 3,857 3,857 -
impairment allowance balance  5,906 8,057 8,057 -
trading assets and trading liabilities -10 -7 15 22
Available-for-sale financial assets -4,322 -4,146 354 2,515
Held-to-maturity financial assets -183 -204 390 4,500
Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss -3,273 -2,515 - 594
property and equipment  624 609 609 -
other assets and liabilities  1,750 1,027 2,708 1,681
liabilities evidenced by paper  2,289 2,410 2,410 -
provisions/Social capital  8,234 7,040 7,040 -
deferred tax assets/debt 14,453 16,128 25,440 9,312
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(24) otheR ASSetS 

in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016

net 
interest 
income

Positive fair values of derivative financial instruments 10,788 12,950 20 .0
other items 15,405 14,801 -3 .9
deferred items 2,373 2,547 7 .3
other assets 28,566 30,298 6.1

(25) pAYABleS to otheR BAnKS 

in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016

net 
interest 
income

payables to Austrian banks 724,001 733,479 1 .3
payables to foreign banks 180,573 134,015 -25 .8
Payables to other banks 904,574 867,494 -4.1

pAYABleS to otheR BAnKS BY RemAininG time to mAtuRitY
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

due on demand 21,390 81,879 > 100
up to 3 months 456,476 347,246 -23 .9
from 3 months to 1 year 396,569 356,035 -10 .2
from 1 year to 5 years 24,706 73,384 >100
from 5 years and over 5,433 8,950 64 .7
Payables to other banks, by remaining time to maturity 904,574 867,494 -4.1

(26) pAYABleS to cuStomeRS
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

Savings deposit balances 1,629,833 1,528,994 -6.2
corporate and business banking customers 218,263 199,001 -8 .8
Retail banking customers 1,411,570 1,329,993 -5 .8
other payables 2,721,883 3,295,766 21.1
corporate and business banking customers 1,927,113 2,414,114 25 .3
Retail banking customers 794,770 881,652 10 .9
Payables to customers 4,351,716 4,824,760 10.9

deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted pursuant to iAS 12 .71 . 

the deferred tax assets were mainly the result of impairment allowances recognized in accordance with iAS 39, de-
rivatives in the banking book with negative fair values, use of the fair value option for debt securities, deferrals of the 
upfront fees contained in receivables from customers and valuations of ‘social capital’ in accordance with iAS 19 that 
differed from the tax base . deferred taxes taken directly to equity in conformity with iAS 19 came to euR 0 .2 million 
(pr.year: EUR 0.9 million).

The projections for the coming three years shows that there will be sufficient taxable income to use the deferred tax 
assets . there are no losses carried forward that will be subject to deferred tax asses .

The deferred tax liabilities were mainly attributable to the measurement of financial investments to fair value and  
the derivatives in the banking book whose fair value was positive .
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pAYABleS to cuStomeRS BY RemAininG time to mAtuRitY
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

due on demand 2,443,389 2,936,116 20 .2
up to 3 months 565,906 398,061 -29 .7
from 3 months to 1 year 752,670 1,055,196 40 .2
from 1 year to 5 years 577,826 430,092 -25 .6
from 5 years and over 11,925 5,295 -55 .6
Payables to customers, by remaining time to maturity 4,351,716 4,824,760 10.9

(27) liABilitieS evidenced BY pApeR

in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016

net 
interest 
income

issued bonds 485,071 475,842 -1 .9
other liabilities evidenced by paper 91,275 68,814 -24 .6
liabilities evidenced by paper 576,346 544,656 -5.5

EUR 85.1 million (2015: EUR 103.5 m) of the securitised liabilities were measured at fair value (use of the fair value 
option) . 

liABilitieS evidenced BY pApeR
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

up to 3 months 12,127 44,468 >100
from 3 months to 1 year 76,145 56,737 -25 .5
from 1 year to 5 years 215,066 199,085 -7 .4
from 5 years and over 273,008 244,366 -10 .5
liabilities evidenced by paper 576,346 544,656 -5.5

(28) tRAdinG liABilitieS

in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016

net 
interest 
income

interest rate contracts 46 10 -78 .3
Trading liabilities 46 10 -78.3

(29) pRoviSionS
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

Provisions for post-employment benefits and similar obligations 74,498 72,480 -2 .7
provisions for taxes (current taxes) 5,739 2,238 -61 .0
other provisions 45,736 52,184 14 .1
Provisions 125,973 126,902 0.7

The line item Provisions for post-employment benefits and similar obligations contains provisions for termination 
benefits in the amount of EUR 22.8 million (2015: EUR 22.0 m), provisions for post-employment benefits in the 
amount of EUR 44.4 million (2015: EUR 47.2 million) and provisions for jubilee benefits in the amount of EUR 
5.3 million (2015: EUR 5.3 m). Other provisions contains provisions of EUR 30.2 million (2015: EUR 29.5 million) 
resulting from the proportionate consolidation of AlGAR . the other material provisions included provisions for 
death benefits in the amount of  EUR 3.7 million (2015: EUR 3.6 m) and provisions for unused vacation time and 
remunerations in the amount of EUR 2.4 million (2015: EUR 2.6 m).

Provisions for termination benefits 
According to the requirements of the Austrian Salaried employees Act (Angestelltengesetz) and the Austrian 
Termination Benefits Act (Abfertigungsgesetz), Austrian employees of BKS Bank whose employment began before 
1 January 2003 are entitled to a termination benefit provided applicable grounds for the termination are given. 
moreover, the collective agreement for employees of banks and bankers) generally gives people who have been in 
service for more than 5 years the right to two additional months’ salary if the employer gives notice .
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Provisions for post-employment benefits
Post-employment benefit obligations existed on the basis of the collective agreement revising post-employment 
benefit law as amended on 23 December 1996. Essentially, the post-employment benefit promises embraced old-
age pensions, occupational disability pensions and widow(er)s’ and orphans’ pensions. In the 2000 financial year, the 
existing benefit promises were transferred to VBV-Pensionkassen AG as the legal successor to BVP-Pensionskassen 
AG. BKS Bank’s benefit obligations were the result of post-employment benefits that were already being paid to 
former employees or their surviving dependants .

The interest rate was determined pursuant to IAS 19.83 on the basis of yields for first-ranking fixed interest 
industrial bonds . As in the preceding year, the table published by mercer (Austria) Gmbh was used  .

ActuARiAl ASSumptionS
in % 2015 2016

financial assumptions
interest rate 2 .40% 1 .77%
Salary trend 1 .80% 1 .24%
career dynamic 0 .25% 0 .25%
demographic assumptions
increase in retirement age to 65 years 65 years
mortality table AvÖ 2008 AvÖ 2008

development of pRoviSionS 

in €k total 31/12/2015

provisions for  
post-employment 

benefits  
and similar obliga-

tions taxes and other total 2016 ± in %

provisions as at 01/01 128,519 74,498 51,475 125,973 -2 .0
± currency change 3 — — — > -100
± transfer — — — — —
+ Additions 14,533 1,737 12,737 14,474 -0 .4
- use -11,651 -824 -7,901 -8,725 -25 .1
- Reversal -5,431 -2,931 -1,889 -4,820 -11 .3
Provisions as of 31/12 125,973 72,480 54,422 126,902 0.7

development of pRoviSionS foR poSt-emploYment BenefitS And SimilAR oBliGAtionS
in €k 31 .12 .2015 31 .12 .2016 ± in %

provisions as of 01/01 78,917 74,498 -5 .6
+ interest expense 1,685 1,668 -1 .0
+ expense for service time 1,454 1,336 -8 .1
- payments during the reporting year -3,770 -4,207 11 .6
± actuarial profit/loss1) -3,788 -815 -78 .5
Provisions as of 31/12 74,498 72,480 -2.7
1) based on changed financial assumptions

SenSitivitY AnAlYSiS foR poSt-emploYment BenefitS And SimilAR oBliGAtionS 

Sensitivity analysis of dBo/present value of obligations in €k 

termination 
benefits 

31/12/2015

post-retirement 
benefits 

31/12/2015

termination 
benefits 

31/12/2016

post retirement 
benefits 

31/12/2016

discount rate +1 .0% -2,582 -4,844 -2,575 -4,563
discount rate -1 .0% 1,173 5,948 1,094 5,608
wage increase +0 .5% 133 426 79 401
wage increase -0 .5% -1,744 -403 -1,754 -382
pension increase +0 .5% 2,169 — 2,022
pension increase -0 .5% -2,017 — -1,881
increase in life expectations by around 1 year 2,162 — 2,041
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mAtuRitY AnAlYSiS

cash flows in €k 

termination 
benefits 

31/12/2016
(1) 

31/12/2016

expected payments 2017 613 3,203
expected payments in 2018 1,365 3,001
expected payments 2019 1,631 2,802
expected payments in 2020 3,326 2,612
expected payments 2021 2,677 2,415
Total expected payments 2017 to 2021 9,612 14,033
weighted average maturity 8 .54 11 .90

Since 1 January 2013, a sensitivity analysis pursuant to iAS 19 .145a has been mandatory . this sensitivity analysis
shows the influence a change in the parameter for the major actuarial assumptions would have on the provisions for 
termination benefits and post-employment benefits as at 31 December 2016. 

The maturity analysis shows the expected termination benefit and post-employment benefit payments in the coming 
five financial years as calculated by an actuary. Payments in the financial year 2016 amounted to EUR 4.2 million 
(2015: EUR 3.8 million).

(30) otheR liABilitieS 
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

Negative fair values of derivative financial instruments 29,587 30,821 4 .2
other liabilities 18,284 23,566 28 .9
deferred items 5,601 5,215 -6 .9
other liabilities 53,472 59,602 11.5

(31) SuBoRdinAted deBt cApitAl
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

tieR 2 capital 141,752 158,585 11 .9
hybrid capital 40,000 40,000 —
Subordinated debt capital 181,752 198,585 9.3

SuBoRdinAted deBt cApitAl BY RemAininG time to mAtuRitY 
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

up to 3 months 3,559 23,560 >100
from 3 months to 1 year 7,695 28,598 >100
from 1 year to 5 years 119,595 93,352 -21 .9
from 5 years and over 50,903 53,075 4 .3
Subordinated debt capital by remaining time to maturity 181,752 198,585 9.3

In the financial year 2017, TIER 2 capital with a nominal value of EUR 48.6 million will mature (2015: EUR 7.7 
million) . in conformity with cRR Article 484, euR 40 million of hybrid capital was counted towards consolidated 
own funds (2015: EUR 40.0 million). It did not constitute a component of consolidated equity.

Subordinated debt capital is reported with accrued interest. The nominal value was EUR 195.0 (2015: EUR 178.2 m).
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detAilS on SuBoRdinAted deBt cApitAl (nominAl vAlueS)

in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 full term

Variable Ergänzungskapital-Obligation 2006-2021/PP 2,350 2,350 15 years
5% Ergänzungskapital-Obligation 2007-2017/3 9,100 9,100 10 years
4 ½% Ergänzungskapital-Obligation 2008-2016/2 7,700 — 8 years
Stufenzins-Ergänzungskapital-Obligation 2008-2020/4 15,000 15,000 12 years
5% Ergänzungskapital-Obligation 2009-2017/3 20,000 20,000 8 years
4 ¾% Ergänzungskapital-Obligation 2009-2017/8 19,500 19,500 8 years
Stufenzins-Ergänzungskapital-Obligation 2010-2020/2 16,000 16,000 10 years
4 ¾% Ergänzungskapital-Obligation 2011-2019/3 20,000 20,000 8 years
7.35% hybrid bond of BKS Hybrid alpha GmbH 2008 20,000 20,000 Unlimited
6% Hybrid bond of BKS Hybrid beta GmbH 2010 20,000 20,000 Unlimited
5% Nachrangige Obligation 2014-2023/2 20,000 20,000 9 years
4% Nachrangige Obligation 2015-2025/2 8,512 20,000 10 years
2 ¾% Nachrangige Obligation 2016-2024/2 — 13,027 8 years
Total subordinated debt capital 178,162 194,977

(32) ShAReholdeRS’ eQuitY AfteR minoRitY inteReStS 
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

Subscribed capital 72,072 79,279 10 .0
— SHare CaPiTal 72,072 79,279 10 .0
capital reserves 143,056 193,032 34 .9
Retained earnings and other reserves 621,714 663,075 6 .7
Additional equity instruments (At1 note) 23,400 23,400 —
Shareholders’ equity before minority interests 860,242 958,786 11.5
minority interests -15 -19 26 .7
Shareholders’ equity after minority interests 860,227 958,767 11.5

the share capital was represented by 37,839,600 ordinary no-par voting shares and 1,800,000 non-voting no-par 
preference shares . each share had a nominal value of euR 2 .0 . capital reserves contain premiums from the 
issuance of shares. Retained earnings and other reserves consist essentially of reinvested profits. Additional equity 
instruments consist of the Additional Tier 1 note issued in 2015 which must be classified as equity pursuant to IAS 
32 . the liability reserve required by § 57 (5) Banking Act (BwG) in the amount of euR 80 .8 million is contained in 
the item Retained earnings .

(33) cApitAl mAnAGement
capital management at BKS Bank consisted of two elements of equal importance, namely management within the 
scope of the regulatory minimum capital ratio requirements and internal management within the scope of icAAp 
(the internal capital Adequacy Assessment process) . 

Expenditure on subordinated obligations during the financial year came to EUR 9.7 million (2015: EUR 9.9 m).
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BKS BANK GROUP OF CREDIT INSTITUTIONS: OWN FUNDS PURSUANT TO CRR
in € m  31/12/2015 31/12/2016

Share capital 71 .0 77 .8
Reserves net of intangible assets 748 .0 831 .4
deductions -243 .4 -283 .3
Common equity Tier 1 capital1) 575.6 625.9
common equity tier 1 ratio 11 .8% 12 .6%
hybrid capital 28 .0 24 .0
At1 note 23 .4 23 .4
deductions -51 .4 -47 .4
Additional tier 1 capital — —
Tier 1 capital 575.6 625.9
tier 1 ratio (including Additional tier 1 capital) 11 .8% 12 .6%
tier 2 capital items and instruments 114 .7 120 .6
deductions -90 .4 -76 .5
Tier 2 capital 24.3 44.1
Total own funds 599.9 670.0
own funds ratio 12 .3% 13 .5%
Assessment base 4,883 .4 4,974 .1
own funds surplus 209.2 241.0
1) Includes profit for the year 2016. Formal adoption is still outstanding.

in the reporting year 2016, the regulatory capital requirements were met at all times; the common equity tier 1 ratio 
was 5 .125% and the own funds ratio 8 .625% .

The aim was to maintain the regulatory minimum capital ratios required by CRR at all times and to hold sufficient 
assets to cover risks within the scope of icAAp . the main focus of our capital management activities was on limiting 
and controlling the risks assumed by the bank as part of the overall bank risk management process . 

to achieve these goals, the degree of utilization of all risk limits was checked and reported within the management 
information process . the core variables used for analysis and management purposes in the capital management 
process were the own funds ratio, the tier 1 ratio, the degree of utilization of the assets available to cover risks and, 
additionally, the leverage ratio .

The way we calculate our own funds changed significantly when Basel III was implemented by CRD IV and CRR at 
the beginning of 2014 together with the amended Austrian Banking Act (BwG) . in accordance with the transitional 
provisions of cRR and cRd iv, capital instruments that are no longer eligible are gradually being eliminated while 
the new rules for the regulatory adjustments are successively being introduced . At the reporting date, the regulatory 
group of consolidated companies was the same as the ifRS group of consolidated companies .
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(34) fAiR vAlueS
financial assets and debt measured to fair value

 
level 1 
“market 

value”

level 2 
‘Based on 

market data’

level 3 
“internal 

measurement 
method”

31/12/2016 
in €k

total fair 
value

assets
trading assets — 10 — 10
fA1) at fair value through profit or loss 22,893 — 52,675 75,568
Available-for-sale financial assets 169,215 —  20,1202) 189,335
other assets (derivatives) — 12,950 — 12,950
equity and liabilities
liabilities evidenced by paper — — 85,130 85,130
trading liabilities — 10 — 10
other liabilities (derivatives) — 30,821 — 30,821
1) fA = financial assets
2)  these are equity investments that are recognized at cost, because it is not possible to determine a  

reliable fair value . the presentation in level 3 is given for the sake of completeness .

 
level 1 
“market 

value”

level 2 
‘BASed on 

mARKet 
dAtA’

level 3 
“internal 

measurement 
method”

total fair 
value

31/12/2015 
in €k

assets
trading assets  46  46 
fA1)Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss  41,236  73,627  114,863 
Available-for-sale financial assets  146,128  20,5932)  166,721 
other assets (derivatives)  10,788  10,788 
equity and liabilities
liabilities evidenced by paper  103,512  103,512 
trading liabilities  46  46 
other liabilities (derivatives)  29,587  29,587 
1) fA = financial assets
2)  these are equity investments recognized at cost, because it is not possible to reliably determine a fair value .  

the presentation in level 3 is done for the sake of completeness .

LEVEL 3: MOVEMENTS IN FINANCIAL ASSETS AND DEBT MEASURED  
At fAiR vAlue

in €k

 
financial assets at  

fair value through profit 
or loss

liabilities evidenced by paper
of which, at fair value 
through profit or loss

As at 01/01/2016 73,627 103,512
Reclassified — —
income Statement1) -1,047 1,618
Other profit or loss — —
purchased — —
Sold/redeemed -19,905 -20,000
as at 31/12/2016 52,675 85,130

1) Changes in valuation through profit/loss; reported in Result of financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss

LEVEL 3: MOVEMENTS 01/01/ TO 31/12/2015

in €k

 
financial assets designated 

as at fair value through profit 
or loss

liabilities evidenced by paper
of which, at fair value 
through profit or loss

At 1 January 2015 87,061 106,316
Reclassified - -
income Statement 1) -1,307 -2,804
Other profit or loss — —
purchased — —
Sold/redeemed -12,127 —
as at 31/12/2015 73,627 103,512
1) Valuation changes in profit/loss; reported in item Profit/loss of FA at fair value through profit or loss
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Valuation policies and classification
the fair values shown in the category level 1 ‘market values’ were determined using prices quoted on active 
markets (stock exchange) . 

if market values were unavailable, fair value was ascertained using customary valuation models based on 
observable input factors and market data, and presented in the category level 2 ‘Based on market data’ (e .g . 
by discounting future cash flows from financial instruments). In general, fair values shown in this category were 
ascertained on the basis of market data that were observable for the assets or liabilities (e .g . yield curves, foreign 
exchange rates) . in general, items in the category level 2 were measured using the present value method . 

In the category Level 3 ‘Internal Measurment Method’, the values of individual financial instruments were 
measured on the basis of special generally accepted valuation methods . if their fair value could not be reliably 
ascertained, available-for-sale equity investments were recognized at their carrying amounts . in general, liabilities 
evidenced by paper in the category level 3 were measured on the basis of market data that were observable for 
the liabilities (e .g . yield curves, foreign exchange rates) . the factors affecting the values of positions in the category 
level 3 that were not observable in the market were adjustments on the basis of internal rating procedures to the 
credit ratings of customers and of BKS Bank itself with respect to liabilities evidenced by paper and the credit 
spreads derived from them . in general, items in the category level 3 were measured using the present value 
method . 

Reclassification
Reclassifications between the individual categories were carried out if market values (Level 1) or reliable input 
factors (level 2) were no longer available or if market values (level 1) became newly available for individual 
financial instruments (e.g. because of an IPO). 

Changes in the ratings of assets and liabilities measured to fair value
Changes in the fair values of securities and loans designated as at fair value through profit or loss arising from 
default risk were calculated on the basis of the internal ratings of those financial instruments and their remaining 
term to maturity . the change in the default risk associated with liabilities measured at fair value in the period under 
review was calculated on the basis of a funding curve specific to BKS Bank and a financial instrument’s remaining 
term to maturity . in the 2016 reporting year, the changes in the ratings of the receivables from customers 
measured at fair value had an effect on their fair value in the amount of  EUR 0.0 million (2015: EUR 0.3 million). 
in the 2016 reporting year, the changes in the ratings of BKS Bank’s liabilities evidenced by paper measured at fair 
value had an effect on their fair value in the amount of EUR 0.7 million (2015: EUR 0.5 m).

Sensitivity analysis
the result of the sensitivity analysis of receivables from customers measured at fair value results in an accumulated 
change in value of EUR 0.2 million (2015: EUR 0.3 m), assuming an improvement or deterioration in the credit 
rating of 10 basis points in the credit spread . An analysis assuming an improvement or deterioration in BKS Bank’s 
rating of 10 basis points in the credit spread would result in an accumulated change in the value of the liabilities 
evidenced by paper designated at fair value of EUR 0.6 million (2015: EUR 0.6 million).

fiNaNCial aSSeTS aNd deBT NoT meaSured aT fair Value
In the reporting year, receivables from other banks of EUR 242,392k (2015: EUR 363,976k) and receivables from 
customers of EUR 5,397,186k (2015: EUR 5,175,621k) and payables to other banks of EUR 870,217k (2015: EUR 
907,737k) and payables to customers of EUR 4,835,759k (2015: EUR 4,366,180k) were transferred from Level 2 
to Level 3, because the input factors for financial assets and debt not designated at fair value cannot always be 
observed directly or indirectly .
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level 1 ‘mar-

ket value’
level 2 ‘Based 
on market data’

level 3
‘internal 

measurement 
method’ total fair value

carrying value
31/12/2016

31/12/2016 
in €k

assets
Receivables from other banks 242,392 242,392 242,347
Receivables from customers 5,397,186 5,397,186 5,330,395
fA1) held-to-maturity 816,054 816,054 747,773
equity and liabilities
payables to other banks 870,217 870,217 867,494
payables to customers 4,835,759 4,835,759 4,824,760
liabilities evidenced by paper 448,488 79,353 527,841 459,526
Subordinated debt capital 200,510 2,355 202,865 198,585
1) fA = financial assets

 
level 1 ‘mar-

ket value’

level 2 ‘Based 
on market 

data’

level 3
“internal 

measurement
method

total fair 
value

carrying value
31/12/2015

31/12/2015
in €k

assets
Receivables from other banks  363,976  363,976  363,862 
Receivables from customers  5,175,621  5,175,621  5,113,867 
fA1) held-to-maturity  791,709  791,709  724,891 
equity and liabilities
payables to other banks  907,737  907,737  904,574 
payables to customers  4,366,180  4,366,180  4,351,715 
liabilities evidenced by paper  411,918  80,311  492,229  472,834 
Subordinated debt capital  182,339  2,354  184,693  181,752 
1) fA = financial assets

(35) income StAtement BY vAluAtion cAteGoRY

in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016

net interest income in the held-for-trading portfolio 54 29
Gains/(losses) in the held-for-trading portfolio 2,266 1,688
Net income in the held-for-trading portfolio 2,320 1,717
Net interest income from FAs designated as at fair value through profit or loss1) 2,180 2,194
Gains/(losses) on items designated as at fair value through profit or loss 109 -1,862
Net income from FAs designated as at fair value through profit or loss2) 2,289 332
net interest income in the portfolio of available-for-sale fAs 7,325 4,120
Gains/(losses) in the portfolio of available-for-sale fAs 2,447 1,386
impairment losses in the portfolio of available-for-sale fAs -4,522 -1,752
Net income in the portfolio of available-for-sale fas 5,250 3,754
net interest income from loans and receivables 140,713 131,405
impairment losses (impairment charge) on loans and receivables -48,547 -31,007
net fee and commission income on loans and receivables 37,687 34,640
Net income from loans and receivables 129,853 135,038
net interest income in the portfolio of held-to-maturity fAs 20,397 19,068
Gains/(losses) in the portfolio of held-to-maturity fAs 287 153
Net income in the portfolio of held-to-maturity fas 20,684 19,221
Interest expenses on financial liabilities measured at amortized cost -49,349 -38,720
Net income on financial liabilities measured at amortized cost -49,349 -38,720
other operating income net of other operating expenses3) -50,321 -71,541
Profit/loss for the year before tax 60,726 49,801
1)FAs = financial assets 
2)  effect of using the fair value option and revaluation gains and losses on other assets and other liabilities 

3) includes remaining net interest and commission income, general administrative expenses, other operating expenses and income
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(36) infoRmAtion on ShAReS in otheR entitieS 
Of the entities recognized by the equity method, Oberbank AG and BTV AG are included in the consolidated financial 
statements for the following reasons, even though they do not reach the 20% threshold: For the investments in 
oberbank AG, there is an agreement between BKS Bank, Btv AG and der wüstenrot wohnungswirtschaft reg . reg . 
Genossenschaft mbh and for the investments in Bvt AG there is a syndicate agreement between BKS Bank AG, 
oberbank AG, Generali 3Banken holding AG and wüstenrot wohnungswirtschaft reg . Gen .m .b .h . 

Oberbank AG and BTV AG are included in the consolidated financial statements as of 30 September 2016, because 
the figures in the IFRS consolidated financial statements for year-end are not available due to the short time.  
the carrying value of equity investments in drei-Banken versicherungsagentur Gmbh recognized by the equity 
method was EUR 2.6 million (2015: EUR 4.6 m) as at 31 December 2016. Profit for the year after tax was EUR 3.8 
million (2015: EUR 2.3 million).

ASSociAted compAnieS
fair value  

of the share

values as at 31/12
type of relationship  
with the company

Head Office  
138 .7 equity interests in %

2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016

oberbank ag Strategic investment to 
secure autonomy

linz 16 .52 15 .21 15 .30 14 .21 258,898 301,717

BTV ag Strategic investment to 
secure autonomy

innsbruck 14 .95 14 .95 13 .59 13 .59 79,973 78,478

3 Banken 
Versicherungs- 
agentur gmbH

Strategic investment to 
sell insurance

linz 20 .00 20 .00 20 .00 20 .00 4,6401) 2,6151)

1)  this investment is measured at cost, because it is not possible to reliably measure 
the fair value .

finAnciAl infoRmAtion ABout the mAteRiAl ASSociAteS
oberbank AG Btv AG

in € m 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 31/12/2016

net interest income 381 .2  359 .6 161 .7  144 .8 
net fee and commission income 132 .7  130 .9 49 .2  47 .5 
Consolidated profit for the year after tax 166 .4  181 .3 138 .7  63 .8 
total assets 18,243 .3  19,158 .5 9,426 .3  10,013 .8 
Receivables from customers by impairment charge 12,351 .7  13,328 .2 6,359 .6  6,754 .2 
equity 1,925 .7  2,282 .8 1,148 .7  1,219 .4 
primary funds 12,620 .0  13,008 .9 7,020 .7  7,323 .4 
— of which, savings deposit balances 2,912 .6  2,794 .2 1,200 .8  1,248 .2 
— liabilities evidenced by paper, including subordinated debt 2,098 .5  2,064 .5 1,377 .9  1,392 .8 
dividends received (in €k) 2,683  2,713 1,019 1,121

Joint arrangement, joint operation
Under the provisions of IFRS 11, Alpenländische Garantie-GESELLSCHAFT m.b.H. (ALGAR) is classified as a joint 
operation and was included in the consolidation on a proportionate basis . AlGAR is run jointly by oberbank AG, Btv 
AG and BKS Bank AG and serves to provide security for the large loans of the partner banks . each bank delegates one 
managing director; two directors together represent the company . the decisions of its general meeting are always 
unanimous . 

(37) diScloSuRe of RelAtionS with RelAted entitieS And peRSonS
the following tables contain the mandatory disclosures of BKS Bank’s relations with related entities and persons 
required by the Austrian Business code § 245a and iAS 24 . entities and persons are deemed to be related entities or 
persons if they are able to exercise a controlling or significant influence over the enterprise.

Non-controlling interests
non-controlling interests played a minimal role in the BKS Bank Group, so disclosures thereof have not been 
provided on the grounds of immateriality .
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diScloSuRe of RelAtionS with RelAted entitieS And peRSonS

in €k

outstanding Balances Guarantees Received Guarantees provided  

At 31/12/2015 At 31/12/2016 At 31/12/2015 At 31/12/2016 At 31/12/2015 At 31/12/2016

Non-consolidated subsidiaries — — — —
Receivables 5,369 3,213
payables 1,108 1,379
associates and
joint arrangements — — — —
Receivables 12,869 17,799
payables 158,949 67,767
Key management personnel — — — —
Receivables 366 458
payables 812 859
other related persons — — 109 —
Receivables 14 124
payables 451 753

Transactions with related entities and persons were on arm’s length terms. During the financial year, there were 
no provisions for doubtful receivables and there was no expenditure on irrecoverable or doubtful receivables from 
related entities or persons .

RelAted peRSon diScloSuReS

in €k 2015 2016

average number of staff 999 998
—  Blue-collar workers employed in the BKS Bank Group 49 56
—  white-collar staff employed in the BKS Bank Group 950 942
average number of people employed by entities accounted for on a proportion-
ate basis 3,407 3,400
remunerations paid to the management Board
—  Remunerations paid to active members of the management Board 1,059 1,213
— Remunerations paid to former members of the management Board and their surviving 
    dependants 1,037 895
remunerations paid to the Supervisory Board
—  Remunerations paid to active members of the Supervisory Board 193 183
— Remunerations paid to former members of the Supervisory Board and their surviving    
   dependants — —
management compensation pursuant to iaS 24 1,263 1,407
— Short-term employee benefits 1,138 1,277
— Post-employment benefits 125 130
—  Other long-term benefits — —
— Termination benefits — —
— Share-based payment benefits — —
loans and advances granted
— loans and advances granted to members of the management Board 92 72
— loans and advances granted to members of the Supervisory Board 274 386
Expenditure on termination and post-employment benefits
— Expenditure on termination and post-employment benefits for members of the 
   management Board 73 113
—  Expenditure on termination and post-employment benefits for other employees 6,849 5,721

All loans and advances to and deposits from members of the management Board and Supervisory Board were grant-
ed or taken on arm’s length terms .

IAS 24.9 defines key management personnel as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and supervising the activities of the entity, whether directly or indirectly, and these must be taken to 
include the members of the management Board and Supervisory Board
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SeGment ReSultS
Retail banking corporate and business customers financial markets

in €k 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016

net interest income 27,218 26,172 82,870 85,499 54,981 40,301
— of which from investments in entities 
accounted for by the equity method — — — — 42,986 33,696
impairment charge on loans and advances -2,115 -1,339 -44,095 -29,703 -2,337 35
net fee and commission income 23,238 21,668 28,603 26,776 218 173
net trading income — — — — 2,320 1,717
General administrative expenses -49,636 -51,893 -43,166 -45,877 -7,363 -6,388
other operating income 
net of other operating expenses -182 1,872 129 1,742 -100 -62
Profit from financial assets — — — — -1,679 -2,076
Profit/loss for the year before tax -1,477 -3,520 24,341 38,437 46,040 33,700
Average risk-weighted assets 499,676 499,294 3,062,491 3,119,765 861,928 898,800
Average allocated equity 39,974 39,944 244,999 249,581 533,557 609,187
Segment liabilities 2,672,175 2,777,915 2,677,441 3,031,078 1,514,932 1,573,821
ROE based on profit for the year -3.7% -8.8% 9.9% 15.4% 8.6% 5.5%
Cost/income ratio 98.7% 104.4% 38.7% 40.2% 12.8% 15.2%
risk/earnings ratio 7.8% 5.1% 53.2% 34.7% 4.3% —

other total

in €k 2015 2016 2015 2016

net interest income 1,375 2,215 166,444 154,187
— of which from investments in entities accounted for by the  
    equity method — — 42,986 33,696
impairment charge on loans and advances — — -48,547 -31,007
net fee and commission income 923 213 52,982 48,830
net trading income — — 2,320 1,717
General administrative expenses -4,955 -2,270 -105,120 -106,428
other operating income net of other operating expenses -5,521 -18,974 -5,674 -15,422
Profit from financial assets — — -1,679 -2,076
Profit/loss for the year before tax -8,178 -18,816 60,726 49,801
 Average risk-weighted assets 51,390 54,280 4,475,485 4,572,139
 Average allocated equity 9,515 10,802 828,045 909,514
Segment liabilities 198,884 198,241 7,063,433 7,581,055
ROE based on profit for the year 7.3% 5.5%
Cost/income ratio 48.7% 56.2%
risk/earnings ratio 29.2% 20.1%

(38) SeGment RepoRtinG 
Segment reporting is based on the organizational structure of the Group that underlies its internal management 
reporting system .  

Method: Breakdown of net interest income is done using the market interest rate method. The costs incurred are 
allocated to the business areas in which these costs originate . Returns on maturity transformation are allocated to the 
financial markets segment .
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(40) SuBoRdinAted ASSetS
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

Receivables from customers 3,530 40 -98 .9
Debt securities and other fixed-interest securities — — —
Shares and other variable-yieldsecurities — — —

41) foReiGn cuRRencY BAlAnceS
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

Assets 491,644 387,512 -21 .2
liabilities 172,029 277,824 61 .5

(39) non-inteReSt ASSetS 
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

Non-interest asset 295,899 197,273 -33.3

the average allocated equity carries 5% interest and is recognized as return on equity invested in the net interest 
income . the profit for the respective segment is measured on the profit before tax earned in the segment . Apart from 
the cost/income ratio, return on equity was one of the principal benchmarks for managing the business segments . 
Segment reporting is based on our internal management processes . the management Board as a whole is responsible 
for the enterprise’s management .

In detail, the reports used for internal management purposes comprised the following:
—  monthly reporting of results at the profit centre level
—  Quarterly reports for all relevant risk types
—  Ad-hoc reports of exceptional events

Corporate and business banking segment
in the segment corporate and business banking some 18,600 corporate and business banking customers were 
served as of the end of december 2016 . BKS Bank having originally been conceived as a corporate and business 
bank, this business segment is still the enterprise’s most important pillar . corporate and business banking 
customers still accounts for the larger part of the loan portfolio and made an essential contribution to profit for the 
period . Besides all the income and expenses of BKS Bank AG that arose from business with corporate and business 
banking customers, the income and expenses of BKS Bank d .d . in croatia and of our leasing companies were also 
assigned to this segment, provided they arose from business done with companies .

retail banking segment
All income and expense components of BKS Bank AG, BKS Bank d .d ., BKS-leasing Gesellschaft m .b .h ., BKS-leasing 
d .o .o ., BKS-leasing croatia d .o .o . and BKS-leasing s .r .o . from business with retail customers and wage and salary 
earners are reported summarized in the retail banking segment . Some 133,600 customers were served in this 
segment at the end of december 2016 .

financial markets segment
The financial markets segment includes the profits from BKS Bank AG’s proprietary trading activities, from 
securities held in its own portfolios, from equity investments, from derivatives in the banking book and from 
interbank transactions as well as from income from interest-rate term structure management .

The segment ‘other’ encompasses everything not directly connected with business segments, items of income 
and expenses that cannot be allocated to the other segments and those contributions to profit that cannot be 
attributed to any one segment . 

non-interest receivables from customers adjusted for impairment came to euR 107 .1 million  
(2015: EUR 187.2 million). 
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(42) AdminiStRAtion And AGencY SeRviceS
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

administration and agency services 1,764 1,538 -12.8

43) continGent liABilitieS And commitmentS 
in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 ± in %

Guarantees 385,094 387,962 0 .7
letters of credit 1,777 2,583 45 .4
Contingent liabilities 386,871 390,545 0.9
other commitments 1,057,680 1,243,552 17 .6
Commitments 1,057,680 1,243,552 17.6

other commitments consists mainly of credit lines already promised but not yet used . the likelihood of these credit 
lines being is was monitored with the probability of use being analyzed on a regular basis .

(44) eventS AfteR the BAlAnce Sheet dAte
no material or reportable business transactions took place between the end of the financial year and the preparation 
of the financial statements and their certification by the auditor .

(45) ASSetS SeRvinG AS collAteRAl foR liABilitieS
liabilities Assets 31/12/2015 31/12/2016

money held in trust pursuant to § 230a Austrian civil code Securities 12,987 12,994
clearing system deposit for stock exchange trading in vienna Securities 1,581 1,583
deposit for trading through euReX Securities 550 550
collateral for trading through Xetra Securities 1,482 1,484
euroclear pledge Securities 15,031 15,019
euReX Repo (Gc pooling)   Securities - 21,858
margin for futures contracts Receivables from other banks 32,670 25,270
collateral for oenB funding loans 264,355 300,000
cover pool of mortgage loans for covered bonds loans 168,911 205,072
cover pool of public sector debt for covered bonds loans 13,640 12,485
pledge for oeKB ccpA clearing 
fund Receivables from other banks 25 25

(46) feeS pAid to the BAnK AuditoR
in €k 2015 2016 ± in %

Fees for auditing single-entity and consolidated financial statements 434 427 -1 .5
other auditing services 75 49 -34 .7
other services 189 124 -34 .4
Total fees 698 600 -13.5

(47) RiSK RepoRt
Regarding the Risk Report disclosures required by ifRS 7 .31 to 7 .42, we have made use of the option provided for 
in the provisions contained in ifRS 7 .B6 under which a separate risk report that is a part of the management Report 
is permitted to replace disclosures in the notes . the risk report is published together with the annual report and 
financial report, and made accessible to the addressees of the financial statements on the same terms and at the same 
time as the financial statements.

trust money savings deposits were secured in conformity with the legal requirements set out in § 68 Banking Act 
(BwG) . the cover pool for covered bonds is governed by the Austrian covered Bonds Act . in addition, the Group had 
pledged assets as collateral for liabilities arising from derivative transactions . 



–234–

CO nSO lIdaTEd F InanCIal STaTEMEnTS PUrSUanT TO IFrS

(48) deRivAtiveS tRAnSAction volume (BAnKinG BooK) 
     nominal amount, by time to maturity     nominal amount      fair value (positive)     fair value (negative)

in €k <1 year 1-5 years > 5 years 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 31/12/2016

interest rate contracts 14,250 63,000 206,892 409,902 284,142 6,591 7,870 7,204 6,821
otc products 14,250 63,000 206,892 409,902 284,142 6,591 7,870 7,204 6,821
interest rate swaps 14,250 63,000 206,892 409,902 284,142 6,591 7,870 7,204 6,821
— calls 7,125 31,500 103,446 204,951 142,071 133 — 7,110 6,821
— puts 7,125 31,500 103,446 204,951 142,071 6,458 7,870 94 —
interest rate options — — — — — — —
— calls — — — — — — —
— puts — — — — — — —
Currency contracts 1,321,594 350,883 — 1,791,725 1,672,477 3,563 4,494 21,875 23,629
otc products 1,321,594 350,883 — 1,791,725 1,672,477 3,563 4,494 21,875 23,629
currency forwards 714,549 — — 824,182 714,549 3,347 2,786 746 858
— calls 358,513 — — 413,600 358,513 3,250 2,750 695 827
— puts 356,036 — — 410,582 356,036 97 36 51 31
capital market swaps — 350,883 — 423,040 350,883 5 — 19,083 21,048
— calls — 164,646 — 201,536 164,646 — — — —
— puts — 186,237 — 221,504 186,237 5 — 19,083 21,048
money market swaps (currency swaps) 607,045 — — 544,503 607,045 211 1,708 2,046 1,723
— calls 303,314 — — 271,177 303,314 11 886 — 5
— puts 303,731 — — 273,326 303,731 200 822 2,046 1,718
Securities contracts — — — — — — — — —
exchange-traded products — — — — — — — — —
Stock options — — — — — — — — —
— calls — — — — — — — — —
— puts — — — — — — — — —

deRivAtiveS tRAnSAction volume (tRAdinG BooK) 
     nominal amount, by time to maturity     nominal amount      fair value (positive)     fair value (negative)

in €k <1 year 1-5 years > 5 years 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 31/12/2016

interest rate contracts 870 15,542 1,272 20,732 17,684 47 10 47 10
otc products 870 15,542 1,272 20,732 17,684 47 10 47 10
interest rate swaps — 600 — 1,080 600 15 5 15 5
— calls — 300 — 540 300 — — 15 5
— puts — 300 — 540 300 15 5 — —
interest rate options 870 14,942 1,272 19,652 17,084 32 5 32 5
— calls 435 7,471 636 9,826 8,542 32 5 — —
— puts 435 7,471 636 9,826 8,542 — — 32 5
Currency contracts — — — — — — — — —
otc products — — — — — — — — —
currency options — — — — — — — — —
— calls — — — — — — — — —
— puts — — — — — — — — —

finAnciAl inStRumentS (tRAdinG BooK)

in €k 31/12/2015 31/12/2016

interest-bearing securities — —
treasury shares 11,512 —
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(48) deRivAtiveS tRAnSAction volume (BAnKinG BooK) 
     nominal amount, by time to maturity     nominal amount      fair value (positive)     fair value (negative)

in €k <1 year 1-5 years > 5 years 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 31/12/2016

interest rate contracts 14,250 63,000 206,892 409,902 284,142 6,591 7,870 7,204 6,821
otc products 14,250 63,000 206,892 409,902 284,142 6,591 7,870 7,204 6,821
interest rate swaps 14,250 63,000 206,892 409,902 284,142 6,591 7,870 7,204 6,821
— calls 7,125 31,500 103,446 204,951 142,071 133 — 7,110 6,821
— puts 7,125 31,500 103,446 204,951 142,071 6,458 7,870 94 —
interest rate options — — — — — — —
— calls — — — — — — —
— puts — — — — — — —
Currency contracts 1,321,594 350,883 — 1,791,725 1,672,477 3,563 4,494 21,875 23,629
otc products 1,321,594 350,883 — 1,791,725 1,672,477 3,563 4,494 21,875 23,629
currency forwards 714,549 — — 824,182 714,549 3,347 2,786 746 858
— calls 358,513 — — 413,600 358,513 3,250 2,750 695 827
— puts 356,036 — — 410,582 356,036 97 36 51 31
capital market swaps — 350,883 — 423,040 350,883 5 — 19,083 21,048
— calls — 164,646 — 201,536 164,646 — — — —
— puts — 186,237 — 221,504 186,237 5 — 19,083 21,048
money market swaps (currency swaps) 607,045 — — 544,503 607,045 211 1,708 2,046 1,723
— calls 303,314 — — 271,177 303,314 11 886 — 5
— puts 303,731 — — 273,326 303,731 200 822 2,046 1,718
Securities contracts — — — — — — — — —
exchange-traded products — — — — — — — — —
Stock options — — — — — — — — —
— calls — — — — — — — — —
— puts — — — — — — — — —

deRivAtiveS tRAnSAction volume (tRAdinG BooK) 
     nominal amount, by time to maturity     nominal amount      fair value (positive)     fair value (negative)

in €k <1 year 1-5 years > 5 years 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 31/12/2016

interest rate contracts 870 15,542 1,272 20,732 17,684 47 10 47 10
otc products 870 15,542 1,272 20,732 17,684 47 10 47 10
interest rate swaps — 600 — 1,080 600 15 5 15 5
— calls — 300 — 540 300 — — 15 5
— puts — 300 — 540 300 15 5 — —
interest rate options 870 14,942 1,272 19,652 17,084 32 5 32 5
— calls 435 7,471 636 9,826 8,542 32 5 — —
— puts 435 7,471 636 9,826 8,542 — — 32 5
Currency contracts — — — — — — — — —
otc products — — — — — — — — —
currency options — — — — — — — — —
— calls — — — — — — — — —
— puts — — — — — — — — —

positions (securities and derivatives) entered into by our money, foreign exchange and Securities trading unit to 
make market gains or take advantage of interest rate fluctuations were assigned to the trading book . market value 
is the amount that can be obtained on the sale of a financial instrument in an active market or would need to be 
paid to purchase it . if a market price was available, it was taken to be a position’s fair value . where market prices 
were unavailable, we used internal valuation models, including the present value method .
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ClosinG remarKs by The manaGemenT 
boarD

maNagemeNT Board’S STaTemeNT PurSuaNT To § 82 Para. 4 SToCK 
exCHaNge aCT (BÖrSeg)
The Management Board of BKS Bank AG declares that these annual financial statements were 
prepared in conformity with the international financial Reporting Standards (ifRSs) issued by the 
international Accounting Standards Board (iASB) as effective and as adopted by the eu including 
the interpretations by the international financial Reporting interpretations committee (ifRic) and 
that they present a true and fair view of the assets, financial position and result of operations of 
the BKS Bank Group . the management Board furthermore declares that the management report 
presents the development of business, profit or loss, and situation of the BKS Bank Group in such a 
way so as to present a true and fair view of the assets, financial position and result of operations as 
well as of the material risks and uncertainties to which the Group is exposed . 

Klagenfurt am wörthersee, 10 march 2017
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ble for italy .

chairwoman of the management Board 
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Slovenia, croatia, hungary and Slovakia 
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The financial year 2016 of BKS Bank AG closed with a net profit of  
euR 9,384,972 .96 . we propose that a dividend of euR 0 .23 per share be distributed out of 
the reported net profit as at 31 December 2016. The resulting distribution on 39,639,600 
shares would be euR 9,117,108 . Subject to § 65 para . 5 Stock corporation Act (AktG), we 
propose the remainder to be carried forward to a new account .

Klagenfurt am wörthersee, 10 march 2017

management Board

dieter Kraßnitzer 
member of the

management Board
wolfgang mandl 
member of the

management Board

herta Stockbauer 
chairwoman of the
management Board 
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rePorT oN THe CoNSolidaTed fiNaNCial STaTemeNTS
audiT oPiNioN
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 

BKS Bank ag, 
Klagenfurt am wörthersee,

and its subsidiaries (the Group) which comprise the 
consolidated balance sheet as of 31 december 2016, 
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements . 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 
2016, and its consolidated financial performance and 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with  the international financial Reporting 
Standards (ifRSs) as adopted by the eu and the additional 
requirements pursuant to Section 245a uGB (Austrian 
Business code) and Section 59a BwG (Austrian Banking 
Act) .

BaSiS for our oPiNioN
we conducted our audit in accordance with the Austrian 
Standards on Auditing . these standards require the 
audit to be conducted in accordance with international 
Standards on Auditing (iSA) . our responsibilities 
pursuant to these rules and standards are described in 
the “Auditors’ Responsibility” section of our report . 
we are independent of the audited entity within the 
meaning of Austrian commercial and banking law as well 
as professional regulations, and have fulfilled our other 
responsibilities under those relevant ethical requirements . 
we believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion . 

KeY audiT maTTerS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit 
procedures relating to these matters were designed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole . our opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements is not modified with respect to any 
of the key audit matters described below, and we do not 
express an opinion on these individual matters .

during the course of the audit, the following key audit 
matters were identified:
— valuation of loans and advances to customers
—  Classification and valuation of companies valued using 

equity method
—  Recognition and valuation of securities and derivatives – 

level 3 instruments

ValuaTioN of loaNS aNd adVaNCeS To 
CuSTomerS
the description of the accounting and valuation methods 
is presented in the notes in section “notes on individual 
items on the Balance Sheet (subsection impairment 
charge on loans and Advances) as well as in the section 
“discretionary decisions and estimates (subsection 
Impairment of Financial Assets: Impairment Charges)”.

risk to the financial Statements
loans and advances to customers are presented in the 
balance sheet with the amount of teuR  5,330,395 . the 
risk provisions amount to teuR 155,136 .

The identification of an impairment trigger and the 
calculation of the specific loan loss provision are subject to 
significant estimation uncertainties and discretion, which 
arise from the economic situation and development of 
the customer as well as from the valuation of collaterals 
and have an impact on the amount and timing of expected 
future cash flows. 

a U d I T Or’S  OP InIOnrEPOrT On THE aUdIT  OF THE COnSO l I d a T Ed  F I n a n CI a l  ST a T EMEn T S FO r T H E Y Ea r En d Ed  31 d E CE M BE r 2016

auDiTor’s 
reporT
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portfolio provisions that are based on statistical methods 
for loans without impairment trigger  are based on 
models and statistical parameters such as the probability 
of default and loss given default and are therefore 
also subject to discretionary decisions and estimation 
uncertainties 

our audit approach
—  we surveyed the lending approval- and montoring 

process of BKS Bank AG . hereby, we interviewed the 
responsible employees and went through the internal 
guidelines . we analysed and critically examined 
whether these guidlines were appropriate to detect the 
inherent risks and hence to derive adequate provisions 
in the form of loan loss provisions . on a sample basis, 
we tested the relevant key controls with regard to 
design and implementation, as well as to effectiveness .

—  Based on a sample from the credit and loan portfolio 
we examined whether impairment trigger were 
detected in a timely manner . the sample selection 
was made mainly risk oriented with focus on 
rating categories with higher risk of default . when 
impairment triggers had been detected, we scrutinized 
whether the bank’s assessments regarding the amount 
and timing of future cash flows from customers and 
collaterals were adequate .  
valuation experts supported the core audit team 
and benchmarkes selected real estate appraisals 
with market data whether their values are within an 
acceptable range .

—  we scrutinized the underlying calculation model of 
portfolio loan provisions . Based on the result of the 
backtesting the applied parameters were analysed 
whether they are appropriate to determine adequate 
risk provisions on portfolio level . moreover, we 
assessed the underlying database and tested the 
mathematical accuracy of the risk provision calculation .

—  finally, we evaluated whether the disclosures in the 
notes are adequate .

ClaSSifiCaTioN aNd ValuaTioN of 
ComPaNieS Valued uSiNg eQuiTY meTHod
the description of the accounting and valuation methods 
is presented in the notes in section “notes on individual 
items on the Balance Sheet (subsection investments in 
entities accounted for using the equity method)” .

risk to the financial Statements
the Group applies equity methods for its shares in 
associated companies . overall, the shares in associated 
companies valued using the equity method amount to 
a carrying amount of teuR 470,907 . the substantial 
part relates to oberbank AG and the Bank für tirol und 
vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft, on which the management 
board assumes significant influence due to syndicate 
agreements .

in case of objective impairment indicators, a value in use 
is calculated based on a dividend discount model . future 
distributable earnings represent the relevant dividend 
under consideration of relevant regulatory capital 
requirements; equity cost rate was used for discounting 
to the valuation date . this valuation is dependent on 
internal and external factors, such as business planning, 
the level of the discount rate and the level of sustainable 
future profits used as basis in the calculation of the 
perpetual annuity, and is therefore discretionary to a high 
degree .

our audit approach
—   we examined whether the requirements for 

classification as an associated company were met by 
inspecting the syndicate agreements .

—  we used valuation specialists who assessed the 
adequacy of the valuation model and the inherent 
significant assumptions and discretionary decisions. For 
this purpose, we assessed the adequacy of assumptions 
made for determining the discount rate by comparing 
them with the market and industry specific benchmarks 
and verified the derivation of the discount rates. 



We scrutinized the business plans financials used in 
the valuation model . hereby, we also compared and 
analysed the actual values with the budget values used 
in the previous year .

—  finally, we assessed whether the disclosures in the 
notes regarding the companies valued at equity are 
adequate .

reCogNiTioN aNd ValuaTioN of SeCuriTieS 
aNd deriVaTiVeS – leVel 3 iNSTrumeNTS
the description of the accounting and valuation methods 
is presented in the notes in section “notes on individual 
items on the Balance Sheet (subsection measuring the 
fair value of financial Assets and liabilities)” as well as in 
note 34 .

Risk to the financial statements
At initial recognition, financial instruments have 
to be assigned to a category . the categorization is 
essential for the subsequent measurement . the fair 
valuation of securities and derivatives accounted as 
assets and liabilities, especially level 3 instruments, is 
highly discretionary due to the strong dependence on 
parameter estimates using non-observable input 
factors and internal valuation models .

our audit approach
—  Regarding the categorization of securities and 

derivates, we tested on a sample basis whether the 
underlying categorization criteria were met . we 
also tested whether the subsequent measurement is 
consistent with the respective category . 

—  in the course of our audit, we used a treasury specialist 
who assessed the valuation models and underlying 
parameters regarding their adequacy and market 
conformity .

—    we verified on a sample basis the calculation of fair 
values .

—  finally, we assessed whether the relevant disclosures 
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
regarding the categorization and presentation of the 
valuation methods are complete and adequate .

maNagemeNT’S reSPoNSiBiliTY aNd 
reSPoNSiBiliTY of THe audiT CommiTTee 
for THe CoNSolidaTed fiNaNCial 
STaTemeNTS
the company’s management is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with the International 
financial Reporting Standards (ifRSs) as adopted by 
the eu and the additional requirements in Section 
245a uGB (Austrian Business code) and 59a BwG 
(Austrian Banking Act) and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error .

management is also responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, and, 
where appropriate, to disclose matters that are relevant 
to the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and 
to apply the going concern assumption in its financial 
reporting, except in circumstances in which liquidation 
of the Group or closure of operations is planned or cases 
in which such measures appear unavoidable .

the audit committee is responsible for overseeing the 
Group’s financial reporting process.

audiTorS’ reSPoNSiBiliTY
our aim is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free of material misstatements, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an audit report that includes our 
opinion . Reasonable assurance represents a high degree 
of assurance, but provides no guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Austrian Standards on 
Auditing, which require the audit to be performed 
in accordance with iSA, will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists . misstatements may result 
from fraud or error and are considered material if they 
could, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements .
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As part of an audit in accordance with Austrian Standards 
on Auditing, which require the audit to be performed in 
accordance with iSA, we exercise professional judgment 
and retain professional skepticism throughout the audit . . 

Moreover:
—  we identify and assess the risks of material 

misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, we plan and perform 
procedures to address such risks and obtain sufficient 
and appropriate audit evidence to serve as a basis for 
our audit opinion . the risk that material misstatements 
due to fraud remain undetected is higher than that 
of material misstatements due to error, since fraud 
may include collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misleading representation or override of internal 
control .

—  we obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control .

—  we evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates as 
well as related disclosures made by management .

—  we conclude on the appropriateness of management’s 
use of the going concern assumption and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern . in case we conclude 
that there is a material uncertainty about the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, we are required 
to draw attention to the respective note in the 
financial statements in our audit report or, in case such 
disclosures are not appropriate, to modify our audit 
opinion . we conclude based on the audit evidence 
obtained until the date of our audit report . future 
events or conditions, however, may result in the Group 
departing from the going concern assumption .

—  we evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated 
financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation .

—  We obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities 

and business activities within the Group to express 
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
we are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit . we remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion .

—  we communicate with the audit committee regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of our audit as well as significant findings including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify in the course of our audit .

—  we report to the audit committee that we have 
complied with the relevant professional requirements 
in respect of our independence and that we will 
report any relationships and other events that could 
reasonably affect our independence and, where 
appropriate, related measures taken to ensure our 
independence .

—  from the matters communicated with the audit 
committee we determine those matters that required 
significant auditor attention in performing the audit 
and which are therefore key audit matters . we describe 
these key audit matters in our audit report except in 
the circumstances where laws or other legal regulations 
forbid publication of such matter or in very rare cases, 
we determine that a matter should not be included in 
our audit report because the negative effects of such 
communication are reasonably expected to outweigh 
its benefits for the public interest.

rePorT oN oTHer legal reQuiremeNTS
group management report
in accordance with Austrian Generally Accepted 
Accounting principles the group management report 
is to be audited as to whether it is consistent with 
the consolidated financial statements and as to 
whether it has been prepared in accordance with legal 
requirements .

the legal representatives of the company are responsible 
for the preparation of the group management report in 
accordance with Austrian Generally Accepted Accounting 
principles .

we have conducted our audit in accordance with 
generally accepted standards on the audit of group 
management reports as applied in Austria .
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opinion
in our opinion, the group management report has been 
prepared in accordance with legal requirements, includes 
appropriate disclosures pursuant to Section 243a uGB 
(Austrian Business code) and is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Statement
Based on our knowledge gained in the course of the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements and the 
understanding of the Group and its environment, we 
did not note any material misstatements in the group 
management report .

oTHer iNformaTioN
the legal representatives of the company are responsible 
for other information . other information comprises 
all information provided in the annual report, with the 
exception of the consolidated financial statements, the 
group management report, and the auditor’s report 
thereon .

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements 
does not cover other information, and we will not provide 
any kind of assurance on it .

in conjunction with our audit, it is our responsibility 
to read this other information as soon as it becomes 
available, and to assess whether it contains any material 
inconsistencies with the consolidated financial statements 
and our knowledge gained during our audit, or any 
apparent material misstatement of fact . Should we, based 
on the preformed audit, come to the conclusion that 
the other information is materially misstated, we would 
have to report this fact . in this regard, we have nothing to 
report .

audiTor iN CHarge
the auditor in charge is mr . mmag . dr . peter fritzer .

Klagenfurt, 10 . march 2017

KpmG Austria Gmbh
wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

mmag . dr . peter fritzer
wirtschaftsprüfer
(Austrian chartered Accountant)
 

this report is a translation of the original report in German, which is 
solely valid . the consolidated finanicial statements together with our 
auditor’s opinion may only be published if the consolidated financial 
statement and the group management report are identical with the 
audited version attached to this report . Section 281 paragraph 2 uGB 
(Austrian Business code) applies . 
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ShAReholdeRS of oBeRBAnK AG 
in % €

by voting share  by share  

1 BKS Bank AG 15 .21% 14 .21%
2 Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft 16 .98% 15 .88%
3  wüstenrot wohnungswirtschaft reg . Gen .m .b .h . 4 .90% 4 .50%
4 Generali 3Banken holding AG 1 .93% 1 .76%
5 Staff shares 3 .72% 3 .59%
6 cABo Beteiligungsgesellschaft m .b .h . 25 .97% 23 .76%
7 Free float 31 .29% 36 .30%

Share capital in eur 105,921,900
number of ordinary no-par shares 32,307,300
number of no-par preference shares 3,000,000

ShAReholdeRS of BAnK fÜR tiRol und voRARlBeRG AG 
in % €

by voting shares  by share  

1 BKS Bank AG 14 .95% 13 .59%
2 oberbank AG 14 .54% 13 .22%
3 Generali 3Banken holding AG 15 .44% 14 .03%
4  wüstenrot wohnungswirtschaft reg . Gen . m .b .h . 2 .59% 2 .35%
5 Btv privatstiftung 0 .40% 0 .45%
6 unicredit Bank Austria AG 5 .42% 9 .85%
7 cABo Beteiligungsgesellschaft m .b .h . 41 .29% 37 .53%
8 Free float 5 .37% 8 .98%

Share capital in eur 55,000,000
number of ordinary no-par shares 25,000,000
number of no-par preference shares 2,500,000

ShAReholdeRS of BKS BAnK AG 
in % €

by voting share  by share  the red highlighting indicates shareholders  
who have signed syndicate agreements .

1 oberbank AG 19 .36% 18 .52%
2 Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft 19 .50% 18 .89%
3 Generali 3Banken holding AG 7 .80% 7 .44%
4  wüstenrot wohnungswirtschaft reg . Gen .m .b .h . 3 .09% 2 .99% 
5  BKS-Belegschaftsbeteiligungsprivatstiftung 0 .42% 0 .71%
6 unicredit Bank Austria AG 6 .10% 6 .63%
7 cABo Beteiligungsgesellschaft m .b .h . 24 .25% 23 .15%
8 Free float 19 .47% 21 .67%

Share capital in eur 79,279,200
number of ordinary no-par shares 37,839,600
number of no-par preference shares 1,800,000

shareholDers of  
3 banKen Group 
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1922
A . v . ehrfeld enters into a limited partnership 
with Bayerische hypotheken- und 
wechselbank called Kärntner Kredit- und 
wechsel-Bankgesellschaft ehrfeld & co . the 
bank is headquartered in Klagenfurt .

1928
the efforts to transform the limited 
partnership into a stock corporation result in 
the establishment of Bank für Kärnten . 

1939
the company’s name is changed from  
Bank für Kärnten to Bank für Kärnten 
Aktiengesellschaft .

1964
work on the branch network commences .

1983
with the expansion into Styria, the company 
name is changed to “Bank für Kärnten und 
Steiermark Aktiengesellschaft“ (abbreviation: 
BKS) .

1986
the bank goes public and the BKS ordinary 
share is listed on the Official Market of the 
vienna Stock exchange .

1990
first branch opens in vienna .

1998
Start of international expansion with the 
establishment of a representation office 
in croatia and the acquisition of a leasing 
company in Slovenia .

2000
first joint appearance of 
BKS Bank with the sister banks as the 
3 Banken Group .

2003
Acquisition of a majority stake in die 
Burgenländische Anlage & Kredit Bank AG 
(die BAnK) .

2004
first branch opens in Slovenia and 
representation office established in Italy.

2005
A representation office is set up in Hungary. 
the company name is adapted to the 
expansion of the past few years and is 
renamed BKS Bank AG .

2007
Acquisition of Kvarner banka d .d . and entry 
into the croatian banking market . 
Acquisition of “KofiS leasing“ in Slovakia .

2011
market entry in the Slovak banking market 
with the opening of a branch in Bratislava .

2014
BKS Bank is awarded the title "efQm 
Recognised for excellence 5*" and included in 
the "list of excellent companies" in Austria .

2015
the renowned rating agency oekom research 
AG confirmed BKS Bank’s “prime” status. 
the bank is thus one of the industry’s global 
leaders in sustainability .

2016
BKS Bank ordinary shares are added to the 
sustainability index, vÖniX, of the vienna 
Stock exchange . the croatian BKS Bank d .d . 
is merged with BKS Bank AG . 

hisTory of our Company
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alm Committee
the Asset/liability management committee is an internal committee of BKS Bank 
responsible for managing the structure of the balance sheet and liquidity .

amendment
When changes, additions or improvements are made to existing IFRS standards, they are 
issued in the form of so-called amendments.

available-for-sale (afS) financial assets
Available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets are the financial assets of an entity that are 
designated as available for sale .

Banking book
the banking book contains all on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet items recognized in a 
bank’s financial statements that are not assigned to the trading book .

BaSag
BaSAG(Bundesgesetz zur Sanierung und Abwicklung von Banken: Austrian Bank Recovery 
and Resolution act) implements the Recovery and Resolution directive for Banks and 
Securities firms (see also BRRd) according to which europe has jointly agreed new bank 
resolution rules . As part of the preventive measures, banks are required to prepare 
preventative recovery plans and disclose what action they intend to take if their financial 
position deteriorates . these plans must be examined and evaluated by the competent 
regulatory authority (in Austria, financial market Authority, fmA) . the resolution plans that 
are to be prepared by the fmA must state how a bank’s orderly resolution or restructuring 
is to take place . in addition, the regulatory authority has been given extensive powers of 
intervention . Among other things, it can require the holding of additional equity capital and 
order the implementation of measures and arrangements in the recovery plan .

Basel iii 
the package of measures known under the heading of Basel iii contains the changes to 
the international regulatory requirements for banks adopted by the Basel committee on 
Banking Supervision (BcBS) in december 2010 . these requirements supplement or amend 
the capital adequacy framework for banks adopted in 2004 (Basel ii) . the overall aim of 
the changes is to strengthen regulation, supervision and risk management in the banking 
sector and thus to make it more crisis resistant . major elements of the Basel committee’s 
recommendations for Basel iii were incorporated in cRd iv and cRR i (see also capital 
Requirements directive and capital Requirements Regulation) . on 23 november 2016, the 
european commission published a draft amendment to cRd iv and cRR i . the main changes 
of the amendment refer to the rules for determining the net stable funding ratio (nSfR), 
changes to the method of determining market risk and modifications to the calculation of 
counterparty default risk (SA-cRR) . 

Basis of assessment
the basis of assessment within the meaning of cRR is the sum of the assets, off-balance-
sheet items and special off-balance sheet items in the banking book, weighted for 
counterparty risk, as determined in accordance with Austrian banking regulations .

Glossary
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Brrd
the Bank Recovery and Resolution directive (2014/59/eu) has created the legal framework 
for crisis management in the financial sector . the aim is to make it possible to wind up every 
bank, regardless of its size or complexity, without endangering the stability of the financial 
market .

Business model pursuant to ifrS 9 
financial instruments must be assigned to a business model pursuant to ifRS 9 . the business 
model defines how the financial instruments are managed and measured . in ifRS 9, a 
difference is made between the business models “hold to collect”, “hold to collect and sell” 
and “other” .

Capital requirements directive iV
the capital Requirements directive iv (cRd iv) prepares the ground for a more solid and 
secure European financial system. The Member States were required to pass this Directive 
into national law by 31 december 2013 . however, all competing provisions and those that 
were not consistent with the regulation (cRR) had to be removed from existing national 
legislation . in Austria, the major the changes to the law were in the Banking Act (BwG) and in 
the related supervisory regulations which were comprehensively amended .

Capital requirements regulation (Crr i)
the capital Requirements Regulation (cRR 1), which is directly effective in Austria’s legal 
system, introduced a common minimum set of instruments for national supervisory 
authorities and, therefore, binding regulations for all member States, including provisions on 
own funds components, capital requirements, large loans (large investments), liquidity, debt 
(leverage) and disclosure regulations . 

Common equity Tier 1 capital (CeT1): 
common equity tier 1 is divided into common equity and Additional tier 1 capital . 
common equity tier 1 capital consists of share capital, retained earnings and other reserves . 
the additional components of tier 1 capital include liabilities evidenced by paper that meet 
the requirements of cRR Article 52 .

Consolidated entities
consolidated entities are material, controlled entities whose assets, equity, liabilities, income 
and expenses net of consolidation items are accounted for in their entirety in consolidated 
financial statements.

Corporate Social responsibility (cSR) 
corporate Social Responsibility is an entrepreneurial practice that combines social justice 
and ecological responsibility with economic goals: systematic, verifiable, transparent and 
voluntary .

Corporate Volunteering 
corporate volunteering refers to the voluntary work of employees in social projects as well 
as support for the volunteer work employees already engage in .
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Cost/income ratio 
the cost/income ratio measures the relation between operating expenses and operating 
income of banks . in this context, the general administrative expenses of a financial year are 
compared with the operating income of the bank . operating income results from the sum of 
net interest income and net fee and commission income, trading result and other operating 
profit . this indicator states the percentage of operating profit used for general administrative 
expenses and provides information on cost management and cost efficiency . the lower the 
ratio, the more economically a company operates . 

Counterbalancing capacity (CBC)
counterbalancing capacity in the name of the liquidity buffer made up of assets that are 
easily liquidated or eligible for repo transactions .

Credit spread
the credit spread is the risk premium and the difference in yield between an interest-bearing 
security and a risk-free reference interest rate with the same maturity . the credit spread risk 
is the risk of changes to the creditworthiness and/or risk premium-induced changes in the 
market price of the securities portfolio with a reference to the interest rate .

dBo
dBo stands for defined benefit obligation, which is the value of an obligation under a 
company pension plan based on the projected unit credit method.

derivatives
derivatives are financial instruments whose own value changes in response to changes in the 
market prices or expected prices of other financial instruments . they can therefore be used 
both to hedge against a drop in value or to speculate on gains in the value of the underlying . 
options, futures and swaps are the most common types of derivatives .

endorsement by the eu
An endorsement is required for new international financial Reporting Standards to be 
applicable in Austria . this endorsement refers to a process in which the european union 
adopts the international financial Reporting Standards .

equity method 
Entities accounted for using the equity method are entities in which equity investments 
are held that are not controlled, but upon whose financial and business policy decisions 
a significant influence can be exercised . these are recognized in the consolidated 
financial statements on pro rata basis with the amount of the equity in the company . in 
the consolidated income statement, the group’s interest in their net profit is recognized 
according to the equity interest held .

fair value 
Fair value is defined as the amount for which an asset could currently be exchanged, or 
a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction . 
insofar as market prices exist on exchanges or other functioning markets, these are taken to 
be the fair value of an asset or liability .
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faTf 
fAtf (financial Action task force on money laundering) is an international anti-money 
laundering body based at the oecd in paris . its task is to analyze money laundering and 
terrorism financing methods and develop measures to combat them .

forbearance 
forbearance is the term for concessions made to debtors (e .g . modifications of agreements) 
if they are in danger of no longer able to meet their payment obligations . the term 
encompasses loans, bonds and revocable and irrevocable loan commitments with the 
exception of held-for-trading exposures . According to european Banking Authority (eBA) 
guidance, forbearance status must be reported on a quarterly basis .

gdP
Gdp is the total value of all goods (i .e . goods and services) produced in an economy in a year 
less all inputs . in order to view Gdp without the effect of changes in prices, one uses ‘real’ 
Gdp, where all good and services are valued at the prevailing prices in a base year .

faTCa 
the united States congress enacted FATCA (the foreign Account tax compliance Act) 
on 18 march 2010 to ensure that uS subjects with accounts abroad meet their tax 
obligations .  under the act, all banks are obliged to identify customers with uS ties and, if 
they consent, to report their names to the uS tax authorities . 

going-concern principle 
the going-concern principle is the principle according to which financial statements and 
risk assessments view the entity as continuing in business unless actual or legislative 
circumstances dictate otherwise . Among other things, this is important when measuring 
assets .

Hedging
Hedging is used to protect existing or future positions against the exposure to risks such as 
currency and interest rate risks . it involves taking a counter-position to another position so as 
to completely or partially offset risk . 

Held-to-maturity financial assets (Htm)
Held-to-maturity financial assets are financial instruments acquired with a certain maturity 
and specified interest payments . these are intended to be held until maturity . 

Historical simulation 
Historical simulation is a statistical method for measuring value at risk using historical time 
series data.

ifrS earnings per share 
IFRS earnings per share are consolidated profit for the year after tax divided by the average 
number of an entity’s shares in issue .

iCaaP (internal Capital adequacy assessment Process) 
ICAAP is the name of the extensive process and associated strategy by which banks 
decide the amount, composition and distribution of their (internal) capital resources . the 
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distribution of economic capital steers and limits all the material operational and other 
banking risks .

ilaaP (internal liquidity adequacy assessment Process) 
ILAAP is, apart from icAAp, a procedure for assessing the adequacy of internal liquidity 
pursuant to pillar 2 and thus an important risk management instrument for a credit 
institution . 

ifrS, international financial reporting Standards 
the International Financial Reporting Standards are the financial reporting standards issued 
by the international Accounting Standards Board (iASB) in the form of individual standards . 
the purpose of ifRS-compliant annual financial statements is to give investors information 
of relevance to their decisions regarding an entity’s assets, liabilities, financial position and 
profit or loss as well as changes therein over time .  
in contrast, annual financial statements prepared in accordance with the Austrian Business 
code (Unternehmensgesetzbuch) are primarily geared to protecting creditors .

international Standards on auditing (iSa)
the international Standards on Auditing are internationally accepted standards for carrying 
out annual audits that must be adhered to in accordance with the international financial 
Reporting Standards (ifRS) . they are published in the annual manual of the international 
federation of Accountants (ifAc) .

iSiN 
iSin stands for international Securities identification number . the iSin is used for the 
unique global identification of securities and replaced the national system of securities 
identification in 2003 . An iSin is a 12-character alphanumerical code comprising a two-
character international country id (e .g . At for Austria), a nine-character national code and a 
one-digit control key . the iSin of the ordinary BKS Bank AG share is At0000624705; that of 
the preference share is At0000624739 .

lar 
LAR stands for loans and receivables . 

leverage ratio 
The leverage ratio measures the relationship between common equity tier 1 capital and 
non-risk weighted assets inclusive of off-balance sheet items . its purpose is to restrain 
business models that are based on lending large amounts to prime borrowers while keeping 
capital charges to a minimum .

lifetime expected loss
lifetime expected losses are the expected credit losses caused by all possible default events 
over the expected life of a financial instrument .

liquidity coverage ratio (lCr)
the Basel committee implemented the minimum liquidity coverage requirement to ensure 
that a bank always has short-term liquidity in a stress situation lasting for 30 days . this is 
to be achieved by making sure that the net cash outflows under stress—know as a bank’s 
liquidity shortfall—are covered by a liquidity buffer consisting of highly liquid quality assets . 



–253–

a d d I TIOnal nOTE S

loan-to-deposit ratio
the loan-to-deposit ratio is the relationship between loans to primary deposits . this 
indicator describes the percentage at which loans can be refinanced by primary deposits . 

market capitalization
Market capitalization is the stock market value of an entity on a particular date . it is 
calculated by multiplying the number of shares in issue by the current stock market price of 
one share .

maturity transformation
Maturity transformation is the professional management of differing maturities and the 
associated differences between the rates of interest receivable and payable on assets and 
liabilities on a bank’s balance sheet while taking account of current and expected market 
interest rate curves and maturity structures . 

mifid, mifid ii 
MiFID and MiFID II (markets in financial instruments directives) lay down uniform rules for 
investment services provided within the european economic Area . the mifid regulations 
were adopted in response to the financial crises of the past years and have the primary goal 
of increasing market transparency and promoting competition among providers of financial 
services, thereby improving investor protection . mifid ii addresses numerous weaknesses 
and shortcomings in the existing rules and regulations . it focuses on trade on regulated 
platforms and on increasing the transparency of high frequency trading . in view of the 
enormous technical challenges it presents, the mifid requirements become effective as of 3 
January 2018 . 

minimum requirement for eligible liabilities (mrel)
minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities pursuant to Art . 45 BRRd . 
eu member States must ensures that credit institutions at all times meet the minimum 
requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities in the event of winding up . 

modified duration 
modified duration is a measure of the sensitivity of a financial investment to interest rates . it 
provides a means of approximating future changes in market value .

Net stable funding ratio (NSfr)
this structural ratio gauges the stability of funding over a horizon of more than one year . it is 
part of the new liquidity requirements . the nSfR is designed to ensure that the amount of 
longer-term (stable) funding employed is at least sufficient relative to the liquidity profiles of 
the assets funded . the aim is to reduce banks’ dependence on the functioning and liquidity 
of the inter-bank market . 

NfC
nfc is the abbreviation for near field communication . A nfc card enables the contactless 
payment of small amounts of up to euR 25 . this payment procedure is faster than the 
conventional one . data which was read otherwise by entering the card into the terminal is 
now transmitted by radio wave .
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ÖNaCe
ÖnAce is the Austrian version of the european system for the industrial classification of 
economic activities called nAce (nomenclature statistique des activités économiques dans 
la communauté européenne) . the current nAce-compatible nomenclature is called ÖnAce 
2008 .

oTC (over the counter) derivatives 
over the counter derivatives are financial instruments traded off the stock exchange floor 
directly between market participants .

Payment Services directive
the payment Services directive (pSd, pSd ii) provides the legal basis for creating a single 
market for payments in the eu . 

Price/earnings ratio 
the price/earnings ratio (p/e) is important to investors when assessing shares . to calculate 
it, the share’s stock market price is divided by the per-share earnings recorded or expected in 
the respective period . if the p/e ratio is relatively low, the stock is felt to be cheaply priced; if 
it is relatively high, it is seen as expensive . the bases for comparing p/e ratios are the interest 
rate, the p/e ratios of comparable entities, average p/e ratios in the past and, in the case of 
growth stocks, the expected rate of growth .

Primary deposit balances 
Primary deposit balances consist of the customer assets made available to a bank in the form 
of savings, sight and time deposit balances, liabilities evidenced by paper and subordinated 
debt capital .

Projected unit credit method 
The projected unit credit method is an actuarial valuation method used to measure 
obligations under company retirement benefit schemes stipulated in the international 
financial reporting standard iAS 19 and in many foreign accounting standards . only the 
portion of the obligation already earned is assessed on every valuation cutoff date . the 
present value of the earned part of the obligation is known as the defined benefit obligation .

random walk simulation 
the random walk simulation is a mathematical model for a random movement derived from 
a historic time-series . 

return on assets (roa) 
the return on assets is profit (net profit for the year after minority interests) expressed as a 
percentage of the average balance sheet assets .

return on equity (roe) 
the return on equity (Roe) before or after tax expresses the relationship between profit 
before or after tax and average equity . this indicator describes the returns earned on equity 
by a company . the higher the indicator, the more profit the company has made in relation to 
its equity .

risk/earnings ratio (rer)
this ratio states what proportion of net interest income has been used to cover credit risk . 
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Solvency
the term solvency expresses the relationship between the own funds requirement arising from a bank’s (weighted) 
balance sheet assets and off-balance sheet items and its eligible own funds within the meaning of the cRR . Solvency 
is governed in the cRR .

SPPi criterion
the Sppi criterion is used for the classification and assessment of financial instruments . Sppi stands for “solely 
payment of principal und interest” and is used to determine the contractually-agreed payment flows of a financial 
asset . Sppi conformity means that the interest reflects the charge for the time value of money, for the default risk 
and for other fundamental risks, for the costs of the loan transaction and the profit margin . the details of the Sppi 
criterion in combination with the business model results in a specific classification and assessment pursuant to ifRS 9 .

Supervisory review and evaluation Process (SreP)
under the pillar 2 framework of the new Basel capital Accord (bank supervision review process), the Supervisory 
Review and evaluation process is part of the process of reviewing and evaluating a bank’s risk management and the 
adequacy of its icAAp alongside the internal capital adequacy assessment process itself . in Austria, it is carried out 
in respect of less significant banks by the fmA as the competent supervisory authority . it also includes reviewing 
adherence to all the relevant regulations, identifying breaches and imposing regulatory sanctions .

Swap 
parties to a swap exchange financial obligations, fixed-interest obligations being exchanged for variable ones (interest 
rate swap) or sums in various currencies being exchanged (currency swap) . interest rate swaps make it possible to 
hedge against interest rate risks, resulting in a fixed interest rate that provides a solid foundation for calculations . 
currency swaps make it possible to hedge against foreign exchange risks by swapping amounts denominated in 
different currencies together with the associated interest payments .

Trading book 
the trading book contains all positions held by a bank within the scope of its proprietary trading in financial 
instruments that it holds for re-sale or has acquired so as to exploit, on a short-term basis, existing or expected 
differences between buy and sell prices or movements in prices or interest rates . positions not included in the trading 
book are assigned to the banking book.

unwinding
Unwinding means capturing the change in the present value of impaired receivables as interest income .

Value-at-risk 
Value-at-risk analysis is a method for quantifying risk . it measures the potential future loss that, within a specified 
holding period and with a specific probability, will not be exceeded .

12-month expected loss
expected credit losses that may occur in a financial instrument within 12 months of the date of the transaction .
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ABGB  Allgemeines Bürgerliches Gesetzbuch (Austrian civil code)
AfA  Absetzung für Abnutzung (depreciation and amortization)
AfB  “Arbeit für menschen mit Behinderung”; mildtätige und gemeinnützige 
  Gmbh
AfRAc  Austrian financial Reporting and Auditing committee
AfS  Available-for-sale financial assets 
AktG  Aktiengesetz (Austrian Stock corporation Act)
AlGAR  AlpenlÄndiSche GARAntie - GeSellSchAft m .b .h .
Aml  Anti-money laundering
ApA-otS ApA-otS originaltext-Service Gmbh
Alm  Asset/liability management 
  Austrian Act Amending Audit Regulations of 2016 (ApRÄG 2016)
AR  Aufsichtsrat (Supervisory Board)
AtS/öS  Austrian schilling
AtX  Austrian traded index (Austrian equity index)
At1  Additional tier 1 capital 
Avm  Aktives vermögensmanagement (active asset management)
AvÖ  Aktuarvereinigung Österreichs
BaSAG  Bundesgesetz zur Sanierung und Abwicklung von Banken (Austrian Bank 
  Recovery and Resolution act)
BcBS  Basel committee on Banking Supervision
Bip  Bruttoinlandsprodukt (gross domestic product) 
BörseG  Börsegesetz (Austrian Stock exchange Act)
Bp  Basis point
BRRd  Bank Recovery and Resolution directive
BSG  BKS Service Gmbh
Btv AG  Bank für tirol und vorarlberg Aktiengesellschaft
BwG  Bankwesengesetz (Austrian Banking Act)
cBc  counterbalancing capacity
cet1  common equity tier 1 capital 
cft  combating the financing of terrorism
chf/Sfr  Swiss franc
CIA©  Certified Internal Auditor
ciR  cost/income ratio 
cnY  chinese renminbi
coSo  committee of Sponsoring organizations of the treadway commission
cRd iv  capital Requirements directive iv 
c-Rules ‘ comply or explain rules of the code of corporate Governance (ÖcGK)
cRR  capital Requirements Regulation 
cRS  common Reporting Standards
cSR  corporate social responsibility 
dAX  deutscher Aktienindex (German equity index)
DBO  Defined benefit obligation 
DCF method Discounted cash flow method 
dJ euR Stoxx 50 dow Jones euRo Stoxx 50
dJiA  dow Jones industrial Average
eAp  employee Assistance programme
eBA  european Banking Authority
ecv  emittenten-compliance-verordnung (issuer compliance regulation of the 

lisT of abbreviaTions
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fmA  Austrian financial marked Authority
efQm  european foundation for Quality management
elBA  electronic banking
eScB  european System of central Banks
euReX  european exchange (derivatives exchange)
eu-Rl  eu Richtlinie (eu directive)
Eurostat  Statistical office of the European Union
eu-vo  eu-verordnung (eu Regulation)
ewB  einzelwertberichtigung (individual impairment charge)
ecB  european central Bank
fASB  financial Accounting Standards Board
fAtcA  foreign Account tax compliance Act
fAtf  financial Action task force on money laundering
fBSchvG fundierte Bankschuldverschreibunggesetz (Austrian covered Bonds Act)
fed  federal Reserve System
FinTechs  Company in the financial technology industry
fmA  Austrian financial market Authority
fmvÖ  finanz-marketing verband Österreich
fSc  forest Stewardship council
fte  full time equivalent
FV  Finanzielle Vermögenswerte (financial assets) 
fX-Quote fremdwährungsquote (foreign exchange ratio)
GA  Granularity adjustment
GBp/£  pound sterling
Gc  General collateral
GRi  Global Reporting initiative
Guv-Rechnung Gewinn- und verlustrechnung (income statement)
Gwh  Gigawatt hour
hQlA  high quality liquid assets
hRK  croatian kuna
htm  held to maturity
iAASB  international Auditing and Assurance Standards Board
iASB  international Accounting Standards Board
iAS  international Accounting Standard 
ic  ifRic interpretations committee
icAAp  internal capital Adequacy Assessment process
ifAc  international federation of Accountants
ifRic  international financial Reporting interpretations committee
ifRS  international financial Reporting Standards
iKS  internes Kontrollsystem (internal control system)
ilAAp  internal liquidity Adequacy Assessment process
iR  investor relations
iSA  international Standards on Auditing
ISIN  International Securities Identification Number
ivv  individuelle vermögensverwaltung (individual asset management)
JÜ v. St.  Jahresüberschuss vor Steuern (profit for the year before tax)
KAG  Kapitalanlagegesellschaft (asset management company)
KGv  Kurs-Gewinn-verhältnis (p/e ratio)
KMU  Kleine und mittlere Unternehmen (SMEs: small and medium-sized  
  enterprises)
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KR  Kommerzialrat
KStG  Körperschaftsteuergesetz (Austrian corporation tax Act)
lAR  loans and receivables
lcR  liquidity coverage ratio 
lR  leverage ratio
l-Rules  ‘legal Requirement’ rules of the code of corporate Governance (ÖcGK)
mifid; mifid ii markets in financial instruments directive 
mifiR  markets in financial instruments Regulation
moel-Staaten mittel- und osteuropäische Staaten (central and east european countries 
  ceec)
MSCI World  Equity index published by US American financial service provider Morgan 

Stanley capital international inc .
nSfR  net stable funding ratio
ÖcGK  Österreichischer corporate Governance Kodex (Austrian code of 
  corporate Governance)
oecd  organization for economic cooperation and development
oeKB  oesterreichische Kontrollbank AG
oenB  oesterreichische nationalbank (central bank of the Republic of Austria)
oepR  Österreichische prüfstelle für Rechnungslegung
ÖGvS  Österreichische Gesellschaft für verbraucherstudien
ÖnAce  Austrian version of nAce (nomenclature statistique des activités  
  économiques dans la communauté européenne) 
opec  organization of petroleum exporting countries
oR committee operational Risk committee
otc products over-the-counter products 
pd  probability of default
pJ  personaljahre (person-years)
pSd   payment Services directive
RÄG  Rechnungslegungs-Änderungsgesetz 2014 (financial disclosure 
  Amendment Act 2014)
Repo  Repurchase agreement
ReR  Risk/earnings ratio 
RoA  Return on assets
Roe   Return on equity
R-Rules  ‘Recommendations’ rules of the code of corporate Governance (ÖcGK)
Rtu  Risk-taking units
Sic  Standing interpretations committee
Sppi criterion Solely payments of principal and interest
SRep  Supervisory Review and evaluation process 
uGB  unternehmensgesetzbuch (Austrian Business code)
uSd  uS dollar
uSd/bbl  uS dollar/barrel
uSd/oz  uS dollar/ounce
vAR  value at risk 
vStG  verwaltungsstrafgesetz (Austrian Administrative fines Act)
vst .-vors . vorstandsvorsitzende (chairwoman of the management Board)
wAG  wertpapieraufsichtsgesetz (Austrian Securities Supervision Act)
wifo  Österreichisches institut für wirtschaftsforschung
Xetra  electronic trading system of deutsche Börse AG also used in vienna
ZcR/Rc  controlling department (Risk controlling)
ZeA  proprietary trading and international operations department
ZKm  credit management department
ZVB  Office of the Management Board
3BeG  dRei-BAnKen-edv Gesellschaft m .b .h .
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this annual report contains statements and forecasts that refer to the future development 
of the BKS Bank Group . the forecasts are our estimates based on the information at our 
disposal on the copy deadline date 10 march 2017 . Should the assumptions on which the 
forecasts are based fail to materialize or the risks described in the risk report occur, the actual 
results may differ from those currently expected . this annual report does not constitute a 
recommendation to buy or sell shares of BKS Bank AG .
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